ABSTRACT

Title of Dissertation:	HEALTH ASSOCIATIONS WITH INTERRACIAL AND INTER-ETHNIC MARITAL, COHABITING, AND DATING RELATIONSHIPS IN THE UNITED STATES	
	Lucia Christine Lykke, Doctor of Philosophy, 2017	
Dissertation directed by:	Professor Michael S. Rendall, Department of Sociology	

Research consistently finds that health is stratified by race, ethnicity, and gender, and that romantic relationships, particularly marriage, are protective of health. Despite increasing prevalence of interracial and inter-ethnic relationships, few studies have investigated the association between partnership exogamy and health. In this dissertation, I examine whether and how heterosexual exogamy is associated with self-rated health, being overweight and obese, and depression. I additionally examine evidence for health selection into exogamous versus endogamous relationships and the evidence for health change over time in relationships. First, I use data from four panels of the Survey of Income and Program Participation, representing the adult population aged 18-59 in the US, to investigate partnership exogamy and self-rated health among Whites and nonwhites. I find that having a White partner is associated with better self-rated health for nonwhites, and that having a nonwhite partner is

associated with worse health for White women. I find evidence that people in better health select into partnerships with Whites, and that having a White partner is associated with better self-rated health over time. Second, I use data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, representing young adults who came of age in the 1990s, to look at associations of partner race and ethnicity with being overweight and obese, and with depression. I find that overweight and obese White women select into new relationships with Black men, and also that having a Black partner is associated with weight gain over time for White women. Finally, I find that White young men and women who are more depressed are more likely to partner with nonwhite partners, and this effect is particularly strong for White women who have Black dating partners. I find evidence for depression increase over time among White women with Black partners, though the findings suggest a weaker causal impact of interracial relationships on depression than suggested by prior studies. To interpret the results throughout, I draw on gendered theories of interracial relationship formation including status exchange theory, and gendered theories of relationships and health that focus on stress and social status.

HEALTH ASSOCIATIONS WITH INTERRACIAL AND INTER-ETHNIC MARITAL, COHABITING, AND DATING RELATIONSHIPS IN THE UNITED STATES

by

Lucia Christine Lykke

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2017

Advisory Committee: Professor Michael S. Rendall, Chair Professor Philip N. Cohen Associate Professor Rashawn Ray Professor Edmond Shenassa Professor Andrés Villareal © Copyright by Lucia Christine Lykke 2017

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	ü
List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Structure of the Dissertation	8
Theoretical and Substantive Contributions	12
Analytic Approach: A General Empirical Model of Health, Health Selection, and	l
Health Change with Partnership Endogamy versus Exogamy	14
Chapter 2: Self-Rated Health Associations with Interracial and Inter-ethnic Marriag	je
and Cohabitation in the US	18
Abstract	18
Introduction	19
Background	21
Romantic Relationships and Self-Rated Health	21
Theoretical Framework: Social Causation Theories of Romantic Relationships	
and Health	24
Interracial Couples and Health	26
Theoretical Frameworks: Status Exchange in Interracial Relationships	30
The Present Study	31
Data and Methods	34
Data	34
Analytic Samples	35
Key Variables	37
Data Analysis	40
<u>Results</u>	46
Discussion	56
Chapter 3: Associations between Overweight and Obesity and Romantic Relationsh	ip
Racial Composition among White Dating, Cohabiting, and Married Young Adults .	65
<u>Abstract</u>	65
Introduction	66
Literature Review.	69
Race, Ethnicity, Gender, and BMI	69
Partnership and BMI	72
Theoretical Frameworks: Selection and Causation in the BMI-Partnership	
Association	74
Race/Ethnicity, Partnership, and BMI	82
Theoretical Frameworks: Interracial Relationships and BMI	84
Research Questions	90
Data and Methods	91
Data	91
Analytic Sample	.93
Key Variables	96
Data Analysis	100

	107
<u>Results</u>	10/
<u>Discussion</u>	117
Chapter 4: Interracial and Inter-ethnic Marriage, Cohabiting, and Dating	
Relationships and Depression among White Young Adults in the US	128
Abstract	
Introduction	
Literature Review	
Race and Gender Inequalities in Mental Health	
Theoretical Framework: The Stress Process Model	
Romantic Relationships and Mental Health: Theoretical Frameworks and	
Empirical Evidence	139
Interracial Relationships and Mental Health	145
Research Ouestions	
Data and Methods	158
Data	158
Analytic Sample	159
Key Variables	160
Data Analysis	164
Results	
Discussion	184
Chapter 5: Conclusion	
Summary of Findings	197
Contributions and Future Directions	200
Appendices	212
Appendix 2.1: Detailed race/ethnic partnership samples and cross-sectional	
analysis	212
Tables	214
References	264

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Availability of Dependent Variables Self-Rated Health, Body Mass Index (BMI), and Depressive Symptoms in the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) & the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health), by Wave

Table 2.1 Characteristics of Married and Cohabiting Men and Women aged 18-59, 1996-2011 (Weighted % unless otherwise indicated)

Table 2.2 Cross-sectional OLS Regression of Self-rated Health among White men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

Table 2.3 Cross-sectional OLS Regression of Self-rated Health among nonwhite men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

Table 2.4 OLS Regression predicting self-rated health change over a one-year period for men and women aged 18-59 in married and cohabiting relationships, 1996-2011

Table 2.5 Characteristics of Adults in New Marriage or Cohabiting Relationships aged 18-59, 1996-2011 (Weighted % unless otherwise indicated)

Table 2.6 Logistic Regression of Likelihood of Having a Nonwhite Spouse or Cohabiting Partner among Men and Women in New Marriage or Cohabiting Relationships aged 18-59, 1996-2011

Appendix Table 2.1 Partnership Racial Composition by Gender

Appendix Table 2.2 Cross-sectional OLS Regression of Self-rated Health among nonwhite men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

Appendix Table 2.3 Cross-sectional OLS Regression with gender interactions of selfrated health among men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

Appendix Table 2.4 OLS Regression with Gender Interactions Predicting Health Change over one year period for men and women aged 18-59 in married and cohabiting relationships, 1996-2011

Appendix Table 2.5 Logistic Regression of Likelihood of Having a New Nonwhite Spouse or Cohabiting Partner, 1996-2011, with gender interactions (Men and Women Ages 18-59, Whites and nonwhites combined) Table 3.1. Descriptive statistics for the cross sectional analysis, non-Hispanic White men and women in dating, married, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Table 3.2. Descriptive statistics for the selection analysis, non-Hispanic White men and women in new dating, married, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Table 3.3. Descriptive statistics for non-Hispanic White men and women in continuing dating, married, and cohabiting relationships from 2001 to 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Table 3.4. Logistic Regression of likelihood of being overweight/obese on partner race/ethnicity among non-Hispanic White men and women in current dating, cohabiting, and married relationships

Table 3.5 Multinomial Logistic Regression Predicting Partner Race among non-Hispanic White men and women in new dating, married, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008

Table 3.6. Logistic Regression of the Likelihood of Being Overweight/Obese by Prior BMI and Partner Race among non-Hispanic White men and women in dating, cohabiting, and married relationships with the same partner from 2001 to 2008

Appendix Table 3.1 Frequencies of partnership racial combinations in pooled Wave 3 & Wave 4 sample, by gender

Appendix Table 3.2 Relationship type transitions from wave 3 to 4 among non-Hispanic White men and women in relationships with stable characteristics across waves

Appendix Table 3.3. Gender interaction model - Logistic regression of likelihood of overweight/obese on partner race among non-Hispanic White men and women in current dating, cohabiting, and married relationships

Appendix Table 3.4. Gender interaction model - Logistic Regressions Predicting Partner Race by Overweight/Obese, among non-Hispanic White men and women in new dating, cohabiting, and marriage relationships

Appendix Table 3.5. Gender interaction model - Logistic Regression of Likelihood of Being Overweight/Obese by Prior BMI and Partner Race among non-Hispanic White men and women in dating, cohabiting, and married relationships with the same partner from 2001 to 2008

Table 4.1 Descriptive statistics for the cross-sectional analysis, non-Hispanic White men and women in married, dating, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 or 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Table 4.2 Cross-sectional associations between partner race and depression among non-Hispanic White men and women in current marriage, dating, and cohabiting relationships, 2001 and 2008

Table 4.3 Cross-Sectional Associations of Partner Race and Depression among non-Hispanic White men and women in current relationships in 2001 and 2008, by Relationship Type and Gender

Table 4.4 Descriptive statistics for the selection analysis, non-Hispanic White men and women in new married, dating, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 or 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Table 4.5 Logistic regression predicting the likelihood of having a Nonwhite partner for White men and Multinomial logistic regression predicting having a Black, Hispanic, and Asian partner among White women in new marriage, dating, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008

Table 4.6 Descriptive statistics for the depression change analysis, non-Hispanic White men and women in continuing married, dating, and cohabiting relationships from 2001 or 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Table 4.7 OLS Regression of Depression by prior depression and partner race among White men and women in married and cohabiting relationships in 2008 with the same partner for the prior approximately 7 years

Appendix Table 4.1 Unweighted frequencies of partnership racial combinations in pooled Wave 3 and Wave 4 sample, by gender

Appendix Table 4.2 Relationship type transitions from wave 3 to 4 among non-Hispanic White men and women in relationships with stable characteristics across waves

Appendix Table 4.3 Cross-Sectional Associations of Partner Race and Depression among non-Hispanic White men and women in current relationships, by Relationship Type and Gender

Appendix Table 4.4 Cross-sectional Association of Partner Race and Depression among White men and women in current relationships: Relationship Type Interaction Models

Appendix Table 4.5. Multinomial logistic regression predicting partner race for White women in new married and cohabiting relationships

Chapter 1: Introduction

The sociology of health looks to aspects of the social environment to explain how and why individuals come to experience different health outcomes: social structures, institutions, social interaction, social status, and social position are all salient when understanding health inequalities in sociological perspective. Across industrialized societies, people with more social ties are the healthiest across multiple measures, including lower mortality risk, less disease, better mental health, and better self-rated health (House et al. 1988; Thoits 2011; Umberson and Montez 2010). Romantic relationships represent one type of social tie that has a particularly strong influence on health (Ross et al. 1990; Umberson and Montez 2010).

This influence is unsurprising, given that romantic relationships represent a central and highly influential aspect of the social environment: romantic relationships are an arena of daily social interaction; they tie individuals to social roles with corresponding role obligations; they represent a shared environment and experiences; and they represent an exchange of economic and emotional resources. The sociology of health views patterns of physical and mental health as flowing from the "structural arrangements in which individuals are embedded" (Pearlin 1989:241). Romantic relationships are one such example of a social structural arrangement, given that they are characterized by social interaction and social roles (Stryker 1980/2003; Stryker and Burke 2000). Sociologists thus have a crucial role to play in establishing the link between social relationships, including romantic relationships, and health, particularly in explaining how this link varies by race, ethnicity, and gender (Umberson and Montez 2010).

Further, romantic relationships tend to be endogamous when it comes to certain characteristics, notably, race and ethnicity. Endogamy refers to relationships between members of the same group, including a racial or ethnic group – similar to, but distinct from homogamy, which is the tendency to partner with others of similar status (Kalmijn 1998). Race and ethnic group membership is also linked robustly to health inequalities in the literature, with women and racial minorities typically faring worse on various health outcomes (Vega and Rumbaut 1991; Williams and Collins 1995; Williams 2012). However, we know little about how health outcomes are associated with partner race. That is, what are the ramifications for health among partners who do not share the same race or ethnicity? What happens when two partners may not share similar levels of social status, discrimination, and institutional racism? What happens when a relationship is not as socially acceptable as an endogamous relationship? Does health affect partnership formation along racial and ethnic lines? This dissertation addresses these open questions using two large, nationally representative data sources: the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP), and the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health). I use these data sources to examine how the racial and ethnic composition of romantic relationships – including dating relationships,¹ cohabitation relationships, and marriage – is associated with self-rated health, overweight and obesity, and depressive symptoms.

This is a particularly problematic hole in the sociological literature on health given the increasing social importance of cross-race and cross-ethnicity relationships

¹ Dating relationships are examined only in Chapters Three and Four using Add Health data.

in the present day. Interracial relationships are of growing interest in the sociological literature – not only are they increasing for some racial and ethnic groups, they are socially important because they represent the breaking down or blurring of racial boundaries, decreasing social distance between groups, and changes in the racial composition of the next generation, as children from these unions will be considered mixed race (Kalmijn 1998; Rosenfeld 2008). However, despite this breaking down of boundaries, race remains a central axis of inequality for both health and social relationships in the US (Koball et al. 2010; Williams and Jackson 2005). The racial and ethnic composition of relationships thus represents both the boundaries between racial and ethnic groups in current society, as well as the potential for cultural and economic change (Kalmijn 1998).

Current research documents several important characteristics of these unions. Interracial and interethnic unions are driven both by the state of race relations in a society, as well as by demographic trends such as immigration and a larger multiracial population. In the US, growing racial diversity and immigration patterns have resulted in greater opportunity for romantic relationships across racial and ethnic lines (Qian and Lichter 2011). Reflecting these shifts, the trends in Black-White unions reveal that in the past three decades, Black-White marriages have increased threefold (Qian and Lichter 2011; Rosenfeld 2008). However, intermarriage and social distance from Whites varies significantly across racial and ethnic groups (Lee and Edmonston 2005; Qian and Lichter 2001), indicating that racial boundaries are blurring for some, but not all, groups. Although intermarriage between Blacks and Whites has increased over the past several decades faster than for any other racial

group (Qian and Lichter 2011) and opposition to Black-White unions has steadily declined according to polling data (Newport 2013), social disapproval of Black-White unions is persistent, especially when White people are confronted with the possibility of themselves or someone in their family dating, marrying, or having children with someone Black (Herman and Campbell 2012). Black Americans are thus still the least likely racial group to marry Whites, compared with Hispanics, Asians, and Native Americans (Oian and Lichter 2007). Hispanics have the highest rates of intermarriage with Whites across all education levels (Oian and Lichter 2007). Mixed race individuals are more likely to marry whites than are single-race minority individuals (Qian and Lichter 2007), and mixed race Hispanics and Asians are more likely to marry Whites than are mixed race Black individuals (Miyawaki 2015). Cohabitation represents a larger proportion of interracial relationships between Whites and Blacks compared to marriage, and Qian and Lichter (2007) argue that this signifies that the boundaries between Blacks and Whites still remain, because cohabitation does not represent the same level of commitment and stability as marriage. Overall, compared to other non-White groups, the social boundaries between Blacks and Whites remain particularly rigid and resistant to change (Qian and Lichter 2007). Further, gender has an impact on who partners with whom in interracial relationships: the majority of interracial unions (married and cohabiting) involving a Black partner involve a Black man and a White woman, and this is true for both native and foreign born Blacks (Batson, Qian, and Lichter 2006).

There are several compelling reasons to examine whether and how the racial composition of romantic relationships might affect health outcomes in ways that are similar to, or distinct from, how romantic relationships in general impact health.

First, different racial groups are assigned unequal social status, and the race or ethnicity of one's partner may signal social status (Miller, Olson, and Fazio 2004). This conclusion is supported by the fact that higher socioeconomic status racial minorities – i.e., racial minority individuals who have greater social status – being more likely to have White partners (Fu 2001; Torche and Rich 2016; Wang and Kao 2007). Unequal social status is also offered in the health literature as a major explanation for disparities, particularly in the case of subjective health statuses including self-rated health and mental health (McLeod 2013; Phelan and Link 2015; Schnittker and McLeod 2005). Thus, it may the case that individuals with differentrace partners experience social status boosts or penalties based on both their own race and their partner's race that have implications for health.

Second, and also related to status processes, one of the main theoretical explanations for partnering across racial and ethnic lines revolves around socioeconomic status of racial and ethnic minorities. Status exchange theory (Davis 1941; Fu 2001) posits that in order to marry a racially high status (i.e., White) partner, racial and ethnic minorities must have higher socioeconomic status to "exchange." The empirical research shows that higher socioeconomic status predicts interracial relationships for some minority groups, particularly Black men partnered with White women (Gullickson 2006), and high levels of education are related to marriages between Whites and Hispanics and Whites and Asians (Qian and Lichter 2011).

Recent research has additionally shown that status exchange has not declined in Black-White relationships specifically over the past three decades, despite the growing prevalence of this type of exogamous relationship; this indicates that race does indeed continue to be a status marker in dating and marriage markets, and therefore something that can be "traded" for (Torche and Rich 2016). What does this mean for health? Socioeconomic status is known to be a major driving mechanism for health inequalities; it is considered a "fundamental cause" of health disparities (Link and Phelan 1995, 2010). Thus it could be that racial minorities who enter relationships with White partners are healthier to begin with, thanks to higher socioeconomic status. It could also be the case that a status exchange theory of exogamous romantic relationships might be appropriately expanded in scope to consider health as a resource that can be "traded" for a partner's racial status. We know that healthier people, including people with better self-rated health, the nonobese, and the less depressed are more likely to marry (Fu and Goldman 1996; Lillard and Panis 1996; Mustekasaa 1992; Schwartz 2013). Thus, it is possible that racial minorities with better health - or, conversely, Whites with poorer health - select into relationships with higher or lower racial partners on the basis of health capital. But it also could be the case that being in an interracial relationship affects health, in which case partnering across racial and ethnic lines could either narrow or widen racial and ethnic health disparities, depending on the direction of the effect. I address these questions throughout this dissertation.

Third, spouses often exhibit concordance on many health outcomes and health behaviors, such as body mass index, blood pressure, smoking, and mental health,

though it is still an open question to what extent this concordance happens through assortative mating vs. causal processes (Castelnuovo et al. 2009; Meyler, Stimpson, and Peek 2007). However, because we also know that many health outcomes – especially the outcomes I will examine in this dissertation – are stratified by race, ethnicity, and nativity, it is unclear how these health disparities might play out in the case of interracial and interethnic relationships.

Finally, interracial relationships are less stable and more prone to dissolution than endogamous relationships (Bratter and King 2008; Fu and Wolfinger 2011), are prone to disapproval from family members and others (Wang et al. 2006), and are associated with lower levels of relationships satisfaction (Kroeger and Williams 2011). All of these findings point to the possibility that interracial relationships are more stressful than endogamous relationships. It is a predominant theory in the sociology of health literature that stress burden - and unequal levels of stress between different social groups - is a major driver of health inequalities across racial, ethnic, and gender groups (Pearlin et al. 2005; Schnittker and McLeod 2005), and that a central part of marriage's protective effect on health is realized through social support that buffers stress (Ross et al. 1990; Umberson and Montez 2010; Waite and Gallagher 2000). Therefore, interracial relationships might not provide the healthpromoting effect that endogamous relationships do, and this effect may vary across racial and ethnic groups. Instead, they may be a case where relationship stress can be detrimental to health through behavioral and psychosocial pathways (Umberson and Montez 2010).

Structure of the Dissertation

In this dissertation, I examine variation in three health outcomes based on romantic relationship characteristics among the adult population aged 18-59 in Chapter Two using the SIPP and among the Add Health cohort in young adulthood in Chapters Three and Four, focusing in particular on the racial and ethnic composition of romantic relationships. Specifically, I examine self-rated health, overweight and obesity (as measured by body mass index [BMI]), and depressive symptoms. Given that these two data sources both span a broad range of ages and cohorts (SIPP) and focus in narrowly on a contemporary cohort born in the early 1980s, I am able to examine relationship formation as well as health change after relationship formation. For each type of health outcome, I separately examine the cross-sectional association of health and partner race, selection into new relationships, and health change over time. Table 1.1 displays the availability of each of the dependent variables in the data sources I use in this dissertation.

In Chapter Two, I will examine the association between the racial and ethnic composition of married and cohabiting partnerships and self-rated health among White and nonwhite adults aged 18-59 using the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP). The SIPP, a large, nationally representative sample of US households, has multiple panels and each panel captures self-rated health approximately three times. Self-rated health is a commonly used measure largely because of its widespread availability in large, nationally representative data sets due to the fact that it is cheap and easy to measure consistently across survey administrations. Although its meaning is the subject of debate and empirical

investigation, and varies according to the subjective understanding of the respondent (Jylha 2009), self-rated health is generally understood to capture both aspects of actual physical health, such as physical functioning and pain (Au and Johnston 2014), as well as a cognitive orientation toward one's own health and well-being that is socially and culturally embedded (Jylha 2009). Self-rated health also robustly and consistently predicts mortality, especially for certain groups (Whites in particular) (Assari et al. 2016; Idler and Benvamini 1997). Self-rated health is better among the married and cohabiting compared to single, divorced, and widowed, and is thought to be a mediator in the association between marriage and mortality (Lillard and Panis 1996; Schoenborn 2004; Zheng and Thomas 2013). Further, there is evidence that people select into relationships on the basis of self-rated health (Joung et al. 1998; Lillard and Panis 1996). In this chapter, I examine whether and how self-rated health is associated with partner race for Whites and nonwhites in married and cohabiting relationships in the US. One prior study has addressed this topic cross-sectionally, finding that racial minorities married to Whites have better self-rated health, whereas Whites married to racial minorities report worse self-rated health (Miller and Kail 2016). I build on this research by examining this association in a longitudinal data source, and I examine the evidence for selection into exogamous and endogamous marriage and cohabitation on the basis of self-rated health, compared to self-rated health change over time. I also examine gender differences in the association of partner race on self-rated health. I draw on status exchange theory, theories of social status and health, and stress theories of health to frame my research questions.

Chapter Three examines the association between relationship racial and ethnic composition and being overweight or obese (as measured by BMI) among contemporary White young adults in the US. Prior research on the association between romantic relationships, particularly marriage, and BMI reveals a paradox: although marriage is generally found to be protective of health, married people tend to weigh more than the unmarried and previously married, and transition to marriage is associated with weight gain (Scheoborn 2004; Sobal et al. 2009; Teachman 2016). Thus, marriage (and to some extent, cohabitation) could actually have an adverse impact on health in this particular way. There is debate in the literature as to whether selection into relationships on the basis of weight or causation (that is, whether relationships cause weight gain) is primarily responsible for this pattern. There are theoretical and empirical reasons to believe that both processes are responsible (Averett et al. 2008). Further, BMI is stratified by race and ethnicity, both because of socioeconomic disadvantage among racial minority groups and due to cultural differences in the stigma attached to heavier body types (Ailshire and House 2011; Jackson and McGill 1996; Ogden and Carroll 2010). In the second study presented in this dissertation, I use the National Longitudinal Survey of Adolescent Health (Add Health) to examine the association between being overweight and obese with the racial composition of romantic relationships, including dating, cohabitation, and marriage among White young adults. Although prior studies have examined the effects of marriage and cohabitation on BMI changes and how BMI affects selection into relationships, no prior study has addressed whether and how the racial and ethnic composition of romantic relationships affects the likelihood of being overweight and

obese. The Add Health is particularly appropriate for studying interracial and interethnic couples, because the survey tracks a contemporary sample of young people who were adolescents in the mid-1990s, and younger people are more likely to be in racially and ethnically exogamous relationships (Joyner and Kao 2005). Thanks to Add Health's longitudinal design, I am able to examine both selection into relationships based on overweight and obesity measured before the start of romantic relationships among new relationships, as well as overweight and obesity trajectories from early young adulthood to young adulthood. Further, Add Health has the relatively rare advantage of capturing interviewer-measured height and weight (rather than respondent self-reported) at three out of four available waves (see Table 1.1), which makes it particularly suitable for this study. I draw on status exchange theory of interracial relationships, along with research and theory on gendered and racialized standards of body size and beauty, in this chapter.

Finally, the third study in this dissertation uses Add Health to examine the association between partnership racial and ethnic composition and mental health among White young adults, measured by depressive symptoms. A few prior studies have investigated this topic, finding that in adolescence, teens who date interracially are more likely to experience depression (Miller 2014), and in young adulthood, interracial relationships are associated with depression for non-Black respondents with Black partners (Kroeger and Williams 2011). Further, among married adults in the US generally, having a Black partner is associated with psychological distress symptoms for White women (Bratter and Eschbach 2006). However, there are several gaps in this research that I seek to fill. First, prior research either studies only one

type of relationships (e.g., dating only, or marriage only) or does not explicitly examine potential differences in the effects of more and less committed relationships, despite the fact that interracial dating is more common and socially accepted compared to more serious, committed relationships (Herman and Campbell 2012; Yancey 2007). Second, prior research does not use available longitud inal data to its full potential. In this study, I ask whether and how gender and relationship type moderate the association between partner race/ethnicity and depression for White young adults. Further, I examine evidence for selection processes into romantic relationships on the basis of prior depression compared to change in depression over time among young adults in relationships with the same partner. I draw on the stress process model (Pearlin 1989, 1999) to frame this study theoretically.

Theoretical and Substantive Contributions

The research in this dissertation engages with fundamental theoretical questions in the study of relationships and health that wrestle with selection versus causal processes: that is, does health affect entry into relationships, or do relationships affect health? I expand this area of research to look explicitly at interracial and interethnic relationships. This is a fruitful crossover, because much of the theoretical work on interracial and interethnic relationships has focused on how and why people enter these relationships (Gullickson 2006; Florencia and Torche 2016; Kalmijn 2010; Yancey 2007). I expand the scope of this theoretical tradition to consider whether and how health statuses might be a basis for selection into interracial and interethnic relationships specifically.

Second, I draw on theories of health that rely on stress and social status to explain health inequalities across race, gender, and marital status lines. Most research in the sociology of health focuses on health statuses as a dependent variable, arguing that social structure, status, and interaction shape individual health outcomes (Aneshensel 2013; Koball et al. 2010; Thoits 2010, 2011; Umberson and Montez 2010). One predominant tradition in this vein is the stress process model, pioneered by Leonard Pearlin (1989), and I use this framework to understand how stress associated with interracial and interethnic relationships might lead to poorer health. Further, I draw on theory in the sociological social psychology tradition that focuses on how social status shapes health disparities (Schnittker and McLeod 2005), arguing that partner race may be a measure of social status that could affect health trajectories over time. I also draw on theories of the self-concept from social psychology, including social comparisons and reflected appraisals, to theorize on how partner characteristics might shape one's own health outcomes.

Substantively, this topic is of particular importance because the US is becoming more racially and ethnically diverse (Frey 2015), and interracial relationships are becoming more common and more socially accepted, especially for certain groups. We should know whether and how the changing composition of romantic relationships is likely to affect health outcomes for individuals in different racial and ethnic groups now and in the future. Additionally, this topic is significant because there is simply very little existing research, especially regarding self-rated health and BMI. Further, the SIPP is particularly underused to study relationship racial and ethnic composition, despite the fact that its large sample size and multiple

panels makes it an ideal data source for the topic. I hope that by generating results on such an understudied topic, this research will inspire future studies that try to further untangle the mechanisms by which relationship compositional factors influence health outcomes, and vice versa.

<u>Analytic Approach: A General Empirical Model of Health, Health Selection, and</u> Health Change with Partnership Endogamy versus Exogamy

In its general form, I model the expected value of health-status H at time t, $E[H_t]$. In Chapter Two, H is self-rated health, measured using a standard five-point scale. In Chapter Three, H is body mass index (BMI), categorized into normal weight versus overweight and obese. In Chapter Four, H is depressive symptoms, measured with a 27-point scale. Table 1.1 displays the availability of the three dependent variables in the data sources that I use in this dissertation (SIPP and Add Health). I include a main explanatory variable of racially/ethnically endogamous versus exogamous partnership P at year t, P_t . I alternatively consider P_t as a vector that additionally identifies whether the partnership is a marriage, cohabitation, or dating relationship. I additionally consider P_t as a vector that identifies the specific race or ethnicity of the partner (White, Hispanic, or Black) in Chapters Three and Four. Additional explanatory variables are specified in vector Z_t , including the individual's own race/ethnicity, gender, and age, along with additional covariates appropriate to the individual analyses. This general model $E[H_t|P_t, Z_t]$ may be estimated by ordinary least squares (OLS) regression when H_t is continuous and by logistic regression (multinomial or binary) when H_t is categorical. $E[H_t|P_t, Z_t]$ may be represented as a

linear function F, which is linear in the log-odds in the case of a binary logistic regression, as follows:

$$E[H_t|P_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(1)

This model has the advantage of being able to be estimated with crosssectional data, including from a single wave of a panel survey. The multivariate model permits estimation of the association of exogamous versus endogamous partnership while controlling for differences in health that are attributable to age, gender, and own race/ethnicity, and to do so differentially for each type of partnership (marriage, cohabiting, dating). In general, however, this model will not distinguish between whether the estimated association of exogamous versus endogamous partnership is due to selection or causation. That is, exogamous partnership may be selective of individuals in better or worse health, or exogamous partnership may cause individuals to be in better or worse health. Thus, throughout this dissertation, I consider this model to represent an association between relationship exogamy or endogamy and health that is to be further explained by the second and third steps of the analysis.

A more general, longitudinal model that mitigates the limitations of the crosssectional model may be specified in two periods, allowing for the modeling of *health change* depending on endogamous versus exogamous partnership. In this general model, health at time t + 1 is specified as a function of health in previous period t:

$$E[H_{t+1}|H_t, P_t, Z_t].$$

By including health status at time t in the model, differences in the process of self-reporting of health status, which may differ by race/ethnic group and gender, are

controlled for. By specifying the outcome as a change between times t and t + 1, depending on partnership character at time t, the direction of causation is more reasonably assumed to be from the character of the partnership to health and not the reverse. This inference about the direction of causation is not without ambiguity, however, since a health condition (or one's perception of their own health) may be an enduring or a transitory phenomenon, and any given health transition may have its roots in an enduring condition.

In its empirical form, a longitudinal model of expected value of health-status H at time t + 1, $E[H_{t+1}]$ may be specified as depending on health status at t as a linear function F (linear in the log-odds in the case of a logistic regression), is as follows:

$$E[H_{t+1}|H_t, P_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 H_t + \beta_2 P_t + \beta_3 Z_t)$$
(2)

The main coefficient of interest is β_2 , which predicts health status at time t + 1 as a function of the partnership's racial composition (exogamous or endogamous) at time t. In summary, by including health status at time t in the model, characteristics that determine self-reporting of health status that may differ by race/ethnic group, and some of the selection into partnership type on health status, may be controlled for.

Finally, an underlying health condition that may precede the partnership may be the source of any cross-sectional association observed between partnership endogamy or exogamy and health, suggesting that health status is a basis of selection into endogamous or exogamous relationships. This can be modeled with a prior observation of health status, at time t - 1, predicting partner race or ethnicity as the outcome variable. This model is applied in cases of new relationships, that is,

relationships that formed between survey observations of an individual. In its empirical form, a selection model of expected value of partner race P at time t, $E[P_t]$ may be specified as depending on health status at time t-1, as follows:

$$E[P_t|H_{t-1}, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 H_{t-1} + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(3)

In this model, the expected value of partner race at time t in a newly formed partnership is a function of health at time t - I and characteristics Z_t , which age, gender, and other explanatory variables.

Chapter 2: Self-Rated Health Associations with Interracial and Inter-ethnic Marriage and Cohabitation in the US

<u>Abstract</u>

Health is stratified by race and ethnicity, and marriage or marriage-like relationships are generally protective of health. Despite increases in interracial and inter-ethnic relationships, few studies have investigated associations between partner race/ethnicity and health. I do so using the 1996, 2001, 2004, and 2008 panels of the Survey of Income and Program Participation (299,065 combined years of observation). I find that having a non-White (including Hispanic) partner is associated with worse self-rated health for White women. Having a White partner is associated with better self-rated health for both non-White women and men. For both Whites and non-Whites, the adverse self-rated health association with having a non-White partner is stronger for women than it is for men. To investigate selection versus causal impact explanations for these associations, I use reports of self-rated health preceding new relationships and of self-rated health at two time points in existing relationships. I find evidence for positive health selection into having a White partner, and for positive impacts on health of having a White partner relative to a non-White partner. I interpret these findings as being consistent with gendered social-exchange theory and with theory of positive status and resource effects on health.

Introduction

Race, ethnicity, gender, and marital status are all central axes of health inequality. Racial minorities, especially Black Americans, and the unmarried have both been found to have worse health on outcomes ranging from health behaviors like drug and alcohol abuse to chronic conditions to risk of mortality (Schoenborn, 2004; for reviews, see Koball et al. 2010; Lara et al. 2005; Wood et al. 2007, Williams 2012; Williams and Jackson 2005). Self-rated health is one such health outcome that researchers find to be positively related to being partnered (e.g., Robards, Evandrou, Falkingham, and Vlachantoni 2012) and negatively related to being of minority race or ethnicity (e.g., Beck, Finch, Lin, Hummer, and Masters 2014).

For those who are married or partnered, both own race/ethnicity and that of one's partner may be expected to have health associations, but much less is currently known about the associations of health with one's partner's race/ethnicity. Being in an interracial relationship may induce adverse impacts on health, as is suggested by studies that have found adverse associations of having a Black partner with mental health (Bratter and Esbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011) and of interracial dating with mental health (Miller 2014). Specifically on self-rated health, however, a recent study (Miller and Kail 2016) finds that among married couples, having a minority race/ethnicity spouse has adverse health associations relative to having a White spouse for both White and minority race/ethnicity individuals. This suggests that the interracial/inter-ethnic versus same-race/ethnicity character of a relationship may not be the key dimension.

To better understand these associations of partner race/ethnicity with health, it is necessary also to investigate what may be the causal direction of the association. This is notoriously difficult to establish, though it is generally accepted that to do so requires longitudinal data (Goldman 2001; Lillard and Panis 1996). Selection into racially and ethnically homogamous marriage based on such "structural" economic factors as education, occupation, and income has been investigated (Gullickson 2006; Fu 2001; Schwartz 2013; Torche and Rich 2016). Studies of selection into marriage based on self-rated health (Lillard and Panis 1996; Wilson 2002), however, have not considered race/ethnicity of the spouse. The studies so far that have considered race/ethnicity of spouse or partner and health have instead taken a "stress-theory" perspective (Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014) and viewed interracial partnerships as causing worse health. However, these studies have largely been crosssectional in nature and therefore open questions remain on the selection versus social causation explanations for associations found between partner race and health outcomes.

The dearth of studies of the association between the racial composition of couples and health status is a glaring one, given both the wealth of research showing that subjective health status is markedly stratified by relationship status, race and ethnicity, and gender, and the fact that marriage and cohabitation across racial and ethnic lines is increasing as the non-White population in the U.S. grows and racial boundaries become more porous (Miyawaki 2015; Qian and Lichter 2011). This study seeks to fill that gap by investigating the association between couples' racial composition and self-rated health, including how selection versus causal processes

may generate this association. I use longitudinal data on partnership status and selfrated health status one year apart for men and women aged 18-59 from the 1996 through 2008 panels of the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP).

Background

Romantic Relationships and Self-Rated Health

Throughout the sociological health literature, one finding is largely consistent: romantic partnerships, particularly marriage, are associated with better health (Waite and Gallagher 2000). Married individuals report better health outcomes across the spectrum, from fewer health limitations (Teachman 2010) to lower morality risk, especially for men (Rendall et al. 2011; Staehelin et al. 2012). The findings on the association between cohabitation and health and mortality are more mixed (Lund et al. 2002; Harris et al. 2010; Ren 1997). Much of the existing discussion of the association between romantic relationships and health focuses on a debate between selection or protection effects: that is, are the healthy more likely to marry, or does marriage promote better health?

In this study, I examine the association of self-rated health with marriage and cohabitation in same-race and interracial and inter-ethnic relationships. Self-rated health is one of the most widely available and frequently used health outcomes in survey data (Jylha 2009). There is widespread agreement that this single question provides a useful, inclusive, and meaningful summary of an individual's perception of their own health. It is also a strong predictor of mortality risk (Au and Johnston 2014; Fayers and Sprangers 2002; Idler and Benyamini 1997). Self-rated health

represents an active cognitive process that is embedded in a social and cultural environment and includes defining health for oneself, considering medical diagnoses, functional status, and bodily symptoms, then comparing these components to culturally-specific reference groups and their own health history (Jylha 2009).

The married consistently report better self-rated health: For all age groups, married adults are the least likely to report poor or fair health, whereas widowed adults are the most likely to report fair or poor health compared to other marital statuses (Bennett 2006; Schoenborn 2004). Among fathers in the urban-U.S. Fragile Families study, married fathers report the highest levels of self-reported health (Meadows 2009), and among mothers in the same study, being continuously married is associated with better self-rated health compared to unmarried mothers (Meadows et al. 2008). Indeed, some research suggests that self-rated health may be the intervening variable in the relationship between marriage and mortality: when health is controlled for, the mortality difference between married and unmarried men has been found to disappear (Lillard and Panis 1996).

More recent research indicates that the married may overestimate their health status compared to their actual health and mortality risk, which could account for some of the marital-status gap in self-rated health (Zheng and Thomas 2013). Changes in marital status are likely also important for health outcomes (Hughes and Waite 2009), but the results are equivocal at this point as to whether marital disruptions or current marital status is more important for self-rated health. Relevant to the present study, getting married or moving in with a cohabiting (unmarried) partner is associated with an improvement in self-rated health (Cullati et al. 2014).

There is mixed evidence regarding the extent to which cohabitation benefits health, leading researchers to question whether it is the living arrangement of living with a romantic partner or the commitment and symbolic meaning of marital bonds that are more beneficial to health. The research examining cohabitation versus marriage and self-rated health specifically is limited. Some studies find that cohabitation does not improve self-rated health (Ren 1997), and cohabitation at young adult ages may even be detrimental to self-rated health (Harris et al. 2010).

Supporting selection as an explanation for positive health associations with being married, studies have found that people with worse self-rated health are more likely to divorce (Joung et al. 1998) and that young adults with unhealthy behaviors such as drug use and physical characteristics indicative of poor health, such as obesity, are less likely to marry (Fu and Goldman 1996). Further, there is evidence that couples select into relationships with one another on the basis of sharing health status and health-related characteristics, including self-rated health (Wilson 2002) and obesity (Schwartz 2013). Although shared environment and health-related behaviors also play a role in shared health status such as obesity (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009), research finds that similar levels of self-rated health before partnering is largely responsible for spousal correlation (Wilson 2002). However, most research to date concludes that although selection of the healthy into relationships plays a role in the association between romantic relationships and health, social causality pathways have more explanatory power (Harris et al. 2010; Lillard and Panis 1996; Waite and Lehrer 2003). Unhealthy men actually tend to marry or remarry sooner than healthy men, indicating adverse health selection into marriage for divorced men, who then

experience a health increase upon remarriage (Lillard and Panis 1996). Thus, the evidence for the protective effect of marriage and possibly cohabitation on health is possibly more compelling.

Theoretical Framework: Social Causation Theories of Romantic Relationships and Health

Theoretically, sociologists of health contend that romantic relationships affect health because they provide a social structure in which individuals are embedded, and their social roles and experiences are tied to this structure (Pearlin 1989; Ross et al. 1990). Social relationships in general provide emotional support that buffers stress. Marriage, due to its symbolic meaning, provides an extra degree of commitment and stability and may foster a greater sense of obligation to stay healthy. Romantic relationships can provide economic resources and foster better mental health, which is linked to reporting better physical health (Ross et al. 1990; Umberson and Montez 2010; Waite and Gallagher 2000). Romantic relationships encourage better health behaviors, including eating healthier diets, reducing abuse of alcohol, smoking, and drugs, and going to the doctor and seeking medical care (Duncan et al. 2006; Umberson et al. 2010; Waite and Gallagher 2000).

There is evidence from at least one study that the self-rated health benefit associated with marriage is changing over time, as social norms related to marriage change. The gap in self-rated health between the married and never-married converged from 1972 to 2003, though the gap between the married and the previously-married is diverging (Liu and Umberson 2008). Another study found a converging gap in self-rated health between the married and never-married, but only

for men (Waite 2000). These findings make investigations using contemporary data sources of how marital status and self-rated health are related, and under what conditions, all the more important.

A small body of literature investigates whether the effects of marital status on self-rated health are conditional on race and ethnicity. Unfortunately, race and ethnicity, where included, are more often just treated as control variables rather than as a potentially important mechanism by which the association between romantic relationships and health might vary (Koball et al. 2010; Wood et al. 2007). The fact that different racial groups exhibit different rates of marriage and cohabitation (Raley and Bumpass 2003; Oropesa and Landale 2004) adds to reasons to consider this mechanism. The extant literature on the topic focuses primarily on Black-White differences in the marriage health advantage. Among young adults, early marriage and cohabitation have been found to be negatively associated with Blacks' but not with Whites' health (Harris et al. 2010). The authors theorize that marital responsibilities may be more stressful for Black young adults because of their socioeconomic disadvantages, especially for young Black men. Supporting this theory, another study found that for Black men, their poor self-rated health compared to White men may be due in part to stress experienced throughout their lives and particularly in their relationships, and that a lower likelihood of being married in adulthood contributed to Black women's low self-rated health (Umberson et al. 2014).

Interracial Couples and Health

Interracial relationships are of growing interest in the sociological literature – not only are they increasing for some racial and ethnic groups, they are socially important because they represent the breaking down or blurring of racial boundaries, decreasing social distance between groups, and changes in the racial composition of the next generation, as children from these unions will be mixed race. Cohabitation represents a larger proportion of interracial relationships between Whites and Blacks compared to marriage, and Qian and Lichter (2007) argue that this signifies that the boundaries between Blacks and Whites still remain, because cohabitation does not represent the same level of commitment and stability as marriage. Further, gender has an impact on who partners with whom in interracial relationships: the majority of interracial unions (married and cohabiting) involving a Black partner involve a Blacks man and a White woman, and this is true for both native and foreign born Blacks (Batson, Qian, and Lichter 2006).

The research on interracial relationships and health outcomes to date is sparse, and to date has found cross-sectional associations between partner race and health that are not able to parse apart selection into exogamous relationships on the basis of health compared to social causation pathways. Most research in this vein has focused on mental health. Using the National Health Interview Survey from 1997 to 2001 in a cross-sectional analysis, Bratter and Eschbach (2006) found that interracial marriage is associated with greater psychological distress for Native American men, White women, and Hispanics married to spouses who were of a different race/ethnic background and also non-white; further, distress was higher for people in interracial

marriages with Black partners. Socioeconomic status partially accounted for these group patterns. Among teens, interracial daters are at greater risk for depression than same race daters and non-daters, regardless of race or gender, offering evidence that interracial relationships are more likely to be subject to social disapproval from parents and peers (Miller 2014). According to Kroeger and Williams (2011), despite the fact that racial boundaries are blurring for some groups, Black Americans stand outside this trend – the boundaries between blacks and other groups are more rigid. For this reason, relationships with Black partners specifically may be the most stressful. In a cross-sectional analysis of young adults, the authors find that nonblack individuals with Black partners report greater depression and less relationship satisfaction compared to counterparts with nonblack partners. Most recently, a crosssectional study using data from the 2000-2013 Current Population Survey found an association between spouse race and self-rated health among married couples. Specifically, non-Hispanic Whites with Asian, Black, and Hispanic spouses reported worse self-rated health, whereas racial minorities with White spouses reported better self-rated health (Miller and Kail 2016).

The studies on the association between exogamous relationships and health have thus far taken a social causation view of the association: that is, characteristics of interracial and inter-ethnic relationships affect health. These studies have generally concluded that greater stress in interracial relationships either causes poorer health, or that the health benefits of the relationship due to stress-buffering are attenuated in the case of interracial relationships.
However, it is not clear from the existing research that a stress theory perspective on exogamous relationships is well-supported. If this were the case, then the logical conclusion would be that exogamous relationships are associated with worse health outcomes for everyone in an exogamous relationship. Although Miller (2014) finds that interracial dating is detrimental to the mental health of all interracial daters in adolescence, most studies do not find uniformly negative effects of exogamy across race and gender, finding instead that being a racial-majority group member with a racial-minority partner is negatively associated with depression and self-rated health (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller and Kail 2016), whereas being a racial minority group member with a White partner is actually beneficial to self-rated health (Miller and Kail 2016). Therefore, it may be the case that other social causation processes are at play in the association between health and interracial and inter-ethnic relationships.

One possible explanation is that White partners have greater economic and psychosocial resources that benefit health (Carr and Springer 2010; Goldman 2001; Thoits 1995; Umberson and Montez 2010), and these resources may extend to benefit their racial minority partners' health too (Miller and Kail 2016). Another possibility is that status processes are implicated. The social psychology of health often looks to subjective social status to explain health disparities. Rooted in symbolic interactionism, this theoretical framework posits that individuals make social comparisons with significant others and their self-evaluations of status literally "get under the skin" and result in health disparities (Schnittker and McLeod 2005; Wilkinson 1999). Indeed, societies in which income inequality is high, and thus

subjective social status comparisons are more stark, are characterized by greater incidence of poor health, depression, and substance abuse (Wilkinson and Pickett 2009). There is empirical and theoretical evidence that partner race is a status marker. A status exchange theory of exogamous partnering (discussed in greater depth below) posits that race and ethnicity act as status markers on the marriage market (Kalmijn 2010), and is therefore something that can be "traded" in exchange for socioeconomic status as people form romantic relationships. Empirical evidence suggests that once relationships are formed, partner race acts as a status cue to friends and family, such that non-White partners feel that they are the targets of disapproval from friends and family of their White partners on the basis of their racial status (Miller et al. 2004). Thus, if exogamous relationships do indeed have any causal impact on health, it may be through the pathway of status processes rather than stress.

Evidence suggests that gender may moderate the effects of relationshiprelated stress and status on self-rated health. Although marriage is found to be equally protective of mental health for men and women (Simon 2002), marriage exerts a stronger protective effect on men's mortality (Rendall et al. 2011) and men's selfrated health is more adversely affected by marital dissolution than women's (Williams and Umberson 2004). On the other hand, women both experience more stress and are more vulnerable to the detrimental effects of chronic stress on mental and physical health (Kessler and McLeod 1984; Mirowsky and Ross 1995), which may explain the finding that White women in interracial relationships are more prone to mental distress (Bratter and Eschbach 2006). Finally, the empirical evidence

suggests that race is a stronger status cue for White women than White men in relationships with nonwhites (Miller et al. 2004).

Theoretical Frameworks: Status Exchange in Interracial Relationships

In this study, I examine the evidence for selection processes into exogamous relationships on the basis of self-rated health, drawing on status exchange theory. The main theoretical explanations for partnering across racial and ethnic lines revolve around socioeconomic status of racial and ethnic minorities. Status exchange theory is often cited (Davis 1941; Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006) as one explanation for interracial pairings: in order to marry a partner with higher racial status (i.e., someone White), racial minorities must have higher status in the form of socioeconomic status, indicating the persistence of racial hierarchy in the marriage market and society in general (Kalmijn 2010). There is empirical support for this: higher socioeconomic status Blacks and Hispanics are more likely to marry Whites (Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006) and cohabit with Whites (Torche and Rich 2016). Despite the fact that Black/White intermarriages have increased over the past three decades, the prevalence of status exchange among higher education Blacks with White partners has not decreased over time, indicating that status exchange continues to be the best explanation for exogamous partnership formation rather than the assimilation of racial minorities into predominantly White structures and institutions, as suggested by other theoretical frameworks (Lewis and Ford-Roberson 2010; Torche and Rich 2016). Status exchange is found to be a gendered process as well: White women are more

likely than White men to marry Black and Hispanic partners with high educational attainment (Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006).

However, I argue that it may also be the case that health, like race, acts as a status marker on the interracial marriage market. We know that self-rated health and other health markers such as obesity affect one's likelihood of marriage (Fu and Goldman 1996; Schwartz 2013; Wilson 2002), and the one prior study on self-rated health and interracial and inter-ethnic partnerships suggests that the observed association could be due to selection processes by which healthier racial minorities select into relationships with White partners. Thus, I suggest that self-rated health may intersect with race as a facet of status that affects the likelihood that Whites and nonwhites partner endogamously or exogamously.

The Present Study

I build on the small yet growing body of literature that suggests that associations between health and partner race exist by pushing the conversation past cross-sectional findings and examining competing explanations of selection versus social causation pathways that link characteristics of marriage and cohabiting relationships to health. I use nationally representative data from SIPP that span 1996 to 2011 to examine whether and how the racial and ethnic composition of married and cohabiting relationships affects self-rated health status and changes in health. Research with these relatively recent data is particularly timely for two reasons: first, because of the growing diversity of the U.S. population and the fact that interracial relationships are becoming more common. Second, because the relationships between race/ethnicity,

marriage and marriage-like relationships, and health are themselves changing: Recent research indicates that racial self-rated health disparities (particularly Black-White) may actually be growing in recent years, and also that the marriage advantage for self-rated health may be changing (converging for the married compared to the never married, and diverging for the married compared to the divorced and widowed) (Liu and Umberson 2008). There is very little research on interracial and interethnic couples specifically using the SIPP, despite the richness of this particular data source. One prior study used the SIPP to examine the stability of interracial relationships, finding that although interracial marriages are more prone to divorce, after controlling for individual level characteristics, particularly age and education, this association disappeared (Zhang and Van Hook 2009). As noted above, the only previous study to examine the relationship between co-residential unions and self-rated health (Miller and Kail 2016) used the Current Population Survey. The cross-sectional and longitudinal character of the SIPP allows me to both conduct a replication of their cross-sectional findings and to extend the field's understanding of how those crosssectional findings are generated by processes of inter-racial and inter-ethnic partner selection on self-rated health and of causal impacts of being in an interracial or interethnic unions on self-rated health.

In the present study, I ask the following research questions:

1. What is the association between the racial composition of married and cohabiting relationships and self-rated health?

- 2. What is the evidence for selection versus causation processes in the association between the racial/ethnic composition of married and cohabiting relationships and self-rated health?
 - a. How does self-rated health prior to entering a new marriage or cohabiting relationship affect the likelihood of partnering with a White or non-White partner?
 - b. How does the racial composition of cohabiting and marriage relationships affect change in self-rated health over time?
- 3. How does the association between self-rated health and partner race/ethnicity vary by gender?

Research questions 2a and 2b reflect competing explanations for any observed association between the racial composition of couples and self-rated health. Evidence that self-rated health prior to entering a new marriage or cohabitation would support status exchange theory; more specifically, this association would suggest that health operates as a status marker on the marriage market that may be exchanged for a higher status partner. Evidence for a causal effect of partner race on health, on the other hand, may indicate support for either a stress theory perspective on interracial relationships if the health effects of interracial and inter-ethnic relationships are uniform across groups; on the other hand, evidence of a causal association may be better explained by status processes. I additionally investigate gender differences in the reciprocal effects of self-rated health and partner race in all analyses to determine whether gender-specific processes of status exchange or social causation are at play.

Data

I use public use data from SIPP. The SIPP is administered by the U.S. Census Bureau and is a continuous series of national panels of households in the U.S. (U.S. Census Bureau 2016). The SIPP Panels beginning in 1996 have run for about four years each, with waves at four month intervals and reporting retrospective information on each of those 4 months. At Wave 1 of each SIPP panel, the survey is household-based: that is, all members of the household present at Wave 1 are included. The longitudinal design of the SIPP is person-based. SIPP follows original sample members regardless of household composition, unless they are no longer in the SIPP universe (i.e., not institutionalized, do not live in military barracks, and do not move out of the country) or are under 15 and no longer live with an original sample member (U.S. Census Bureau 2001:2-9). Individuals who were not in the sample at prior waves become part of the SIPP sample if they start living with an original sample member, and are followed as long as they continue to live with that sample member.

After Wave 1, each person carries over their sample weight from the prior wave, which is then adjusted for changes in the sample due to nonresponse and moving. For people who entered the sample after Wave 1 and were also in the SIPP universe at Wave 1 (not incarcerated, not living in military barracks, not living out of the country), that person receives a portion of the weights of the original sample persons in the household they moved into (U.S. Census Bureau 2001:8-4).

Analytic Samples

Three datasets were constructed for cross-sectional, health-change, and partner selection analyses, respectively. The cross-sectional and health-change files are person-year files of all married and cohabiting individuals aged between 18 and 59 years old, whereas the partner selection file includes only new co-resident relationships (married or cohabiting), defined by the individuals having begun to live together in the last year. I identify married couples from a spouse ID variable, available irrespective of relationship to reference person. I identify cohabiting couples, however, contingent on one of the two partners being listed as the reference person for the household. I therefore exclude subfamily cohabiting couples (e.g., living in the household of one of their parents). The health-change file is a subset of the cross-sectional file, in which individuals are observed to report health status twice, at intervals one year apart. Person-level sample weights were used for all descriptive statistics and analyses. Respondents missing individual-level weights were excluded. I adjusted for clustering at the individual level in all analyses to account for multiple observations per individual.

My rationale for restricting the samples to 18 to 59 year olds is that the meaning of self-rated health changes with age. Paradoxically, older people are disproportionately optimistic with their health assessments (Layes et al. 2012). Self-rated health doesn't have the same predictive power for mortality among older age groups as it does for younger groups (Benyamini et al. 2003), indicating that the process underlying older people's responses is possibly different from younger people. Finally, I included only opposite-sex relationships in my analyses, allowing

my gendered analyses to compare women partnered racially/ethnically exogamously with men versus men partnered racially/ethnically exogamously with women.

In the person-year file for the cross-sectional analyses, I kept data from wave 1 plus each of the following waves at which self-rated health was reported (see Table 1.1). In the 1996 panel, self-rated health was collected at waves 3, 6, 9 and 12 (each one year apart); in the 2001 panel, self-rated health was collected at waves 3, 6, and 9; in 2004, self-rated health was collected at waves 3 and 6; and self-rated health was collected in the 2008 panel at waves 4, 7, and 10. In each wave, the four previous months are reported on by the respondent. For all panels and waves of data used, I kept only the data recorded at reporting months. This is generally in keeping with SIPP analytic best practices (Schaefer 2013), because most transitions are reported to have taken place between waves (known as "seam bias," Ham, Li, and Shore-Sheppard 2007), and because some of the data in interview months other than month four are imputed.

To make the "new relationships" file, I compared each individual's partner ID number from wave to wave. In cases where the partner ID changed, or the individual had a missing partner ID at the first wave but reported a partner or spouse at the second, and the individual was observed at both waves, this person was marked as a previously existing sample member who entered a new partnership and was included in the new-relationships file. I also included the new partners of these individuals – that is, individuals who joined the SIPP panel because of their newly formed residential partnership. The new relationships data set contains one record per new relationship. The large majority of individuals in the four panels (N=16,266) were

observed in only one new relationship. 188 individuals were observed in multiple new relationships -184 in two new relationships during the panel, and four people were observed in three new relationships in the panel.

Key Variables

All variables listed here are captured for SIPP respondents and their marriage/cohabiting partners, if applicable. *Self-rated health* was measured once a year as a part of the topical modules administered in addition to the core questionnaire of SIPP. The question was: "The next few questions are about your health. Would you say your health in general is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" This question was asked of each member of the household (children's health was reported by their parents, which is outside of the scope of this study). This is the standard "self-rated health" question of the literature I discussed above. I recoded this variable with values 1 ("poor") through 5 ("excellent") so that larger values indicate better health.

I first constructed a combined race/ethnicity variable with four categories: Hispanic (all races) = 1, Black (non-Hispanic) = 2, White (non-Hispanic) = 3, and Asian (non-Hispanic) = 4. I coded Hispanic race/ethnicity from the SIPP's ethnicity questions which asked about Hispanic origin. In the 2004 and 2008 panels, Hispanic origin was asked: "Is [person] Spanish, Hispanic or Latino?" with possible responses yes or no. In the 1996 and 2001 panels, greater detail about Hispanic origin was provided in a variable that captures nine Hispanic origin categories: Mexican, Mexican-American, Chicano, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central American, South American, Dominican Republic, and Other Hispanic. I coded as "Hispanic" from these panels all respondents who indicated that they were any of these nine Hispanic origins.

To code non-Hispanic categories of race/ethnicity, I used the SIPP's four race categories: "Black Alone," "White Alone," "Asian Alone." The remaining public-use SIPP race category, "Residual," combines people who chose multiple racial categories, as well as people who selected "American Indian/Alaska Native," "Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander," and "Other." Because of lack of detail about the racial/ethnic composition of the "Residual" category, I retain only those (non-Hispanic) respondents who were categorized as Black Alone, White Alone, and Asian Alone. My coding of *partner race/ethnicity* is identical to the coding of the focal individual's race/ethnicity.

For my cross-sectional analysis, I tested models using three different codings of race and partner race. For models restricted to White respondents, I used the fourcategory partner race variable (non-Hispanic White, Black, Asian, Hispanic). For models restricted to individual nonwhite groups (Hispanic, Black, Asian), I used a three-category partner race variable that was coded with three values: own race/ethnicity partner, White partner, other nonwhite partner. Following statistical testing (discussed below) of cross-sectional models with nonwhite groups treated separately versus as a combined group that favored the latter, and due to much more limited sample sizes for specific racial and ethnic partnership combinations in the selection models (see Appendix Table 2.1), I used a binary White/Nonwhite specification of race/ethnicity and partner race/ethnicity for the models of healthchange and selection on health. For this binary specification of the race/ethnicity

variable, I combined Hispanics, Blacks, and Asians into "nonwhites". Note that this means that Hispanics who also marked themselves as White (either alone or with another category) are classified as nonwhite for the analysis. Theoretically, this binary coding of race/ethnicity aligns with a status exchange theoretical framework, in which (non-Hispanic) Whiteness operates as a status marker compared to other races (Kalmijn 2010).

Other variables are coded as follows. *Gender* is coded as a binary variable (0=male, 1=female). ² For *union type*, marriage is coded as 0, cohabiting is coded as 1. *Education*, as a marker of social status and an indicator of socioeconomic status, is of crucial importance to understanding disparities in health (Link and Phelan 1995). Education is coded into four categories (less than a high school degree, high school degree, some college, and a Bachelor's or more). In the full sample, I included an indicator variable (*new relationship*) for whether or not the relationship was an existing relationship (that is, observed in the prior wave as well, provided the respondent was observed at the prior wave), or if the respondent was observed in a new relationship, that is, if the respondent was observed at the prior wave but had no partner or had a different partner. This variable is coded 0 (existing relationship) and 1 (new relationship). Note that nativity is not included in the analysis. Nativity was not asked as part of the core questionnaire in 1996 and 2001 but rather was included

 $^{^2}$ The ratio of men to women is not 1:1 due to the age restriction of the sample. The men in the sample skew older than women; thus, there are women in the sample who fall within the 18-59 year age range, but whose partners are not included in the sample because they are older. There are also 9,591 cases in the cross-sectional person-year data set where the focal respondent has education observed but their cohabiting or married partner is missing education. In these cases, the partner missing education is not included in the models.

as part of a topical module administered at Wave 2; therefore, there is a large proportion of missing data for nativity in these panels. I thus exclude nativity from all analyses for consistency across models.³

Data Analysis

The analysis begins with a *cross-sectional* regression model of the association of self-rated health with partner race to establish whether there is a statistically and substantively significant association between partner race and self-rated health. It then is followed by models whose respective purposes are: to estimate the extent that partner's race is determined by one's level of self-rated health, in a *selection model*; and to estimate the causal effect of partner's race on self-rated health, in a *health-change* model. The *cross-sectional* and *health-change* models are closest to each other in their statistical form, and therefore are presented first.

Cross-sectional Model

Formally, I denote self-rated health by H, as noted above as measured using a five-point scale from 1 for "Poor" to 5 for "Excellent" so that the coefficient signs

³ In the core questionnaire for panels 2004 and 2008, all respondents were asked at each wave whether or not they were born in the U.S. This is a binary yes/no variable. This question was not included in the 2001 and 1996 core questionnaires. A topical module called "migration history" captures more in-depth information on this topic at wave 2 for all four panels, including country of birth, immigration status upon entering the US, current citizenship status, year of entry into the US, and year moved to the current state. To capture nativity for respondents in the 1996 and 2001 panels, I merged these variables in from the wave 2 topical module. As a result, however, there is a greater proportion of missing data on nativity among respondents in the 1996 and 2001 panels, because nativity is missing for any individual not observed at wave 2. This proportion of missing data was especially problematic for the new relationships subsample. Of 12,282 White individuals not missing data on other key variables, 3,045 were missing nativity in the new relationships subsample, and of 4,172 nonwhite individuals, 872 were missing nativity.

can be interpreted as indicating that a predictor variable has a positive or negative association with health. In the cross-sectional model, the expected value of self-rated health at time t is a function of a main explanatory variable of White versus nonwhite partner P at year t, P_t , and additional explanatory variables specified in vector Z_t , consisting of age, age squared, union type (cohabiting or married), education, and a flag for whether the person was observed in a new relationship at time t. Following previous analyses of self-rated health (see Gunasekara et al. 2011 for a review), I treat the self-rated health variable H_t as a continuous, interval scale variable. Thus, $E[H_t|P_t, Z_t]$ is estimated by Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression, representing the expectation as a linear function F as follows:

$$E[H_t|P_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(1)

This model was estimated with three different specifications of race and partner race (P_t) to see whether the effects of partner race on self-rated health varied across individual racial and ethnic minority groups. First, I estimated models for Whites only, separately for men and women. Model 1 used a binary partner race coding (White/nonwhite). Model 2 estimated the effects of a White, Hispanic, Black, or Asian partner on health. I compared the fit of the White models with alternate partner race codings using Akaike's information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criterion (BIC) statistics, and used Wald tests for differences in coefficients across Hispanic, Black, and Asian partners. Next, I estimated models for nonwhites, again separately for men and women: first, a model with all nonwhites pooled, looking at the effect of a White partner; then separately-estimated models for Hispanics, Blacks, and Asians using a three-category partner race variable (own

race/ethnicity, non-Hispanic White partner, other nonwhite partner). In order to ascertain whether or not the effect of each predictor variable on self-rated health differed by gender, I also separately estimated models pooling men and women and including gender interactions on partner race/ethnicity and all other covariates.

Health-change Model

Closely related to the "cross-sectional" model is the "health-change" model. Again, the outcome variable is self-rated health, and the main explanatory variable is White versus nonwhite partner. Again, additional explanatory variables consist of age, age squared, union type (cohabiting or married), education, and a "new relationship" indicator. However, given the objective of the health-change model, I require two observations of self-rated health, one year apart, for each individual. This results in sample sizes that are approximately 60% of the size of those for the crosssectional analyses, but that represent a similar population of 18-59 year old cohabiting and married individuals including both new and existing relationships. Because of these lesser sample sizes, and results of no improvement in cross-sectional model fit when breaking down the Nonwhite group into Hispanic, Black, and Asian groups, the health-change model uses a White/Nonwhite categorization of own and partner race/ethnicity. For these models, I use what Allison (1990) refers to as the regressor-variable method of estimating at the change in the dependent variable, here self-rated health. The equation used to estimate the effect of partner race on health change is as follows:

$$E[H_{t+1}|P_t, H_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 H_t + \beta_3 Z_t)$$
(2)

In this equation, the expected value of own health at time t+1 is a linear function of partner race at time t, own health at time t (measured categorically, with values from 1 [poor health], the reference category, to 5 [excellent health]), and vector Z, which represents age, age squared, education, the union type, and whether or not the respondent is observed in a new relationship as of time t. Using OLS regression, I estimated this equation separately for White and nonwhite men and women, resulting in four models. I additionally estimated White and nonwhite models with pooled genders with gender interactions on all covariates to determine whether the effect of the independent variables measured at time t on health at time t+1 varies by gender.

Note that this regressor-variable method of estimating at the change in the dependent variable is not the only modeling strategy that has been used to analyze change in an outcome variable. Another type of model that has been used in the modeling of individual outcome change in general (Morgan and Winship 2014), and change in self-rated health in particular (Gunasekara 2011), is the "change-score" method. I use the regressor-variable method consistent with Allison's (1990) arguments that it is the more appropriate method to handle "stock" type dependent variables, compared to "flow" type dependent variables. Stock type variables are those that are expected to be persistent over time unless some sort of event or circumstance alters their course (e.g., body weight), whereas flow variables must be created anew at each distinct time point (e.g., specific attitudes). In the case of a stock variable, its value at time t has a causal impact on its value at time t+1. Self-rated health is reasonably interpreted as a stock variable, making the regressor-variable

approach appropriate. Another problem with using change scores to model self-rated health is that there is no way to measure health improvement for someone who has rated themselves at the top of the spectrum, "excellent," or health decline for someone with "poor" health (Gunasekara 2011).

Controlling for health in the previous period in which the respondent was with the same partner represents a major gain over the cross-sectional for inferring a causal impact of partner characteristics on the respondent's health. However, two, or even three, periods of observation still only partially eliminate other mechanisms as plausible alternative causal explanations (Morgan and Winship 2014; Vaisey and Miles 2014). For example, an individual could have selected his or her partner based on health conditions that imply something about his or her partner's trajectory of health stability versus decline. Controlling for health observed once only does not eliminate this type of 'selection' mechanism as an explanation for the observed relationship between partner race and health change.

Selection Model

The "selection model" is designed to explicitly investigate to what extent the associations between partner race and self-rated health established in the "cross-sectional model" might be attributed to selection processes whereby individuals select into racially endogamous versus exogamous relationships on the basis of self-rated health reported before the start of the relationship. To examine the evidence for selection processes I use the "new relationship" subsample described above. The equation used to estimate the effect of self-rated health at time t-1 on partner race/ethnicity at time t is as follows:

$$E[P_t|H_{t-1}, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 H_{t-1} + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(3)

In this model, the expected value of partner race at time t in a newly formed partnership is a function of health at time t - I and characteristics Z_t , which represents race, age, gender, education, and union type. Because partner race is a binary outcome (White/nonwhite), binary logistic regression is appropriate.

In the new relationships subsample, there are many individuals for whom I observe health at time t but not at time t-1. Missing values occur for health observed at time t-1 for two reasons. First, if the new relationship was observed at wave 3 in the case of panels 1996, 2001, or 2004, or wave 4 in the case of panel 2008, this was also the first wave in which self-rated health was captured, by design of the survey. Second, for all individuals who entered the SIPP sample because of partnering with an existing SIPP member, there are no data predating the new relationship. In order to include a measure of self-rated health at t-1 in these cases, and thereby model selection on the basis of health into relationships, I used multiple imputation from their self-rated health at t combined with imputation equation parameters estimated and from women and men whose self-rated health was observed at both t -1 at t. The women and men whose self-rated health is observed only at t can be said to have leftcensored observation of their self-rated health. For more discussion, see Rendall and Greulich (2016), whose multiple imputation procedures I follow in estimating this selection model. The proportion of the data for health at time t-1 was missing due to survey design is about 60%. This "fraction missing" is a key parameter to consider when performing multiple imputation, and the number of imputations, m, needs to be sufficiently large in cases of higher "fraction missing" in order for the multiple

imputation variances of the coefficients to approach the variances of the MLE (Schafer and Graham 2002). I used m = 50 imputations, which produced consistent results across executions of the multiple imputation procedure. Stata's *mi* system allows the use of sample weights for both the imputation equation and the analysis equation (StataCorp 2013).

The main selection logistic regression models (equation 3, above) are pooled by race and separated by gender. These models were pooled by race in order to achieve greater statistical power, and because race-separated models run previously showed that the sign of the coefficient of the main predictor variable (self-rated health at time t-1) was in the same direction for both Whites and nonwhites. I additionally performed the logistic regression models separately by gender with race interaction terms on all covariates to determine whether the effect of the covariates on partner race varied by race. I also separately performed the logistic regression models with gender and race pooled with gender interaction terms on all covariates to determine whether the effect of the covariates on partner.

<u>Results</u>

I first compare characteristics of White and nonwhite men and women currently married or cohabiting (see Table 2.1). This describes sociodemographic characteristics and relationship type of the population aged 18-59 who were married or cohabiting, separated by race/ethnicity (White and nonwhite). Both Whites and nonwhites have a much greater frequency of being married compared to cohabiting, with Whites even more likely to be married compared to nonwhites (92% versus 90%). The nonwhite married or cohabiting population is about half Hispanic, a third

Black, and one-sixth Asian. Whites have a lower prevalence of partnering exogamously compared to nonwhites, with only 4.0% of Whites are partnered with nonwhites whereas 12.2% of nonwhites are partnered with Whites. Mean age is 42 years for Whites and 40 for nonwhites. Slightly fewer (4.1%) Whites than nonwhites (4.9%) are in a new relationship (that is, one formed in the last year). Mean self-rated health for Whites is 3.91, just below a rating of "very good," whereas nonwhites report significantly worse health, with a mean score of 3.75. Whites are more than 5 percentage-points more likely to report excellent health (31.6% versus 26.2% of nonwhites), whereas nonwhites are 8 percentage-points more likely to report their health as poor, fair, or good (38.8% versus 30.8% of Whites).

[TABLE 2.1 ABOUT HERE]

Table 2.2 displays the results from the cross-sectional OLS regression model testing for the multivariate association of partner race and other covariates with self-rated health for Whites, measured concurrently – that is, the associations that I subsequently endeavor to explain with additional analyses of selection on health into exogamous partnerships, and causal associations between partner race and health. The key findings are as follows. First, as shown in Model 1, White women with nonwhite partners have worse self-rated health than White women with White partners, by about .07 points of health. This magnitude is in the range of points of health suffered for other partnership characteristics I estimated: between the loss of .03 points of health associated with being in a newly-formed relationship and the .16 points of health associated with being in a cohabiting and not marital relationship. It is nowhere near the magnitude of health suffered, however, being less educated, where the

difference between having at least a Bachelor's degree and not graduating from high school approaches a full point (0.875). The interaction effect between gender and having a nonwhite partner shows that White women experience an extra health "penalty" for having a nonwhite partner compared to White men. Because White men's health "penalty" for having a nonwhite partner is estimated at almost exactly zero, the total female adverse health effect of being partnered to a non-White man and the gender difference in the adverse health effect of having a non-White partner are identical. This statistically-significant gender interaction of having a non-White partner are few other associations with health that differ statistically by gender for Whites. This is the first indicator that gendered theories are needed to explain self-rated health associations with racial/ethnically exogamous relationships. (Full results of the gender interaction models shown in Appendix Table 2.3.)

Shown in Model 2 are the results of the Whites model with partner race divided into four categories. The key result from this model is of overall sufficiently similar associations of self-rated health across the three different Nonwhite partner groups that I am unable to improve model fit by treating them as distinct. For White men, none of the three Nonwhite partner groups' coefficients is anywhere near being statistically significantly different from zero, and the magnitudes are all close to zero. White women with Hispanic and with Black partners report worse health compared to White women with White partners, though the coefficients are significant only at the .05 level. The Asian-partner coefficient is close to zero and non-significant. I conducted Wald tests to determine whether the effects of partner race differed

between the non-White categories (that is, all categories that were not the reference category for partner race in the model) and found no statistically significant differences among the nonwhite partner race categories in terms of their effects on health. I also compared the AIC and BIC statistics between Model 1 and Model 2 for both men and women. These indicate that, both for men and for women, the White/nonwhite model specification is not improved by the separate grouping of Hispanic, Black, and Asian partners over the combined Nonwhite grouping.

I also investigated the gendered character of the interracial/interethnic association with self-rated health separately by the three different partner race/ethnic groups. White women with Hispanic partners are found to experience an additional self-rated health penalty compared to White men, as indicated by the statistically significant gender interaction. The magnitude of difference between the coefficients for White men versus White women with Black partners (0.010 versus -0.106), however, is greater than that between White men and women with Hispanic partners (0.012 versus -0.063), indicating that statistical power to detect gender interactions is low when Nonwhite partners are broken down into the three separate race/ethnic groups.

[TABLE 2.2 ABOUT HERE]

Table 2.3⁴ shows the cross-sectional results for nonwhites, both in aggregate and broken down by race/ethnicity groups. For all nonwhites, the direction of association with health and having a White versus non-White partner is the same for

⁴ All models include controls for age, age-squared, union type, education level, and whether or not the relationship is new since the last observation one year prior. The full results are presented in Appendix Table 2.2.

non-White and White women: that is, having a non-White male partner similarly implies worse health than having a White partner for non-White women. However, nonwhite women experience an even greater, .177 point self-rated health premium. This magnitude is on par with the effect of being married relative to cohabiting, or with the effect of having a high school degree compared to no high school degree.

Unlike White men, non-white men also experience a self-rated health premium associated with having a white partner, of .105 points. The gender difference in this premium for nonwhites is again statistically significant, however, and at .071 is almost exactly the same magnitude as the gender difference for Whites. That is, for both Whites and non-Whites, some form of gendered process of adverse association with having a non-White partner is indicated.

The results broken down by racial/ethnic group show that for all nonwhite groups, having a White partner is associated with a statistically significant self-rated health premium, with the exception of Black women with White partners (who are represented by a relatively smaller samle size in the SIPP). There are no statistically significant effects of having an exogamous relationship with another nonwhite partner for Hispanics, Blacks, or Asians.

[TABLE 2.3 ABOUT HERE]

I compared the specified models for Whites and Nonwhites (in Tables 1.2 and 1.3, respectively) to determine which specification of partner race is preferable. The Whites model that disaggregated Nonwhite partners into Hispanic, Black, and Asian resulted in a worse (or no better) fit compared to the White/nonwhite models, and the Hispanic, Black, and Asian Partner coefficients were always of the same sign

(worse SRH than for a White partner) (Table 2.2). Moreover, in the models for Nonwhites (Table 2.3), the results were substantively similar for all nonwhite groups with a White partner, and there was no effect of partner race on self-rated health for non-whites with other nonwhite exogamous partners. Given the statistically weaker results for disaggregated Nonwhite group models versus the models with a single Nonwhite category, I subsequently conduct the selection versus causation modeling with only the aggregated Nonwhite versus White grouping, and emphasize these aggregate groupings in my Discussion.

Table 2.4 presents the results from the health change models for men and women aged 18-59 in a relationship for two consecutive years. The models presented are estimated separately by race and gender, but include statistical tests for gender interactions for all covariates. Crucially for interpretation of the results in this model, self-rated health in the previous year is controlled for in estimating the association of partner race with the self-rated health outcome. I therefore interpret this association as showing the impact of partner race on self-rated health over time.

One of the key findings from this part of the analysis is that the health changes experienced by White women in relationships with nonwhite men are on average worse than the health changes of White women who are partnered with White men, although by a relatively small .036 self-rated health points. A statistically significant gender difference is found in the association of partner race with health change: the health-change "penalty" of having a nonwhite partner for White women is larger by .049 health points compared to the corresponding difference in self-rated health change for White men having a nonwhite partner (full results from the gender

interaction models show in Appendix Table 2.4). A second key finding is that the health changes of both nonwhite women and non-White men in relationships with nonwhite cohabiting or marital partners are on average worse than the health changes of nonwhite women and men in relationships with White cohabiting or marital partners. The health-change "premium" of having a White partner for nonwhite women is .090 and for nonwhite men is .073 (a difference that is statistically non-significant).

Other variables that are controlled for in estimating these partner-race effects on self-rated health change have the expected associations. Unsurprisingly, self-rated health is positively and statistically significantly related to self-rated health a year earlier for all groups. Health changes are more negative as age increases. Cohabitors experience more adverse health change than do married individuals, and health changes are more favorable the higher is the individual's education attainment. All of these associations of these control variables with health change are found for all four populations of partnered individuals: White and non-White men and women.

[TABLE 2.4 ABOUT HERE]

Although the samples and specifications are only partially overlapping between the "cross-sectional" and "health-change" models, it is nevertheless notable that the associations of partner race with self-rated health are of lesser magnitudes in the "health-change" models than in the "cross-sectional" models. One potential explanation is that the cross-sectional associations are partly due to individuals with poorer self-rated health being more likely to form a partnership with a non-White cohabitor or spouse: an "adverse selection" effect. I examine this possibility in

models that use self-rated health as a predictor of partner race/ethnicity in new cohabiting and marital relationships.

The population of those entering new coresidential unions (cohabiting and marital) is described in Table 2.5, again comparing Whites with nonwhites. Compared to all White and nonwhite 18-59 year olds in marital and cohabiting relationships (see again Table 2.1), those whose coresidential relationship began in the last year tend to be younger, healthier, and more likely to have a partner of a different race/ethnicity to their own. Many more than in the stock of current relationships are cohabiting, and unlike all current relationships, more new relationships among whites than nonwhites are cohabiting relationships (42.8% versus 32.5%). Reasons for this may include that more marriages among Whites than nonwhites begin with cohabitation.

As with the stock of current relationships, Whites are more frequently endogamous compared to nonwhites: only 6.4% of new relationships observed among Whites are with nonwhites, whereas 17.1% of new relationships observed among nonwhites are with Whites. Both Whites and nonwhites entering a new coresidential relationship have a mean age of 32 years old. As with the stock of current relationships, self-reported health is better for both Whites than nonwhites (mean of 4.0 versus 3.8). Whites in new relationships are more than 7 percentage-points more likely than nonwhites to report their health as excellent (36.3% versus 28.9%).

[TABLE 2.5 ABOUT HERE]

The results from the self-rated health selection logistic regression model into newly formed married and cohabiting relationships with a White versus nonwhite

partner are shown in Table 2.6. Self-rated health in this selection model is specified in the year before the new partnership, as the direction of inferred causality in these model is from a pre-existing level of health to a likelihood that the new partner will be nonwhite versus the reference White category. Table 2.6 also shows the coefficients and results of tests for race interactions on all covariates in the genderseparated models (full gender interaction models show in Appendix Table 2.5). I also present the results of tests for gender interactions with all covariates in the "Main Model" that pools Whites and nonwhites. The results from these self-rated health selection models show that as health improves for women, the likelihood of having a nonwhite partner decreases. That is, less healthy women are more likely to partner with nonwhite men. The race interaction is not significant, and therefore the interpretation here is that less healthy women are more likely to partner with nonwhite men regardless of a woman's own race.

There is no statistically significant association between self-rated health prior to forming a new married or cohabiting relationship and the race of one's partner for men. The nonwhite coefficient is again negative, however, and the gender interaction effect is not statistically significant. This means that I cannot say from this sample that women experience greater adverse health selection into forming a new relationship with a nonwhite partner than do men.

[TABLE 2.6 ABOUT HERE]

Other variables that are controlled for in estimating these self-rated health effects on partner race have a mixture of expected and unexpected associations. Nonwhites are more likely than Whites to have nonwhite partners. Being in a new

cohabiting relationship compared to a new married relationship decreases the likelihood of that relationship being with a nonwhite partner. The interaction between being nonwhite and cohabiting is statistically significant, such that, compared with whites, nonwhites who are entering a new cohabiting relationships are less likely than nonwhites who are entering a new marital relationship to be with a nonwhite partner. Women who cohabit are also more likely than men who cohabit to have a nonwhite partner. Increasing age for men is associated with a higher likelihood of having a new nonwhite partner, whereas the opposite direction of age effect is observed for women, whereby having a new nonwhite partner relative to having a new White partner decreases with age. These differences are complicated in their interpretation by my pooling White and nonwhite individuals, and therefore the relationships do not necessarily indicate any relationship of age to endogamy versus exogamy in relationship composition. At the highest level of education tested - having a bachelor's degree or higher - women are less likely than men to have a new nonwhite partner. As education levels increase, nonwhites see a greater "return" on education in terms of their likelihood of partnering with Whites compared to the effect of Whites' education levels on their likelihood of partnering endogamously. This finding is consistent with the status exchange theory on partner selection, which posits that nonwhites trade greater educational status for having White partners - in a way that Whites do not need to (Gullickson 2006). The new finding here, though, is that both health and education are seen to have this same direction of selection: that both better health and higher education are associated with a greater likelihood of a new partner being White.

Discussion

Racially and ethnically exogamous relationships are an increasingly integral and important part of the social fabric of the U.S., and will influence population characteristics for generations to come. Current research and theorizing on interracial relationships tends to focus on characteristics that make individuals more likely to partner across racial boundaries, especially education. Theory posits that status exchange, in which racial minorities exchange higher levels of socioeconomic status, particularly education, for a higher racial status White partner, drives exogamous union formation, including in the present day (Davis 1941; Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006; Torche and Rich 2016). In this formulation, education is the key for the formation of interracial relationships; however, it was previously unknown how self-rated health affects the formation of new racially and ethnically exogamous relationships.

The study of whether and how interracial and inter-ethnic romantic relationships are associated with health outcomes is a small field of investigation, despite compelling theoretical and substantive reasons to study this topic. First, we know that stress and health are closely linked, and the capacity of romantic relationships, particularly those characterized by the committed bonds of marriage, foster better health by providing social support, buffering stress, and encouraging more healthy lifestyle choices (Ross et al. 1990; Koball et al. 2010; Umberson et al. 2010; Umberson and Montez 2010; Waite and Gallagher 2000). However, we also know from the limited body of research on interracial unions and health that people in interracial partnerships may be more likely to experience depression and

psychological distress, possibly indicating that interracial relationships bring with them greater stress due to social stigmatization, lower relationship satisfaction, greater likelihood of dissolution, or other unknown challenges (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Bratter and King 2008; Kroeger and Williams 2011). The one prior study on intermarriage and self-rated health suggests that self-rated health is also stratified by the racial composition of marriages (Miller and Kail 2016). I contribute to this growing body of research by examining the association of interracial and inter-ethnic marriages and cohabitations in a longitudinal data source that has previously not been used for this purpose, and by making a first attempt at asking whether and how this association is due to selection processes or social causation pathways linking marriage and cohabitation to self-rated health.

The results show that indeed, self-rated health is stratified on the basis of a relationship's racial/ethnic composition for married and cohabiting individuals. I first examined the cross-sectional association of partner race/ethnicity and self-rated health. The results show that for (non-Hispanic) White women, and for nonwhite men and women, having a nonwhite (including Hispanic) partner is associated with lower self-rated health. The difference is larger for women than for men, suggesting an "intersectional" process in which racial disparities in health are exacerbated for minority women by processes of partnership formation and partnership impacts on health. Previous research on Black women and self-rated health has asserted that Black women's particularly poor self-rated health is due in part to their relatively low rates of marriage (Umberson et al. 2014); however, it may also be the case that women of color are penalized particularly harshly in marriage markets for having

poor health, or that they suffer greater stress from an interracial relationship than do men of color. Understanding which of both selection and causal processes may be at play in creating the association between partner race and self-rated health is clearly important.

To investigate selection, I analyzed samples of SIPP panel members who were observed in newly formed marriages and cohabitation partnerships, and found that women were more likely to partner with a nonwhite man if their health was worse a year prior. This effect did not differ statistically by the woman's own race --- both White and nonwhite women were more likely to partner with a nonwhite man if their health was worse. This finding provides evidence that health, along with socioeconomic characteristics such as education, may act as a status marker on the marriage and dating market. The literature shows that nonwhite men and women with higher levels of education are most likely to intermarry with Whites, and this is particularly true for Black men who partner with White women (Fu 2001; Torche and Rich 2016). Further, research suggests that men and women of color who are the most educationally disadvantaged are shut out of the interracial dating and marriage market, whereas the education of Whites is not consistently associated with partnering patterns (Gullickson 2006). My results thus show further support for status exchange theory in interracial relationships beyond the usual formulations, and expand the scope of the theory to consider health as well. We also know from prior research that self-rated health, along with other health markers such as obesity, affect selection into romantic relationships (Schwartz 2013; Wilson 2002). The findings reported in the present study suggest that various health markers may be another

factor that stratifies the interracial dating and marriage market. Although education among racial and ethnic minorities determines the likelihood of partnering with a White partner, there is an additional effect of health beyond its association with education.

The second set of analyses I conducted to better understand the sources of negative associations of self-rated health with having a nonwhite partner, especially for women, were of changes in self-rated health over a one-year period, with the aim of drawing inferences about adverse causal impacts of being in an interracial relationship. The results from these analyses show that being in a relationship with a nonwhite (including Hispanic) partner is associated with a health decline over time for White women. They additionally showed that the process is gendered: that White women's more adverse health changes when partnered with a nonwhite man are greater than any health change experienced by White men in an interracial relationship. I found a similarly gendered process between nonwhite men and nonwhite women's effects of being partnered by Whites. Both nonwhite men and women with White partners are more likely to experience a better health trajectory across consecutive years. For White women, this finding supports the theory that interracial relationships are more stressful than endogamous relationships, or that they do not provide the same stress-buffering benefits as an endogamous relationship. Previous studies suggest that interracial relationships are associated with worse mental health due to heightened stress (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014), particularly for the racial majority group. Research on gender differences in stress shows that women not only experience more stress, but

their mental health is also more vulnerable to the effects of stress (Kessler and McLeod 1984; Mirowsky and Ross 1995). It may be the case that this extends to selfrated health as well as mental health, and therefore that White women may be more vulnerable to the toll that the stress of being in an interracial relationship takes on health compared to White men.

However, the results for groups other than White women do not support the idea that interracial relationships adversely affect health through stress processes. Both nonwhite men and nonwhite women experience a health premium as the result of having a White partner. The social psychology of health literature looks to status processes to explain health disparities, arguing that both the structural conditions that come with higher social status (e.g., more financial resources, living in a better neighborhood, etc.) and the social psychological experience of feeling oneself to have subjectively higher status are beneficial to health (Schnittker and McLeod 2005; Wolff et al. 2010). A social exchange theory of interracial relationships suggests that for nonwhites, having a White partner is a means of achieving social status, and research in psychology has found that the race of one's partner can be a status cue (Miller et al. 2004). One possible explanation for the health benefit over time of a White partner is that having a White partner may increase perceived or real social status, which could in turn benefit actual health or one's assessment of health. Interracial and inter-ethnic relationships are still stigmatized despite their increasing prevalence, especially for Whites (Herman and Campbell 2012) and partner race is found to be a particularly salient status cue for White women who partner exogamously (Miller et al. 2004). Taken together, the results for White women and

nonwhites indicate that status effects on health may better explain a social causation explanation for the association between partner race and health over time. Whereas nonwhites experience a status boost as the result of having a White partner that benefits health, Whites – and particularly White women- experience a status penalty that adversely affects health. It is also likely that health selection and causation work in tandem here: if nonwhites with greater education and more resources, and thus better health, are more likely to enter unions with Whites, and then perhaps reap more status or resources from this union, their health is additionally likely to improve. Thus, it could be that for nonwhites, the health benefits of having a White partner are cumulative over time.

The finding of worse health one year later among women partnered with a nonwhite man indicate that the association between the racial composition of relationships and self-rated health may be explained in part by causal processes. Studies of selection versus causation in the relationship-health association typically conclude that social causation arguments are more compelling than selection arguments (Harris et al. 2010; Lillard and Panis 1996; Waite and Lehrer 2003). However, with my data limited to two, or at best three, consecutive years of health status, causal inference is less strong (Morgan and Winship 2014; Vaisey and Miles 2014). Disentangling the causal effects of a health trajectory that was already in place before an individual was observed in in the survey from health change over time within the observation period of the survey, and differentiating between selection on present health versus on a health trajectory, require a longer sequence than available in the data set used in this study. The results, therefore, are more suggestive than

definitive on there being both processes of selection and causation explaining the adverse association of having a nonwhite partner with self-rated health.

Additionally, it is clear that socioeconomic resources matter for the racial composition of partnerships; it is also well-established that socioeconomic status is a central factor driving health disparities (Link and Phelan 1995, 2010), and is also a factor that drives selection into interracial partnerships (Kalmijn 1998; Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006). Although in this chapter I emphasize social status processes as an explanation for the positive health associations with having a White partner, the role of White partners' bringing more socioeconomic resources to relationships with nonwhites is a further possible explanation. It could also then be that the positive health associations for racial minorities shown here are due to a combination of selection and causation on the basis of SES; that is, it could be that interracial partnerships are "healthier" for racial minorities because the racial minority individuals with White partners have more resources at their disposal to begin with that are protective of health (Carr and Springer 2010; Thoits 1995). Prior research suggests weak evidence that education and income may moderate the effect of partner race on self-rated health (Miller and Kail 2016). The isolation of lower educated minorities, especially Blacks, from the interracial marriage and dating market (Gullickson 2006) might also have a causal impact on the health of minorities. If the already-disadvantaged, with worse health to begin with, are also blocked out of relationships with individuals who have greater economic and health resources at their disposal, this could deepen health disparities along racial and socioeconomic lines. Although my findings suggest that partner race and one's own education have

independent effects on self-rated health, and that the effect of self-rated health on partner race is independent of education, future research should investigate whether and how partner race and partner socioeconomic status, particular partner education, together may produce differential health outcomes for different groups.

Future research may also benefit from considering whether the effect of partner race on self-rated health varies by age and period. The analysis presented here excludes adults 60 years of age and older, because the meaning of self-rated health has been shown to shift at older ages (Layes et al. 2012). Also, because the prevalence of interracial marriages have increased in recent years (Qian and Lichter 2011), older adults may be less likely to be interracially partnered, especially those that have been married for a long period of time. Those that are may therefore have unique characteristics not shared by younger adults who are interracially partnered. However, the ages considered here (18-59 years) still represents a large range, and there may be differences among younger and older adults in how interracial relationships are formed, and the experiences of stress or social status among these couples. Additionally, given that interracial marriages have increased in the past three decades (Qian and Lichter 2011), the effect of partner race on self-rated health may have changed over time. Due to sample size constraints, this study aggregates adults' health over the period of 1996-2011, and therefore does not address the possible changing meaning of interracial relationships for health throughout this time period.

Another limitation of this study is that despite the large sample size achieved by pooling across ages 18-59 and years from 1996-2011, there still are not enough cases to disaggregate racial categories beyond a White/nonwhite categorization
without losing significant statistical power needed to draw conclusions, particularly for the selection analysis of SIPP members observed in new relationships (see again Appendix Table 2.1). Previous research has found that for depression, having a Black partner specifically is associated with depression for Whites, but not other nonwhite partners (Kroeger and Williams 2011). Therefore, the use of a White/nonwhite racial categorization may mask self-rated health effects of particular partner combinations. Given adequate sample sizes, future research may benefit from comparing different partnership racial and ethnic combinations to discern whether certain combinations have stronger effects on self-rated health than others, and whether women are more susceptible to these effects than men.

Chapter 3: Associations between Overweight and Obesity and Romantic Relationship Racial Composition among White Dating, Cohabiting, and Married Young Adults

<u>Abstract</u>

Romantic relationships, particularly marriage, and to a lesser extent, cohabitation, are generally protective of physical and mental health. However, despite this protective effect on health, romantic relationships are actually associated with higher body mass index (BMI). Further, this relationship varies by race and ethnicity, though the existing literature is scarce. This study extends the current research on relationships, BMI, and race/ethnicity by examining the association between being overweight and obese with partner race/ethnicity among White young adults. I also examine to what extent this association is due to selection on weight status into new relationships versus differences in weight change over time in existing relationships. Data come from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health. I find a positive association between being overweight or obese and having a Black and Hispanic partner for non-Hispanic White women. Moreover, I find evidence that overweight/obese White women are more likely to select into new partnerships with Black partners. I also find differences in weight change over time, such that White women with Black partners are more likely to become overweight or obese over time compared to White women with White partners. I do not find statistically significant associations between partner race and weight status for White men. I interpret these findings on the associations between partner race/ethnicity and BMI as evidence for gendered standards of beauty that are particularly oppressive for overweight and

obese women and also as consistent with social exchange theories of exogamous partnering.

Introduction

The relationship between romantic partnerships and health is generally considered a protective one, especially for married individuals (Waite and Gallagher 2000). For example, marriage is associated with lower incidence of disease for men and women (Dupre and Meadows 2007), lower rates of smoking, drinking, and drug abuse (Ali and Ajilore 2011; Green, Doherty, Fothergill, and Ensminger 2012; Harris, Lee, and DeLeone 2010), fewer health limitations for men (Teachman 2010), better health for unemployed women (Waldron, Hughes, and Brooks 1996), healthier behavior (Umberson, Crosnoe, and Reczak 2010), lower mortality (Johnson, Backlund, Sorlie, and Loveless 2000), particularly for men (Rendall, Weden, Favreault, and Waldron 2011; Staehelin, Schindler, Spoerri, and Stutz 2012), better mental health (DeKlyen, Brooks-Gunn, McLanahan, and Knab 2006; Hill, Reid, and Reczak 2013; Meadows, McLanahan, and Brooks-Gunn 2008; Musick and Bumpass 2012; Simon 2002) and higher life satisfaction (Uecker 2012). The association between cohabitation and health outcomes is less straightforward, with some research indicating a positive association between cohabitation and health on par with marriage (e.g. Lund, Due, Modvig, Holstein, Damsgaard, and Andersen 2002; Staehelin et al. 2012), some studies finding cohabitation to have a protective effect that is less pronounced than marriage (e.g., Duncan, Wilkerson, and England 2006), and other studies find a negative impact of cohabitation on general health, mental health, and health behaviors (Harris et al. 2010).

Several explanations are offered for the associations between partnership status and health outcomes, and the explanation usually boil down to the issue of selection versus causation (House, Umberson, and Landis 1988; Koball, Moiduddin, Henderson, Goesling, and Besculides 2010) – that is, are healthy people more likely to marry or be in partnerships, or do romantic partnerships, particularly marriage, encourage better health, by promoting better health behaviors, providing social support, and offering economic advantages? (Umberson 1992; Umberson et al. 2010; Waite and Gallagher 2000).

However, despite the protective effects that social support from romantic relationships provides for many types of health outcomes, relationships are generally found to be associated with higher body mass index (BMI), particularly marriage (Mata, Frank and Hertwig 2015; Schoenborn 2004; Teachman 2016). There is debate in the literature over whether selection effects, particularly assortative mating, are responsible for the association between partnership status and BMI, or whether aspects of partnerships cause increases in BMI (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). For example, obese individuals are less likely to be in romantic relationships in the first place because larger bodies are stigmatized in dating and marriage markets, particularly for women (Ali, Rizzo, Amialchuk, and Heiland 2014; Fu and Goldman 1996; Gortmaker et al. 1993; Klein 2011; Mukhopadhyay 2008). Additionally, assortative mating suggests that partners will be matched on the basis of BMI (Jacobsen et al. 2007; Knuiman et al. 1996; Prichard et al. 2015; Wilson 2002). On the other hand, other researchers conclude that rather than attributing the association between relationships and BMI to selection effects, relationships actually cause

people to gain weight due to sharing an environment or lifestyle, or because partners stop worrying about maintaining a lower (more culturally desirable) weight once they are no longer on the dating market (Averett, Sikora, and Argys 2008; The and Gordon-Larsen 2009; Burke, Beilin, Dunbar, and Kevan 2004; Harris et al. 2010). Whatever the explanation, the research on partnerships and BMI, particularly marriage, strongly suggests that partnerships have important implications for individuals' weight status.

Prior research has begun to chip away at how marital status affects BMI for different racial and ethnic groups, but several major gaps remain. The existing research focuses largely on marriage, despite the fact that marriage's impact on health may be lessening as the meaning of marriage changes over time and growing numbers of people have never married or choose cohabitation over marriage (U.S. Census Bureau 2015; Liu and Umberson 2008; Wang and Parker 2014). Second, although current research has started to account for the differential effects of marriage on different racial and ethnic groups, there is virtually no peer-reviewed research to date on the interplay of exogamous vs. endogamous relationships, including dating, cohabitation, and marriage, with weight status. We know that body weight and overweight/obesity are stratified by race, ethnicity and gender, and by relationship status (Sobal, Hanson, and Frongillo 2009; Shafer 2010), and that relationship status differentially affects men and women's health across various outcomes. Yet we do not know how the racial and ethnic composition of romantic relationships is associated with weight, if at all. I draw on theoretical literature on racialized and gendered standards of beauty that argues that beauty standards related to weight are

particularly restrictive for White women, and nonwhites may have less restrictive standards for partners' weight, to frame this association between interracial relationships and weight. I also draw on status exchange theories of interracial relationships (Davis 1941; Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006), arguing that weight may represent another marker of status that affects how people partner endogamously versus exogamously. To do this, I use data from multiple waves of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health) to examine the association between relationship racial composition and overweight/obese weight status for White young men and women. I examine results for three groups separately: first, those who are in current dating, marriage, and cohabitation relationships, regardless of duration or continuity (N=8,931 person-year observations); second, those who are observed in new dating, cohabiting, and married relationships (N=6,837 person-year observations), and finally, those who have maintained a consistent partner over time (N=1,761). With these distinct groups, I contribute to ongoing questions about the nature of the link between romantic relationships and health outcomes by examining the evidence for selection processes versus causal processes in the association between romantic relationships and overweight/obese.

Literature Review

Race, Ethnicity, Gender, and BMI

Studying health inequalities is a crucial facet of social stratification research in sociology. Indeed, the field of stratification deals with the unequal distribution of

assets across society, the rigidity of inequality, and how ascriptive traits determine the unequal distribution of assets. Physical health is one such asset that concerns scholars of inequality (Grusky and Weisshaar 2014), and BMI – particularly with regard to obesity – is one health-related outcome of increasing concern in sociology, among other disciplines.

The precise relationship between overweight and obesity and other health outcomes is the subject of much research and debate that are outside the scope of this study (see Ahima and Lazar 2013). A large body of research points to the positive association of high BMI with outcomes such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, disability, and mortality, as well as subjective good health (Berrington de Gonzalez et al. 2010; Whitlock et al. 2009; Okosun et al. 2001). Particularly low BMI (less than 20 kg/m2) is also associated with higher risk of mortality (Ahima and Lazar 2013; Whitlock et al. 2009). Further, the prevalence of obesity has more than doubled among U.S. adults between 1976 and 2007-2008 (Ogden and Carroll 2010), and obesity prevalence increases as individuals age from adolescence to adulthood: obesity prevalence doubles from adolescence to early adulthood, and then doubles again from the 20s to the 30s (Gordon-Larsen et al. 2004; Gordon-Larsen, The, and Adair 2010).

The burden of weight gain is of particular interest to scholars of inequality because overweight and obesity are unequally distributed in the U.S. by race, ethnicity, gender, and socioeconomic status, and these social statuses intersect such that some groups, particularly Black women and low SES women, are more disadvantaged than others (Ailshire and House 2011; Zhang and Wang 2004).

Overall, Black Americans have the highest prevalence of obesity, followed by Hispanics, and then non-Hispanic whites (Pan et al. 2009; Ogden and Carroll 2010), and women have a higher prevalence of obesity than men across racial and ethnic groups (Ogden and Carroll 2010). As Americans age, gender, race, and SES intersect to exacerbate BMI disparities. The transition from adolescence to adulthood may be particularly crucial for growing obesity rates, and this is especially the case for Black and Hispanic young women (Gordon-Larsen et al. 2010). Additionally, low-educated, low-income Black women experience the greatest weight gain as they age, while high-educated, high-income White men experience the least (Ailshire and House 2011). Further, SES matters more for obesity for some groups more than others: for White men and women, SES and obesity are inversely related, whereas for Black Americans and Mexican Americans, the association between SES and obesity is dependent on gender and age (Zhang and Wang 2004). Overall, socioeconomic disadvantages are most harmful for women's health as measured by BMI (Pudrovska, Reither, Logan, and Sherman-Wilkins 2014; Zhang and Wang 2004).

BMI is not only a concern for public health reasons, but also because overweight and obese people face discrimination and stigma that their normal weight counterparts do not (Hunte 2011). Obese and overweight individuals are discriminated against in the workplace in multiple stages of the employment process (Randle 2012), and may experience social isolation (Ali, Amialchuk, and Rizzo 2012; Cunningham, Vaquera, and Long 2012). The stigma of being overweight or obese has serious consequences. For example, adults who report feeling discriminated against due to their weight experience lower rates of self-rated health and well-being (Lewis

et al. 2011; Schafer and Ferraro 2011). Women are hit particularly hard with the stigma associated with being overweight or obese and its consequences, leading some scholars to argue that obesity discrimination is a feminist issue (Fikkan and Rothblum 2011; Saguy 2012). For example, obese and overweight women compared to obese and overweight men are adversely affected in the labor market, the marriage market, and in educational attainment (Glass, Haas, and Reither 2010), and weight discrimination against women is an important factor driving obese women's class disadvantages (Mason 2012). Thus, the study of BMI, particularly overweight and obesity, is crucial for scholars of inequality because body weight intersects with ascribed social statuses to exacerbate discrimination, stigma, and inequality for some groups.

Partnership and BMI

A fruitful body of literature spanning public health, sociology, psychology, and economics examines the relationship between marital status and various health outcomes, including self-rated health, functional limitations, mortality, disease, and mental health and well-being (for recent reviews, see Carr and Springer 2010; Koball et al. 2010; Wood et al. 2007). Overall, the literature points to a marriage-health premium; that is, married people have better health outcomes than the never-married, divorced, and widowed. There are several explanations offered for the robust link between marriage and health, including that healthy people are more likely to get married and less likely to get divorced (Koball et al. 2010; Robards et al. 2012), and there is evidence that selection of healthy people into marriage is in part responsible for the observed association (e.g., Fu and Goldman 1996; Joung et al. 1998; Karraker

and Latham 2015). However, much of the literature reveals that marriage itself has a positive, protective effect on health outcomes (e.g., Bennett 2006; Dupre and Meadows 2007; Johnson et al. 2000; Rendall et al. 2011; Waldron et al. 1996; Waite and Gallagher 2000). The research on marriage and health has uncovered several mechanisms that may contribute to this relationship, including health behaviors (Umberson et al. 2010), decreased substance abuse and smoking (Ali and Ajilore 2011; Curran et al. 1998; Duncan et al. 2006), and marital quality (Donoho et al. 2013; Liu and Waite 2014; Miller et al. 2013). Although most of the existing literature focuses on marriage and divorce, some studies have examined cohabitation with a partner, finding mixed results. For example, cohabitation is associated with decreased substance abuse, though the effect is less than than of marriage (Duncan et al. 2006). Overall, the literature suggests that marriage compared to coresidential partnership has a stronger protective effect (Lillard and Waite 1995; Meadows et al. 2008; Meadows 2009; Schoenborn 2004; Waite and Gallagher 2000).

However, previous research points to a paradox in the relationship between marital status and BMI compared to other health outcomes: while partnership, particularly marriage, is protective of other health outcomes, marriage and cohabitation are associated with higher BMI for men and women (Schoenborn 2004; Sobal et al. 2009; Teachman 2016; see Wood et al. 2007 for a review). This section examines this literature and the theoretical explanations offered for the seemingly paradoxical relationship between partnership status and BMI in greater depth.

Theoretical Frameworks: Selection and Causation in the BMI-Partnership Association

The existing literature on romantic partnerships and BMI points overwhelmingly to one general finding: people in relationships, particularly married people, are heavier than people who are single (particularly never-married) or divorced. However, there is debate in the literature over why this association exists, particularly regarding the issue of selection vs. causality – that is, are heavier people more likely to be in romantic relationships, or do relationships themselves cause increases in body weight and increased risk of overweight and obesity? In this section, I review several theoretical explanations and the associated evidence for the relationship between being in a partnership and body weight. Because most of the existing literature focuses primarily on marriage, I discuss the theoretical explanations in marriage terms; however, some research extends to cohabitation and dating relationships, and I include this work when possible.

The first explanation typically offered for the association between partnerships and health is selection – that is, people who are healthier are more likely to be married or in romantic relationships because they are more desirable as partners and better suited to maintaining a stable relationship (Lillard and Panis 1996). Basically, the process of selecting marriage partners favors the healthy, rather than health being the outcome of being in a marriage or other partnership. This is consistent with Becker's (1991) theory of marriage: if there are to be gains realized from marriage, then comparative advantage is important.

However, although a selection hypothesis may make sense for when explaining the relationship between marriage and some health outcomes (e.g.,

married people are less likely to die, which is in part due to the fact that healthy people are more likely to get married [Lillard and Panis 1996]), a selection hypothesis does not satisfactorily explain the relationship between relationships and BMI in terms of explaining why people in relationships have higher BMI. In fact, a selection hypothesis would predict that the most desirable partners, in terms of health and attractiveness, are most likely to be in relationships, particularly marriage (because marriage partners are presumably selected most stringently compared to dating or cohabitation partners) – therefore, we would expect marriage and other relationships to be inversely related to higher BMI. Most research does not support this hypothesis: cross-sectional studies examining marital status and BMI generally show that married people have higher BMI than single people (Mata, Frank, and Hertwig 2015; Schoenborn 2004; Sobal et al. 2009; Sobal et al. 1992; Teachman 2016).

Assortative mating is another pattern that must be considered when discussing how selection affects the partnership-BMI association. Assortative mating is the pattern wherein partners with similar "prices" or values on the dating or marriage market will end up together (Becker 1981). In the case of BMI, this means that heavier people will end up together. The existing research provides some support for this theory. A recent meta-analysis found that 50% of studies showed a statistically significant correlation between spouses' weight (Di Castelnuovo et al. 2009). Another study found high correlation between heterosexual partners' BMI for both university students and adult couples engaged to be married (Prichard et al. 2015). A study of Swedith adults found that the greatest partner concordance in BMI occurs among couples with the shortest duration of cohabitation, indicating that sorting on the basis

of BMI on the dating and marriage market may be the driving force behind spousal concordance in BMI (Jacobson et al. 2007; however, note that a study using the Add Health cohort found that duration of cohabitation increased BMI concordance in couples [The and Gordon-Larsen 2009)] – see below). Obese individuals are also more likely to have less physically attractive partners for dating, cohabitation, and marriage (Carmalt et al. 2008).

Overall, the reality is that overweight and obese people are selected *out* of romantic relationships, including dating, cohabiting, and marriage. Overweight and obese individuals are stigmatized in marriage and dating markets, especially for women (particularly White women) (for a review, see Puhl and Heuer 2009). The dating penalty for obese women is particularly strong at various points in the life course. In adolescence, one study found that heavier girls and boys are less likely to date than normal weight boys and girls (Cawley et al. 2006), and another found that White girls who are obese are less likely to have been in romantic relationships or engage in sexual behavior than their non-obese counterparts (Ali et al. 2014). Among college-aged women, overweight women are less likely than normal-weight women to date (Sheets and Ajmere 2005). These penalties continue from adolescence to adulthood: girls and boys who are overweight in adolescence are less likely to be married at a seven year follow up (Gortmaker et al. 1993). Obese individuals have lower marriage rates than their healthier-weight counterparts (Fu and Goldman 1996). Indeed, obesity is associated with a 16% lower likelihood of marriage for women (Conley and Glauber 2006), and thinner women are more likely to be selected into both cohabiting and marital relationships. Men, on the other hand, were not less likely

to be selected into relationships based on heavy weight (Averett et al. 2008). Studies that directly examine people's preferences show the severity of weight stigma, especially for women. One study of college students found that when students were asked to rank potential sexual partners with obesity and disabilities, the least-preferred partners were obese, and men were especially likely to rank an obese partner poorly (Chen and Brown 2005). Obese women are perceived as not sexually attractive or skilled compared to normal-weight women (Regan 1996), and women who are described as overweight, obese, or fat are negatively evaluated by men and women (Smith et al. 2007). The discrimination against heavy women as romantic partners is so great, one study found that men would prefer a woman who had a history of serious drug abuse to an obese woman as a partner (Sitton and Blanchard 1995).

In summary, a selection model of romantic partnerships would predict that healthier, more attractive people (i.e., thinner people) would be more likely to be in romantic partnerships, especially marriage. The existing evidence reviewed here suggest that people likely take body weight into account when choosing partners due to cultural preferences for certain body types that are considered more attractive. However, though the research on obesity stigma finds that overweight and obese people, especially women, are seriously penalized in dating and marriage markets, this finding does not account for the fact that on average, married and cohabiting people are heavier than their single counterparts. I turn now to the evidence that romantic relationships actually cause increases in weight.

There is a wealth of research that indicates that romantic partnerships themselves, particularly marriage, have a causal relationship with various health outcomes. It is a long-standing finding in the social sciences that people with close social relationships and greater social support are healthier, and in the last several decades, serious efforts have been made to show a causal relationship between social relationships such as romantic partnerships and health outcomes (House et al. 1988). Frequently, a "marital resource model" is used to explain this effect – that is, marital status differences in health outcomes "result from the greater economic resources, social support, and regulation of health behavior that the married enjoy" (Williams and Umberson 2004: 82) (note that this theoretical framework goes by different names – for example, the "marriage protection hypothesis" [Averett et al. 2008; Waldron et al. 1996]). Partnered people experience greater social integration, emotional support, and have someone to encourage them to engage in positive health behaviors like going to the doctor and drinking less alcohol (Umberson 1992; Umberson et al. 2010; Waite and Gallagher 2000). A full review of the evidence backing this hypothesis is outside the scope of this chapter (for a recent review, see Koball et al. 2010), but the research strongly suggests that romantic relationships, particularly marriage, is protective of health, and particularly for men. For example, married men and women have a lower risk of mortality than their unmarried, divorced, and widowed counterparts, and married men experience a "survival premium" (Rendall et al. 2011); another study found that married and cohabiting men have lower mortality than men who live alone (Staehelin et al. 2012). Regulation of health behaviors are generally considered a major factor in this discrepancy: marriage

is most beneficial for preventing causes of death related to behavior, such as cirrhosis of the liver and suicide (Umberson 1987), and cohabitation and marriage both decrease young adults' alcohol and drug use (Duncan et al. 2006).

However, as with a selection model of the relationship between romantic partnerships and BMI, a marital resources or marriage protection model does not adequately explain the causal association between relationships and BMI. A growing body of literature provides evidence that relationships cause increases in body weight for men and women, which seems to contradict the idea that people with the greater social support, financial resources, and behavior regulation of marriage and other types of relationships should be healthier. A recent study, using data from the 1979 National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, found that marriage is associated with an increased risk of overweight and obesity for both men and women. Cohabitation was only associated with an increased likelihood of being overweight or obese for men, not women, though unmarried, cohabiting women were generally heavier than unmarried, non-cohabiting women (Averett et al. 2008). Another study, using waves 2 and 3 from the National Longitudinal Survey of Adolescent Health (Add Health) found that transitioning from being single or just dating to cohabitation or marriage was associated with increased odds of obesity; further, longer duration of living with a romantic partner was associated with obesity for both men and women (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). In an Australian sample of young adults, cohabitation was associated with increases in BMI and sedentary behavior for men and women (Burke et al. 2004). Another Australian study found that recently-married women had gained

about two kilograms on average six months after their weddings (Prichard and Tiggeman 2014).

Further, the existing research indicates that transitioning into relationships may be a primary driving factor in the relationship-BMI association (Umberson et al. 2009). Jeffery and Rick (2002) found that those who married during a longitudinal study conducted in Minnesota gained weight, while those who divorced lost weight; another study using the US National Health and Nutrition Epidemiological Follow-up Survey (NHEFS) found that women who married gained more weight than those who remained consistently married (Sobal et al. 2003), echoing the results of a prior study using the National Survey of Personal Health Practices and Consequences that found that women who entered marriage had a greater weight gain than those who remained married, and marital status and weight gain had no association for men (Rauschenbach et al. 1995).

Several explanations have been offered to explain the seemingly paradoxical association between marriage and cohabitation, and increased BMI. One explanation has been dubbed the "marriage market hypothesis," and posits that people consider maintaining a healthy and attractive weight important when searching for a partner, but once people feel that they are "off" the marriage market, they no longer value maintaining their weight and thus feel freer to gain weight (Averett et al. 2008). Qualitative research supports this hypothesis, especially in the case of women: women describe "relaxing" about their weight after entering committed relationships, including marriage and cohabitation, which led to weight gain (Bove and Sobal 2011). Further, the fact that marriage has a stronger effect on weight gain than

cohabitation can be interpreted as evidence that the more serious the commitment, the more likely partners are to consider themselves removed from the marriage market and thus "let themselves go" (Averett et al. 2008).

Another explanation offered in the literature revolves around the influence of behavioral changes and shared lifestyle and environment for cohabiting and married couples. A "spousal obligation" hypothesis asserts that spousal role obligations encourage married and cohabiting people to cook and eat together (Averett et al. 2008; Sobal et al. 2003). There is evidence that this is the case. In general, married people exercise less than unmarried people (Nomaguchi and Bianchi 2004), and cohabitation is associated with negative dietary changes in women and less physical activity for men (Burke et al. 2004). Shared environmental and lifestyle factors may help account for the fact that there is often concordance between spouses on various health outcomes, including BMI (Di Castelnuovo et al. 2009; Knuiman et al. 1996; Meyler et al. 2007). The and Gordon-Larsen (2009) examined this issue directly using the Couples Sample from Wave 3 of Add Health, asking whether BMI concordance among dating, cohabitating, and married couples is due to assortative mating or shared behaviors and environment. They found that couples married or cohabiting for two or more years had the strongest concordance in obesity and health behaviors (physical activity and sedentary behavior), leading them to conclude that the duration of sharing an environment, rather than assortative mating, may play a significant role in the relationship between partnership and weight gain.

Race/Ethnicity, Partnership, and BMI

Race and ethnicity are linked to both the likelihood of marrying and cohabiting, and the likelihood of being overweight and obese, yet to date, there is not a robust literature on how relationships and race/ethnicity intersect to affect BMI (Schafer 2010). Further, there is no study to date that has examined how the racial composition of romantic partnerships and BMI are related.

Marriage rates differ widely by race: for example, it is estimated that in 2014, 51% of White American adults were currently married, compared to 43% of Hispanics and 29% of Black Americans (U.S. Census Bureau 2014). Cohabitation rates also differ: non-Hispanic Whites are most likely to have experienced both cohabitation and marriage compared to Black and Hispanic Americans, whereas among the never-married, 17% of Black Americans have cohabited, compared to 10% of Hispanics and 9% of Whites (Bramlett and Mosher 2002). Further, as discussed previously, the risk of overweight and obese varies by race and ethnicity: Black Americans have the highest prevalence of obesity, followed by Hispanics, and then non-Hispanic whites (Pan et al. 2009; Ogden and Carroll 2010), and women have a higher prevalence of obesity than men across racial and ethnic groups (Ogden and Carroll 2010). Given these facts, it is reasonable to assume that the association between BMI and romantic partnerships might differ by race.

A handful of studies have addressed this question, both from the perspective of how race and weight affect selection into relationships, and how the causal association between partnerships and BMI. One study, using a cross-sectional design that pooled together multiple U.S. surveys, found considerable variation in the

association between marital status and BMI by gender and race/ethnicity. Specifically, the researchers found that single Hispanic and Black men weighed less than their married counterparts, unlike White men, where there was no difference between the never-married and married. Among women, Black women overall weighed more than White women, and separated Black women were more likely to be overweight and obese than separated White women (possibly due to the economic hardships of being a separated Black woman). Also, the researchers found that among Whites, White women's weight did not differ by marital status, though divorced White men were less likely to be overweight or obese than married White men. Further, married Hispanic men had notably higher odds of being overweight and obese than never married, cohabiting, and divorced/separated Hispanic men (Sobal et al. 2009). Although this study provides compelling reasons to believe that race moderates the partnership-BMI relationship, it is limited in its ability to theorize about possible reasons.

Several studies have found evidence that the effect of cohabitation and marriage on body weight differs by race and ethnicity, though this remains an underresearched topic. Using the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth (1979 cohort), Schafer (2010) posited that a preference for women with heavier body types among Black Americans may interact with the effect of marriage on weight gain. The results of this study showed that marriage is associated with increases in BMI regardless of race and gender, and cohabitation is associated with a smaller increase in BMI for men only. Black women were especially affected by marriage – marriage increased the likelihood of becoming obese for Black women. Another recent study using Add

Health waves 1 and 3 examined links between early marriage and cohabitation (that is, marriage and cohabitation in the early 20s) and BMI, finding that marriage (not cohabitation) was associated with higher weight for Black men and women, as well as White women (not White men), when controlling for weight in adolescence (Harris et al. 2010). Although these two studies found comparable results – that women, and Black women in particular, are more likely to gain weight as a result of marriage – another recent study using Americans' Changing Lives survey found that although marriage is associated with a modest weight gain for Whites, marriage was actually associated with a modest weight *loss* for Blacks (Umberson et al. 2009).

Theoretical Frameworks: Interracial Relationships and BMI

The empirical findings that point to variation by race/ethnicity in the association between romantic relationships and BMI beg the question of whether the racial and ethnic composition of relationships might also affect BMI. Three theoretical frameworks lend support to the notion that endogamous vs. exogamous relationships might be associated with BMI: gendered and racialized standards of beauty, status exchange theory, and stress theory.

Research on body type preference and partner selection and race supports the notion that there are racial and ethnic differences in partnering that could lead to variation in the partnership-BMI association by race and ethnicity, creating a selection effect. Evidence on body type preferences indicates that Black Americans are more accepting of heavier body types than White Americans are when considering potential partners. Studies have shown that Black men prefer larger body types for women and associate fewer unfavorable characteristics with obese women

compared to White men; the effect is similar for Black women compared to White women, though smaller in magnitude (Jackson and McGill 1996). More recently, among Internet daters, White men and women preferred thinner body types than their non-White counterparts, and White men in particular were found to value thinner partners compared to Black and Hispanic men (Glasser et al. 2009). This race difference holds for ideal body types as well – as early as adolescence, Black adolescent boys select heavier bodies as ideal compared to White adolescent boys (Thompson et al. 1996). The attractiveness penalty for White girls and women may even extend beyond the body type preferences expressed by potential romantic partners: one study, using data collected from Add Health interviewers at wave 1, found that interviewers rated overweight and obese Black and White girls as less attractive than their normal weight counterparts, but that White girls were penalized more severely for heavier weight (Ali et al. 2013).

These preferences translate into actual relationship consequences on the basis of body size, and the evidence suggests that overall, overweight and obese White women are most heavily penalized on the dating and marriage market for their weight. Starting in adolescence, obese White girls are less likely to date or engage in sexual behavior compared to their normal weight counterparts, whereas Black adolescent girls do not differ in their likelihood of dating or engaging in sexual behavior by weight (Ali et al. 2014). In adulthood, although both Black and White obese women have lower probabilities of marrying than their non-obese counterparts, the effect is smaller for Black women (Averett and Korenman 1999). Further, different cultural preferences for body types between racial and ethnic groups could

affect not only selection into relationships, but also how relationships affect BMI trajectories over time. For example, if nonwhite individuals are more accepting of heavier body types, and people who perceive themselves as "off" the dating or marriage market are less likely to worry about maintaining a lower weight (in keeping with a "marriage market hypothesis" [Averett et al. 2008]), these two factors could interact such that White individuals in interracial relationships might be more prone to weight gain than White individuals in same-race relationships. Second, we know from a limited body of prior research that perceived and actual spouse and sexual partner evaluations affect one's body image and body satisfaction (Miller 2001; Ogden and Taylor 2000; Pole et al. 2004), demonstrating that romantic partners are a salient source of understanding one's own weight, therefore possibly affecting one's actual weight. Theories of the self-concept as used in sociological social psychology offer important insights on how this process works. The self-concept is the totality of "the individuals' thoughts and feelings having reference to himself as an object" (Rosenberg 1979:7), and forms through social interaction, particularly interaction with significant others. One of the processes that affects the self-concept, or the self as a social product, is reflected appraisals, which has its roots in Cooley's "looking glass self' – that is, the self-concept is comprised of our perception of how we appear to others, our impressions of how others assess us, and the feelings about ourselves that we derive from these impressions (Cooley 1902, In Stryker and Vryan 2003). Rosenberg (1979), building on Cooley, identifies reflected appraisals and social comparisons as two main principles of self-concept formation. Applying this theory to romantic relationships and BMI, if an individual has a partner who is lighter or

heavier, or who perceives certain body types as more or less attractive, that individual may begin to see themselves in light of the standards set by their partner, a significant other (Rosenberg 1979), and may consider their partner's weight to be a relevant basis for social comparison. A White woman with a non-White partner might be more likely to see herself as attractive regardless of weight status due to the reflected appraisals she receives from her partner, and become more relaxed about weight gain. Conversely, if, for example, White men are more prejudiced against heavy women and prefer thinner partners, White women who are with White men might be more likely to maintain a lower weight.

Interracial relationships can be seen as evidence of expanding racial boundaries for some groups, particularly Hispanics and Asians (Miyawaki 2015; Qian and Lichter 2007), and are on the rise as the U.S. becomes more racially and ethnically diverse, particularly as the biracial and multiracial population grows (Qian and Lichter 2007, 2011). However, previous research has shown that couples' racial composition is associated with relationship instability, stress, disapproval from others, and adverse mental and physical health outcomes (Bratter and King 2008; Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Joyner and Kao 2005; Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014; Miller and Kail 2016; Wang et al. 2006), which may in turn affect BMI outcomes. One study found that among Add Health respondents, interracial relationships are of shorter duration than same-race relationships and less likely to result in cohabitation or marriage (Kroeger-D'Souza 2010). Other studies using Add Health data have found that adolescents who date across racial and ethnic lines are associated are more likely to exhibit depressive symptoms (Miller 2014) and nonblack young adults with

Black partners report more depressive symptoms than nonblack young adults with nonblack partners (Kroeger and Williams 2011). Further, White women and Hispanic men and women with cross-race spouses report higher distress (Bratter and Eschbach 2006). Whites in interracial and inter-ethnic relationships report lower self-rated health (Miller and Kail 2016). These findings from studies on the health of Whites⁵ in interracial and inter-ethnic partnerships indicate that indeed, exogamous relationships may be more prone to stress and thus less protective of health. However, research has not examined the association between racial composition of couples and other health outcomes such as BMI. Many studies in the medical literature on obesity indicates that stress, particularly chronic stress, is associated with weight gain, possibly because stress activates a neural response that increases the motivation to consume unhealthy "comfort" food and also promotes insulin secretion (Dallman 2010; Dallman et al. 2003). Thus, it is reasonable to posit that interracial relationships, being more stressful and prone to stigma than endogamous ones for Whites specifically, could cause weight gain in the long term.

Status exchange theory is often cited (Davis 1941; Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006) as one explanation for interracial pairings: in order to marry a partner with higher racial status (i.e., someone White), racial minorities must have higher status in the form of socioeconomic status. There is empirical support for this: higher

⁵Conversely, there is evidence that stress theory may not adequately address the effect of interracial and inter-ethnic relationships on nonwhites, given that having a White spouse is correlated with better self-rated health for nonwhites (Miller and Kail 2016). Regardless, because this study is limited to Whites, I draw primarily on prior findings that support the idea that exogamous relationships are stressful and therefore adversely associated with health outcomes for Whites. See Chapter Two of this dissertation for a discussion of the limits of stress theory and health as applied to nonwhites in endogamous relationships.

socioeconomic status Blacks and Hispanics are more likely to marry Whites, especially in Black male/White female unions (Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006; Torche and Rich 2016). It may be the case that body weight, as one facet of physical attractiveness, acts as an additional marker of status that may be exchanged for a White partner. Following the theoretical and empirical insights on racialized and gendered standards of body size for women outlined above, it may be that heavier White women are considered lower status on dating and marriage markets by White men, who prefer thinner partners. Research has found that this is true for heavier women in terms of exchanging weight for partner socioeconomic status: women's weight is negatively correlated with their husband's income (Oreffice and Quintana-Domeque 2010), providing evidence that indeed, body weight may be a status marker on dating and marriage markets, especially for women. Similarly, overweight and obese White women may select into relationships with nonwhite partners because their lower "body status" shuts them out of partnerships with White men.

Overall, the research offers fairly robust evidence for a few key associations between relationships, BMI, race/ethnicity, and gender. First, body weight affects how people are selected into romantic relationships, and heavier White women are especially penalized due to restrictive cultural ideals about body size. Second, relationship status is causally related to BMI. Studies have shown that both marriage and cohabitation, especially marriage and longer-lived relationships, are associated with higher BMI, and these effects vary by race, possibly with Black women most adversely affected.

<u>Research Questions</u>

The existing research has several major gaps that I seek to fill with this study. First, the research on how relationships affect BMI with regard to race and ethnicity is quite scarce, and given that some studies show contradictory findings, more investigation is needed. The one existing study using Add Health that examines the longitudinal relationship between relationship, BMI, and race/ethnicity only examines White and African Americans, does not consider partner race, and does not use the most recent wave of Add Health data (Wave 4, collected when participants are in their late 20s, on average) (Harris et al. 2010). Second, the current literature has largely ignored dating relationships, instead relying on the marital status categories of married, cohabiting, or single (regardless of dating relationships). Third, there is a need for more research examining the association between relationships, BMI, and race/ethnicity in early adulthood for several reasons: the transition from adolescence to adulthood is particularly important for weight gain trajectories (The and Gordonlarsen 2004), especially for racial and ethnic minorities (Sharoun-Lee et al. 2009), and because relationship transitions have a considerable impact on weight status (Sobal et al. 2003; Umberson et al. 2009), and young adulthood is a time of entering new relationships. Finally, and most glaringly, there has not vet been an investigation of the association between relationships and BMI that accounts for couples' racial composition. Thus, this study asks the following research questions.

 What, if any, is the association between the racial composition of married, cohabiting, and dating relationships and being overweight/obese for White young adults?

- 2. What is the evidence for selection vs. causation processes in the association between the racial/ethnic composition of married, cohabiting, and dating relationships and overweight/obesity in young adulthood?
 - a. Does overweight/obesity prior to entering a new romantic relationship affect the likelihood of partnering with a same- or differentrace/ethnicity partner for Whites?
 - b. Does the racial composition of marriage, cohabiting, and dating relationships affect change in weight and the likelihood of becoming overweight/obese over time?
- 3. Does the association between partner race and overweight/obesity among White men and women vary by gender?

Data and Methods

Data

To draw conclusions about the population of the U.S. who were enrolled in middle and high school in the mid-1990s, I use data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health), focusing on weight outcomes in waves 3 and 4. Add Health is a nationally representative, longitudinal study of adolescents who were enrolled in 7th through 12th grade in the 1994-5 school year (Chen and Chantala 2014; Harris 2013). The sampling design is clustered by school: a stratified sample of 80 schools was selected from the Quality Education Database (QED) (stratified by region, urbanicity, school type, ethnic mix, and size). For each school selected, a feeder school was identified and also recruited. The final sample has a

total of 132 schools. Multiple waves of data were collected from students at these schools. At Wave 1 (1994-1995), over 90,000 students completed a questionnaire. Additionally, at Wave 1 adolescents were sampled from the enrollment rosters for the schools in the sample to participate in the in-home interview portion of the study, stratified by grade and sex. Black adolescents with highly educated parents were oversampled. In-home interviews were conducted in 1995 (Wave 1), 1996 (Wave 2), 2001 (Wave 3), and 2008 (Wave 4). Respondents' parents also completed an in-home questionnaire at wave 1 only. The core in-home sample includes 12,105 respondents (Chen and Chantala 2014).

There are several reasons that Add Health is an appropriate data source to answer the research questions outlined above. First, Add Health includes interviewermeasured height and weight, rather than self-reported height and weight, at Waves 2, 3, and 4. Measured height and weight are considered much more reliable and accurate measures for constructing BMI than self-reported height and weight (Stommel and Schoenborn 2009). Second, the Add Health tracks contemporary young adults. The Add Health sample was born between approximately 1976 and 1984, and were in their late twenties at Wave 4, collected in 2008. This is important because it means that these respondents represent today's population of adults who are working, marrying, divorcing, having children, etc. It is also important because the meaning of the racial composition of relationships has changed over the past generation: for example, Black-White intermarriage increased threefold from 1980 to 2008 (Qian and Lichter 2011). Thus, the Add Health sample represents individuals who are partnering in contemporary society. Finally, the Add Health is an ongoing study, and data

collection for Wave 5 is slated to begin between 2016 and 2018 (Carolina Population Center 2016); therefore, there will be opportunities in the future to extend this study to see whether and how relationship racial composition affects body weight into middle adulthood.

Analytic Sample

The analytic sample for this study is drawn from Wave 3 and Wave 4 in-home sample respondents who reported being in a current relationship at the time of the interviews in 2001 (W3) and 2008 (W4). Because the sample sizes are very small for nonwhites partnered with other nonwhites of different races. I restrict the analytic sample only to White men and women who report having Hispanic, Black, Asian, and White partners. At each wave, respondents were asked to list their past and present romantic relationships. From the respondents who listed any relationships, I selected only those respondents that reported that a relationship (of any type, including dating, married, and cohabiting) was current, who indicated that they were currently married, or that indicated they were currently cohabiting with a romantic partner at each wave. Narrowing the sample in this way resulted in some respondents having more than one relationship listed. From here, I dropped all same sex relationships. I then constructed a relationship "weight" based on certain relationship attributes in order to identify the most important or influential relationship a respondent reported. To do this, I assigned relationships different values for being a marriage, a cohabitation, lasting three months or longer, having sex in the relationship, having a pregnancy in the relationship, or being an interracial relationship (I devised this method based on the method used by Add Health researchers to construct the Wave 3 romantic pairs

sample ["Wave III In-Home Interview Data Codebook," National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health]). I then kept only the relationships with the maximum relationship "weight" or value. Because some respondents still had more than one current relationship using these data reduction criteria, I then simply selected the first relationship listed. Appendix Table 3.1 shows the sample sizes for each partnership racial composition, by gender. Sample sizes are particularly small for relationships between non-Whites with other non-White partners, such as Asians and Blacks. However, there is sufficient sample size to examine Whites who partner exogamously with each racial and ethnic group separately. Only for White men with Black women partners are there fewer than 100 cases.

Based on this initial current relationship sample, I constructed three data sets for the three steps of the analysis (described below). First, I constructed a personwave data set for the *cross-sectional* analysis. This data set pools White respondents in current relationships at Wave 3 and White respondents in current relationships at Wave 4. Those with a current relationship in both waves contribute two person-wave observations to the data set. The analytic sample consists of those respondents who are not pregnant and in opposite-sex relationships only, who identify as White and identify their partners as White, Black, Hispanic, or Asian and who are not missing data on any analysis variables (age, education, household roster variables, living arrangement, skin tone, nativity, duration of the current relationship, and BMI reported at wave). The resulting sample consists of 3,897 White male and 5,034 White female person-wave observations. Second, I constructed a person-wave data set for the *selection* analysis that reflects White men and women who report current relationships with new partners since the prior observation. To construct this sample, I compared the year that respondents reported their relationships starting to the year they were last interviewed, and only kept those respondents whose relationship durations indicated they entered the relationship after the prior wave of data collection. This sample consists of 3,123 White male and 3,798 White female person-wave observations. In all analyses of the cross-sectional and selection samples, statistical tests and standard errors are adjusted for clustering within individual.

Third, I constructed a person-level data set for the *BMI change* analysis that reflects White men and women who report current relationships with the same partner at both Waves 3 and 4. Unfortunately, one limitation of the Add Health data is the inability to directly link Wave 3 relationships to relationships reported at Wave 4 (by, for example, a unique partner ID number). This was done by design to maximize data confidentiality for participants. I therefore use age, race, and gender as proxies for determining whether a partner changed between waves 3 and 4. I compared partner age at Wave 3 with the expected age of that partner at Wave 4 based on the length of time elapsed between interviews. If the Wave 4 partner matched the Wave 3 partner on race, gender, and expected age (plus or minus one year, to adjust for the timing of birthdays within the calendar year), I designated that partner as being the same. Of course, it is impossible to know for sure whether the partner was in fact the same person; however, this is the closest I can come to determining partner identity, and at the very least, respondents in this subsample have partners with consistent

race/ethnicity and age characteristics over time even if the actual person changed. This sample consists of 703 White men and 1,058 White women.

Key Variables

Body mass index. The key dependent variable in this study is body mass index (BMI), which is equal to weight in kilometers over height in meters squared. BMI is frequently used as a measure of body fat, and high BMI is linked to outcomes including diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, disability, and mortality (Berrington de Gonzalez et al. 2010; Whitlock et al. 2009; Okosun et al. 2001). BMI is also criticized in the literature as not being an ideal proxy for fat mass, although there is an association between fat mass and BMI in subjects (Ahima and Lazar 2013; Muller 2013). However, for the purposes of social science research, height and weight are the most commonly reported variables that allow measurement of respondent body size. Add Health has the advantage of including height and weight as measured by the interviewer, rather than self-reported height and weight, which tends to overestimate BMI at the low end of the BMI scale (BMI <22) and underestimate it at the high end of the scale (BMI>28) (Stommel and Schoenborn 2009). Measured BMI is generally considered a more valid and reliable measure of body weight than self-reported BMI.

For this study, I primarily use BMI as a categorical variable coded as normal weight (coded as 0, BMI is less than 25) and overweight/obese (coded as 1, BMI of greater than or equal to 25), following the Centers for Disease Control classifications (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2015). BMI categories have been criticized as arbitrary thresholds (Muller 2013), yet they can be useful when

examining change in BMI status over time, including whether individuals transition from one BMI status to another (e.g., Rendall et al. 2012). Additionally, this categorical specification of BMI is most theoretically consistent with the idea that BMI may be associated with relationship outcomes (and vice versa) because BMI is a facet of physical attractiveness, in which normal weight people are more attractive than overweight and obese people.

Race/ethnicity. In my coding of race, I account for both racial and ethnic identification, as Hispanic ethnicity has been found to be an important facet of racial identify (Vaquera and Kao 2006). Race and ethnicity were asked at waves one and three. I use responses from wave one⁶ to construct a race variable. The Add Health asks respondents three questions that I use to code race: first, whether or not they are of Hispanic origin; second, whether or not they identify as Black, Asian, native American, or White; and finally, respondents who chose more than one race (that is, multiracial respondents) were asked which race they most identify with. Because self-identified race is likely an important predictor of the race of a person's partner (Miyawaki 2015), I code race and ethnicity to account for the respondent's racial identity as closely as possible; therefore, I categorize multiracial respondents with the racial group they most identify with. Respondents who indicated they are of Hispanic origin were coded as Hispanic, regardless of race chosen. For the present study, I

⁶ Race of the respondent was not asked at waves two or four. Because more respondents at wave four are missing values for race measured at wave three than race measured at wave one, I opted to use race measured at wave 1. Some respondents changed their racial categorization between waves 1 and 3: of the entire Add Health sample observed at waves 1 and 2.5% of respondents changed their race between waves (n=378). Of the Wave 3 current relationship sample, 2.3% changed race between waves and 2.4% of the wave 4 current relationship changed race between waves. I retain these individuals in all analyses.

restrict respondent race to Whites only, including multiracial Whites, due to sample size limitations with respect to exogamous relationships of non-White respondents. *Partner race/ethnicity.* Partner race and ethnicity was collected using two questions in the Add health for both waves three and four. It is reported by the Add health respondent and therefore is not a measure of the partner's self-identified race. Respondents were asked whether their partner was of Hispanic origin, and asked to select one racial category (Black, Asian, Native American, or White) for their partner. For the present study, I restrict partner race to non-Hispanic White, Black, Asian, and Hispanic. I omit White respondents partnered with Native Americans for the present study due to small sample sizes.

Control Variables. Gender is coded dichotomous (0=male, 1=female) and was asked at each wave. *Age* is a continuous variable asked at each wave (age range at wave 3 was 18-26, age range at wave 4 was 24-32). *Union type* is a three-category variable to capture whether the respondent is or has been in a marriage, cohabiting, or dating relationship with their current partner. I code relationship type as "married" if the respondent is or was ever married to the partner, "cohabitation" if the respondent currently or previously cohabited with their partner but was never married to the partner, and "dating" if the respondent did not report ever marrying or cohabiting with the partner. *Educational attainment* is coded as a four-category variable. Note that because of the age range of the sample at Wave 3, many students had not yet had a chance to complete a college degree, though all had the opportunity to begin college coursework and graduate from high school. Educational attainment is correlated both with lower risk of overweight and obesity (Ailshire and House 2011) and also with a

greater likelihood of dating across race for Hispanics in particular (Miyawaki 2015; Qian and Lichter 2007). Multiracial identifies respondents who identify with more than one race at Wave 1 (but selected "White" as the race they most identify with). *Biological children* measures whether or not the respondent lives with one or more of their own biological children. Prior research has indicated that having children increases risk of obesity for men and women (Weng et al. 2004). Living arrangements measures whether the respondent reports living in their parents' home, their "own place," or another living arrangement (not specified by Add Health). This variable captures a dimension of the life course transition from living with parents to living on one's own, and may have an impact on how influential a person's partner is for their health. Skin tone is interviewer-rated skin tone, measured at Wave 3, measured continuously from 1 (darkest) to 5 (lightest). Foreign born is coded 0 for US-born and 1 for born outside of the US. Relationship duration is a continuous variable, measured in years, and reflects the respondents' report of the year their relationship started subtracted from the year of the interview.

Due to the complex sampling design of the Add Health, I use sample weights, school-based clusters, and a post-stratification variable ("region") for descriptive statistics and analyses (Chen and Chantala 2014) with the *BMI change* sample, those respondents observed in a relationship with a partner with stable characteristics from Wave 3 to Wave 4. Because the Wave 3 and 4 pooled samples for the *cross-sectional* and *selection* analyses had more than one observation per person, I use individual-level clustering to adjust standard errors rather than school-based clusters and post-stratification strata.
Data Analysis

The analysis begins with a *cross-sectional* logistic regression model predicting the likelihood of being overweight or obese for Whites by partner race (Hispanic, Black, or Asian). It then is followed by models whose respective purposes are: (1) to estimate the extent that partner race for Whites is determined by one's overweight/obesity status, in a *selection model*; and (2) to estimate the causal effect of partner's race on the likelihood of being overweight/obese and on BMI change (measured continuously), in a *BMI-change* model. Although I conduct my analyses and describe the results in the above order, the *cross-sectional overweight/obese* and *BMI status-change* models are closest to each other in their statistical form and outcome variables, and therefore are presented immediately below, followed by the selection model.

Cross-sectional Model

The first step of the analysis is the *cross-sectional model*, to establish whether there is a statistically significant and substantively significant association between partner race and the likelihood of being overweight or obese for Whites. Formally, I denote being overweight/obese (compared to reference group normal weight) by 0, as noted above as measured as having a BMI of 25 or over. In the cross-sectional model, the probability of being overweight/obese at time t is a function of a main explanatory variable of partnership race P at wave t, P_t , and additional explanatory variables specified in vector Z_t . Vector Z_t consists of age, relationship type (married, cohabiting, dating), education level, whether or not the respondent is multiracial at time t, whether there are biological children in the household, living arrangement,

skin tone, nativity, and relationship duration (in years). Treating the binary overweight/obese vs. normal weight variable O_t as a dichotomous variable, $E[O_t|P_t,Z_t]$ is estimated by logistic regression, representing the expectation as a logistic function F as follows:

$$E[O_t|P_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 Z_t) \tag{1}$$

In order to ascertain whether or not the effect of each predictor variable on the likelihood of being overweight or obese differed by gender, I also separately estimated models pooled by gender with gender interactions on all covariates.

For this *cross-sectional* model analysis, I used the person-wave dataset of all individuals reporting current relationships at waves 3 and 4, described above. The models were estimated separately for White men and women, for a total of two models. Because the same individual frequently contributes more than one wave of BMI health while partnered, "clustering" of observations within individuals is adjusted for in estimating the standard errors.

BMI-change Model

The second step of the analysis is the "BMI-change" model. The outcome variable is BMI, specified as a binary outcome⁷ (normal vs. overweight/obese) and is

⁷ I also tested a specification of the BMI-Change model using a continuous BMI outcome variable. This specification did not produce any statistically significant results, suggesting that any association between partner race/ethnicity and BMI is not a general one across all BMI levels, but rather, occurs as a contrast between normal and overweight or obese partners. This is consistent with a theoretical interpretation, discussed above, that considers weight as a facet of attractiveness, in which normal weight partners are considered more attractive and desirable than those who are overweight or obese.

measured at wave 4. Again, the main explanatory variable is partner race/ethnicity for Whites among those who are partnered with the "same" partner at both waves 3 and 4. The model includes additional explanatory variables age, relationship type (married, cohabiting, dating), education level, multiracial, biological children in the household, living arrangement, skin tone, nativity, and relationship duration in years. However, the objective of the BMI-change model, and therefore the time specification of the outcome variable, is different than for the cross-sectional model. I use what Allison (1990) refers to as the regressor-variable method of estimating at the *change* in the dependent variable, here the likelihood of being overweight or obese, and interpret the results as suggesting a causal impact of partner race on BMI status among individuals in long term relationships with stable partners. The period of time over which BMI change is measured is approximately seven years. The equation used to estimate the effect of partner race on BMI change for Whites is as follows:

$$E[O_{t+1}|P_t, BMI_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 BMI_t + \beta_3 Z_t)$$
(2)

In this equation, the probability of being overweight/obese at time t+1 (wave 4) is a logistic function of partner race at time t (wave 3), BMI at time t (measured continuously), and vector Z, which represents the variables described above measured at time t (wave 3). These latter variables include relationship type. See Appendix Table 3.2 for the matrix of Wave 4 relationship type by Wave 3 relationship type.

I estimated the above equation (2) as a logistic regression model. I estimated this equation separately for White men and women, resulting in two models. I additionally estimated the model with pooled genders with gender interactions on all covariates to determine whether the effect of the independent variables measured at time t on health at time t+1 varies by gender. These models are estimated from person-level Add Health data set of respondents who were observed with partners of consistent age, gender, and race/ethnicity from waves 3 to 4 (the "same partner" sample). To account for Add Health's complex sampling design, I use school-based clusters and post-stratification region strata to adjust standard errors.

I selected the regressor-variable approach to modeling BMI change over time over the change score method, as supported by Allison (1990). See Chapter Two of this dissertation for a full discussion of the differences between these methods. As discussed in Chapter Two, Allison (1990) argues that the regressor-variable approach is most appropriate for stock variables (compared to flow variables), and supplies body weight as one example of a stock variable. One prior study measuring change in marital status and change in BMI over time among the NHANES cohort used a change-score as the outcome variable (the difference between baseline and follow-up BMI) while controlling for baseline BMI as well (Sobal et al. 2003), though this approach does not follow methodological recommendations. Further, because my focus in this chapter is on the relationship between weight and partnering, it makes sense to examine BMI as a normal vs. overweight/obese variable, because overweight/obese may better represent physical attractiveness, theoretically speaking. The regressor-variable method of examining change allows both a binary and continuous specification of the outcome variable. Looking to a prior example using Add Health, The and Gordon-Larsen (2009) used a binary obsese/non-obese outcome variable specification and found that transitioning from being unpartnered at time t to being partnered at time t+1 was associated with greater probability of obesity at time

t+1, but did not include a control for BMI at time *t* in order to capture a dimension of change, rather than simply likelihood at one point in time. In their analysis, it could be that BMI trajectories over time were more responsible for changes in BMI than change in partnership status. I aim to improve on these prior studies' methods with the analysis presented here. Controlling for BMI in the previous period in which the respondent was with the same partner represents a major gain over the cross-sectional for inferring a causal impact of partner characteristics on the respondent's health.⁸

Selection Model

The "selection model" is designed to investigate to what extent the associations between partner race and being overweight/obese established in the "cross-sectional model" might be attributed to selection processes whereby individuals select into endogamous vs. exogamous relationships on the basis of weight reported before the start of the relationship. To examine the evidence for selection processes, I first determined which relationships formed between wave 2 and 3, and wave 3 and 4, respectively, formally denoted above as times t (waves 3 and 4) and t-1 (waves 2 and 3). I then predict partner race of a new cohabiting, dating, or married partner at wave 3 and 4 (time t) by weight status approximately seven years prior at waves 2 and 3 (time t-1). Note again that the sample used for the selection model pools waves 3 and 4, and thus some individuals who were observed with new partners at both waves 3 and 4 contribute two person-wave observations.

⁸ Note also that there is debate in the literature between using raw BMI scores vs. BMI z-scores when examining change in BMI over time. Studies, mostly focused on children and adolescents, have concluded that raw BMI is preferable to BMI z-scores (e.g. Berkey and Colditz 2007; Cole et al. 2005).

Consider the following BMI selection model into endogamous vs. exogamous relationships for Whites:

$$E[P_t|O_{t-1}, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 O_{t-1} + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(3)

In the above model, the expected value of partner race at time t in a newly formed married, dating, or cohabiting partnership is a function of overweight/obesity at time t - I and characteristics Z_t , which represents age, relationship type, education level, multiraciality, biological children in the household, living arrangement, skin tone, foreign born, and relationship duration measured at time t. Multinomial logistic regression is used to estimate this model for Hispanic, Black or Asian partners, with non-Hispanic White partner as the base outcome.

However, in the new relationships subsample, missing values occur for BMI observed at time t - 1, and therefore of O_{t-1} in equation 3, for two reasons. First, the Add Health observed sample was smallest at wave 2 compared to all other waves, because the wave 2 follow-up to wave 1 did not include respondents who were no longer in high school at wave 2. Therefore, for respondents in new relationships at wave 3 (based on the length of the relationship – that is, the relationship started after the interview period for wave 2), the wave 2 interview was not administered and therefore interviewer-measured BMI data from wave 2 was not recorded. This is important because Wave 2 BMI was interviewer-measured, shown to be a more valid and reliable way to measure BMI (Stommel and Schoenborn 2009), whereas at Wave 1, BMI is calculated from self-reported weight and height. Therefore, it would not be

optimal to substitute Wave 1 BMI for wave 2 BMI for individuals observed in new relationships at Wave 3, due to increased reporting error. Second, BMI data at waves 2 or 3 could be missing at random due to non-response on that particular item.

In order to include a measure of interviewer-measured BMI at the prior observation to help account for possible selection on the basis of health into relationships, I used multiple imputation (MI). That is, for cases where a new relationship was observed at Wave 3, I impute interviewer-measured BMI at Wave 2, and for cases where a new relationship was observed at Wave 4, I impute interviewermeasured BMI at Wave 3. In the imputation equation, I used self-reported BMI from Wave 1, plus interviewer-measured BMI at the current wave (that is, the wave the new relationship is observed) to impute interviewer-measured BMI at the prior wave. More specifically, to impute measured BMI at wave 2 to use to predict partner race at Wave 3, I used Wave 1 self-reported BMI as well as measured BMI at Wave 3. I also included in the imputation equation interviewer-measured BMI from other men and women whose BMI was observed at waves 2 and 3. For new relationships observed at Wave 4, in the imputation equation I used self-reported BMI from wave 1 as well as measured BMI at Wave 4. I also included measured BMI from other men and women whose BMI was observed at Waves 3 and 4. The imputation equation also included the covariates used for the regression models (partner race, gender, education level, relationship type, age, multiracial identity, having biological children in the household, living arrangement, skin tone, nativity, and relationship duration). Twenty imputations were performed (m=20). This application of multiple imputation to correct for error in self-report is analogous to that used by Schenker et al. (2010), and

represents an improvement over using only Wave 1 BMI as a predictor variable for individuals observed in new relationships at Wave 3 because it allows for interviewer-measured BMI to be used, reducing reporting error due to self-reports of height and weight.

For the analysis models, I first performed the multinomial logistic regression model represented by equation 3 separately for White men and White women. Second, I used gender interactions on all covariates to determine whether being overweight/obese predicted partner race differently for men and women. However, because there are no cases in the data where a White woman who is foreign-born has a Black partner, the multinomial logistic regression model with gender interactions would not converge. Therefore, I instead performed separate logistic regression models to predict a binary outcome of partner race for each race individually (that is, a separate model predicting Hispanic partner, Black partner, and Asian partner), compared to a partner of any other race, with gender interactions on all covariates. The variable *foreign-born* (respondent) is omitted from the logistic regression model predicting a Black partner, causing 35 observations to be dropped. The full results from the gender interaction models predicting partner race are shown in Appendix Table 3.3 and discussed below with the results presented in Table 3.5.

<u>Results</u>

Descriptive statistics for the three groups described above (all White men and women in the US cohort that was in high school in the mid-1990s in current relationships, those in new relationships, and those in relationships with partners with stable characteristics over time (inferred to be the same partner) are shown in Tables

2.1, 2.2, and 2.3, respectively. Table 3.1 displays descriptive statistics for White young adult men and women, aged approximately 19 through 30 years old at the time of observation (with mean age of about 25 years), who report current dating, married, and cohabiting relationships. Gender differences were tested using t-tests for continuous variables and chi-squared tests for categorical variables; p-values are represented by asterisks in the "Men vs. Women" column. Both White men and women are most frequently partnered with endogamous White partners, with 89.4% of White men having a current White partner and 87.9% of White women reporting a current White partner. For men, Black partners are the least frequently reported (1.3%) of current relationships), whereas for women, Asian partners are the least frequently reported (2.8% of relationships). The chi-squared tests indicate that partner race differs by gender ($p \le .001$). Not surprisingly, White men and women are rated as having a light skin tone by interviewers, with a mean skin tone of 4.95 points on a five-point scale. Between 2% and 3% of men and women report being multiracial. A very small percentage is foreign-born - about 1% of women and less than 1% of men. White men and women are mostly married (41.1% of men and 47.5% of women), but the distribution of relationship type varies by gender ($p \le .001$), with women more likely than men to be married. The current relationships reported are about three to four years long, and women report slightly longer relationships by about half a year (p < .001). Most of the population lived in their own place – approximately threequarters of men and women, though the overall distribution of the type of living arrangement varies by gender (p < .05), with White women more likely than White men to live in their own place and less likely to live with parents or in another home.

Substantially more women than men report having biological children in the household (45.9% compared to 30.1%, p<.001). Men and women differ in their educational attainment (p<.001). Most have at least some college (41.6% of men and 41.9% of women), and 22.7% of White men have finished a BA or further education, compared to 29.0% of women. The average BMI for White young adults is about 28 for men and 27 for women (p<.001), which falls in the "overweight" range, and White men are more frequently overweight and obese than women (62% of men and 50% of women).

[TABLE 3.1 ABOUT HERE]

Table 3.2 displays descriptive statistics for White men and women who are observed in new relationships in approximately the previous seven years (the time between waves 2 and 3, and waves 3 and 4). The characteristics of this population mirror the full group (reported in Table 3.1) in current relationships, though the new relationship population is not more frequently married compared to other relationship types – rather, women in the new relationships sample are most frequently married (37.0% of women), whereas men in new relationships are most likely to be in a dating relationship (37.4% of men), and overall, type of relationship varies by gender (p<.001). Again, endogamy is the norm for Whites, though women report endogamy at slightly lower rates than men (87.2% compared to 89.2% of men), and women more frequently have Black partners compared to White men, whereas men more frequently have Asian partners compared to White women (3.8% versus 2.9%). Overall, partner race is statistically significantly different for White men compared to White women in new relationships (p<.001). Relationship duration among Whites in

new relationships averages about two years, and again, women report longer relationships than men (p < .001). BMI measured at between six and seven years prior is less than the BMI reported by the current relationship population, which is unsurprising given that respondents were younger at the prior time point and BMI tends to increase with age, especially as people transition from adolescence into adulthood (Gordon-Larsen et al. 2010). However, men are found to have greater mean BMI at the previous time point than women (p < .001) and a greater frequency of being overweight/obese than women (p < .001). This gender difference for individuals in relationships contrasts with studies of all adult men and women, which find that obesity is more prevalent among women than men for adults observed from 1999-2008, approximately the same period as this study examines (Flegal et al. 2010). This contrast between findings for those in relationships versus all adults is consistent with a greater overweight and obesity "penalty" for women than men in forming relationships. That is, women are more likely to be excluded from the dating and marriage market on the basis of weight than men are (Fu and Goldman 1996; Puhl and Heuer 2009). However, another study using Add Health data finds comparable rates of obesity between men and women (Gordon-Larsen et al. 2010), suggesting that the relative youth of the Add Health sample may also be a factor.

[TABLE 3.2 ABOUT HERE]

Finally, Table 3.3 displays descriptive statistics for White men and women who are observed in long term relationships with partners with the same measured characteristics over a time period of approximately seven years, from about 2001 to 2008 (see Analytic Sample section for details), here assumed to be the same partner at

both points in time that they were observed, though their relationship type may have changed over this time period (see Appendix Table 3.2). This population has a greater percentage of endogamy compared to all current relationships and new relationships: 94.3% of White men and 93.2% of White women have White partners, though the distribution of partner race is not statistically significantly different between men and women for this relatively smaller sample (the *p*-value is only statistically significant at the 0.10 level). Again, women report longer relationship duration (measured at wave 3) than men (*p*<.001) and women are more likely than men to live with biological children (*p*<.001). The age of this population, measured at wave 3 is 22.3 years for men and 21.9 years for women (*p*<.001). Men have higher mean BMI at both waves 3 and 4 (*p*<.05) and greater risk of being overweight/obese compared to women (*p*<.001).

[TABLE 3.3 HERE]

Tables 2.4, 2.5, and 2.6 show the results from the cross-sectional, selection, and BMI change models, respectively. Results from gender interaction models (in which White men and women are pooled and gender is interacted with all covariates) are presented in Appendix Tables 2.3, 2.4, and 2.5. All tables display logistic coefficients, but also odds ratios below on the key variables. Table 3.4 displays the results from the cross-sectional logistic regression model predicting the likelihood of being overweight/obese on partner race among White men and women observed in current dating, marriage, and cohabiting relationships at two points in time (about seven years apart), pooled. For men, there is no statistically significant effect of partner race on the likelihood of being overweight/obese. For women, on the other

hand, having a Hispanic partner is associated with 1.47 times the likelihood of being overweight/obese, and having a Black partner is associated with 2.14 times the risk of being overweight/obese. The gender interaction for Black partner is statistically significant, indicating that the effect of having a Black partner on overweight/obesity is greater for White women than White men. These cross-sectional results are the associations that I further disaggregate into selection and causal associations in the selection and BMI change models.

Being in a dating or cohabiting relationship is associated with an lesser likelihood of being overweight/obese compared to being married for both men and women, consistent with prior findings regarding the association between marital status and weight (Harris et al. 2010; Teachman 2016). For women, higher levels of education are associated with a lower risk of overweight/obese, which is consistent with previous research that finds that for women, obesity and low SES are mutually reinforcing disadvantaged statuses (Pudrovska et al. 2014). Age is associated with an increase in the likelihood of being overweight/obese for White men and women.

[TABLE 3.4 ABOUT HERE]

Table 3.5 shows the results from the selection model, which is a multinomial logistic regression model predicting partner race (Hispanic, Black, Asian, with reference group White partner) among those who began a new relationship in approximately the seven years after the prior observation. Table 3.5 also shows statistical significance for gender interactions (full gender interaction model shown in Appendix Table 3.3). The results indicate that for White women, selection into relationships likely accounts for at least a portion of the cross-sectional association

between having a Black partner and the likelihood of overweight/obesity. Being overweight/obese (compared to normal weight) before starting a new romantic relationship more than doubles the chances that a White woman will partner with a Black partner, compared to a White partner. The gender interaction results indicate that there may be a gender difference in this effect, such that being overweight or obese is more likely to predict having a Black partner for White women compared to White men; however, the gender interaction on Black partner is only statistically significant at the p<0.10 level. Being overweight/obese before the start of a partnership does not affect partner race for White men, nor does it affect the likelihood of having a Hispanic or Asian partner for White women.

Skin tone also affects White women's partnership outcomes: having lighter skin is associated with a reduced likelihood of having any nonwhite partner for White women, and an reduced likelihood of a Hispanic partner for White men. No effects of being multiracial on partner race are found. Being foreign born has mixed effects on partner race: foreign-born men are less likely to have Hispanic partners compared to White partners but more likely to have Black partners compared to White partners, whereas for White women, being foreign decreases the chances of having a Black partner. However, it is noteworthy that the sample sizes for foreign-born respondents are very small in this analysis (about 1% of the sample), so these results may represent the pattern observed among just a few cases.

The results also show that being in a cohabiting or dating relationship, compared to a marriage, is associated with a higher likelihood of a Black partner for White women; likewise, cohabiting relationships compared to marriages increase the

likelihood of having an Asian partner for White women. This is consistent with prior research showing that interracial relationships are more likely to be cohabiting than married (Joyner and Kao 2005) and more likely to be dating rather than progress to cohabiting or marriage (Kroeger-D'Souza 2010). Having biological children in the household is also associated with having a Black partner for White women, and this association is statistically significantly different from the association between having biological children in the household and having a Black partner for White men. White women with lower education are more likely to partner in new relationships with Black and Hispanic partners. Specifically, having a Bachelor's degree or more education decreases the likelihood of a Hispanic partner (compared to having less than a high school degree), and having some college or a Bachelor's degree or more education decreases the likelihood of having a Black partner for White women. This may indicate a type of inverse status exchange, in which less-educated White women partner with lower racial status men (Torche and Rich 2016).

[TABLE 3.5 ABOUT HERE]

Finally, Table 3.6 displays the results from the BMI-change models testing for the multivariate association of partner race and other variables with BMI among White men and women who report current relationships with the "same" partners over a period of about seven years (i.e., partners with the same characteristics at two points in time in Waves 3 and 4 of the Add Health). In these models, BMI is measured both as a binary outcome, predicted using a logistic regression model. Odds ratios for the key independent variable (partner race) are presented. These models were estimated separately by gender, and statistical significance levels for gender

interaction models (shown in Appendix Table 3.4) are indicated in the "Men vs. Women" columns for each specification of the outcome variable, BMI. Key for interpretation of this model is the inclusion of BMI (measured continuously) measured at time t (Wave 3) as a covariate for estimating the effect of partner race on BMI at time t+1 (Wave 4), consistent with the regressor-variable framework for examining change in a "stock" dependent variable over time (Allison 1990). I interpret this association as suggesting a causal relationship between partner race and being overweight/obese.

Looking at the results from the logistic regression model predicting overweight/obesity over time, the key finding from this portion of the analysis is that White women's chance of being overweight/obese is adversely affected by having a Black partner, compared to White women partnered with White male partners. Moreover, the magnitude of this effect is substantial. The odds of being overweight or obese at Wave 4 are 15 times greater for White women with consistent Black partners over this time period of approximately seven years than for White women who are consistently partnered with White partners over the same time period. Further, there is some evidence that this overweight/obesity-inducing effect may be stronger for White women compared to White men, indicated by the results of the gender interaction for having a Black partner: the p-value for the gender interaction effect is statistically significant at the 0.10 level. There is an estimated 3.23 increase in the odds of being overweight/obese at Wave 4 for White women with a Hispanic partner; the coefficient for this association is statistically significant only at the 0.10 level. No

statistically significant effect is observed for White men with any non-white partner category, nor is it observed for White women with Asian partners.

In the logistic regression model results for BMI change, BMI at a prior point in time is, unsurprisingly, a strong predictor of being overweight/obese for both men and women, though it is a stronger predictor for White men than White women, suggesting greater continuity of BMI over time for men. For White women, again, being multiracial increases the likelihood of overweight/obesity, and this effect is statistically significantly stronger for White women than for White men, as indicated by the gender interaction results. It is interesting that this association appears in the BMI change model but not the cross-sectional analysis already described; it appears that being multiracial, for White women, increases the likelihood of becoming overweight/obese over time specifically. Unlike in the cross-sectional and BMI selection results discussed above, there is no association between relationship type at the first point in time and the likelihood of being overweight/obese about seven years later for men or women. This is perhaps because in these stable relationships with "same" partners, the commitment level is more likely to be high regardless of relationship type, whereas in the other analyses, partnerships may have represented different durations and therefore more varying levels of commitment. This interpretation is supported by the fact that almost all of the relationships observed at Wave 4 are marriage or cohabitations, rather than dating, by Wave 4 (see Appendix Table 3.2). Having biological children in the household at Wave 3 also decreases the risk of becoming overweight/obese for White women, which appears to differ from other studies finding that the more children women have, the more likely they are to

be obese in middle age (Weng et al. 2004). However, the difference found here may be due to the specific population examined (young Whites observed in continuous relationships). Finally, having a Bachelor's degree or more education decreases the likelihood of overweight/obesity for White women, and younger age predicts a lower risk of overweight/obesity for White men.

<u>Discussion</u>

There is a paradox in the literature on romantic relationships and weight: although heavier people, especially women, are penalized on the marriage market for being overweight or obese and are less likely to marry or enter new relationships (Averett et al. 2008; Conley and Glauber 2006; Gortmaker et al. 1993; Puhl and Heuer 2009), people in relationships - especially marriage and cohabitation - are more likely to gain weight (Averett et al. 2008; Burke et al. 2004; Jeffery and Rick 2002; The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). This is considered paradoxical, because romantic relationships are usually associated with better health outcomes, not worse, due to both selection processes of the healthier being more likely to partner, as well as romantic relationships having a protective effect on health (Lillard and Panis 1996; Umberson and Montez 2010). Explanations proposed for this paradox include aspects of the shared environment that come with a romantic partnership, such as eating together, that can cause weight gain (Averett et al. 2008), and possibly because people no longer feel the need to work to be attractive in order to win a partner (Bove and Sobal 2011). Prior studies have examined some facets of how these processes of selection and causation may be gendered and racialized, specifically whether the propensity to gain weight varies by gender and race, and whether selection into relationships on the

basis of BMI varies by gender and race. Previous cross-sectional findings, including those that use Add Health data (Harris et al. 2010) indicate that the association between relationship status and BMI varies by race and gender to some degree, such that Black women in romantic partnerships are particularly heavy (Harris et al. 2010; Schafer 2010). Further, existing empirical research indicates that selection processes are gendered and racialized, such that White women in particular are penalized on the dating and marriage market for being overweight/obese (Puhl and Heuer 2009) and considered less desirable partners (Ali et al. 2013), whereas Black men are more accepting of heavier body types in potential partners (Glasser et al. 2009).

However, previous research has not examined whether these selection and causal processes in the association between romantic relationships and BMI may vary by partner race as well as one's own race. In this study, I fill that gap by investigating the association between interracial and inter-ethnic partnerships and overweight/obesity, thus contributing to the literature on how partner selection and the causal association between romantic relationships and overweight/obese are gendered and racialized. I first examined whether any association exists between partner race in current dating, marriage, and cohabiting relationships among White young adults approximately 19 to 30 years old who were enrolled in middle and high school in the mid-1990s U.S. Although this population may represent just one cohort, this is the cohort that is currently starting families and having children, and interracial relationships among this population should be of particular interest, as their partnering and fertility behaviors will affect the racial and ethnic composition of the next generation - and possibly also the health status of the next generation. The

results from the cross-sectional analysis show that White women with Black partners are more likely to be overweight/obese, and the association of having a Black partner is stronger for women compared to men. Further, White women with Hispanic partners are also more likely to be overweight/obese. These results represent the associations to be explained - to what extent can this association be attributed to the propensity of White women to partner with Black and Hispanic men on the basis of their weight status, indicating a status exchange process, and to what extent can this association be attributed to causal processes, including stress, status, and resources, in interracial relationships?

Overall, I find evidence for both selection processes and for causal processes, the latter indicated by change over time in overweight and obesity. The results from the selection analysis show that among White young adults in the cohort, White women who are overweight or obese are more likely to enter new relationships with Black partners compared to with White partners. This finding suggests that the crosssectional association between having a Black partner and being overweight/obese is due at least in part to selection mechanisms for White women. I interpret this finding as being suggestive of a status exchange process. Status exchange theory posits that race acts as a status marker on the marriage and dating market (Kalmijn 2010), and most research to date examines the extent which education is "exchanged" by minorities, particularly Black men, for obtaining a White partner; recent studies suggest that this process continues in the present day at levels identical to thirty years ago, even as interracial pairings become more common (Torche and Rich 2016). In this study, I extend this theoretical framework to apply to weight status. The existing

research indicates that people who are heavier are less likely to partner in the first place, especially White women (Puhl and Heuer 2009). We know that being overweight or obese is also a status marker, particularly for women, as it is an important cultural facet of physical attractiveness (Chen and Brown 2005; Saguy 2014). This study posits that thinness and heaviness may also act as status markers that can be "exchanged" for partner race. The results support this idea, suggesting that heavier White women are unable to trade thinness, as a marker of physical attraction, for a higher "status" White partner.

The results from this study also speak to prior research that investigates why there is such a gender imbalance in the propensity for partnering across particular racial and ethnic lines. Belot and Fidrmuc (2010) found that height explains these gender imbalances: they explain the fact that White women are more likely to have Black spouses than White men, but White men are more likely to have Chinese spouses than White women, as the result of the greater average height of Black men compared to Chinese men. Although the authors of this study do not specifically suggest that height acts as a status marker that can be exchanged for a White partner in the case of Black men, it may be that weight and height both represent markers of gender-specific physical attractiveness that may be "exchanged" for a White partner on the marriage and dating market, as indicated by the findings presented here, which bring together height and weight into one measure (BMI), though my findings are more pertinent to women's weight and height than men's.

Finally, I investigated the propensity for individuals to become overweight/obese over time among White men and women observed in dating,

cohabiting, and marriage relationships with partners with stable characteristics in terms of age, race, and gender over a period of at least seven years. Due to data limitations, I cannot say definitively that a partner is in fact the same, but I assume that it is likely that they are the same person. Moreover, we know that these partners have the same crucial characteristic of interest (race/ethnicity). The results show that White women who are partnered with Black partners, and possibly also White women who are partnered with Hispanic partners, experience an adverse impact on their likelihood of being overweight/obese at follow-up. This effect is, substantively speaking, quite strong for White women with Black partners: these women are 14.7 times more likely to be overweight or obese at follow-up when consistently partnered with Black partners compared to White women consistently partnered with White partners.

Research on the causal link between romantic relationships and health typically relies on relationships' abilities to buffer stress to explain how relationships protect health (Umberson and Montez 2010); however, this explanation is not satisfactory for explaining a causal link between relationships and BMI, because relationships are typically shown to adversely affect weight by causing weight gain (Averett et al. 2008; The and Gordon-Larsen 2009), and transitioning into romantic relationships, particularly marriage, is linked to weight gain (Jeffery and Rick 2002; Sobal et al. 2003). Thus, researchers have typically looked to various aspects of the social environment to explain weight gain in relationships, including shared environment, relaxed standards of weight due to the commitment relationships provide, and partner concordance in health outcomes, especially among partners who

have lived together for a long duration (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). This study, by bringing partner race to bear, pushes this literature forward in several ways. First, one interpretation of the finding that having a Black partner increases White women's likelihood of overweight/obesity may be evidence that interracial relationships, especially those with Black partners, are more prone to stress for Whites and thus greater weight gain compared to relationships with same-race partners. Medical literature shows that stress and weight gain are linked, especially chronic stress (Dallman 2010); it could be the case that the chronic stress of being in a relationship that is stigmatized or subject to the disapproval of family and friends leads to weight gain.

However, in both the case of selection and status exchange as well as causality and stress, there is another possible interpretation for the results presented in this study that should not be ignored. Bringing together social psychological theory on the self-concept with prior theorizing on romantic relationships and weight gains points to a different conclusion. Prior research indicates three important patterns for interpreting these results. First, Black men are accepting of heavier bodies and find them more attractive (Glasser et al. 2009; Jackson and McGill 1996), including in adolescence (Thompson et al. 1996). Second, people relax their worries about gaining weight in romantic relationships (Averett et al. 2008). Third, romantic relationships are a primary source of reflected appraisals and inform the self-concept, including the self-concept as it pertains to the perceptions of one's own body and body satisfaction (Miller 2001; Ogden and Taylor 2000; Pole et al. 2004).

Taking together the weight selection and weight change results, there appear

to be multiple processes explaining the associations between White women's Black partners and greater likelihood of being overweight or obese. First, it is reasonable to conclude that White women with Black partners gain weight in the course of a relationship because they are shielded by the relationship from particularly oppressive body weight standards that might be of greater importance with a White male partner. Similarly, with regard to selection processes, it may be that White women find more satisfying relationships with men who do not subscribe to body type ideals that are particularly oppressive for women's bodies. "Fat shaming" is a pernicious part of our culture, and it rests largely on the promotion of an attractiveness ideal that idealizes thin, White female bodies, resulting in cultural and structural forces that oppress heavy women (Fikkan and Rothblum 2011; Saguy 2014), resulting in worse labor, education, and marriage outcomes (Glass et al. 2010). We thus should perhaps not disregard overweight/obese White women's partnering with Black men as purely a status-exchange process in which heavy White women simply can't attract a White partner, but would want to otherwise, and consider the possibility that White women may be exercising agency by selecting partners who are more supportive and accepting. Future research and theorizing on romantic relationships and weight should be mindful that although obesity is a public health concern, its stigmatization is linked to gender and race inequalities, and consider how to study weight and obesity from a perspective that both attends to health and to "fat" as a feminist issue (Saguy 2012).

This study combines the BMI categories of overweight and obese together into a single category. Operationalizing BMI in this way was done both to consider

BMI as a status marker related to attractiveness, and to incorporate the social psychological processes of weight gain based on a partner's perceptions of attractiveness over time. This is different, however, from studying the question of interracial relationships' associations with BMI from a public health perspective, in which obesity specifically would alternately be examined.

An important limitation of the main Add Health dataset is the lack of BMI information from partners. Another possible explanation for the results observed in this study is assortative mating: that White women who are overweight/obese are more likely to partner with Black men who are also overweight/obese. Assortative mating on weight status has been observed in relationships in general, but not specifically in interracial relationships (Schwartz 2013). Similarly, the results from the change over time analysis could be due to White women's weight gain in conjunction with Black partners' weight gain, reflecting a process of partner concordance in overweight/obesity (Castelnuovo et al. 2009). Evidence from the Add Health Romantic Pairs data set (a small subsample of the full Add Health sample) suggests that shared environments lead to partner concordance in BMI over time (net of race) (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). However, without partner BMI in the full Add Health data set, and given the relative rarity of any given interracial combination, I am unable to test the extent to which assortative mating and/or partner concordance are also factors explaining the observed associations of White women's and men's BMI with being in an interracial romantic relationship.

The analyses from this study do not give clear answers on how White women's weight and having a Hispanic partner are related. The cross-sectional results

showed that there is a positive association between White women's overweight/obese status and having a Hispanic partner, but it is hard to say based on this study to what extent this association might be due to selection or causal processes. In the BMI change analysis, the Hispanic partner coefficient does not reach statistical significance at an alpha level of .05 or less, so it is hard to say whether the observed effect is real and would be more clearly seen with a larger sample size, or simply by chance. Prior research provides some clues as to what might drive the cross-sectional association observed here between a Hispanic partner and being overweight/obese. First, Hispanics are heavier than non-Hispanic Whites in the US (Pan et al. 2009; Ogden and Carroll 2010), and prior research has found that Hispanic adolescents are less prone to feelings of depression and low self-esteem as the result of perceiving themselves as overweight or obese (Ge et al. 2001). Taken together, these findings may indicate that Hispanics, like Black Americans, are more accepting of heavier body types and thus more likely to partner with White women who are heavier.

One limitation of this study is the inability, due to limited sample sizes, to analyze racial and ethnic partnership combinations other than non-Hispanic White men and women who partner with Blacks, Hispanics, and Asians. This limitation may be particularly pertinent with regards to interpreting weight gain by Whites with Black partners as evidence that interracial relationships are more stressful and therefore conducive to weight gain. Given the conclusion that interracial and interethnic relationships may actually be protective of nonwhites' health (Miller and Kail 2016), it could be that nonwhites in exogamous relationships are inherently stressful

for both White and minority health. As interracial relationships continue to gain in prevalence, researchers may benefit from analysis of new data sources that allow for a more comprehensive examination of interracial and interethnic pairings and health outcomes. Second, this study is limited in its ability to draw conclusions about the effects of having the same partner over a given period of time. Add Health does not allow researchers to link respondents' partners across waves, thus it is impossible to say for certain whether or not someone was observed with the same partner, or simply with a different partner who shared demographic characteristics with the prior current partner. Moreover, these waves are themselves far apart in time (approximately seven years). Analysis of individuals known to be with a partner across multiple time points would give better opportunities for causal inference on the relationship between partner race and BMI outcomes. Further, assuming that indeed the sample used for the BMI change analysis represents men and women who were continuously partnered with the same partner over a seven year period, this subgroup may have unique characteristics that are not shared by individuals whose partnerships do not last for such a long period of time.

Finally, future research should consider disentangling the effects of being in different types of romantic relationships with interracial and interethnic partners on overweight and obesity. That is, to what extent are these effects observed in marriage, cohabitation, or dating relationships? Prior research on relationships and weight gain has focused almost exclusively on marriage and cohabitation, and the theories offered for the association between romantic relationships and weight typically rely on the commitment that comes with being "off" the marriage market once one is married

(Averett et al. 2008) and the ramifications of sharing an environment and health behaviors over a long period of time (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). However, it is reasonable to conclude that if overweight and obese people are less likely to marry (Gortmaker et al. 2008; Fu and Goldman 1996), they may also be less likely to enter dating and cohabitation relationships. In this study, I find that being married is associated with a greater likelihood of overweight/obese than cohabiting or dating, regardless of partner race, and that White women are more likely to have cohabiting Black and Asian partners than marriage partners, and more likely to date Black partners than marry them. Taking together the findings that both weight status and partner race vary by relationship type, it is conceivable that relationship type may moderate the association between partner race and weight outcomes. Future research, especially with a data source with sufficient sample size, should examine whether and how relationships type, partner race, and overweight/obesity interact. Chapter 4: Interracial and Inter-ethnic Marriage, Cohabiting, and Dating Relationships and Depression among White Young Adults in the US

<u>Abstract</u>

Sociologists of mental health are concerned with how social context, social processes, and social interactions shape experiences of mental health and depression. The dominant theoretical paradigm in the sociology of mental health is the stress process, which posits that there is a direct relationship between experiences of stress and resulting psychological distress, including depressive symptoms; however, this relationship is also contingent on social statuses and social support. As such, two topics are central to literature in the sociology of mental health: the stratification of mental health by race, ethnicity, and gender, and the effect of romantic relationships on mental health. However, only a handful of studies have examined whether and how the racial/ethnic composition of romantic relationships is linked to depressive symptoms, despite the fact that interracial relationships are increasingly common today and possibly subject to greater stress and conflict due to social disapproval and stigma. These studies have found that interracial dating in adolescence and romantic relationships with Black partners in young adulthood are associated with greater depression. However, prior research has not used longitudinal data to investigate to what extent selection processes on the basis of mental health may explain this association compared to social causation explanations, nor has prior research directly examined how different types of relationships with exogamous partners may be

related to depression, despite the fact that interracial dating relationships may be more socially acceptable than marriage or marriage-like relationships, but also represent lower levels of commitment and stress-buffering. This study brings together insights from the stress process model, status exchange theory of interracial relationships, and empirical insights on how interracial dating versus more committed relationships differ to examine the longitudinal association between partner race/ethnicity and depression selection into relationships and depression trajectories over time for White men and women in early adulthood. I use data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health), focusing on current dating, marriage, and cohabiting relationships observed among White men and women approximately 18-32 years of age. I find a positive association between depression and having a Black partner for White women and between depression and having any nonwhite (Black, Hispanic, or Asian) partner for White men. I find that this phenomenon is driven primarily by married and cohabiting nonwhite partners for White men, whereas for White women it is in dating relationships with Black partners that there is evidence that depression is increased. I find evidence that more depressed White men are more likely to select into married and cohabiting relationships with nonwhite partners compared to White partners. I also find evidence that depressed women are more likely to select into dating relationships with Black partners compared to with White partners. I interpret these findings as expanding the scope of status exchange theory to suggest that mental health may be a status marker in interracial dating and marriage markets. Further, I find evidence that White women in long term relationships with Black partners are more likely to experience increased depression

over time compared to White women with endogamous partners. I interpret these findings as offering support for a stress process interpretation of White/Black relationships' effect on White women's mental health.

Introduction

The sociology of mental health is uniquely positioned to examine mental health not from a clinical or medical perspective, but from the perspective of understanding how social status and social structure intersect to create stress and distress in people's lives (Pearlin 1999). Central to the sociology of mental health is viewing mental health from a social causation perspective. Researchers and theorists engaged in the sociology of mental health have identified stress, caused by a variety of social processes including social relationships, financial hardships, life events, social inequalities, as a major factor that causes inequalities in health, especially psychological distress and depression (Thoits 2010; Turner and Lloyd 1999).

Two central topics in the sociology of mental health literature are the link between ascribed social statuses and mental health, particularly race, ethnicity, and gender, and the role of social relationships, particularly romantic relationships, in mitigating or aggravating the stress process and thus causing distress to be unequally distributed across the population (Brown 2003; Earl, Williams, and Anglade 2011; Ross 1995; Thoits 2010). Although social status attached to some characteristics – notably, gender and socioeconomic status – is associated with mental health inequalities such that lower status groups (women and lower socioeconomic status) experience greater levels of depression, studies of the relationships between race and depression show more mixed results, with some studies finding that Blacks in the US

having lower prevalence of mental health disorders, despite what a social status and stress perspective on mental health might predict (Earl et al. 2011; Schnittker and McLeod 2005).

Second, romantic relationships are understood as key to a social causation perspective on mental health. Romantic relationships can be both a source of social support and social stress, and researchers have identified characteristics of romantic relationships and partners, such as life stage and relationship quality, that affect mental health outcomes associated with relationships (e.g., Carr et al. 2014; Uecker 2012; Umberson and Montez 2010; Williams 2003). Further, there is evidence that the association between romantic relationships and mental health may differ by one's race and ethnicity (e.g., Brown et al. 2012; Fagan 2009; Harris et al. 2010; Kiecolt, Hughes, and Keith 2008). However, studies of the link between romantic relationships and mental health, when they do hone in on race and ethnicity specifically, typically account only for the race/ethnicity of one partner and generalize about patterns by race from this information alone, not accounting for whether the racial composition of a relationship also moderates the association between relationships and mental health.

A handful of recent studies have taken the first pass at remedying this omission, and have brought together research on race and mental health with insights on marital status and mental health to examine the impact of the racial composition of romantic relationships on mental health. Interracial relationships between Blacks and Whites are becoming increasingly common over time, though they are still subject to social disapproval, and are less common than relationships between Whites and other

ethnic groups, including Hispanics and Asians (George and Yancey 2004; Herman and Campbell 2012; Qian and Lichter 2007, 2011). (For a more extensive review of the literature on trends and patterns in cross-race and cross-ethnicity relationships, see the introduction to this dissertation.) One cross-sectional study, using the National Health Interview Survey to examine gender differences in distress based on the racial composition of married couples in the US found that nonblack people with Black spouses, especially White wives with Black husbands, were especially likely to report psychological distress, and individuals in marriages between Hispanics and other nonwhite people report higher levels of distress as well (Bratter and Escbach 2006). Two studies have used the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health) to study this particular topic. One study found that among teenagers, those who had ever dated interracially were more likely to report depressive symptoms (Miller 2014); the other found that among young adults, having a Black partner was associated with depressive symptoms for nonblack respondents regardless of the type of relationship (Kroeger and Williams 2011). Thus far, the predominant explanation offered to explain these associations, which have been cross-sectional in nature, have focused on the theory that different racial compositions of romantic relationships may be linked to experiencing more or less stress and thus psychological distress and depression. However, prior research has not investigated the association between partner race and depression longitudinally, and although some studies have investigated only marriage (Bratter and Eschbach 2006) while another investigated only dating in adolescence (Miller 2014), the type of relationship – dating compared to more committed, coresidential relationships - has not been considered as a

moderating factor in the association between partner race and depression. I build on these prior studies to continue to investigate the association between the racial composition of romantic relationships and mental health, defined by reporting depressive symptoms, by using longitudinal data to ask whether people select into interracial and interethnic relationships on the basis of depression or whether interracial and interethnic relationships may be said to cause psychological distress. Further, I expand on prior literature by considering how the link between partner race/ethnicity and depression may vary by type of relationships, as empirical work on the social acceptability of different types of interracial relationships suggests.

Literature Review

Race and Gender Inequalities in Mental Health

Scholars of the sociology of mental health argue that mental health disparities are fundamentally sociological: social status and inequality pattern mental health outcomes, and the sociological approach to mental health is, at its core, the study of the link between social structure and the individual. As Blair Wheaton put it, "realized or not, mental health is everyone's dependent variable" (2001:228). As with other resources, such as economic resources and physical health, mental health is unequally distributed according to social status and patterns of social interaction. In this section, I briefly review some findings about racial, ethnic, and gender inequalities in mental health before turning to a more theoretical discussion of how sociologists of mental explain these disparities and how this theoretical framework will apply to the study at hand.

Race, ethnicity, and nativity are all stratifying social statuses that are associated with risk of exposure to stress (Brown, Donato, Laske, and Duncan 2013). In this respect, Whites are expected to experience fewer mental health problems. However, some studies find that Blacks experience lower prevalence of mental health disorders than Whites, including depression (Brown et al. 2013; Earl et al. 2011; Schnittker and McLeod 2005), whereas some studies find that there is no difference in levels of psychological distress reporting by Blacks compared to Whites, though Blacks report lower levels of well-being (Williams, Yu, Jackson, and Anderson 1997). One explanation for this puzzling finding is that Blacks in the US derive social psychological resources, including self-esteem, from close friends and family rather than social comparisons with broader (White) society, and this buffers Blacks from experiencing relatively poor mental health (Hughes and Demo 1989). However, more critical stances toward this often-repeated phenomenon is that most studies examining racial differences in mental health control for socioeconomic status, causing racial differences to disappear; however, given that race strongly patterns socioeconomic disparities in the US, this method conceals inequalities that are fundamentally about race as well as SES (Williams and Collins 1995). Troubled mental health may also manifest in substance abuse instead of depression for Blacks (Brown et al. 2013), and engaging in behavioral responses to stressors (such as drinking or smoking) may mitigate the association between stress and depression for Black young adults (Boardman and Alexander 2011). Another explanation offered is that Blacks have stronger family networks that buffer mental health problems, though recent research does not find empirical support for this theory (Mouzon 2013). Further, other studies

do not find that there is no difference between the mental health of Black and White Americans, finding instead that Blacks experience more distress and depressive symptoms compared to Whites (Turner and Avison 2003), due to discrimination and greater exposure to stress (Brown, Williams, Jackson, Neighbors, Torres, Sellers, and Brown 2000). Statistics from the 2009 National Health Interview Survey find that both Black and Hispanic adults in the US are more likely to have feelings of sadness (one measure of depressive symptoms) than White adults (Pleis, Ward, and Lucas 2010).

Gender

Adult women in the US are more likely than men to report feelings of sadness, worthlessness, hopelessness, and that everything is an effort, which are all depressive symptoms (Pleis et al. 2010). Despite the fact that women have more social support (which is found to mitigate the effect of stress on mental health), women have higher levels of depression (Denton et al. 2004; Umberson et al. 1996), whereas men are more likely to have problems with alcohol and drug abuse, even when accounting for the level of social support men and women have (Umberson, Chen, House, Hopkin, and Slaten 1996) and regardless of marital status (Simon 2002). Some researchers suggest that the higher levels of distress and depression among women are because women are more likely to report emotions in a survey context, especially depression. However, research indicates that even when response biases are accounted for, women experience distress more frequently than men (Mirowsky and Ross 1995). Women do not seem to realize the same mental health gains in terms of reduced risk of depression from marriage than men do, found one study; the author concluded that
this is because women are socialized to internalize stress and distress, putting others' feelings before their own (Elliott 2013). Several explanations are consistently offered and tested in the literature for the gender disparity in depression and distress. First, women experience greater exposure to stressful life conditions, such as being single parents and having lower income, and to stressful life events (Denton et al. 2004; Kessler and McLeod 1984). Second, women may have fewer social psychological resources to draw on when combating stress, such as levels of self-esteem and mastery (Denton et al. 2004). Third, gender socialization prompts women to internalize distress (resulting in depressive symptoms), whereas men are more likely to externalize (Rosenfield, Lennon, and White 2005; Rosenfield 2012). Fourth, in addition to being exposed to more stress in life, stress, particularly chronic stress, may predict women's mental health more strongly than men's (Denton et al. 2004). However, the ultimate conclusion is that regardless of how you look at it, women do indeed experience more psychological distress than men (measured using various scales similar to the CES-D) (Mirowsky and Ross 1995).

In this section, I have briefly summarized some of the major findings on racial, ethnic, and gender inequalities in mental health. I focus in particular on depressive symptoms as a manifestation of psychological distress. However, it is important to note that depressive symptoms are not the only measure of mental health, and research suggests that different groups are more or less likely to express psychological distress through internalizing behavior such as depression vs. externalizing behavior, such as antisocial behavior, anger, and substance abuse problems. One explanation for this is that self-salience – beliefs and values about the

importance of the self and others in social relations – may be responsible for these differences in expression, because groups are differently socialized about how to express negative emotions (Rosenfield 2012; Rosenfield, Lennon, and White 2005). For example, women are socialized to prioritize others' feelings over themselves (Denton et al. 2004), and expressions of depression may not be seen as socially acceptable in Black communities in particular (Alang 2016). Further, research indicates that Black girls and women may privilege the self more strongly than White girls and women, especially in higher socioeconomic status groups, and thus Black women have lower rates of depressive symptoms – which contradicts the idea that more structural disadvantage necessarily results in poor mental health (Rosenfield 2012). Thus, although depressive symptoms, measured using an abbreviated CES-D scale (discussed more below), represent the dependent variable in this study, it is important to note that excluding other behaviors, such as substance abuse, may not capture the full range of distress experienced by respondents.

Theoretical Framework: The Stress Process Model

Sociologists are in a unique position to address the issue of mental health. Unlike psychologists, we do not look first and foremost to the individual level to address mental health issues; unlike medical doctors, we are not primarily concerned with medical diagnoses and treatments (Aneshensel, Phelan, and Bierman 2013); and unlike psychiatrists and other clinical practitioners, we are not caught up in figuring out how to assign people into categories of "ill" or "healthy" (Mirowsky and Ross 2002). Instead, sociologists of mental health are invested in studying mental health in social context.

The study of stress and its impact on mental health has become a dominant paradigm in the sociology of mental health literature, and its insights drive this study as well as other studies on the effect of the racial composition of relationships on mental health (Miller 2014; Kroeger and Williams 2011). Since the late 1970s, this perspective has developed and flourished. It finds its home squarely in sociology due to its emphasis on a social causation model of distress, which is a major facet of the role that sociologists of mental health play (Wheaton 2001). The stress process model (SPM), engineered by Leonard Pearlin, has become an indispensable tool for the conceptualizing a social causation model of stress and distress (Pearlin 1989, 1999). The stress process model is grounded in the social structure and personality (SSP) perspective more broadly in that it examines the relationship between social structures and individual functioning (House 1981). The stress process model builds on SSP by identifying how social structure, stressors, and distress are related.

Status and inequality are connected to every component of the stress process, including the stressors people are exposed to, the resources they have to cope with stressors, and their experienced distress; this emphasis on status and inequality as superimposed on the stress process makes the model compelling to sociologists (Pearlin 1999). Stressors are the experiential circumstances that give rise to stress, such as stressful life events and chronic everyday stressors, like relationship conflict or experiences of discrimination. Moderating or mediating resources (the terminology has changed over time – see Pearlin 1989, 1999; Wheaton et al. 2013) reflect an individual's personal resources or resources embedded in small-scale social structures such as social relationships with friends and family members. Moderating resources

including coping, the behaviors that individuals employ on their own behalf to prevent or avoid stress; social support, including instrumental and emotional support from friends, family members, and the immediate community; and self-concept resources including self-esteem and mastery (Pearlin 1989).

Finally, distress is the ultimate outcome variable in the SPM. Distress is a defined as a subjective emotion that includes both depression and anxiety (Ross and Mirowsky 2003). Sociologists of mental health usually measure distress with indices rather than diagnostic categories (Mirowsky and Ross 2002), though mental disorder can be included in the SPM as well (Pearlin 1999).

Romantic Relationships and Mental Health: Theoretical Frameworks and Empirical Evidence

Social Causation Perspectives

Social relationships and social support enhance health, including mental health; substantial evidence has accumulated in the social sciences to make this connection (Thoits 2011; Umberson and Montez 2010). The finding that the unmarried are at greater risk of psychological distress, including depression, is consistent in the sociological and social psychological research (Mirowksy and Ross 1989; Thoits 1987). In studies of US adults, married people report fewer symptoms of depression (and substance abuse problems) than the unmarried (Simon 2002; Koball et al. 2010; Umberson and Montex 2010). As with the association between any health outcome and marital status, there is always the question of whether people with better health select into relationships, or if relationships cause better health (Lillard and Panis 1996; Waite and Gallagher 2000). In most sociological treatments of mental health,

including depression, mental health is treated as the dependent variable, which is supported by sociology's major theoretical framework's for understanding the social contexts of mental health, particularly the stress process model, which grew out of the social structure and personality framework. In this framework, the obvious flow of causality is from social context, structure, and social relationships to mental health outcomes (Pearlin 1989; Pearlin 1999; see also Milkie 2010).

There is ample evidence from the existing research in support of a social causation framework for understanding the association between depression and romantic relationships. Studies show that marital gain is beneficial for mental health whereas marital loss is associated with increased depressive symptoms when using longitudinal data: several studies have found that people who married between waves saw reductions in depressive symptoms in longitudinal data sources (Kim and McKenry 2002; Simon 2002; Simon and Marcussen 1999), whereas marital losses increase depressive symptoms over time (Simon 2002; Barrett 2000). Young adults who marry and stay married experience less depression than those who remain unmarried over time, including when accounting for prior depression (Horwitz et al. 1996). Marital biography matters as well: both the previously married and the never married experienced more depressive symptoms compared to the currently married (Hughes and Waite 2009). Another study found that among low income mothers, although exiting or entering marriage were not related to changes in psychological distress, those who were continuously married experienced less distress than those who were unmarried (Hill, Reid, and Reczek 2013). Marriage is also found to be

positively associated with mental health as measured by life satisfaction, even when controlling for pre-marriage life satisfaction (Grover and Helliwell 2014).

Researchers and theorists have offered multiple mechanisms by which social relationships, particularly romantic relationships, affect mental health. These explanations typically focus on social causation, that is, how relationships connect individuals to social structure and buffer stress. Drawing on identity theory in sociological social psychology (as posited by Sheldon Stryker), one explanation posits that social relationships, including marriage, involve engagement in social roles – which are the core of one's social identity. Roles attached to marriage provide meaning and purpose and thus enhance mental health (Musick and Bumpass 2012; Thoits 1987). Another explanation rests on social support: romantic partners provide emotional support as well as a social connection to broader networks of family and friends (Ross 1995; Umberson and Montez 2010). Additionally, social support is a moderating resource in the stress process model as described by Pearlin (1989, 1999): social support as provided by romantic relationships can provide both emotional and instrumental support to buffer chronic and event stressors (Thoits 2011).

Within the sociological literature on romantic relationships and depression, there is evidence that certain characteristics, such as race, gender, and the type of relationship may moderate the association between relationships and depression. Women are more likely to experience distress in the form of depression, as discussed above; thus, marital status and marital loss are more predictive of depression for women, whereas being unpartnered or losing a partner are more predictive of substance abuse for men (Simon 2002). Romantic relationships may be particularly

important for Blacks' mental health, who face unique stressors outside of the home, such as unfair treatment (Lincoln and Chae 2010). However, one hole in the literature on the association between romantic relationships and mental health for different racial and ethnic groups is including the race or ethnicity of respondents' partners. Most studies draw conclusions about how the romantic relationships impact mental health based only on one individual's race, or on the race of only one partner in a relationship; presumably these studies assume that respondents' partners are of the same race or ethnicity and draw conclusions based on this assumption, though this is not typically explicated in studies.

Most studies to date focus on the association of marriage and depression. However, not all relationships offer the same level of commitment, engagement in social roles, or stability, and thus type of romantic relationship has been found to moderate the association between relationships and depression. Some studies have looked at marriage compared to cohabitation in terms of their association with depression, finding that cohabitation may not provide the same mental health benefits as marriage (Lamb et al. 2003; Ross 1995). Compared to married people, cohabitors are more depressed (Brown 2000; Kim and McHenry 2002; Lamb et al. 2003) and among young adults specifically, cohabitation may even be detrimental to depression compared to being without a coresidential partner (Harris et al. 2010). Theorists conclude that cohabitation does not convey the same mental health benefits due to the lower level of commitment offered compared to marriage (Umberson and Montez 2010) and greater relationship instability among cohabitors (Brown 2000). Finally, very few studies have examined the association between being in a dating relationship

and depression in adulthood, possibly due to the lack of data sources that provide information about romantic partners that do not live in the same household. Research focusing on dating relationships and mental health typically examine this association in adolescence, finding that dating is linked to greater depression for adolescents (Greca and Harrison 2005; Miller 2014; Soller 2014), especially for adolescent girls (Joyner and Udry 2000). Explanations for this finding typically point to the stress and instability of adolescent relationships, drawing on social causation theories such as the stress process model to posit that adolescent relationships, representing potential emotional turmoil in a life stage already marked by self-concept development and greater depression risk (Rosenberg 1979; Arnett 2007), cause stress and thus depression (e.g. Miller 2014; Soller 2014).

Social Selection Perspectives

We know that selection on the basis of some health statuses – particularly self-rated health and obesity – affects the likelihood of entering new marriages, such that the healthier and the non-obese are more likely to marry (Fu and Goldman 1996; Schwartz 2013; Wilson 2002). To date, there is limited research on whether and how depression might affect selection into relationships. That is, are the depressed more or less likely to enter new romantic relationships than the non-depressed, and if so, what type of relationships with what types of partners? Given that other health statuses affect selection into relationship partners, it is not a stretch to conclude that depression may negatively impact one's likelihood of entering a romantic relationship (Mastekasaa 1992). Among studies that do consider this research question, mixed findings have been reported. Among Norwegian unmarried adults, greater

psychological well-being predicted entry into marriage (Mastekasaa 1992). One study examining gender differences in the associations of depression and marriage using a longitudinal data source did not find any support for selection into marriage entry or marital loss among men or women (Simon 2002). Another study found that among adults aged 18-35 interviewed in the late 1980s and early 1990s, depression did not affect selection into marriage and cohabitation, but entry into marriage (not cohabitation) was associated with decreased depression, providing better support for a social causation theory of marriage and depression (Lamb, Lee, and DeMaris 2003). Another study specifically examined whether selection into marriage compared to cohabitation was due to the greater likelihood of depressed people to select into cohabitation rather than marriage, finding that selection did not account for cohabitors' greater depression compared to depression among married people (Brown 2000).

Several studies have shown that selection effects pertaining to depression may be at work for marital dissolution. One study found that among Norwegian adults, prior depression predicted divorce over a two to four year period, though the author acknowledged that marital problems within the marriage could have caused the depression in the first place (Mastekasaa 1994), and another study of US adults did not find evidence of selection effects of depression on divorce (Booth and Amato 1991). Overall, there is limited evidence that the association between depression and marriage and cohabitation may be partly attributed to selection processes, though further research is needed.

Interracial Relationships and Mental Health

As discussed above, the predominant paradigm in the sociological study of romantic relationships and mental health focuses on how romantic relationships buffer stressors that individuals experience, thus leading to improved mental health (Thoits 2011). On the other hand, romantic relationships themselves can be a source of stressors, leading to psychological distress. High stress relationships actually create more distress than no relationship at all (Umberson et al. 1996).

There is reason to believe that cross-race or cross-ethnicity relationships may be more stressful than endogamous romantic relationships, leading to increased depressive symptoms. First, despite the fact that intermarriage, especially between Whites and Blacks, has increased threefold since the early 1980s (Qian and Lichter 2011), interracial couples are still subject to social disapproval and sanctions (Kalmijn 1998) – especially when people think of their own relationships or family members' relationships, rather than relationships in general. Data from the 2013 Gallup poll show that 96% of Blacks and 84% of Whites in the US say they approve of marriage between Blacks and Whites, up from 4% of Americans in 1958 (Newport 2013). However, there is a difference between what people approve of for others compared to for themselves. Further, the social acceptability of interracial relationships and their commonness varies by the type of relationship and by gender and race.

One study found that Whites are more likely to be willing to date interracially (defined as dating either an African American or an Asian American) than to marry interracially, and that White women were particularly unwilling to date or marry

interracially in their own lives, though they may approve of these relationships for others (Herman and Campbell 2012). This may be because White women anticipate more disapproval for dating nonwhite partners than White men do, especially from their families (Miller et al. 2004). The same study also found much higher rates of rejecting interracial dating and marriage than found by Gallup poll numbers: 29% of White respondents to the 2008 Cooperative Congressional Election Study report that they reject dating and marriage relationships with Blacks and Asians (Herman and Campbell 2012). Research indicates that disapproval of interracial unions continues to exist especially among families and in friendship networks. Nonwhite men involved with White women report particularly high levels of disapproval from their partners' families (Miller et al. 2004). Another study, investigating cross-race relationships and perceived parental attitudes among high school students, found that adolescents reported that their parents were more likely to disapprove of interracial dating relationships compared to friendships, and fear of parental disapproval prevented them from bringing cross-race partners home to meet family members; participants also reported that parents expressed direct messages that cross-race dating is wrong (Edmonds and Killen 2009).

Scholars of interracial relationships note that dating might be less stigmatized because the criteria for selection into these less-serious relationships is less stringent compared to marriage (Blackwell and Lichter 2000); as Yancey puts it, "On who dates across his/her race can be seen as 'sowing wild oats' rather than making a permanent relationship with family and racial identity ramifications" (2007:915). This may especially be the case in emerging and young adulthood, the time in which

young people are transitioning from dependence on family and involvement in school to greater independence; this time period is marked by role exploration, including exploring different types of romantic relationships and determining what type of partner one might want for a long term, committed relationship (Arnett 2000, 2007). Thus, interracial dating may be even more normative in these formative years and therefore more socially acceptable.

Indeed, the prevalence of interracial dating reflects the finding that it is more socially acceptable, as it is more common than interracial marriage (Fujino 1997), and Yancey (2002) points out that it is a mistake to assume that people who are willing to interracially date are also willing to interracially marry. Marriage tends to be highly homogamous by race (Blackwell and Lichter 2000). However, among contemporary young adults, interracial dating has become more common (Joyner and Kao 2005; Wang et al. 2006), but interracial relationships are less likely than endogamous ones to progress to cohabitation or marriage (Kroeger D'Souza 2010). Further, interracial dating patterns and preferences vary by gender and race. White men are more likely to have interracially dated than White women (Yancey 2002), but White men are less likely to be willing to date Black partners compared to White women. White men tend to prefer interracial relationships are more socially acceptable for men.

The research on interracial cohabitation indicates that it may fall somewhere between dating and marriage in terms of prevalence: interracial relationships are overrepresented among cohabiters (Qian and Lichter 2011). However, there is conflicting evidence about racial homogamy in cohabitation compared to marriage in

other studies: One study found that racial endogamy is highest in marriage compared to cohabitation (Blackwell and Lichter 2000), but another found that racial endogamy is actually highest for White cohabiting couples specifically compared to both dating and marriage relationships (Blackwell and Lichter 2004).

Overall, the although the research shows clear evidence that social disapproval and stigma continue to surround interracial relationships, especially relationships between Blacks and Whites, the evidence gives contradictory insight into who is most likely to disapprove of interracial relationships. Some studies find that White women are most disapproving of interracial relationships (Mills and Daly 1995; Herman and Campbell 2012), and are also the most likely to draw a clear boundary between what they consider acceptable for others to do compared to themselves. Specifically, Herman and Campbell (2012) find that although White men and women express the believe that intermarriage is okay in general, White women are less likely than White men to say they themselves would consider interracially marrying. On the other hand, one study of college students at both historically Black universities and predominantly White universities concluded that Black college students are most disapproving of interracial relationships (Field, Kimuna, and Straus 2013), whereas another found that Black men and White women are most accepting of interracial relationships (Schoepflin 2009). These differences in findings may be due to different populations surveyed (general population compared to college students) and the year the study was conducted (we should expect attitudes to shift somewhat from a 1995 study to a 2013 student, for example). Further, Black women may be especially concerned about the implications of interracial dating: Black men

dating exogamously represents, for Black women, the fact that society devalues Blacks in general, to the point that Black men buy into the devaluation of Black women and seek partners of higher status racial groups (Childs 2005). These patterns may give insight into whose mental health could be most strongly adversely affected by involvement in an interracial relationship – if White women are more accepting of interracial relationships, for example, they might feel less stress or stigma compared to other groups if in such a relationship.

For Whites specifically, interracial relationships create awareness of racism in society that was not present before. Clearly, this is one of the benefits of less social distance between Whites and racial and ethnic minorities; however, part of this awareness is due to the fact that Whites in interracial relationships, especially marriages with Blacks, are more likely than Whites in relationships with Hispanics or Asians to experience racial discrimination, such as racial profiling by police, or racism directed at Black-White biracial children, firsthand (Yancey 2007). This finding reflects both the tenacity and severity of racism that Blacks experience compared to other racial minorities, as well as the particularly harsh stigma that Black-White relationships carry.

The fact that interracial and interethnic relationships are more prone to instability may be evidence that indeed, these relationships are more stressful than endogamous relationships. Among US adults in general, compared to endogamous White marriages, marriages between White women and Black men and White women and Asian men are more likely to end in divorce (Bratter and King 2008). A different study, examining US adults in the SIPP, also found that in general, even when

controlling for couple characteristics, interracial marriages among Blacks, Whites, Hispanics, and Asians were more likely than endogamous relationships to end in divorce, and Black husband/White wife relationships were particularly unstable (Zhang and Van Hook 2009), echoing Bratter and King's (2008) findings. However, the authors concluded that this pattern is largely attributable to racial and ethnic group differences in divorce rates rather than something about interracial marriages specifically (Zhang and Van Hook 2009). Interracial unions are not only more unstable among married adults in the general US population: Among participants in the Add Health, interracial dating relationships tend to be shorter in duration than endogamous relationships among emerging adults (Kroeger D'Souza 2010), and among adolescents, teens who date interracially are more likely to conceal their relationships from family and friends (Wang, Kao, and Joyner 2006). There is also mixed evidence that interracial relationships are characterized by lower relationship satisfaction, which could detract from the relationship's stress-buffering benefits (as asserted by a stress process model perspective of romantic relationships). In general, experiencing stigma on the basis of race or gender is linked to lower relationship quality, as tested in psychological experiments (Doyle and Molix 2014); that is, when an individual's stigmatized identity is made salient, the individual feels less satisfaction with their relationship. One study examining young adults at Wave 4 of the Add health found that overall, nonblack respondents with a Black partner reported less relationship satisfaction that nonblack respondents with a nonblack partner (Kroeger and Williams 2011) (however, another recent study contradicts these results, finding no differences in relationship quality or attachment between interracial and

monoracial couples (Troy, Lewis-Smith, and Laurenceau 2006)). At the extreme end of the spectrum, a few studies have found that interracial couples are more likely to report interpersonal violence than monoracial couples (especially monoracial White couples), indicating that these relationships might suffer from higher levels of conflict as well as instability and lower relationship satisfaction (Fusco 2010; Martin et al. 2013).

Overall, the research suggests that there are multiple pathways by which interracial and interethnic relationships might be more inherently stressful than endogamous relationships (due to social disapproval, experiences of racism, and instability), or the stress-buffering benefits of interracial romantic relationships may be less potent than in endogamous relationships due to lower relationship satisfaction. Indeed, the existing research on interracial relationships and mental health offers evidence that interracial relationships are, in fact, more stressful and thus associated with worse mental health outcomes. Bratter and Eschbach (2006), marking the first study that directly examined the psychological distress experienced by couples of different racial and ethnic compositions (measured using the K-6 psychological distress scale, similar to the CES-D scale), found using data from the 1997-2001 National Health Interview Survey that intermarried White women, especially those with Black husbands, were at elevated risk for psychological distress, and also found that socioeconomic disadvantage of these women partly explained the association. Further, Hispanics married to other nonwhite races/ethnicities (Blacks, Asians, and Native Americans) were also at risk for psychological distress, though socioeconomic status did not explain that pattern. Second, in a study using data from young

adulthood as captured by Wave 4 of the Add Health, Kroeger and Williams (2011) examined the effect of having a Black vs. nonblack partner on depressive symptoms among nonblack respondents only. They found that having a Black partner increased depressive symptoms. Also, they concluded that relationship satisfaction partially mediated the association between partner race and depressive symptoms such that respondents with Black partners had lower relationship satisfaction than respondents with nonblack partners, and including relationship satisfaction in regression models predicting depressive symptoms partially decreased the effect of having a Black partner on depressive symptoms. The authors thus concluded that relationships with Black partners are more stressful for nonblacks than relationships with nonblack partners (of any other race/ethnicity), and lowered relationship satisfaction is one mechanism through which this fact manifests (Kroeger and Williams 2011). Finally, a third study explored the effect of being an interracial "dater" in adolescence on depressive symptoms using Wave 2 from the Add Health. The literature generally points to the fact that adolescent dating is detrimental to adolescents' mental health due to its tumultuous nature (Soller 2014), and Miller (2014) expanded on this to posit that interracial dating in adolescence would be extra stressful and thus detrimental to mental health. Indeed, teens who had had one or more interracial relationships in adolescence reported more depressive symptoms at Wave 2 than those who had not.

These three studies provide a strong foundation from which to continue to investigate the question of whether and how couple racial composition affects mental health. The results from these studies indicate that indeed, romantic relationships

likely bring varying levels of stress and accompanying distress based on their composition. However, these studies have left several crucial gaps that I seek to fill with this study. First, studies of the association between interracial relationships and depression have not specifically focused in on how relationship type might moderate the association, despite compelling reasons to believe this might be the case, as discussed above. Further, all of the studies discussed here on this association have assumed a causal pathway from being exogamously partnered to mental health: that is, exogamous relationships cause stress or are less efficacious at buffering stress, and are more prone to dissolution and lower relationship satisfaction, and thus affect mental health. However, much of the literature on interracial relationships in general focuses on how people come to be interracially partnered, given the relative rarity of these relationships and their lower likelihood of advancing to marriage (Kroeger D'Souza 2010; Qian and Lichter 2011). Typically, theory and research on selection into interracial partnerships has focused on socioeconomic status, particularly education (e.g., Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006), but it stands to reason that the robust association seen between interracial partnerships and depression could also be a function of selection processes.

Research Questions

Overall, the literature reviewed here shows that despite the fact that marital status and race/ethnicity are well-established bases of inequalities in mental health, and the fact that the racial composition of couples has been shifting toward greater diversity in the past several decades, more research is needed regarding the link between relationship racial composition and depression. Several gaps stand out in the current literature.

First, prior studies that have established that there is a positive association between being in an interracial or interethnic relationships and depression or psychological distress are all cross-sectional in nature⁹, and therefore unable to make inferences about the direction of causality, despite theoretical debates in the literature on health and relationships that indicate that direction of causality is an important open question (e.g., Lillard and Panis 1996). Second, prior studies have either only examined one type of romantic relationship (e.g., only marriage or only dating [Bratter and Eschbach 2006 and Miller 2014, respectively]), or have not considered whether relationship type moderates the association between partner race and depression. Finally, there is only one prior study that specifically investigates the association between exogamous relationships and depression in young adulthood, omitting early young adulthood (Kroeger and Williams 2011). The present study combines two waves of data that represent White young adults aged 19-32, a period during which romantic relationships are explored and take on increasing commitment, and a period during which depression levels fluctuate as individuals mature (Arnett 2000; 2007).

To address these gaps, I will answer the following research questions.

1. What is the association between the racial composition of married, cohabiting, and dating relationships and depression for White young adults?

⁹ Kroeger and Williams (2011) use two waves of data from the Add Health, but the analysis remains cross-sectional. They look at the cross-sectional association between having a Black partner and depression in Wave 4 of Add Health, using a lagged dependent variable model specification that treats Wave 1 depression as a control variable. This treatment does not account for any change in depression over time, and lagged dependent variables are found to suppress or completely alter the association of the primary independent and dependent variable, or bias the coefficients of explanatory variables if residual autocorrelation occurs (Achen 2000; Keele and Kelly 2006).

Prior cross-sectional research focusing on adolescence and young adulthood find that respondents in interracial relationships report more depressive symptoms (Kroeger and Williams 2011, Miller 2014). Thus I hypothesize reporting a current romantic relationship with a partner of a different race or ethnicity will be associated with more depressive symptoms compared to reporting a current romantic relationship with a partner of the same race or ethnicity for White young adults in current relationships from the period of 2001 to 2008.

- 2. What is the evidence for selection vs. causation processes in the association between the racial/ethnic composition of married, cohabiting, and dating relationships and depression in young adulthood?
 - a. Does depression prior to entering a new dating, married, or cohabiting relationship affect the likelihood of partnering with a same- or different-race/ethnicity partner for White young adults?
 - b. Does the racial composition of marriage, cohabiting, and dating relationships affect depression trajectories over time for White young adults who are continuously partnered with exogamous partners?

Research question 2 sets up competing hypotheses to explain any association between partner race/ethnicity and depression. Although prior research has looked solely to explanations of the association between exogamous relationships and depression that focus on stigma and stress associated with these relationships, it is also possible that any association can be attributed to selection processes. A status exchange theory of interracial and interethnic relationships suggests that racial minorities trade desirable traits, such as education or, as I suggest in this dissertation,

health attributes, for White partners; conversely, White partners with less desirable health attributes may be more likely to partner with racial and ethnic minorities. I refer to this as the *selection hypothesis*. On the other hand, evidence for increasing depression over time for Whites in long term relationships with exogamous partners would provide stronger support for a stress process theory of interracial and interethnic relationships, suggesting that greater stress and stigma leads to declines in mental health. I refer to this as the *stress hypothesis*.

3. Does the association between partner race/ethnicity and depression differ by relationship type for White young adults? That is, does having an exogamous dating partner compared to exogamous marriage or marriage-like relationship moderate the association between partner race/ethnicity and depression?

With research question 3, I test two competing hypotheses. On the one hand, the empirical literature on public opinion and interracial relationships suggests that interracial marriages are subject to greater social disapproval than interracial dating (Herman and Campbell 2012). Further, interracial dating relationships that do not progress to marriage or cohabitation are more common, especially among young adults (Joyner and Kao 2005). Because young adulthood, particularly early young adulthood (also called "emerging adulthood"), is characterized by normative exploration in romantic relationships as emerging adults try to figure out what type of partner they would want in the long term (Arnett 2000), it may be the case that interracial dating (compared to marriage or cohabitation) is less stressful and stigmatized because it is seen as normal exploration. Thus, interracial dating may be more normative among young adulthoods than more committed, marriage-like

relationships. These patterns suggest that exogamous dating relationships, being more common and socially acceptable, may also be less prone to stress than more committed cohabiting and marriage relationships, thus resulting in less depression. I refer to this as the *social acceptability hypothesis*, that more acceptable interracial dating relationships are less detrimental to depression levels compared to more committed relationships. Conversely, the theory on the link between marriage and health suggests that marriage and cohabitation are uniquely able to protect health due to the greater commitment, stability, and shared resources experienced in these types of relationships; thus, a competing hypothesis would be that exogamous marriage and cohabitations are better able to protect mental health and buffer stress compared to dating relationships, resulting in a smaller penalty for the mental health of Whites who partner exogamously. I refer to this as the *commitment hypothesis*.

4. Does the association between partner race/ethnicity and depression differ by gender for White young adults?

Finally, with research question 4, I examine whether the association of depression and partner race is moderated by gender. In general, research indicates that women are more likely to experience emotional distress and express distress in the form of depression (Mirowsky and Ross 1995; Simon 2002), and women are more vulnerable to experiencing mental distress as the result of stressful events (Kessler and McLeod 1984). Prior research has found that White women with Black spouses are particularly likely to report psychological distress, whereas White men with interracial spouses in general do not report elevated distress (Bratter and Eschbach

2006). Thus I hypothesize that White women will be more likely than White men to experience depression associated with having a nonwhite partner as the result of greater vulnerability to mental health consequences of the stress of interracial relationships, and greater likelihood of expressing that distress in the form of depression.

Data and Methods

Data

To examine the association between partner race/ethnicity and depression among Whites in the U.S. who were enrolled in middle and high school in the mid-1990s, I use data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health), with a focus on depressive symptoms in waves 3 and 4. Add Health is a nationally representative, longitudinal study of adolescents who were enrolled in 7th through 12th grade in the 1994-5 school year (Chen and Chantala 2014; Harris 2013). Please reference Chapter Three, "Data" section, of this dissertation for more details on the population represented by Add Health and how the survey was designed and administered.

The Add Health has several advantages as a data source for answering the research questions presented above. First, the Add Health tracks relationships beyond marriage and cohabitation to include all current relationships, including dating relationships. At Waves 3 and 4, respondents were asked about their current romantic partners regardless of marriage or cohabitation status. This is key for the present study, given the theoretical reasons to believe that interracial dating relationships may

be more or less problematic for mental health compared to more committed relationships. Second, the Add Health is longitudinal and has measured the dependent variable, depressive symptoms, at all four waves uniformly, allowing for the same measure to be used across time. I use depression and partner race at both Waves 3 and 4, allowing for an examination of selection into relationships on the basis of depression, and change in depression over time among young adults who are partnered with the same partner over time. This represents a more conservative test of the effect of partner race on depression compared to prior studies, including those that used Add Health data. Third, Add Health surveys contemporary young adults, as described in greater depth in Chapter Three of this dissertation. In the context of increasing rates of interracial partnering, especially between Blacks and Whites (Qian and Lichter 2011), it is important to know whether and how interracial and interethnic relationships affect mental health outcomes in the contemporary social context.

Analytic Sample

The analytic sample for this study is drawn from Wave 3 and Wave 4 in-home sample respondents who reported being in a current marriage, cohabiting, or dating relationship at the time of the interviews in 2001 (W3) and 2008 (W4). Because of sample size restrictions discussed in greater depth in Chapter Three of this dissertation, I restrict the analytic sample only to White men and women who report having Hispanic, Black, Asian, and White partners (see Appendix Table 4.1 for the breakdown of sample size for each partnership racial and ethnic combination).

Based on this sample of only White men and women in current relationships at Waves 3 and 4, I constructed three data sets for three steps of the analysis. The first

of these three data sets is a person-wave data set for the *cross-sectional* analysis. This data set pools White respondents in current relationships at Wave 3 and Wave 4. The analytic sample consists of those respondents in opposite-sex relationships only, who identify as White and identify their partners as White, Black, Hispanic, or Asian and who are not missing data on any analysis variables (skin tone measured at Wave 3, being multiracial at Wave 1, household composition variables, education level, age, and depressive symptoms reported at wave). The resulting sample consists of 3,987 White male and 5,280 White female person-wave observations.

Second, I constructed a person-wave data set for the *selection* analysis that reflects White men and women who report current relationships with new partners since prior observation. For details on how this subsample was constructed, please see Chapter Three, "Analytic Sample" section of this dissertation. This sample consists of 3,126 White male and 3,800 White female person-wave observations. In all analyses using the cross-sectional and selection samples, statistical tests and standard errors are adjusted for clustering within individual.

Third, I constructed a person-level data set for the *depression change* analysis that represents White men and women who report current relationships with a partner with the same race and ethnicity and age across Waves 3 and 4, here interpreted to be the same partner. This process of defining the same-partner sample for the change analysis is described in greater detail in Chapter Three of this dissertation. This sample consists of 685 White men and 1,130 White women.

Key Variables

Depression. This study uses a nine-item version of the Center for Epidemiological

Studies depression scale (CES-D). The original CES-D scale has 20 items; each item asks for the frequency at which the respondent experienced a depressive symptom in the past seven days (ranging from 0, "never or rarely," to 3, "most of the time or all of the time"). Thus the original scale is scored out of 60 points. The abbreviated version asked across all four waves of the Add Health has nine items. Cronbach's alpha for the nine-item scale at all four waves is .78 or higher. Respondents were asked how often they experienced the following: you were bothered by things that usually don't bother you; you could not shake off the blues, even with help from your family and your friends; you felt that you were just as good as other people (reverse); you had trouble keeping your mind on what you were doing; you were sad; you felt that people disliked you.

The sociology of mental health typically argues for avoiding diagnostic categories for depression, as are used in clinical settings. The rationale for this is that using diagnostic categories conceals or ignores that people can experience distress in their daily lives regardless of meeting diagnostic criteria. Sociologists argue for assessing the full range of psychological distress symptoms, not just the extremes that justify clinical attention; further, using cutoff points can cause researchers to lose information if someone is not deemed "mentally ill" (Mirowsky and Ross 2002). Additionally, a social constructionist perspective to mental health, one of the sociology of mental health's major theoretical frameworks, asserts that diagnostic categories are arbitrary social constructions (Aneshensel et al. 2013; Scheff 1970).

However, responses to the CES-D scale are often right-skewed and therefore

may not be appropriate for all analyses. Some studies have handled this skewness by assigning diagnostic cutoffs; this approach is most commonly taken in the depression literature outside of sociology (e.g., Radloff 1991; Weissman et al. 1977). Another way to adjust for the non-normal distribution of depression as measured by the CES-D scale is to use the log transformation of the variable, as done by some researchers (e.g., Achat et al. 2000; Cole et al. 2000; Springer et al. 2007). Transforming the depression variable used here follows statisticians' recommendations to generally log-transform continuous positive data measured on an interval scale (Keene 1995). I thus use a log-transformed depression scale, based off of the nine items that were asked consistently across all waves, in all analyses.

Race/ethnicity. In my coding of race, I account for both racial and ethnic identification, as Hispanic ethnicity has been found to be an important facet of racial identity (Vaquera and Kao 2006). Race and ethnicity were asked at waves one and three. I use responses from wave one to construct a race variable, using self-identified race in the case of respondents who reported more than one racial category, as described in Chapter Three of this dissertation. Respondents who indicated they are of Hispanic origin were coded as Hispanic. For the present study, I restrict respondent race to Whites only, including multiracial Whites who indicated that they most identify as White.

Partner race/ethnicity. Partner race and ethnicity was reported by the Add health respondent. Respondents were asked whether their partner was of Hispanic origin, and asked to select one racial category (Black, Asian, Native American, or White) for their partner. For this study, I restrict partner race to non-Hispanic White, Black,

Asian, and Hispanic. In the cross-sectional analysis, I used both a four-category partner race variable as well as a binary White/nonwhite specification, in which I combined Hispanics, Blacks, and Asians into the nonwhite category (note that this means that Hispanic partners who were reported as White were coded as nonwhite for the analysis). More details on how different partner race variable specifications were used are given below.

Control Variables. Gender is coded dichotomous (0=male, 1=female) and was asked at each wave. Age is a continuous variable asked at each wave (age range at wave 3) was 18-26, age range at wave 4 was 24-32). Union type is a three-category variable to capture whether the respondent is or has been in a marriage, cohabiting, or dating relationship with their current partner. I code relationship type as "married" if the respondent is or was ever married to the partner, "cohabitation" if the respondent currently or previously cohabited with their partner but was never married to the partner, and "dating" if the respondent did not report ever marrying or cohabiting with the partner. *Educational attainment* is coded as a four-category variable. Educational attainment is correlated both with lower risk of depression (Kessler and Cleary 1980; Schnittker and McLeod 2005; Thoits 2010) and also with a greater likelihood of dating across race (Miyawaki 2015; Qian and Lichter 2007). Multiracial identifies respondents who identify with more than one race at Wave 1. Biological children measures whether or not the respondent lives with one or more of their own biological children. Living arrangements measures whether the respondent reports living in their parents' home, their "own place," or another living arrangement (not specified by Add Health). Together, these household composition variables capture a

dimension of where in the transition from being dependent on parents to being more independent a young adult is, which may have an impact on how influential a person's partner is for his or her mental health. *Skin tone* was rated by the interviewer at Wave 3, and higher values indicate lighter skin tone. *Foreign born* is coded 0 for US-born and 1 for born outside of the US. Relationship duration measured in years. For more details on the specification of these variables, please see Chapter Three, "Key Variables" in this dissertation.

Because of the complex, multilevel sampling design of the Add Health (described in Chapter Three of this dissertation), I use sample weights, school cluters, and region (a poststratification variable) with the *depression change* sample, which represents a person-level data set (Chen and Chantala 2014). Because the samples for the cross-sectional and selection analyses consist of person-wave observations, I use individual-level clustering to adjust standard errors.

Data Analysis

The analysis starts with a *cross-sectional* ordinary least squares regression model estimating the multivariate association between log-transformed depression and partner race/ethnicity (Hispanic, Black, or Asian). I then estimate models whose respective purposes are: (1) to predict the likelihood of partnering with a White, Black, Hispanic, or Asian partner on the basis of prior log-transformed depression in a *selection model*; and (2) to estimate the causal effect of partner's race/ethnicity on depression change over time in a *depression-change* model. Because the *cross-sectional* and *depression-change* models are most similar in their statistical form and outcome variables, I present them first, though I conduct my analyses and describe

their results in the above order. Note that because of overlap in the model specification between this chapter and the models described for Chapter Three, I reference Chapter Three's data analysis when applicable.

Cross-sectional Model

The first step of the analysis is the *cross-sectional model*, to establish whether there is a statistically significant and substantively significant association between partner race and depressive symptoms (in its log-transformed form) for Whites. Formally, I denote depressive symptoms, a continuous, log-transformed variable, by D. In the cross-sectional model, depressive symptoms at time t (defined as Waves 3 and 4) is a function of a main explanatory variable of partnership race/ethnicity P at wave t, P_t , and additional explanatory variables specified in vector Z_t . Vector Z_t consists of skin tone, multiracial identification, relationship type (cohabiting or dating, with reference category married), living arrangement, having biological children in the household, education level, and age. Treating the log-transformed scale variable D_t as a continuous variable, $E[D_t|P_t, Z_t]$ is estimated by OLS regression, representing the association as a linear function F as follows:

$$E[D_t|P_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(1)

This model was estimated separately for White men and women. Additionally, this model was estimated using two different specifications of partner race (P_t) to see whether the effects of partner race/ethnicity on depression varied across specific partner racial and ethnic minority groups, or whether having a nonwhite partner of any type would affect depression. Prior research with the Add Health specifically has shown that having a Black partner is cross-sectionally associated with depression for non-Blacks (including Whites and other non-Black racial minorities) (Kroeger and Williams 2011), which would suggest that using a multi-category partner race variable that allows for the effects of a Black partner to come out clearly would be preferable. However, the theoretical framework typically used in studies of the association of mental health and interracial partnering suggests that interracial relationships in general cause stress, which suggests that having a nonwhite partner of any racial or ethnic background would be associated with greater depression for Whites. The status exchange theoretical framework would also align with a White/nonwhite partner race specification, as this framework typically treats White as the racial category that is high status, compared to nonwhite races (Kalmijn 2010). Model 1 for men and women treats partner race as a binary White/nonwhite variable. Model 2 for men and women treats race as a four category variable, with White as the reference category. I compared the fit of the White models with alternate partner race/ethnicity coding using Akaike's information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criterion (BIC) statistics, and used Wald tests to see whether coefficients for Hispanic, Black, and Asian partners differed from each other. Next, I estimated the same models for White men and women, but with the sample split into two relationship type categories: married and cohabiting pooled together, compared to dating. I separated the groups in this way because prior research on attitudes toward interracial relationships usually focuses on dating compared to marriage, and given that cohabitation most resembles marriage in its commitment and sharing of resources, I consider it to be a marriage-like relationship and thus group it with

marriage. Again, I estimated models for men and women using both a White/nonwhite partner race and four-category partner race predictor variable and used Wald tests to test the difference between partner race coefficients. I also separately estimated a cross-sectional model with relationship types pooled, with the addition of an interaction effect between relationship type and partner race, to test whether or not the effect of partner race on depression statistically significantly differs between men and women in dating compared to marriage and cohabitation relationships.¹⁰

For this *cross-sectional* model analysis, I used the person-wave dataset of all individuals reporting current relationships at waves 3 and 4. Because the same individual frequently contributes more than one wave of depression while partnered, "clustering" of observations within individuals is adjusted for in estimating the standard errors.

Depression Change Model

The next step of the analysis is the depression change model. The outcome variable is depressive symptoms measured at Wave 4, specified as a log-transformed continuous scale variable. The main explanatory variable is partner race/ethnicity for Whites among those who are partnered with the "same" partner at both waves 3 and 4. The model includes additional explanatory variables skin tone, multiracial identity, relationship type, relationship duration, living arrangement, biological children in the

¹⁰ For all models in this study, I additionally estimated models with gender interactions on all covariates in order to ascertain whether or not the effect of each predictor variable depression differed by gender. However, there were no statistically significant gender interaction effects in any model, indicating that the effects of partner race/ethnicity on depression and vice versa do not differ by gender. I do not discuss these results in detail in this dissertation.

household, education level, and age.. However, as described in Chapter Three of this dissertation, the objective of the depression change model is different than for the cross-sectional model, and thus focuses on only White men and women in long term relationships with partners of the same race/ethnicity and age. Restricting the analysis to only those White young adults who are in relationships with partners assumed to be the same person across waves is especially important when analyzing the effect of partner race/ethnicity on depression, because interracial relationships are more prone to dissolution than endogamous relationships (Joyner and Kao 2005; Kroeger-D'Souza 2010), suggesting that some of the previous effects of interracial relationships on depression found in primarily cross-sectional analyses could be due to relationship instability specifically. Miller (2014) explicitly examined whether experiencing a breakup moderated the effect of dating relationship racial composition on depression and found that same-race daters were more adversely affected in terms of depression than interracial daters. Overall, these findings suggest that in order to test the potential causal impact of interracial relationships on depression, examining individuals in same relationships over time is a preferred approach. For this group, the depression change model predicts depression at Wave 4 using predictors at the prior wave, including partner race/ethnicity and depression. I follow again what Allison (1990) refers to as the regressor-variable method, described in greater detail in both Chapters Two and Three of this dissertation. Note that this approach is distinct from the lagged dependent variable approach to including prior measurement of the dependent variable in models, as used by Kroeger and Williams (2011) in their examination of having a Black partners and depression using Add Health data

primarily from Wave 4. Lagged dependent variable models are typically used to account for selection into the condition specified by the primary independent variable. However, this approach may bias the coefficients in the model downward, or even cause the signs to change, and is not always theoretically defensible, as shown by, for example, Achen (2000) and Keele and Kelly (2006). Further, I separately examine selection (described below), focusing in on selection as a process in its own right that should be tested.

The period of time over which depression change is measured is approximately seven years, from approximately 2001 to 2008. Because the waves are a full seven years apart, which is a long time period to examine how stress might be expressed in the form of depression specifically, and it is less likely that individuals in dating relationships are in fact still dating the same partner seven years later, I restrict the change analysis to only those White men and women who are in cohabiting and marriage relationships in Wave 4 (retaining daters, cohabitors, and married individuals at Wave 3). This relationships thus also represent a higher level of commitment compared ot long term dating relationships, which is considered to be the key characteristic of relationships in terms of their ability to provide mental health benefits (Ross 1995; Umberson and Montez 2010). See Appendix Table 4.2 for the matrix of relationship type from Wave 3 to 4. The equation used to estimate the effect of partner race on depression change for Whites is as follows:

$$E[D_{t+1}|P_t, D_t, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 P_t + \beta_2 D_t + \beta_3 Z_t)$$
(2)

In this equation, the estimated value of depression (logged) at time t+1 (wave 4) is a linear function of partner race at time t (wave 3), depression at time t

(measured continuously and logged), and vector Z, which represents the variables described above measured at time t (wave 3). I control for relationship type at Wave 3, including dating relationships.

I estimated the above equation (2) as a linear regression model. I estimated this equation separately for White men and women, and additionally estimated the models using both a binary White/nonwhite predictor partner race variable, and a four-category partner race variable (not all results are presented - see below). I also estimated a second model which adds an interaction effect between dating at Wave 3 and partner race at Wave 3, to determine whether depression change over time is moderated by the type of relationship at Wave 3. This provides a test of the *commitment* versus *social acceptability* hypotheses described above, in that interracial dating in emerging adulthood may be more socially acceptable than early marriage or cohabitation (Harris et al. 2010), especially across racial or ethnic lines. These models are estimated from person-level Add Health data set of respondents who were observed with partners of consistent age, gender, and race/ethnicity from waves 3 to 4 (the "same partner" sample). To account for Add Health's complex sampling design, I use school-based clusters and post-stratification region strata to adjust standard errors.

Selection Model

The "selection model" is designed to investigate to what extent the associations between partner race and being depressed established in the "cross-sectional model" might be attributed to selection processes whereby individuals select into endogamous vs. exogamous relationships on the basis of depressive symptoms reported before the start of the relationship. This represents an improvement over

prior cross-sectional treatments of the association between partner race and depression that have used a lagged dependent variable to "control" for selection processes, rather than examining them directly (Kroeger and Williams 2011). To examine the evidence for selection processes, I first determined which relationships formed between wave 2 and 3, and wave 3 and 4, respectively, formally denoted above as times t (waves 3 and 4) and t-1 (waves 2 and 3). I then predict partner race of a new cohabiting, dating, or married partner at wave 3 and 4 (time t) by depression, measured as a continuous, log-transformed scale, approximately seven years prior at waves 1 and 3 (time t-1). Because Wave 2 represents a smaller sample size than Wave 1 (because Wave 2), I use Wave 1 depression to predict partner race and ethnicity at Wave 3. Note again that the sample used for the selection model pools waves 3 and 4, and thus some individuals who were observed with new partners at both waves 3 and 4 contribute two person-wave observations.

Consider the following BMI selection model into endogamous vs. exogamous relationships for Whites:

$$E[P_t|D_{t-1}, Z_t] = F(\beta_0 + \beta_1 D_{t-1} + \beta_2 Z_t)$$
(3)

In the above model, the expected value of partner race at time t in a newly formed married, dating, or cohabiting partnership is a function of depression measured at time t - I and characteristics Z_t , which represents being multiracial, relationship type, relationship duration, living arrangement, biological children in the
household, education, and age measured at time t.¹¹ Again, I used two distinct specifications of partner race – a binary White/nonwhite specification, and a fourcategory race specification. Binary logistic regression was used to estimate this model for the likelihood of having a nonwhite partner compared to a White partner, whereas multinomial logistic regression is used to estimate this model for Hispanic, Black or Asian partners, with non-Hispanic White partner as the base outcome.

For the analysis models, I first predicted partner race by prior depression for White men and women separately who were in any type of relationship. Second, I estimated these same models, but split into two groups by relationship type: married and cohabiting, and dating relationships. Second, I tested whether selection into exogamous compared to endogamous relationships on the basis of depression is moderated by what type of relationship a person enters into (dating versus married or cohabiting) by including an interaction effect between prior depression and relationship type.

<u>Results</u>

Descriptive statistics for the cross-sectional analysis population, representing all White men and women in the US cohort who was in high school in the mid-1990s who reported current dating, marriage, and cohabiting relationships, are reported in Table 4.1. Gender differences were tested using t-tests for continuous variables and chi-squared tests for categorical variables, and p-values are shown in the "Men v.

¹¹ Note that skin tone was removed as a control variable for the selection analysis. In the multinomial logistic regression models predicting partner race as a four-category outcome variable, the addition of skin tone caused problems with model convergence, likely due to the lack of variation in the variable's distribution.

Women" column. Table 4.1 indicates that among White young men and women, most are partnered endogamously with other Whites, with 89.5% of men and 87.9% of women partnering endogamously. For men. Black partners are least frequently reported in this population (1.4%), whereas for women, having an Asian partner is least common, at only 2.8% of White women. Partner race statistically significantly differs by gender in current relationships (p < .001). Skin tone for both White men and women has a mean of 4.95 on a 5-point scale, indicating light skin tone. About 2% of White men and women who report that they most identify as White also report other races in addition to White. The population is most frequently married compared to other relationship types (40.9% of White men and 47.7% of White women), but relationship type differs by gender (p < .001), as women are more likely to be married compared to men, and men are more likely to report current dating relationships. Relationships are reported to be about three to four years long on average, and women report longer relationship duration than men (p < .001). Most of the population of White men and women in current relationships report living in their own place – about three-quarters of both White men and women – though women are more likely to live in their own place compared to men, and men are more likely to report living with parents or in another living arrangement (p < .01). Women more frequently report living with their biological children than men (45% compared to 29.8%, p < .001). Education level varies by gender (p < .001), with tending to have lower educational attainment compared to women. Women report more depression than men, which is consistent with prior research findings (Mirowsky and Ross 1995; Simon 2002; Thoits 2010).

[TABLE 4.1 ABOUT HERE]

Table 4.2 displays the results from the cross-sectional depression regression model, which estimates the cross-sectional association between partner race and depression for young White men and women in all current dating, marriage, and cohabiting relationships. For White men and women, two models are displayed: Model 1 treats partner race as a binary White/nonwhite variable, and Model 2 treats partner race as a four-category variable. White is the reference category in both cases. The goal of this analysis is twofold: first, this analysis establishes whether prior findings on the association of partner race and depression can be replicated using this data, providing an association that will then be deconstructed further into selection and causal analyses, and second, to determine what specification for the partner race variable is most appropriate.

[TABLE 4.2 ABOUT HERE]

The key findings from Table 4.2 are as follows. First, having a nonwhite partner is associated with increased depression for both White men and women, regardless of the type of the relationship. For White men, having a nonwhite partner is associated with a 15% predicted increase in depression, and for White women, having a nonwhite partner is associated with a 9% increase in depression, as reported in Model 1. In Model 2, partner race is disaggregated into four categories. The results show that for White men, having a Hispanic partner, Black partner, or Asian partner are all associated with more depression compared to having a White partner (Wald tests indicate that there are no differences among non-White partners for White men's depression). For the White men models, both the AIC and BIC statistics clearly

indicate that Model 1, with a binary partner race specification, is the better fitting model. However, for White women, only a Black current partner is associated with a statistically significant increase in average estimated depression, and the coefficient for Black partner is substantively quite a bit larger compared to the coefficients for Hispanic partner and Asian partner, being twice as large as the Hispanic coefficient and sixteen times as large as the Asian partner coefficient. This suggests that the effect on depression of partner race estimated for White women may be driven by greater depression among White women with Black partners. The AIC and BIC statistics are not as clear-cut for comparing the fit of Models 1 and 2 in the case of White women: they are virtually identical with regard to the AIC, and the BIC for the White/nonwhite partner specification is slightly lower than the BIC for the fourcategory race model (shown in Table 4.2). However, because the analyses conducted throughout this study consistently revealed only an effect on depression for White women with Black partners, I elected to present the results for White women from the four-category partner race models for women, and from the White/nonwhite partner race models for men.¹² No statistically significant gender interactions were observed (results not shown), suggesting that the effect of partner race on depression does not vary by gender. Thus, the results seen here partially replicate other cross-sectional results: like Bratter and Eschbach (2006) and Kroeger and Williams (2011) found,

¹² Note that I examined results from all models used in this study (including the crosssectional analysis, selection analysis, and depression change analysis) using both partner race variable specifications for both men's and women's models. I show additional results from these models in appendix tables where appropriate. The main results presented in this chapter, however, will focus on White/nonwhite partners for men and Black partners for women, as the cross-sectional associations to be explained.

having a Black partner is associated with greater depression for Whites. However, unlike in these prior studies, I find that having any nonwhite partner is associated with greater depression for White men specifically.

Also in Table 4.2, higher education level is associated with lower average depression, such that each increased level of education compared to having less than a high school degree predicts lower depression. Age is also a statistically significant predictor of depression, such that depression increases with age for White men and women.

Table 4.3 shows the cross-sectional results of the association of partner race and gender, broken down by type of relationship. Table 4.3 also displays results from the interaction effect of partner race times relationship type (dating versus cohabiting/married), to test whether or not the effect of partner race on depression varies by relationship type (full results from the models including the interaction term are shown in Appendix Table 4.4). Table 4.3 shows the results from the White/nonwhite partner model for White men and the four-category partner race model for White women. Full results from models using both alternate partner race specifications, broken down by relationship type and gender, are available in Appendix Table 4.3. The key findings from Table 4.3 are as follows. First, White men who are in marriage or marriage-like cohabiting relationships with nonwhite partners report more depression compared to White men in marriage or cohabiting relationships with White partners. There is weaker evidence that having a nonwhite dating partner is associated with depression for White men (p < .10). The interaction effect between partner race and relationship type was not statistically significant for

men, meaning that there is no empirical support that depression levels in interracial marriages and cohabitations compared to dating relationships for men differs. Thus, for men, I do not find strong evidence in support of either the *social acceptability* or *commitment* hypotheses in the cross-sectional results; that is, it is unclear from this analysis whether relationship type moderates the effect of partner race on depression, though the effect of having a nonwhite partner on depression appears to be slightly greater in magnitude in married and cohabiting relationships compared to dating relationships for White men.

For White women, on the other hand, I find evidence of the *commitment* hypothesis among White women with a Black partner. The key findings from Table 4.3 for White women are that White women in dating relationships with Black partners report greater depression on average than White women with White, Hispanic, or Asian dating partners. Further, the statistically significant interaction effect between having a Black partner and relationship type indicates that White women with Black dating partners are more depressed than White women with Black spouses or cohabiting partners. This finding suggests that perhaps dating relationships with Blacks are less suited for buffering stress than more committed relationships with Black partners; on the other hand, this association could be evidence that depressed women are more likely to select into dating relationships with Black men but not into relationships that become more committed and turn into married and cohabiting relationships with Black men. I look to the selection and change analyses for evidence suggesting selection or causal processes underlying this association.

[TABLE 4.3 ABOUT HERE]

Table 4.4 shows descriptive statistics for White young men and women who are in new relationships within the prior seven years or so. Again, both men and women overwhelmingly tend toward endogamous White partners (89.1% of men and 87.2% of women). Partner race/ethnicity, however, is statistically significantly between men and women ($p \le .001$). In particular, women more frequently report Black partners (4.1% of women compared to 1.4% of men) whereas White men more often report Asian partners (3.8% of men compared to 2.9% of women). Among newly formed relationships since the last observation, marriages are most common for women (36.9%) compared to other types of relationships, whereas dating relationships are most common for men (37.4% of relationships), and relationship type differs by gender ($p \le .001$). Again, White women are less likely to live in their parents' home compared to White men (19.6% versus 22.1%, p < .05), and women more frequently report living with biological children than men (35.6% versus 20.7%, p < .001). Again, White women report more depression than White men (p < .001). It is interesting to note that compared to the full population of all White men and women in current relationships (Table 4.1), those reporting new relationships report slightly higher depression.

[TABLE 4.4 ABOUT HERE]

Table 4.5 shows the results for the selection models, modeling the extent to which prior depression affects selection into a married, dating, or cohabiting relationship with a partner of a particular race/ethnicity. In order to present the results as clearly as possible, I limit the results in the table to only nonwhite versus White partners for White men (shown to be the best model fit in the cross-sectional analysis)

and show the effects among men in all types of relationships together, then married or cohabiting, and dating, in the next columns. I limit the results in this table for White women to the results from the multinomial logistic regression predicting partner race as a four-category variable (base outcome White), and show only effects for White women in all types of relationships pooled, and in dating relationships, in keeping with a framework that seeks to explain the association observed from the crosssectional analysis. The results for White women in married and cohabiting relationships are available in Appendix Table 4.5. The key findings from Table 4.5 are as follows. First, for White men in new relationships, the results show evidence that the cross-sectional association of depression and having a nonwhite partner among men in married and cohabiting relationships may be partly due to selection: White men who reported higher levels of depression prior to all new relationships are more likely to partner with a nonwhite partner. When relationship type is disaggregated into married and cohabiting versus dating, we see that the selection effect of more depressed White men partnering with nonwhites holds for married and cohabiting relationships only. However, the interaction effect between prior depression and relationship type was not statistically significant, indicating that I cannot conclude that the selection process for entering a married or cohabiting relationship with a nonwhite partner is different compared to entering a dating relationship with a nonwhite partner. Thus, overall, there is evidence in favor of a selection hypothesis of the association of depression and having a nonwhite partner for White men, both among all relationship types, but particularly driven by depression selection into married and cohabiting relationships.

For White men, living in one's own place compared to a parent's place decreases the likelihood of partnering with a nonwhite partner, especially among new dating relationships. It is also noteworthy that there is no statistically significant effect of White men's education on entering a relationship with a nonwhite versus White partner, which suggests a lack of status exchange on the basis of education for White men's relationship formation. This finding is in line with prior research that finds that educational status exchange is most common among White women who partner with nonwhite men (e.g., Torche and Rich 2016).

Among White women, the selection analysis shows that there is no selection effect of prior depression on partner race when all relationship types are aggregated. However, there is an effect among White women in dating relationships with Black partners, such that being more depressed prior to the formation of a relationship increases the likelihood that a White woman will have a new dating Black partner compared to a new White dating partner. This finding suggests evidence for the *selection hypothesis* for White women with Black dating partners – that is, at least some of the cross-sectional association observed is due to more depressed White women entering new dating relationships with Black men.

Among White women in all new relationships, being in a new cohabiting relationships increases the likelihood of being partnered with a Black or Asian partner compared to a White partner, and being in a dating relationships increases the likelihood that a new partner is Black compared to White. These findings support prior research that finds that interracial relationships are less likely to advance to marriage (Joyner and Kao 2005), and supports the idea that interracial dating is more

common, perhaps due to greater social acceptability than interracial marriage (Herman and Campbell 2012). Unlike in the White men models, there is evidence of educational status exchange among White women in interracial and interethnic partnerships. White women with higher levels of education – particular a Bachelor's degree or greater education – significantly lower the likelihood of having a Black partner or Hispanic partner compared to White partner.

[TABLE 4.5 ABOUT HERE]

Finally, I look to the results of the depression change analysis to determine whether or not the findings provide support for a social causation hypothesis of the relationship of depression and romantic relationships, informed by the stress process model theoretical framework. Table 4.6 displays descriptive statistics for young adults in relationships with a current relationship with a partner reported of have the same race/ethnicity and age characteristics across a seven-year period, interpreted here to be the same person across time points. This approach allows the most conservative examination of social causation and the stress process in the Add Health cohort, compared to prior studies (e.g., Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014). Table 4.6 shows that the "same partner" group has higher rates of endogamy compared to the populations represented in Tables 3.1 and 3.4: 93.8% of White men and 93.4% of White women report having White partners. This pattern is consistent with prior findings that show that interracial pairings tend to be shorter in duration than endogamous relationships (Kroeger D'Souza 2010). Among the same partner group, partner race does not vary by gender, unlike among young White adults in all current relationships or all new relationships. Relationship type (measured at Wave 3

– recall that this group is restricted to those in married and cohabiting relationships by Wave 4) again varies by gender (p<.05), with women more likely to be in marriages compared to men (42.4% of women compared to 34.8% of men). Women report longer relationship durations as of the first observation in Wave 3 (p<.001) and are more likely to live with biological children (p<.001). At both observation points, women report greater depression compared to men (p<.001), and both men and women appear to report more depression at the second observation point than the first, which is consistent with prior research that shows that depression decreases from adolescence to emerging adult before increasing in young adulthood (Arnett 2007; Collins 2006).

[TABLE 4.6 ABOUT HERE]

Table 4.7 displays the results from the depression change analysis. Again, the group of interest here is limited to only those White men and women who were observed with the "same" partner over a period of about seven years (a partner of the same race/ethnicity and age characteristics), and is limited to those who reported a marriage or cohabitation relationship at the second time point. Restricting the population of interest thusly allows for a more conservative analysis of the causal impact of partner race on depression by focusing only on long term relationships that represented greater levels of commitment at the second observation point. This is in line with the idea that romantic relationships provide stress buffering and support through greater levels of attachment and commitment, as well as shared resources, and thus is more suited to test the hypothesis that interracial relationships are not as able to buffer stress due to their vulnerability to social stigma and disapproval.

Further, the use of the regressor-variable method in these models by controlling for depression at the first point in time while predicting depression at the second point in time represents an improvement over prior similar studies in terms of my ability to draw inferences about the potential causal impact of partner race on depression.

The key finding from the depression change analysis is that White women in long term cohabiting and marriage relationships with Black partners are predicted to experience adverse impacts on depression over time, compared to White women in long term relationships with White partners, shown by Model 1. White women with Black partners see about a 33% increase in depression over time, or an increase of approximately 1.4 points on the depression scale. This effect is substantial, comparable in magnitude to the effect prior depression has on later depression. The association holds after controlling for relationships type at the first point of observation, skin tone, being multiracial, education level, and household composition variables, as well as prior depression. Thus, we see support for the stress hypothesis of having a Black partner for White women's depression compared to having an endogamous White partner. Having lighter skin tone is also associated with increased depression across the observation period. For both White men and women, increasing levels of education are associated with lower depression scores. Not surprisingly, being depressed at the first observation is associated with greater depression at the second observation for both men and women. For White men, no effect of having a nonwhite partner on depression over time was observed, thus showing no support for the stress hypothesis of interracial relationships and depression for men.

Model 2 adds an interaction effect between partner race and relationship type at the first observation point to test whether or not being in a dating relationship at the earlier time point in the relationship compared to a more committed cohabiting or marriage relationship moderates the association of partner race with depression over time. This effect was not statistically significant for men or women, indicating that there is no discernible difference in terms of partner's effect on depression over time based on relationship type early in the relationship. Thus, I cannot draw conclusions from the results regarding whether and how relationship type might moderate the long term effects of partner race and ethnicity on depression.

<u>Discussion</u>

The sociology of mental health looks to social structure and social statuses to understand how mental health is patterned and why inequalities exist (Aneshensel 2013; Thoits 2010). Central to the sociological study of mental health are two findings. First, that mental health is patterned by race, ethnicity, and gender; and second, that social relationships, particularly romantic relationships, represent a key social context in which individuals are embedded and which either expose or buffer stress and thus affect mental health (Milkie 2010; Ross 1995; Umberson and Montez 2010). Drawing on these broad themes in the literature, a small number of studies have recently asked the question: Are interracial and interethnic romantic relationships harmful to mental health? Given that interracial relationships have increased in prevalence over the past several decades (Qian and Lichter 2011; Torche and Rich 2016), especially among young people (Joyner and Kao 2005), it is an

important question to ask, and a question that has ramifications both for the mental health of the young adult population as well as for the meaning and persistence of racial boundaries in US societies.

Prior studies have established that there is an association between interracial relationships and mental health, particularly depression. Specifically, White women married to Black spouses experience more psychological distress (Bratter and Eschbach 2006), interracial daters are more likely to be depressed than endogamous daters in adolescence regardless of race and gender (Miller 2014), and non-Black young adults with Black partners report more depressive symptoms regardless of type of relationship (Kroeger and Williams 2011). However, to date, we cannot conclude that this effect is necessarily uniform across groups nor across relationship types. Further, these studies, despite using primarily cross-sectional methods of analysis that do not allow for drawing conclusions about the direction of causality, have all focused on how partner race and ethnicity might affect depression. This interpretation is in line with dominant theoretical paradigms in the sociology of mental health and depression. The sociology of mental health has its roots in the social structure and personality framework, best exemplified by the stress process model, pioneered by Leonard Pearlin (1989). This groundbreaking framework looks to an individual's location within social structure, including ascribed statuses, meso-level environments, and social interaction and relationships, to explain exposure and vulnerability to stress and how that stress results in experiencing psychological distress, often defined empirically as depressive symptoms (Aneshensel 2013; Pearlin 1999). This interpretation makes intuitive sense when considering interracial and interethnic

romantic relationships and mental health, given that interracial relationships continue to be stigmatized and are less socially acceptable than endogamous relationships, especially in the case of marriage (Herman and Campbell 2012; Yancey 2002, 2007).

However, sociological studies on the robust association of romantic relationships and better health have long contended with a fundamental question: to what extent is the observed association between romantic relationships and health due to causal effects, or the selection of the healthy into relationships (Lillard and Panis 1996)? In this study, I build on prior studies of the association between exogamous romantic relationships and mental health, and extend the state of current knowledge on the topic in several key ways, focusing on depression among White men and women in their late teens to early 30s. To do so, I addressed four research questions. First, I sought to replicate prior findings that interracial and interethnic relationships are cross-sectionally associated with greater depression, focusing on Whites who represent the full range of early young adulthood and young adulthood, an age range previously not considered in studies using the Add Health cohort. Second, I asked whether and how relationship type, specifically, dating relationships representing less commitment and seriousness compared to coresidential marriage and marriage-like relationships, moderate the association between partner race and ethnicity and depression for White young adults. Third, I used the longitudinal design of the Add Health to ask whether the observed associations might be due to selection or causal processes. Finally, I asked whether the association of partner race and ethnicity and depression varies by gender.

In the first part of the analysis presented here, the cross-sectional analysis, I found that both White men and women throughout young adulthood with nonwhite partners, on average, report more depressive symptoms compared to White men and women with endogamous partners. However, when disaggregating partner race into multiple race and ethnicity categories rather than looking at all nonwhite partners together, I found that although nonwhite partners of all groups were associated with greater depressive symptoms for White men, only having a Black partner was associated with greater depressive symptoms for White women. These findings largely replicate the cross-sectional findings of other scholars on the topic, particularly with regard to greater depression associated with a Black partner (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011). Prior explanations for this finding about Black partners in particular have focused on the fact that Blacks in the US are still the most discriminated against nonwhite group, thus Black-White relationships will be the most stigmatized and therefore stressful (Kroeger and Williams 2011), which is confirmed to a degree by qualitative research indicating that Whites with Black partners learn through through partners' experiences about the realities of harsh racism (Yancey 2007) and the finding that Blacks are particularly isolated on the interracial dating market (McClintock 2010). The results also suggest that studying the effects of a nonwhite partner for White men's depression is more appropriate, whereas the effects of partner race on White women's health are limited to having a Black partner. One possible explanation for this is that Black partners are more stigmatized for White women; this is supported by some literature indicating that because Black women are not likely to partner with White men, the Black community

is especially resistant to Black men and White women partnering (Childs 2005). It may also be the case that Black partners' depression effects for White men are similarly strong, but it is not observable in this data source due to small sample sizes of White men in relationships with Black women. However, at this point, this finding is exploratory, and future studies should attempt to replicate the effect of partner race, comparing nonwhite partners to specific partner race categories, using another data source.

With the cross-sectional analysis, I further extended the prior research to ask whether or not the type of relationship, and its attendant level of commitment, moderates the association observed. On the one hand, relationships are thought to represent a continuum of social attachment, with more committed relationships offering greater support and therefore mental health benefits (Ross 1995). On the other hand, research on attitudes and public opinion suggests that interracial dating is much more socially acceptable and normative than marriage or cohabitation (Blackwell and Lichter 2004; Herman and Campbell 2012; Yancey 2002). When White young men and women were disaggregated into married and cohabiting relationships compared to dating relationships, the results showed that the depression effect for White men was largely driven by men in married and cohabiting relationships with nonwhite partners, whereas the depression effect for White women was driving by dating relationships with Black partners. The interaction effects between partner race and relationship type showed support for a *commitment* hypothesis of partner race and depression for White women with dating partners. That is, there is evidence that White women who date Black partners report on average

greater depression than White women with married or cohabiting Black partners. Indeed, the results showed that White women with Black dating partners report 35% more depression than White women with White dating partners, a statistically significant and substantively significant disparity. One possible interpretation of this finding is that interracial relationships with Black partners are indeed more stressful, as prior research has suggested (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011; Solsberry 1994; Yancey 2002), but that dating relationships, due to their lesser degree of commitment as well as fewer psychosocial and economic supports offered (Ross 1995; Ross and Mirowsky 2013; Umberson and Montez 2010), are less suited for buffering that stress. These results do not support a *social acceptability* hypothesis, which would suggest that interracial dating relationships, being more casual, are considered less significant for crossing racial boundaries and blending families of different backgrounds (Yancey 2007), especially among young adults who are in a phase of life where exploring partnership options is considered healthy and normal (Arnett 2000). However, this interpretation assumes a causal pathway from having a Black dating partner to experiencing depressive symptoms, which is impossible to conclude from the cross-sectional analysis alone, despite this being the predominant explanation offered in the literature thus far.

The depression change analysis presented in this study provides a more stringent look at the possibility of a causal interpretation of the association, as is suggested above. By limiting the analysis presented here to only White men and women who report partners of the same race/ethnicity and age at two points in time, restricting to only those who report marriages and cohabitations at the second point in

time, and using a regressor-variable method of looking at depression change over time (Allison 1990), I took a more conservative look at possible causal pathways than done in prior studies of partner race and depression (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014). The results suggest that only White women with Black partners experience a long term adverse impact of partner race on depressive symptoms, which suggests that prior accounts of the causal link between partner race, interracial dating, and interracial marriage have perhaps been overstated. No support was found for the hypothesis that men and women would see statistically significantly different effects of partner race on depression over time (though no effect of partner race on depression over time was observed for White men). Thus, I find support for the *stress hypothesis* of interracial relationships for White women in dating relationships with Blacks only. This result supports what Kroeger and Williams (2011) refer to as a "Black exceptionalism" explanation for the link between having a Black partner and experiencing depression – that is, that because Blacks are the most discriminated against and stigmatized group, interracial relationships involving Blacks are the most stressful. Interpreting this within the stress process model (Pearlin 1989), dominant in explanations of stress and mental health in sociology, this suggests that stress experienced within these relationships translates to depression outcomes. It also draws attention to the importance of social structures and statuses in understanding the link between stressors and mental health outcomes. Further, the stress process model's focus on social status draws our attention to the fact that not only is one's own race a status cue, but partner race may also be a status cue, and this effect is strongest for White women (Miller et al. 2004). Interracial

relationships do not cause stress within a social vacuum. Rather, it is the social status ascribed to both partners, and the feedback from significant others such as family and friends in social interaction (Edmonds and Killen 2009), that affects each step of the stress process, from exposure to the stress in first place to experiencing the adverse mental health outcome (Pearlin 1999).

Although the results presented for this study provide some evidence of a *stress* hypothesis of interracial relationships and depression for White women in dating relationships with Black partners, the results also provide support for the *selection* hypothesis – that is, it appears that White men and women may select into relationships with exogamous partners on the basis of depression. Specifically, the results here suggest that White men who report more depressive symptoms are more likely to select into romantic relationships with nonwhite partners compared to nonwhite partners, and this is particularly true of White men entering marriage and cohabiting relationships with nonwhites. Further, the selection analysis shows that at least some of the association between having a Black dating partner and depression for White women is due to White women who are more depressed to begin with entering these relationships with Black partners. There was no evidence that relationship type moderated selection effects into exogamous or endogamous partnerships on the basis of depression. It is well known that people select into romantic relationships on the basis of other health statuses aside from mental health. For example, people who are obese are less likely to marry, as are people with worse self-rated health (Fu and Goldman 1996; Schwartz 2013; Wilson 2002). It stands to reason that on dating and marriage markets, people who suffer from depression may

be less desirable partners, and there is some limited evidence that this is true (Kim and McHenry 2002; Mastekasaa 1992). The selection effect seen in the present study may also be the result of status exchange processes on the interracial dating and marriage market, specifically. A dominant theory in the study of how and why people partner across racial and ethnic lines is status exchange theory, which posits that people with lower racial status (nonwhites) trade some other type of status – usually education or other socioeconomic resources – in order to "trade up" for a White partner (Davis 1941; Fu 2001; Gullickson 2006; Kalmijn 2010). Trading racial status for education status continues to be a strong pattern in interracial marriage and cohabitation formation today, even as people are more likely to enter interracial unions (Torche and Rich 2016), suggesting that although people are more likely to espouse acceptance for interracial relationships now compared to decades ago (Herman and Campbell 2012), this doesn't necessarily translate into race losing its salience as a status marker for relationships formation. Although selection arguments have not been much used in the literature on romantic relationships and depression, it may be the case that integrating a selection argument of mental health with status exchange theory on interracial partnering is an appropriate and fruitful lens for interpreting White men and women's entry into interracial relationships on the basis of depression. The results here suggest that Whites with low "mental health status" that is, greater rates of depression -may be penalized on the dating and marriage market for their mental health, and thus have trouble partnering with a similarly high racial status White partner. This is an avenue that future research should explore in greater depth, particularly by incorporating nonwhites who partner with Whites into

the analysis. If depression does indeed act as a status marker for relationships formation, then we should expect to see that less depressed nonwhites are more likely to partner with White partners than more depressed nonwhites. Further, future research should examine the dynamics of nonwhites' mental health and partner race. Recent research finds that both Blacks *and* Whites "trade" higher education status for a White partner, rather than less-educated Whites partnering with more-educated Blacks (Torche and Rich 2016). Thus, it should be explored whether nonwhites with less depression partner with Whites with more depression, or whether White and nonwhites with less depression are both more likely to partner with Whites.

Future research should also continue to explore whether and how relationship type moderates the association between partner race and depression, and the evidence for this happening at the point of union formation (indicating selection) compared to change in depression over time. This should be done with additional data sources aside from the Add Health, if possible. The results presented here suggest that at least for White women with Black partners, having a dating relationship is worse for depression outcomes compared to being married or cohabiting. The results are inconclusive for White men. Though a greater effect of partner exogamy on depression was seen for White men in married and cohabiting relationships with nonwhites, this effect was not statistically significant. Future research should attempt to replicate these results with new data sources, and also should consider the trajectories of relationships and mental health simultaneously – that is, are dating relationships with Black partners more strongly linked to depression because they are more likely to break up, causing stress, or do these relationships progress to marriage

and cohabitation, suggesting instead that social stigma for intermarriage may be the mechanism at play for causing depression? More research is needed.

Overall, the results from this study advance the current state of knowledge on interracial relationships and depression in three key ways. First, the results suggest the potential importance of attending to interracial dating compared to more committed types of relationships, which makes sense given the more casual nature of dating, especially in young adulthood, and because people who interracially date are not necessarily those who interracially marry or cohabit (Yancey 2007). Second, the results here suggest that the causal impact of interracial relationships for depression may be overstated in prior literature. Although there is evidence for a causal link between having a Black partner and depression over time for White women, suggesting that a stress process model interpretation of interracial relationships may be supported in some cases, it seems that this effect is not uniform by gender or across partner racial combinations. Finally, this study introduces the idea that selection effects may in fact drive some of the prior association between partner race and depression, and I offer a theoretical framework- status exchange theory – for interpreting this effect. Selection and causal processes should not be considered mutually exclusive in the association of relationships and depression and should be considered to work in tandem (Mastekasaa 1992), and therefore, researchers in the sociology of mental health may do well to consider the conditions under which selection arguments as well as social causation arguments hold water.

This study has a few important limitations. First, as discussed previously, though I assume here for the sake of the depression change analysis that having a

partner of the same race, gender, and age across two waves is the same partner, there is no actual way to determine whether or not this is true using Add Health's data structure. Future research using longitudinal data sources should endeavor to track exogamous and endogamous partnerships over time in conjunction with partners' depression, perhaps by using a household-based survey rather than a person-based survey. Further, assuming that indeed the sample used for the depression change analysis represents people who were continuously partnered with the same partner over a seven-year period, this subgroup may have unique characteristics that are not shared by people whose partnerships do not last for such a long period of time. This may introduce a selection bias into the analyses. For example, it may be the case that people who are more depressed experienced relationship dissolution and thus were excluded from the depression change analysis presented here. Thus, the results from the change analysis should be interpreted as representing the effects of being continuously partnered with an endogamous partner compared to being continuously partnered with an exogamous partner. They will not necessarily represent the effects of being in shorter-term exogamous versus endogamous relationships.

Second, due to the cross-sectional results, I restricted the results presented here to Black partners for White women and nonwhite partners for White men. It is possible that these results are simply because the sample size for White men partnered with Black women is quite small. The conclusion that these partner race categorizations are the most appropriate for analyses of exogamy and depression should be considered exploratory until replicated with other data sources. Finally, restricting the mental health outcome to only depression may bias the study's results

in favor of seeing more effects for women. There is ample research suggesting that men and women express psychological distress through different outcomes: women are more likely to experience depression, whereas men are more likely to experience anger or express distress through alcohol and substance abuse (Denton et al. 2004; Mirowsky and Ross 1995; Rosenfield 2012; Rosenfield et al. 2005; Simon 2002). Future research should consider additional outcome measures that may operationalize psychological distress, and examine whether and how partner race is associated with these outcomes.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this dissertation, I presented three studies that address an understudied social context for health inequalities: the racial and ethnic composition of romantic relationships. Using two large, nationally representative data sources, I examined three health outcomes – self-rated health, overweight and obesity, and depression – in the context of endogamous and interracial and interethnic romantic relationships, including dating, cohabiting, and married relationships.

Summary of Findings

In the first paper, detailed in Chapter Two, I examined the association between selfrated health and partner race among White and nonwhite adults in the United States using public use data from the SIPP. Only one prior study to date has examined this association, finding that Whites with nonwhite partner suffer a self-rated health penalty, while racial minorities with White partners experience a health benefit (Miller and Kail 2016). However, prior research had not examined this association using longitudinal data. In Chapter Two, I pushed this line of inquiry further by examining not only a cross-sectional association, but the evidence for selection processes compared to self-rated health change over time. My findings showed a cross-sectional association between exogamy and self-rated health, such that White women with nonwhite partners reported lower self-rated health than White women in endogamous cohabitations and marriages, and that White women experienced an additional health "penalty" with exogamy compared to White men. Both nonwhite men and women in partnerships with Whites had better self-rated health, and again,

gendered processes were in play: nonwhite women's health "premium" with White partners was greater compared to nonwhite men's. The results showed support for selection processes into exogamous and endogamous partnerships on the basis of selfrated health for women: both White and nonwhite women were more likely to enter a marriage or cohabitation with a nonwhite partner if their own self-rated health was worse. The results also lent support to treating self-rated health as affected by partner race. White women partnered with nonwhite men were found to experience self-rated health decline over time compared to White women endogamously partnered, and this penalty was greater compared to White men with nonwhite partners. Further, nonwhites with White partners, both men and women, experienced a health premium over time compared to nonwhites with other nonwhite partners.

In Chapter Three, I examined the association between being overweight and obese and partner race among White young adults in the Add Health cohort, representing young adults in the US who were in high school in the mid-1990s. The existing literature indicates that although romantic relationships, particularly marriage and cohabitation, are typically protective of health, BMI tends to be an exception to this pattern. That is, entry into romantic relationships is associated with increases in BMI and incidence of overweight and obesity (The and Gordon-Larsen 2009). Further, BMI and obesity are stratified by race, ethnicity, and gender (Ailshire and House 2011). I extended these literatures by incorporating partner race into an analysis of romantic relationships and likelihood of overweight and obesity among White young adults. The findings showed that White women with Hispanic and Black partners are more likely to be overweight and obese compared to normal BMI, and

White women experience this BMI association with having a Black partner more strongly compared to White men with Black partners. I found evidence that being overweight or obese increases the likelihood that White women will enter new relationships with Black partners. I also found evidence of change over time in overweight and obesity for White women with Black partners, such that having a Black partner over a period of about seven years is associated with a 15 times greater odds of being overweight or obese at the end of the seven-year interval compared to White women with White partners over the same time period, controlling for BMI at the start of the interval.

Finally, in Chapter Four, I built on prior research that asserts that interracial relationships are inherently more stressful than endogamous relationships, especially those with Black partners, and thus are associated with greater depression and psychological distress (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Miller 2014; Kroeger and Williams 2011). I contributed to this existing work by considering also whether and how different types of relationships moderate this association with depression for White young adults in the Add Health cohort, as is suggested by research that shows that more committed interracial relationships — particularly ones that imply family ties and having children - are considered less socially acceptable (Herman and Campbell 2012). I additionally contributed to this literature by applying more stringent criteria for examining the association of partner race and depression longitudinally. The result from this chapter showed that having a nonwhite partner is associated with greater depression for White men and women, but that dating relationships with Black partners come with a greater mental health penalty for White

women compared to marriage or cohabiting relationships with Black partners. I found evidence that the cross-sectional results are at least in part due to selection, with more depressed White men more likely to have new nonwhite partners and more depressed White women more likely to have new Black partners. I also found evidence of a long-term effect of having a Black partner on increased depression for White women.

Contributions and Future Directions

Theoretically, I make several important contributions with this dissertation, supported by the findings detailed above. First, with this dissertation, I make a pioneering first attempt at expanding the scope of the status exchange theory of interracial relationships to include health statuses as a basis for partner selection. Status exchange theory typically looks to socioeconomic resources – particularly education levels - to explain how race, as a status marker, is "traded" or exchanged in partnership formation (Kalmijn 2010). However, socioeconomic status and race are clearly not the only criteria people use when selecting a dating, cohabiting, or marriage partner. Indeed, research indicates that in general, health statuses including self-rated health and obesity – are predictive of entry into romantic relationships (Conley and Glauber 2006; Fu and Goldman 1996; Joung et al. 1998; Schwartz 2013; Waldron et al. 1996). I combine these literatures on status exchange based on socioeconomic status and health selection into romantic relationships to suggest that health may also be something that is "traded" for other partner attributes, such as partner race. The results from all three empirical chapters of this dissertation support this theoretical prediction. I showed that White women and nonwhite men and women are more likely to enter new marriages and cohabitations with White

partners if they have better self-rated health in Chapter Two, suggesting a pattern that is similar to that of educational status exchange observed by Torche and Rich (2016). Torche and Rich (2016) find that educational status exchange in Black/White couples functions such that higher education levels among both Blacks and Whites is predictive of having a White marriage or cohabitation partner, rather than less educated Whites pairing with more educated Blacks (a phenomenon known as "hypergamy"). The results shown in Chapter Two suggest that self-rated health status exchange in interracial and inter-ethnic relationships does not resemble hypergamy, but rather having better self-rated health in general is linked with entering a cohabitation or marriage with a White partner.

Further evidence for expanding the scope of status exchange theory to include health statuses was shown in Chapter Three. It is well-known in the empirical literature that being overweight and obese is a barrier for entering romantic relationships, particularly for women (Ali et al. 2014; Averett et al. 2008; Conley and Glauber 2006; Fu and Goldman 1996). Expanding this empirical insight to racially and ethnically exogamous relationships and drawing on status exchange theory as well is an obvious next step, especially given theoretical and empirical evidence for racialized and gendered standards of beauty revolving around women's body size. White men are found to be particularly discriminating against heavy women, whereas nonwhite men are more accepting of heavier bodies (Ali et al. 2013; Glasser et al. 2009; Jackson and McGill 1996). The results shown here suggest that overweight and obese White women may "exchange" racial status for partners that are more accepting of heavier body types, especially Black partners. Interestingly, this pattern

more closely mirrors a "hypergamy" pattern of status exchange (Torche and Rich 2016), in which a White partner with less desirable characteristics (here, larger body size) partners with a Black partner. However, the results presented here only focus on Whites' BMI. In order to establish how status exchange works in terms of "hypergamy" or lack thereof, nonwhites' BMI needs to be considered as well. This limitation is also present in Chapter Four's analysis, focusing on depression. The literature on romantic relationships and depression is quite light on selection arguments and supporting results. Only a handful of studies have examined selection into relationships on the basis of mental health, and those that have find mixed results (Kim and McHenry 2002; Mastekasaa 1992; Simon 2002). In Chapter Four, I suggest that the previously observed association between interracial relationships and depression could be attributed to selection as well as causation processes, which is a novel concept for this area of study. I suggest that status exchange processes could be at work for depression, and the results show some support for this. Specifically, White women who are more depressed are more likely to enter relationships with Black dating partners, and White men with greater depression are more likely to enter marriage and cohabiting relationships with nonwhite partners generally. Further research is needed that considers the possibility that mental health is a status marker that makes a person more or less desirable to potential romantic partners, and thus may explain some of the association of interracial partnerships and depression. Again, future research also needs to consider the mental health of nonwhites who partner with Whites. Evidence from future studies that nonwhites with less depression are

more likely to enter new relationships with Whites would lend further support to a status exchange theory of mental health and partner race.

Future research building on the idea that status exchange theory should expand in its scope to include health statuses should also work to further disentangle the effects of socioeconomic status and health. It is a robust and well-known finding that socioeconomic status is a determinant of health, such that lower socioeconomic status predicts worse health on many outcomes. In fact, this is such a universally observed phenomenon that socioeconomic status is considered a "fundamental cause" of health (Link and Phelan 1995; Phelan et al. 2010). Of course, socioeconomic status is also a predictor of interracial partnership formation, as posited by status exchange theory and shown empirically. Although all analyses presented in this dissertation controlled for education level, a marker of socioeconomic status that is closely linked with both health and interracial partnering, future research should look more closely at the independent and joint effects of various health statuses and socioeconomic status, including education and income, to determine whether and how they predict interracial partnership formation.

Additionally, the results from this dissertation contribute to prior theoretical and empirical work that suggests that interracial relationships are more stressful, and this is the root of their link to worse health (Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014). Although empirical work has provided good reason to believe that interracial relationships are indeed more stressful, due to stigma and lack of social acceptance (Herman and Campbell 2012), real and perceived disapproval from friends and family (Childs 2005; Field et al. 2013), and stressful experiences related to racial

discrimination (Yancey 2002), there is hardly definitive evidence at this point that it is this stress and stigma that actually "gets under the skin" and creates health outcomes. However, this perspective is logical given the predominance of the stress process model in sociological studies of health and mental health inequalities, and the results presented in Chapters Three and Four of this dissertation lend support to the theory that stress in these relationships leads to worse health outcomes – specifically, depression and greater BMI - for Whites. However, I push the state of the field on interracial relationships and health outcomes forward by offering an additional theoretical framework for considering the effect of interracial relationships on health outcomes: social status and health. This perspective draws on status exchange theory as well: given that status exchange of education for partner race is consistently observed in interracial pairings, it is clear that partner race acts as a status cue. Limited empirical work in psychology supports the idea that one's partner's race acts as a status cue to others (Miller et al. 2004). The social psychology of health literature looks to social status, as perceived through processes like social comparisons and reflected appraisals, to explain health disparities that mirror other ascriptive statuses, such as gender, socioeconomic status, and race (Schnittker and McLeod; Thoits 2010; Wolff et al. 2010). I suggest that this is an alternative theoretical explanation for a causal link between partner race and health outcomes that results in different predictions compared to a stress process perspective. Whereas a stress perspective would posit that interracial relationships, being stressful to all involved, should also result in worse health for all involved, a social status perspective predicts that Whites who partner with nonwhites experience a status penalty and thus a health penalty,

whereas nonwhites who partner with Whites experience a status boost and thus a health boost. Although this explanation is not used in the existing literature on interracial relationships and health, others' empirical findings could be interpreted as supporting this perspective. For example, Bratter and ESchbach (2006) find that interracial marriage is associated with psychological distress for White women who partner with Black men, but does not find an effect for Black men's psychological distress; Kroeger and Williams (2011) find that having a Black partner – the racial category that they argue to be the lowest status - is associated with depression for all "higher status" racial categories; and Miller and Kail (2016) find better self-rated health for racial minorities married and cohabiting with Whites, whereas Whites with nonwhite spouses or cohabitation partners report worse self-rated health, crosssectionally. The results I report in Chapter Two of this dissertation also give support to a social status perspective, suggesting that over time as well as cross-sectionally, having a White partner is linked to better self-rated health over time compared to having a nonwhite partner for both Whites and nonwhites, and having a nonwhite partner is linked to worse self-rated health over time for White women. This suggests that being in an interracial relationship is *not* linked to worse health for racial minorities, which is better predicted by a social status perspective than a social stress perspective.

However, testing these competing perspectives against one another was not possible in Chapters Three and Four of this dissertation, due to limited sample sizes and my decision to thus restrict the analyses to Whites only. Next steps in pursuing empirical support for these competing hypotheses of the impact of partner race on

health will need to consider the BMI status and depression of nonwhites who are partnered exogamously and endogamously as well. Findings that nonwhites partnered with Whites experience lower risk of overweight, obesity, and depression would provide support for a social status perspective, whereas findings that nonwhites partnered with Whites experience worse outcomes with respect to BMI and depression would suggest a stress perspective. Thus, it is possible that future research will not bear out the proposition that the stress process model is the most appropriate theoretical framework for studying the health effects of interracial relationships, but rather, perhaps we must look to other frameworks to interpret the results as this literature grows. Along these lines, future research should also empirically identify other mechanisms by which the racial composition of relationships might affect health outcomes, drawing on the existing literature on race/ethnicity and health, and romantic relationships and health, respectively. For example, does marital quality and marital strain affect health outcomes for individuals in different types of relationships differently? Do health behaviors mediate the association between relationship racial composition and health outcomes? How do household resources affect health outcomes for mixed race/ethnicity households vs. same race/ethnicity households?

Finally, this dissertation contributes to the existing theory and research on interracial partnerships and health by incorporating a gendered perspective throughout. I suggest that in expanding the scope of status exchange theory to include health statuses, gender must be considered as a moderating variable. It has been found in various studies that women are held to different standards for mate selection compared to men. Men are already privileged with regards to entering romantic

relationships in many ways, including older men being able to partner with much younger women in a way that older women cannot (England and McClintock 2009), and evidence that men still typically dictate the tempo of relationships, such as initiating first contacts in online dating (Kreager et al. 2014) or when couples move in together (Lamont 2013; Sassler and Miller 2010). Women being more vulnerable to discrimination on the basis of health statuses on the dating and marriage market comes as no surprise, but I push this idea further by suggesting that gender discrimination intersects with status exchange processes to result in women selecting into interracial partnerships on the basis of health in ways that differ from men. The results from Chapter Three particularly strongly support this assertion, with the finding that White women select into relationships with Black partners on the basis of being overweight or obese more than White men do. I interpret this as evidence of a sort of inverse status exchange process on the basis of body size for White women, in which White women with less desirable body types select into relationships with lower racial status partners. I additionally build on theoretical work that suggests that women are more prone to stress and distress when it comes to health: women are both more exposed to stress, and are more vulnerable to its effects on health (Kessler and McLeod 1984; Mirowsky and Ross 1995). I thus argue that gender must be considered as a moderating factor in terms of the effects of stress or social status in interracial relationships on health, because women may be more vulnerable to these effects. Interestingly, this hypothesis does not find support with regards to depression, despite the fact that it is well-known that women are more susceptible to depression and are more likely than men to react to stressful relationship transitions with
depression (Simon 2002). However, the results from Chapters Two and Three suggest that White women are indeed more vulnerable to poor health outcomes, specifically worse self-rated health and being overweight or obese, in exogamous relationships compared to White men. Future research on relationship racial composition and health outcomes should therefore continue to make gender a key component of the theory and analysis.

Another important avenue for future research on the association of exogamous romantic relationships and health outcomes is to consider the possible contextual effects of various aspects of social life, such as neighborhoods, educational environments (including universities), and even religious organizations. The racial and ethnic composition of neighborhoods and schools is predictive of the likelihood of interracial relationships, including marriage (Harris and Ono 2005) and even friendships (Joyner and Kao 2000). In general, greater contact between Whites and racial minorities predicts more favorable attitudes toward interracial marriage among Whites (Johnson and Jacobson 2005). Additionally, these structural contexts, particularly neighborhoods, affect health outcomes. Indeed, residential racial segregation is considered a fundamental driving force in racial health disparities (Williams and Collins 2001). Taken together, it stands to reason that neighborhoods or other structural contexts may represent what Pearlin (1999) refers to as a "mesolevel' aspect of the stress process in predicting health outcomes for individuals in interracial relationships. These contexts may both influence who is likely to partner endogamously, and how endogamous partnerships are received by friends, family, or

neighbors, possibly leading to more or less stress and thus to health outcomes. Future research should pursue this possibility.

Overall, this dissertation represents an attempt to further understand the interpersonal aspects of racial, ethnic, and gender inequalities in health outcomes. How do significant others' characteristics alter individual health statuses and health trajectories? This dissertation addresses a broader theoretical question of whether and how relationship compositional factors affect health outcomes. This is a generally understudied topic. We already knew, for example, that spousal education affects self-rated health (Brown et al. 2014), and the studies reviewed here indicate that racial composition is important for mental health (Bratter and Eschbach 2006; Kroeger and Williams 2011; Miller 2014). This dissertation provides further evidence that relationship composition factors should be a topic of greater focus in sociological health literature.

Additionally, this dissertation has several other substantive implications. The upward trend in interracial marriage between Black men and nonblack women, especially more educated Black men, means that Black women are feeling a particularly strong marriage market "squeeze" in which their pool of marriage partners is diminished (Crowder and Tolnay 2000). Given that Black women are already disadvantaged when it comes to health outcomes, and marriage is generally protective of health, the changing racial composition of romantic relationships could have a further detrimental impact on Black women's health specifically. Further, another substantive implication of this dissertation has to do with the health of multiracial individuals. Increased intermarriage, especially between Blacks and

Whites, means an increased multiracial population in the next generation. Current research on multiracial individuals indicates that the health of multiracial individuals is distinct from the health of monoracials – for example, biracial Black-White individuals have a health advantage over monoracial Blacks, whereas part-Native American individuals show a health disadvantage similar to monoracial Native Americans (Bratter and Gorman 2011). Understanding the health dynamics of endogamous versus interracial relationship pairings will provide a substantive foundation for future research on the health of multiracial Americans, as I expect this topic will grow in importance and popularity as the US population becomes more diverse.

Substantively, these findings, and the findings of future studies that I hope continue to build on this work, have implications for how interracial and interethnic relationships are considered. The results suggest that interracial relationships are, on the whole, not beneficial to Whites' health. From a sociological perspective, the reduction of social distance and social boundaries between racial and ethnic groups is generally considered to be a positive thing; but these changes may also introduce stress or social status processes that could negatively impact health because of the persistence of racial discrimination and status and resource inequalities along race and gender lines. My results indicate that we as a society need to think about what we can do to prevent stress, address social status disparities, and mitigate negative health consequences for couples of every type and composition. For example, decreasing socioeconomic disadvantage for racial and ethnic minorities, improving the health outcomes of vulnerable and disadvantaged groups, and reducing stigma associated

with relationships that are not endogamous are all broader implications of this research that are also oriented toward a social justice perspective. The results presented here provide further evidence that race and ethnicity continue to be major axes of inequality in the US when it comes to both social relationships and health outcomes.

Appendices

Appendix 2.1: Detailed race/ethnic partnership samples and cross-sectional analysis

I show in Appendix Table 2.1 the sample numbers that break down nonwhites into Black, Hispanic, and Asian. This serves both to show the racial/ethnic composition of nonwhites who are either partnered with other nonwhites or with whites and to illustrate why analyses that further break down the "nonwhite" group were not feasible, especially for new relationships. Pooling across the 1996, 2001, 2004, and 2008 samples of the SIPP allows for adequate sample sizes when the racial groups are condensed to White and nonwhite, including among those in new relationships. For example, there are 379 nonwhite men and 336 nonwhite women observed in new partnerships with Whites, and 329 White men and 395 White women observed in new partnerships with nonwhites. In both the all-relationships and newrelationships samples, White-with-Hispanic was easily the most common White-withnonwhite combination, at more than double the next most frequent combination, which was respectively White-with-Black for women and White-with-Asian for men. When considering other specific nonwhite groups, however, only 27 White men were observed in a new relationship with a Black woman and only 43 White women were observed in a new relationship with an Asian man. The combinations of nonwhite with nonwhite of a different race/ethnicity in every case numbered fewer than 30, the highest being 25 Hispanic women in a new relationship with a Black man.

[APPENDIX TABLE 2.1 ABOUT HERE]

Tables

Au	loiescent to Auu	it ficatili (Au	i ficalui), by w	ave
		Wa	ve*	
SIPP: Self-R	ated Health (H)		
Panel	3 (4)	6 (7)	9 (10)	12
1996	Н	Н	Н	Н
2001	Н	Н	Н	Х
2004	Н	Н	Х	Х
2008	Н	Н	Н	х
Add Health:	Body Mass Ind	ex (BMI) & I	Depressive Sym	ptoms (DS)
	1	2**	3	4
	BMI***	BMI	BMI	BMI
	DS	DS	DS	DS

Table 1.1 Availability of Dependent Variables Self-Rated Health, Body Mass Index (BMI), and Depressive Symptoms in the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) & the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health), by Wave

Source: National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health) and Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)

*SIPP 2008 panel waves are in parentheses

**Add Health Wave 2 is a subsample, by design

***Only self-reported BMI available

			White v.
	White	Nonwhite	Nonwhite ^{\pm}
Self-Rated Health			
Mean Self-Rated Health	3.91	3.75	***
Self-Rated Health Categories			***
Poor	1.9	2.3	
Fair	5.9	8.1	
Good	23.0	28.4	
Very Good	37.6	35.0	
Excellent	31.6	26.2	
Own Race/Ethnicity			
Hispanic		53.6	
Black		29.8	
Asian		16.6	
Partner Race			***
White	96.1	12.2	
Nonwhite	4.0	87.8	
Union Type			***
Married	92.1	90.2	
Cohabiting	7.9	9.8	
New Relationship	4.1	4.9	***
Education			***
<high school<="" td=""><td>6.4</td><td>25.8</td><td></td></high>	6.4	25.8	
High School Degree	28.5	27.7	
Some College	31.3	26.3	
Bachelor's Degree or More	33.9	20.2	
Gender			
Male	48.6	49.5	
Female	51.4	50.5	
Age (Mean)	41.8	39.7	***
Total N	228,599	70,466	

Table 2.1 Characteristics of Married and Cohabiting Men and Women aged 18-59, 1996-2011 (Weighted % unless otherwise indicated)

Source: SIPP 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 Panels

[±]Group differences from chi-squared and t-tests, *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

		Model 1			Model 2	
			Men v.			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women	Men	Women	Women
Nonwhite Partner	-0.0002	-0.066**	*			
	(0.020)	(0.022)				
Nonwhite Partner race/	ethnicity ^b					
Hispanic				0.012	-0.063*	*
				(0.026)	(0.028)	
Black				0.010	-0.106*	
				(0.066)	(0.044)	
Asian				-0.029	0.003	
				(0.037)	(0.061)	
Age	-0.020***	-0.015***	***	-0.020***	-0.015***	***
	(0.001)	(0.000)		(0.001)	(0.000)	
Age squared ^a	-0.019***	-0.022***		-0.02***	-0.021***	
	(0.004)	(0.004)		(0.004)	(0.004)	
Cohabiting	-0.179***	-0.164***		-0.179***	-0.163***	
	(0.019)	(0.017)		(0.019)	(0.017)	
High School	0.379***	0.422***		0.379***	0.422***	
	(0.020)	(0.020)		(0.020)	(0.020)	
Some College	0.505***	0.558***	!	0.505***	0.558***	!
	(0.020)	(0.020)		(0.020)	(0.020)	
Bachelor's Degree or						
Higher	0.834***	0.875***		0.835***	0.875***	
	(0.019)	(0.020)		(0.019)	(0.020)	
New Relationship	0.013	-0.032*	*	0.013	-0.032*	*
	(0.016)	(0.015)		(0.016)	(0.015)	
Constant	3.50***	3.40***	***	3.502***	3.397***	
	(0.019)	(0.019)		(0.019)	(0.019)	
Observations	110,767	117,832		110,767	117,832	
R-squared	0.107	0.094		0.107	0.094	
BIC Statistic	295015.7	317568		295037.1	317586.6	
AIC Statistic	294929.2	317480.9		294931.3	317480.2	

 Table 2.2 Cross-sectional OLS Regression of Self-rated Health among White men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

^aCoefficient & standard error multipled by 100

^bWald tests were conducted for differences between partner race coefficients for White models; no differences were found

Standard errors in parentheses

			i.		a relationsh	1p3, 1	JJ0-2011					
	All ì	Nonwhites		Hispanics			Blacks			Asians		
			M v.			M v.						M v.
	Men	Women	W	Men	Women	W	Men	Women	M v. W	Men	Women	W
White Partner	0.105***	0.177***	*	0.087**	0.124***		0.094*	0.120!		0.149*	0.264***	
	(0.022)	(0.022)		(0.029)	(0.031)		(0.046)	(0.070)		(0.065)	(0.038)	
Other Nonwhite Partner^				-0.101 (0.092)	0.118! (0.064)	!	0.048 (0.083)	0.048 (0.092)		0.080 (0.128)	0.099 (0.082)	
Observations	34,223	36,243		17,337	17,973		11,302	11,337		5,584	6,933	
R-squared	0.082	0.101		0.069	0.090		0.105	0.123		0.081	0.092	

 Table 2.3 Cross-sectional OLS Regression of Self-rated Health among nonwhite men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting

 and married relationships
 1996-2011[±]

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

[±]All models control for age, age squared, union type, education level, and whether the relationship is new. Full model results in Appendix Table 1.2.

^ for Hispanics, either Black or Asian; for Blacks, either Hispanic or Asian; for Asians, either Hispanic or Black Standard errors in parentheses

		Whites		Nonwhites			
			Men v.			Men v.	
	Men	Women	Women	Men	Women	Women	
Nonwhite Partner	0.012	-0.036*	*				
	(0.016)	(0.018)					
White Partner				0.073***	0.090***		
				(0.020)	(0.020)		
Self-Rated Health 1 Year Prior							
Fair	0.689***	0.663***		0.733***	0.633***		
	(0.041)	(0.036)		(0.064)	(0.064)		
Good	1.40***	1.38***		1.29***	1.19***		
	(0.038)	(0.034)		(0.060)	(0.062)		
Very Good	1.85***	1.857***		1.67***	1.53***		
	(0.038)	(0.034)		(0.060)	(0.062)		
Excellent	2.28***	2.30***		2.00***	1.89***		
	(0.038)	(0.034)		(0.061)	(0.062)		
Age	-0.011***	-0.008***	***	-0.015***	-0.014***		
	(0.000)	(0.000)		(0.001)	(0.001)		
Age squared ^a	-0.091**	-0.007*		-0.025***	-0.018**		
	(0.003)	(0.003)		(0.007)	(0.006)		
Cohabiting	-0.075***	-0.050***		-0.067**	-0.118***		
	(0.016)	(0.013)		(0.024)	(0.025)		
High School	0.150***	0.192***	*	0.045*	0.083***		
	(0.015)	(0.015)		(0.019)	(0.018)		
Some College	0.215***	0.260***	*	0.060**	0.144***	**	
	(0.015)	(0.015)		(0.019)	(0.018)		
Bachelor's Degree or Higher	0.382***	0.407***		0.191***	0.262***	*	
	(0.015)	(0.015)		(0.020)	(0.019)		
New Relationship	-0.012	-0.024		-0.003	-0.007		
	(0.019)	(0.017)		(0.035)	(0.031)		
Constant	1.95***	1.87***	***	2.23***	2.21***	***	
	(0.038)	(0.034)		(0.059)	(0.061)		
Observations	66 695	71 209		10.019	21 420		
Duscivations Descuered	00,083	/1,508		19,918	21,439		
K-squared	0.34	0.344		0.237	0.20		

Table 2.4 OLS Regression predicting self-rated health change over a one-year period for men and women aged 18-59 in married and cohabiting relationships, 1996-2011

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

^aCoefficient & standard error multipled by 100

Standard errors in parentheses

			White v.
	White	Nonwhite	Nonwhite [±]
Own Race/Ethnicity			
Hispanic		56.1	
Black		32.8	
Asian		11.1	
Partner Race			***
White	93.6	17.1	
Nonwhite	6.4	82.9	
Union Type			***
Married	57.2	67.6	
Cohabiting	42.8	32.5	
Education			***
<high school<="" td=""><td>8.0</td><td>22.6</td><td></td></high>	8.0	22.6	
High School Degree	30.9	33.7	
Some College	32.9	28.7	
Bachelor's Degree or More	28.2	15.0	
Gender			
Male	49.4	52.3	
Female	50.6	47.7	
Age (Mean)	32.3	32.4	
Total N	12,282	4,172	
Self-Rated Health One Year Prior			
Mean Self-Rated Health	3.99	3.83	***
Self-Rated Health Categories			***
Poor	1.4	2.2	
Fair	5.5	5.8	
Good	21.9	27.2	
Very Good	34.9	35.9	
Excellent	36.3	28.9	
Total N	4,545	1,555	

Table 2.5 Characteristics of Adults in New Marriage or Cohabiting Relationships aged 18-59, 1996-2011 (Weighted % unless otherwise indicated)

Source: SIPP 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 Panels

[±]Group differences from chi-squared and t-tests, *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

	М	len	Wor		
		Race		Race	
		Interaction		Interaction	Men v. Women
	Main Model	Model	Main Model	Model	(Main model)
Health t-1 ^a	-0.063	-0.095	-0.133*	-0.128	
	(0.074)	(0.096)	(0.062)	(0.081)	
Female					
Nonwhite (White)	4.21***	5.73***	4.27***	6.41***	
	(0.097)	(0.561)	(0.092)	(0.524)	
Cohabiting (Married)	-0.567***	-0.028	-0.283**	0.005	*
	(0.107)	(0.138)	(0.099)	(0.122)	
Age	0.010*	0.003	-0.015***	-0.030***	***
	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.004)	(0.006)	
Education (<high school)<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></high>					
High School	-0.592***	-0.023	-0.494***	-0.056	
	(0.128)	(0.269)	(0.122)	(0.215)	
Some College	-0.443**	0.371	-0.702***	-0.075	
	(0.138)	(0.269)	(0.124)	(0.207)	
Bachelor's Degree or Higher	-0.477**	0.463	-1.26***	-0.354	***
	(0.168)	(0.297)	(0.153)	(0.232)	
Constant	-1.82***	-2.62***	-1.40***	-2.21***	***
	(0.290)	(0.384)	(0.229)	(0.320)	
Race Interaction Model Coefficient	nts				
Nonwhite x Health t-1 ^a		-0.007		-0.073	
		(0.134)		(0.114)	
Nonwhite x Cohabiting		-0.967***		-0.699***	
		(0.198)		(0.194)	
Nonwhite x Age		0.012		0.032**	
		(0.010)		(0.010)	
Education					
Nonwhite x High School		-0.810*		-1.05**	
		(0.337)		(0.382)	
Nonwhite x Some College		-1.234***		-1.55***	
		(0.343)		(0.368)	
Nonwhite x Bachelor's Degree+		-1.61***		-2.09***	
		(0.379)		(0.385)	
Observations	8.133	8.133	8.321	8.321	

Table 2.6 Logistic Regression of Likelihood of Having a Nonwhite Spouse or Cohabiting Partner among Men an
Women in New Marriage or Cohabiting Relationships aged 18-59, 1996-2011

Source: 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 SIPP Panels *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, ! p<0.1a Health at t-1 was multiply imputed from health at time t for those with no observed health at t-1 - see text for details

Standard errors in parentheses

		1 pp on a	1 10010 21		binp reacte	n eempeen				
Frequenci	es, Married	and Coh	abiting Re	lationshi	ps among	Men and W	omen Ag	e 18-59		
	1	Total San	nple (Perso	on-Year)		N	ew Relat	ionship S	ubsample	e
MEN										
Partner Race							Partner	Race		
	Hispanic	Black	White	Asian	Total	Hispanic	Black	White	Asian	Total
Hispanic	14,612	85	2,538	102	17,337	826	24	227	5	1,082
Black	217	9,952	1,026	107	11,302	23	638	114	7	782
White	2,436	368	106,703	1,260	110,767	211	27	5,711	91	6,040
Asian	86	28	475	4,995	5,584	7	1	38	183	229
					WON	<i>A</i> EN				
		Partner	Race			Partner Race				
	Hispanic	Black	White	Asian	Total	Hispanic	Black	White	Asian	Total
Hispanic	15,125	228	2,534	86	17,973	809	25	214	7	1,055
Black	101	10,821	394	21	11,337	23	677	27	0	727
White	2,569	1,086	113,695	482	117,832	228	124	5,847	43	6,242
Asian	104	119	1,356	5,354	6,933	7	9	95	186	297
~ 10		001 0 00	O OTD D D	1						

Appendix Table 2.1	Partnership Racia	l Composition b	y Gender
--------------------	-------------------	-----------------	----------

	All Nonwhites			H	ispanics		В	lacks		Asians	
			М		-	М		М			Μ
			V.			V.		V.			V.
	Men	Women	W	Men	Women	W	Men	Women W	Men	Women	W
White Partner	0.105***	0.177***	*	0.087**	0.124***		0.094*	0.120!	0.149*	0.264***	
	(0.022)	(0.022)		(0.029)	(0.031)		(0.046)	(0.070)	(0.065)	(0.038)	
Other Nonwhite				0.101	0 1101		0.040	0.040	0.000	0.000	
Partner				-0.101	0.118!	!	0.048	0.048	0.080	0.099	
				(0.092)	(0.064)		(0.083)	(0.092)	(0.128)	(0.082)	
Age	-0 024***	-0.023***		-0.022***	-0.023***		-0.027***	-0.026***	-0.018***	-0.017***	
0	(0.001)	(0.001)		(0.001)	(0.023)		(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.002)	
Age squared ^a	-0.001***	-0.035***	,	-0.048***	-0.038***		-0.057***	-0.029*	-0.048*	-0.038*	
	(0.001)	(0.000)	•	(0.010)	(0.009)		(0.013)	(0.02)	(0.020)	(0.016)	
Cohabiting	-0.154***	-0 184***		-0 139***	-0.160***		-0.152***	-0 175***	-0.148	-0 233**	
8	(0.026)	(0.026)		(0.035)	(0.037)		(0.042)	(0.042)	(0.107)	(0.076)	
High School	0.102***	0.181***	**	0.105***	0 169***	,	0 248***	0.355***	0 242**	0 298***	
8 ~	(0.020)	(0.020)		(0.026)	(0.025)	•	(0.050)	(0.049)	(0.083)	(0.060)	
Some College	0.185***	0.267***	**	0 190***	0 245***		0 342***	0.498*** *	0.268**	0.315***	
	(0.021)	(0.020)		(0.027)	(0.027)		(0.051)	(0.049)	(0.083)	(0.061)	
Bachelor's	(0.021)	(0.020)		(0.027)	(0.027)		(0.001)	(0.019)	(0.005)	(0.001)	
Degree or Higher	0.270***	0 57/***	***	0.240***	0 /01***	**	0 516***	0 700*** **	* 0 517***	0 510***	
Inghei	(0.022)	(0.024)		(0.026)	(0.022)		(0.055)	(0.051)	(0.074)	(0.055)	
New	(0.022)	(0.020)		(0.030)	(0.055)		(0.055)	(0.031)	(0.074)	(0.055)	
Relationship	-0.009	-0.0491		0.010	-0.033		-0.046	-0.087*	0.063	0.024	
1	(0.026)	(0.025)		(0.037)	(0.035)		(0.044)	(0.043)	(0.068)	(0.05)	
Constant	3 75***	3 53***	***	3 782***	3 566***		3 575***	3 275***	3 598***	3 486***	
	(0.017)	(0.016)		(0.019)	(0.019)		(0.048)	(0.047)	(0.073)	(0.054)	
	(0.017)	(0.010)		(0.01)	(0.01)		(0.010)	(0.017)	(0.075)	(0.001)	
	1								1		

Appendix Table 2.2 Cross-sectional OLS Regression of Self-rated Health among nonwhite men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

R-squared	0.082	0.101	0.069	0.090	0.105	0.123	0.081	0.092	
Observations	34,223	36,243	17,337	17,973	11,302	11,337	5,584	6,933	

Source: 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 SIPP Panels *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1 ^aCoefficient & standard error multipled by 100

Standard errors in parentheses ^ for Hispanics, either Black or Asian; for Blacks, either Hispanic or Asian; for Asians, either Hispanic or Black

Appendix Table 2.3 Cross-se among men and wome	ectional OLS Reg n age 18-59 in col	ression with gender interactions of habiting and married relationships,	self-rated health 1996-2011
Whites		Nonwhites	
Nonwhite partner	-0.0002 (0.020)	Nonwhite Partner	
White Partner		White partner	0.105*** (0.022)
Female	-0.106*** (0.027)	Female	-0.223*** (0.023)
Nonwhite partner x Female	-0.066*	White partner x Female	0.071*
Age	-0.020***	Age	-0.024***
Age x Female	0.005***	Age x Female	0.001
Age squared ^a	-0.019***	Age squared*	-0.001***
Age squared x Female	-0.026	Age squared x Female	0.016!
Cohabiting	-0.179***	Cohabiting	-0.154***
Cohabiting x Female	0.015	Cohabiting x Female	-0.030
HS	0.379***	HS	0.102***
HS x Female	0.043	HS x Female	0.079**
Some College	0.505***	Some College	0.185***
Some College x Female	0.053!	Some College x Female	0.021)
BA+	0.834***	BA+	0.370***
BA+ x Female	0.041	BA+ x Female	0.154***
New Relationship	0.013	New Relationship	-0.009
New Relationship x Female	(0.016) -0.045*	New Relationship x Female	-0.041
Constant	(0.022) -0.100***	Constant	(0.036) -0.220***
Observations	(0.019)	Observations	(0.017)
R-squared	0.101	R-squared	0.093

Appendix Table 2.3 Cross-sectional OLS Regression with gender interactions of self-rated healt
among men and women age 18-59 in cohabiting and married relationships, 1996-2011

Source: 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 SIPP Panels *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1 aCoefficient & standard errors multipled by 100

Standard errors in parentheses

	Ma	N. 1'
New Life Destaura	whites	Nonwhites
Nonwhite Partner	0.012	
	(0.016)	
Nonwhite Partner x Female	-0.049*	
	(0.024)	
White Partner		0.073***
		-0.02
White Partner x Female		0.017
		-0.028
Female	-0.081	-0.019
	(0.051)	(0.085)
Fair Health	0.689***	0.733***
	(0.041)	(0.064)
Fair Health x Female	-0.026	-0.100
	(0.055)	(0.090)
Good Health	1.40***	1.29***
	(0.038)	(0.060)
Good Health x Female	-0.017	-0.100
	(0.051)	(0.086)
V. Good Health	1.85***	1.67***
	(0.038)	(0.060)
V. Good Health x Female	0.012	-0.140
	(0.051)	(0.086)
Excellent Health	2.28***	2.00***
	(0.038)	(0.061)
Excellent Health x Female	0.021	-0.107
	(0.021)	(0.087)
Age	-0.011***	-0.015***
1150	(0.000)	(0.019)
Age y Female	0.003***	0.001
Age x I emale	(0.003)	(0.001)
Δ ge squared ^a	0.001	0.001)
Age squared	(0.002)	(0.023)
A ge Squared y Female	(0.003)	0.007)
Age squared x reliate	(0.002)	(0.000)
Cohabiting	0.004)	0.009)
Conaditung	-0.073	-0.00/
Cohabiting y Famala	0.025	(0.024)
Conabiling x remaie	0.025	-0.052
	(0.021)	(0.035)
пъ	0.150^{***}	0.045*
	(0.015)	(0.019)
HS x Female	0.042*	0.038
	(0.021)	(0.026)
Some College	0.215***	0.060**
	(0.015)	(0.019)
Some College x Female	0.045*	0.084**
	(0.021)	(0.026)
BA+	0.382***	0.191***
	(0.015)	(0.020)

Appendix Table 2.4 OLS Regression with Gender Interactions Predicting Health Change over one year period for men and women aged 18-59 in married and cohabiting relationships, 1996-2011

BA+ x Female	0.025	0.070*
	(0.021)	(0.027)
New Relationship	-0.012	-0.003
	(0.019)	(0.035)
New Relationship x Female	-0.012	-0.004
	(0.026)	(0.047)
Constant	-0.080***	-0.020***
	(0.038)	(0.059)
Observations	137,993	41,357
R-squared	0.342	0.260

 K-squared
 0.32

 Source: 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 SIPP Panels

 *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1</td>

 aCoefficient & SE multipled by 100

 Standard errors in parentheses

Gender Interact	ion Model
Health t-1 ^a	-0.049
	(0.068)
Female x Health t-1 *	-0.082
	(0.082)
Female	0.461
	(0.328)
Nonwhite (White)	4.21***
	(0.097)
Female x Nonwhite	0.053
	(0.134)
Cohabiting (Married)	-0.567***
	(0.107)
Female x Cohabiting	0.287*
	(0.146)
Age	0.010*
	(0.005)
Female x Age	-0.025***
	(0.006)
Education (<hs)< td=""><td></td></hs)<>	
HS	-0.596***
	(0.128)
Female x HS	0.098
	(0.176)
Some College	-0.449**
	(0.138)
Female x Some College	-0.256
	(0.184)
BA+	-0.489**
	(0.166)
Female x BA+	-0.766***
	(0.224)
Constant	-1.86***
	(0.275)
Observations	16,454

Appendix Table 2.5 Logistic Regression of Likelihood of Having a New
Nonwhite Spouse or Cohabiting Partner, 1996-2011, with gender interactions
(Men and Women Ages 18-59, Whites and nonwhites combined)

Source: 1996, 2001, 2004, 2008 SIPP Panels *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1^aHealth at t-1 was multiply imputed from health at time t for those with no observed health at t-1 - see text for details

Standard errors in parentheses

			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race			***
Hispanic	5.6	5.2	
Black	1.3	4.2	
White	89.4	87.9	
Asian	3.6	2.8	
Skin Tone ^{\pm}	5.0	5.0	
Multiracial (wave 1)	2.7	2.4	!
Foreign Born (wave 1)	0.7	1.1	!
Relationship Type			***
Married	41.1	47.5	
Cohabiting	27.6	27.3	
Dating/Other	31.3	25.2	
Relationship Duration (years)	3.3	3.9	***
Living Arrangement			*
Parents' home	18.9	16.9	
Own place	73.6	76.4	
Other	7.5	6.7	
Biological Children in Household	30.1	45.9	***
Education			***
Less than high school	11.5	8.8	
High school	24.2	20.3	
Some College	41.6	41.9	
Bachelors' Degree or more	22.7	29.0	
Age	25.6	25.2	***
BMI^{a}	27.9	27.0	***
Overweight/obese (%)	62.2	50.2	***
N	3,897	5,034	

Table 3.1 Descriptive statistics for the cross sectional analysis, non-Hispanic Whiteⁱ men and women in dating, married, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3 and 4, person-wave observations from waves 3 and 4 ⁱNon-Hispanic White includes multiracial Whites who most identify as White

[±]Skin tone is measured on a scale with values 1-5; 1 is darkest, 5 is lightest; interviewer-rated at Wave 3 ^aBMI measured at Wave 3 and 4

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race			***
Hispanic	5.6	5.8	
Black	1.4	4.2	
White	89.2	87.2	
Asian	3.8	2.9	
Skin Tone±	4.95	4.95	
Multiracial	2.5	2.6	
Foreign Born	0.7	1.3	
Relationship Type			***
Married	32.5	37.0	
Cohabiting	30.1	31.8	
Dating/Other	37.4	31.3	
Relationship Duration (years)	2.1	2.3	***
Living Arrangement			*
Parents' home	22.1	19.5	
Own place	70.0	72.8	
Other	7.8	7.7	
Biological Children in Household	20.7	35.7	***
Education			***
Less than high school	10.4	8.2	
High school	23.1	18.9	
Some College	42.4	41.4	
Bachelors' Degree or more	24.0	31.5	
Age	25.2	24.6	***
BMI at prior observation ^a	24.7	23.8	***
Overweight/obese (%) at prior observation	46.8	37.6	***
N	3,123	3,798	

Table 3.2. Descriptive statistics for the selection analysis, non-Hispanic Whiteⁱ men and women in new dating, married, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Source: Add Health waves 1 - 4, person-wave observations pooled from waves 3 and 4 ⁱNon-Hispanic White includes multiracial Whites who most identify as White ^aBMI measured at Wave 2 and 3

 $^{\pm}$ Skin tone is measured on a scale with values 1-5; 1 is darkest, 5 is lightest; interviewer-rated at Wave 3

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race			
Hispanic	3.4	3.0	
Black	0.4	2.8	
White	94.3	93.2	
Asian	2.0	1.1	
Skin Tone [±]	4.96	4.96	
Multiracial (wave 1)	3.1	1.9	
Foreign Born (wave 1)	0.5	0.7	
Relationship Type			!
Married	33.4	39.6	
Cohabiting	29.6	27.6	
Dating/Other	37.0	32.8	
Relationship Duration at W3 (years)	2.9	3.3	***
Living Arrangement			!
Parents' home	25.1	22.3	
Own place	67.3	69.3	
Other	7.6	8.4	
Biological Children in Household	20.1	33.4	***
Education			
Less than high school	12.9	10.9	
High school	32.3	28.9	
Some College	39.1	40.4	
Bachelors' Degree or more	15.7	19.8	
Age	22.3	21.9	***
BMI (Wave 3)	26.7	26.1	*
Overweight/obese (%) (Wave 3)	55.4	43.3	***
BMI (Wave 4)	29.4	28.4	*
Overweight/obese (%) (Wave 4)	71.3	60.6	***
N	703	1,058	
Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4			

Table 3.3. Descriptive statistics for non-Hispanic Whiteⁱ men and women in continuing dating, married, and cohabiting relationships from 2001 to 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

ⁱNon-Hispanic White includes multiracial Whites who most identify as White

[±]Skin tone is measured on a scale with values 1-5; 1 is darkest, 5 is lightest; interviewer-rated at Wave 3

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

dating, condotting, and me	inted relation.	Ships	
			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race (White)			
Hispanic Partner	0.072	0.386*	
	(0.205)	(0.160)	
Odds Ratio	1.08	1.47	
Black Partner	-0.401	0.761***	**
	(0.364)	(0.210)	
Odds Ratio	0.67	2.14	
Asian Partner	-0.083	-0.248	
	(0.245)	(0.223)	
Odds Ratio	0.920	0.780	
Skin Tone	-0.097	-0.201	
	(0.214)	(0.170)	
Multiracial	0.053	0.290	
	(0.314)	(0.289)	
Foreign Born	-1.299*	-0.606	
	(0.567)	(0.432)	
Relationship Type (Married)			
Cohabiting	-0.263*	-0.215*	
	(0.121)	(0.102)	
Dating	-0.498***	-0.362**	
	(0.134)	(0.121)	
Relationship Duration (years)	-0.004	0.037*	!
	(0.019)	(0.015)	
Living Arrangement (Parents' Home)			
Own Place	-0.278*	-0.225!	
	(0.130)	(0.120)	
Other	-0.413*	-0.411*	
	(0.190)	(0.175)	
Biological Children in Household	0.134	0.318***	
	(0.119)	(0.096)	
Education (Less than high school)			
High School	0.156	0.394*	
	(0.173)	(0.171)	
Some College	0.295!	-0.096	!
	(0.167)	(0.164)	
Bachelors' Degree or Higher	0.084	-0.528**	
	(0.188)	(0.180)	
Age	0.114***	0.097***	
c	(0.014)	(0.012)	
Constant	-1.641	-1.303	
	(1.138)	(0.898)	
Log Likelihood	-4780709	-5566216	
Observations	3,897	5,034	

Table 3.4 Logistic Regression of likelihood of being overweight/obese on partner race/ethnicity among non-Hispanic White men and women in current dating, cohabiting, and married relationships Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1Source: Add Health Waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

Statistical analyses adjust for clustering within individual in the case of observation in a relationship in waves 3 and 4

Men Multivitation Multiviation Multivitation <th< th=""><th><u> </u></th></th<>	<u> </u>
MenWomenWomenMenWomenMenWomenMenWomenMenPrior Overweight/Obesea 0.272 0.236 -0.202 0.823^{***} ! -0.363 -0.253 (0.200) (0.210) (0.513) (0.243) (0.266) (0.265) Odds Ratio 1.31 1.27 0.817 2.28 0.700 0.777 Skin Tone (Wave (0.245) (0.223) (0.653) (0.210) (0.473) (0.213) Multiracial (Wave (0.513) 0.336 -1.360 $0.959!$ -0.392 0.584 (0.566) (0.458) (0.945) (0.516) (0.791) (0.565)	en v
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	omen
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Odds Ratio 1.31 1.27 0.817 2.28 0.700 0.777 Skin Tone (Wave3) $-0.543*$ $-0.467*$ -0.354 $-0.852***$ 0.288 $-0.570**$ (0.245) (0.223) (0.653) (0.210) (0.473) (0.213) Multiracial (Wave1) 0.513 0.336 -1.360 $0.959!$ -0.392 0.584 (0.566) (0.458) (0.945) (0.516) (0.791) (0.565)	
Skin Tone (Wave 3) -0.543^* -0.467^* -0.354 -0.852^{***} 0.288 -0.570^{**} (0.245)Multiracial (Wave0.5130.336 -1.360 0.959! -0.392 0.584(0.566)(0.458)(0.945)(0.516)(0.791)(0.565)	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
(0.245) (0.223) (0.653) (0.210) (0.473) (0.213) Multiracial (Wave 0.513 0.336 -1.360 0.959! -0.392 0.584 (0.566) (0.458) (0.945) (0.516) (0.791) (0.565)	
Multiracial (Wave 0.513 0.336 -1.360 0.959! -0.392 0.584 (0.566) (0.458) (0.945) (0.516) (0.791) (0.565)	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
(0.566) (0.458) (0.945) (0.516) (0.791) (0.565)	
Foreign Born	
(Wave 1) -3.852*** 0.348 *** 2.620** -20.731*** -0.231 0.606	
(1.065) (0.682) (0.816) (0.548) (1.059) (0.721)	
Relationship type (Married)	
Cohabiting 0.277 0.234 0.578 1.305*** 0.212 0.794**	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Dating $-0.528 = 0.261 = 0.062 = 1.604*** = 0.001 = 0.620$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Relationshin (0.574) (0.514) (0.722) (0.595) (0.595) (0.410)	
duration (years) $0.002 0.075 0.079 0.015 -0.021 0.163*$	
$\begin{array}{cccc} (0.068) & (0.050) & (0.159) & (0.075) & (0.081) & (0.075) \\ \end{array}$	
Living	
Arrangement	
(Parents' home)	
Own Place $-0.656* -0.240$ $-0.809* -0.230$ -0.428 0.195	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Other 0.109 0.215 -0.117 0.093 -0.681 0.490	
(0.430) (0.359) (0.645) (0.426) (0.533) (0.415)	
Biological	
Children in	
Household $0.200 0.206 -1.1511 0.671* * 0.270 -0.051$	
(0.272) (0.268) (0.668) (0.268) (0.369) (0.291)	
Education (Less	
than high school)	
High School -0.388 -0.577 0.712 -0.510 -0.311 -0.650	
(0.401) (0.396) (0.696) (0.370) (0.423) (0.421)	
Some College -0.123 -0.577 0.301 -1.024** -0.651! -0.571	
(0.366) (0.377) (0.743) (0.360) (0.375) (0.393)	
Bachelors' or	
Higher -0.695! -0.928* -1.178 -1.835*** -0.048 -0.865!	
(0.420) (0.431) (1.084) (0.498) (0.443) (0.473)	
Age 0.026 0.017 0.043 0.027 0.011 -0.055	
$(0.030) (0.028) \qquad (0.055) (0.036) \qquad (0.049) (0.037)$	
Constant -0.155 -0.573 -3.358 -0.213 -4.126 0.350	
$(1.341) (1.339) \qquad (3.027) (1.307) \qquad (2.651) (1.524)$	

 Table 3.5 Multinomial Logistic Regression Predicting Partner Race among non-Hispanic White men and women in new dating, married, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008

Observations	3,123	3,714	3,123 3,	714 3,	123 3,	714

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

^aBMI at prior observation was multiply imputed from measured BMI and self-reported BMI at Wave 1 for those with no observed BMI at prior observation - see text for details

Source: Add Health, Waves 1-4; person-wave observations. Partner race at Waves 3 and 4 predicted from BMI at Waves 2 and 3; control variables observed at Wave 3 or 4 unless otherwise noted

Statistical analyses adjust for clustering within individual in the case of observation in a relationship in waves 3 and 4

with the sume partic	1 110111 2001 to 2000		Men vs
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race (White)			
Hispanic Partner	-0.050	1.173!	
	(0.640)	(0.638)	
Odds Ratio	0.951	3.23	
Black Partner	-0.457	2.685*	!
	(1.512)	(1.186)	
Odds Ratio	0.633	14.7	
Asian Partner	0.783	-0.645	
	(1.245)	(0.543)	
Odds Ratio	2.19	0.525	
Skin Tone	0.457	0.171	
	(0.636)	(0.471)	
Multiracial (Wave 1)	-1.276!	1.828*	**
× ,	(0.688)	(0.778)	
Foreign Born (Wave 1)	0.110	0.632	
5	(1.504)	(1.397)	
Relationship Type (Married)	((
Cohabiting	0.379	0.060	
e	(0.415)	(0.337)	
Dating	0.235	-0.153	
5	(0.518)	(0.352)	
Relationship Duration (years)	0.004	0.008	
	(0.078)	(0.050)	
Living Arrangement (Parents'	(0000)	(00000)	
Home)			
Own Place	-0.082	-0.025	
	(0.408)	(0.253)	
Other	0 268	-0.538	
	(0.656)	(0.334)	
Biological Children in Household	0.385	-0.598*	!
	(0.409)	(0.297)	
Education (Less than high school)	(0000)	(0.25.7)	
High School	0 776	0 1 3 9	
	(0.534)	(0.409)	
Some College	0 776	-0.286	
	(0.570)	(0.438)	
Bachelors' Degree or Higher	-0 191	-0.937*	
	(0.706)	(0.429)	
Age	-0 239*	0.000	1
1190	(0.106)	(0.083)	•
Wave 3 BMI (Continuous)	0 736***	0 538***	*
	(0.082)	(0.047)	
Constant	-14.684***	-12.899***	

Table 3.6 Logistic Regression of the Likelihood of Being Overweight/Obese by Prior BMI and Partner Race among non-Hispanic White men and women in dating, cohabiting, and married relationships with the same partner from 2001 to 2008

	(4.182)	(3.169)	
Observations	703	1,058	

Standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1 Source: Add Health, waves 1, 3 & 4; predictor variables measured at Wave 3 unless otherwise noted

	vv	ave 4 sample, t	by gender		
Opposite sex c	urrent dating, marr	ried, and cohab	iting relationsh	ips	
	PARTNER RACE				
	Hispanic	Black	White	Asian	Total
MEN					
Hispanic	756	38	300	52	1,146
Black	92	920	146	35	1,193
White	221	49	3,487	140	3,897
Asian	46	*	80	294	422
Total	1,115	1,009	4,013	521	6,658
WOMEN	·				
Hispanic	896	107	269	47	1,319
Black	69	1,531	58	24	1,682
White	295	198	4,389	152	5,034
Asian	49	29	126	325	529
Total	1,309	1,865	4,842	548	8,564
Source: Add H	lealth waves 3 & 4	·			

Appendix Table 3.1 Frequencies of partnership racial combinations in pooled Wave 3 & Wave 4 sample, by gender

*Fewer than 10 cases

Appendix Table 3.2 Relationship type transitions from wave 3 to 4

Unweighted frequenci	es			
Wave 4 relationship type				
Wave 3 relationship			Dating/	
type	Married	Cohabiting	Other	Total
Married	667	13	*	687
Cohabiting	356	109	21	486
Dating/Other	431	99	58	588
Total	1,454	221	86	1,761

among non-Hispanic Whiteⁱ men and women in relationships with stable characteristics across waves

Sources: Add Health waves 3 & 4

*Fewer than ten cases ⁱNon-Hispanic White includes multiracial Whites who most identify as White

among non-Hispanic White men and women in current dating,			
Partner Dage (White)	ips		
Hispanie	0.072		
Inspanie	(0.205)		
Black	(0.203)		
Diack	(0.364)		
Asian	-0.083		
	(0.245)		
Female	0.338		
	(1.449)		
Hispanic Partner x Female	0.314		
	(0.260)		
Black Partner x Female	1.162**		
	(0.420)		
Asian Partner x Female	-0.166		
	(0.331)		
Skin Tone	-0.097		
	(0.214)		
Skin Tone x Female	-0.104		
	(0.273)		
Multiracial	0.053		
Multine siel - Ferrele	(0.314)		
Multiracial x Female	(0.237)		
Foreign Born	(0.427) 1 200*		
Foreign Bohn	(0.567)		
Foreign Born x Female	0.693		
r oreign born x r enfure	(0.713)		
Relationship Type (Married)	(0.715)		
Cohabiting	-0.263*		
C	(0.121)		
Dating	-0.498***		
	(0.134)		
Cohabiting x Female	0.048		
	(0.158)		
Dating x Female	0.136		
	(0.181)		
Relationship Duration (years)	-0.004		
	(0.019)		
Relationship Duration x Female	0.041!		
Living Amongoment (Depended home)	(0.024)		
Own Place	0 278*		
	$-0.2/8^{\circ}$		
Other	-0 413*		
	(0.190)		
	(0.1)0)		

Appendix Table 3.3. Gender interaction model - Logistic regression of likelihood of overweight/obese on partner race among non-Hispanic White men and women in current dating, cohabiting and married relationships

Own Place x Female	0.053
	(0.177)
Other x Female	0.002
	(0.259)
Biological Children in Household	0.134
	(0.119)
Biological Children x Female	0.184
	(0.153)
Education (Less than high school)	
High School	0.156
	(0.173)
Some College	0.295!
	(0.167)
Bachelors' Degree or Higher	0.084
	(0.188)
High School x Female	0.238
	(0.243)
Some College x Female	-0.392!
	(0.234)
Bachelors'+ x Female	-0.612*
	(0.260)
Age	0.114***
	(0.014)
Age x Female	-0.017
	(0.018)
Constant	0.338
	(1.138)
Log Likelihood	-10346925
Observations	8.931

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1Source: Add Health Waves 1, 3, and 4; person-year observations Statistical analyses adjust for clustering within individual in the case of observation in a relationship in waves 3 and 4

	Hispanic Partner	Black Partner	Asian Partner
Overweight/Obese at prior observation ^a	0 304	-0.212	-0.401
	(0.198)	(0.511)	(0.273)
Female	-1 355	2.883	3 847
	(1.869)	(3.191)	(2.984)
Overweight/Obese x Female	-0 108	1 037!	0 100
	(0.289)	(0.569)	(0.386)
Skin tone	-0.545*	-0.300	0 356
	(0.241)	(0.633)	(0.459)
Skin tone x Female	0 270	-0 443	-0 727
	(0.325)	(0.665)	(0.503)
Multiracial	0.543	-1 390	-0.423
	(0.562)	(0.941)	(0.786)
Multiracial x Female	-0 330	2 283*	0.899
	(0.720)	(1.071)	(0.964)
Foreign Born	-3 995***	2 691***	-0.307
i orongin Donn	(1.050)	(0.803)	(1.054)
Foreign Born x Female	4 366***	(0.005) i	0.939
	(1.257)		(1.281)
Relationshin Type (Married)	(1.207)		(1.201)
Cohabiting	0 262	0.548	0 180
e onworoning	(0.277)	(0.665)	(0.313)
Dating	-0.523	0.091	0.022
	(0.374)	(0.720)	(0.309)
Cohabiting x Female	-0.124	0.703	0.544
	(0.377)	(0.734)	(0.435)
Dating x Female	0.673	1.462!	0.506
5	(0.487)	(0.820)	(0.511)
Relationship Duration (years)	0.001	0.079	-0.022
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	(0.068)	(0.159)	(0.081)
Relationship duration x female	0.067	-0.077	0.179
	(0.084)	(0.175)	(0.110)
Living Arrangement (Parents' Home)	()		()
Own Place	-0.621*	-0.750*	-0.375
	(0.313)	(0.377)	(0.341)
Other	0.139	-0.103	-0.690
	(0.429)	(0.643)	(0.532)
Own Place x Female	0.396	0.531	0.606
	(0.406)	(0.500)	(0.513)
Other x Female	0.057	0.150	1.164!
	(0.559)	(0.770)	(0.673)
Biological Children in Household	0.205	-1.177!	0.269
J	(0.272)	(0.668)	(0.368)
Biological Children x Female	-0.036	1.831*	-0.368
-	(0.381)	(0.719)	(0.468)
Education (Less than high school)		. ,	

Appendix Table 3.4 Gender Interaction Model - Logistic Regressions Predicting Partner Race by Overweight/Obese, among non-Hispanic White men and women in new dating, cohabiting, and marriage relationships

High school	-0.386	0.764	-0.294
2	(0.400)	(0.697)	(0.422)
Some College	-0.101	0.348	-0.643!
-	(0.366)	(0.745)	(0.376)
Bachelors' Degree or Higher	-0.683	-1.134	0.001
	(0.419)	(1.091)	(0.444)
High School x Female	-0.107	-1.190	-0.266
2	(0.561)	(0.789)	(0.597)
Some College x Female	-0.352	-1.287	0.201
-	(0.524)	(0.827)	(0.543)
Bachelors'+ x Female	-0.100	-0.587	-0.705
	(0.602)	(1.199)	(0.649)
Age	0.024	0.041	0.009
2	(0.030)	(0.055)	(0.049)
Age x Female	-0.009	-0.014	-0.069
2	(0.041)	(0.065)	(0.061)
Constant	-0.214	-3.758	-4.536!
	(1.323)	(2.924)	(2.575)
Observations	6,837	6,792	6,837

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

Foreign born omitted for Black partner model; foreign born x female predicts that black partner=0 perfectly. 35 observations dropped.

^aBMI at prior observation was multiply imputed from measured BMI and self-reported BMI at Wave 1 for those with no observed BMI at prior observation - see text for details Source: Add Health, waves 1-4

Statistical analyses adjust for clustering within individual in the case of observation in a relationship in waves 3 and 4
married relationships with the same partner from 2001 to 2008				
Partner Race (White)				
Hispanic Partner	-0.050			
	(0.640)			
Black Partner	-0.457			
	(1.512)			
Asian Partner	0.783			
Female	(1.245)			
Female	1.785			
Hispanic Partner y Female	(4.820)			
Thispanie I artifer x I emate	(0.924)			
Black Partner x Female	3 142!			
	(1.884)			
Asian Partner x Female	-1.428			
	(1.312)			
Skin tone	0.457			
	(0.636)			
Skin tone x Female	-0.285			
	(0.728)			
Multiracial (Wave 1)	-1.276!			
	(0.688)			
Multiracial x Female	3.104**			
Farrier harry (Warra 1)	(1.023)			
Foreign born (wave 1)	(1.504)			
Foreign horn y Fomelo	(1.304)			
Foreign born x Female	(2.066)			
Relationshin Type (Married)	(2.000)			
Cohabiting	0.379			
	(0.415)			
Dating	0.235			
C	(0.518)			
Cohabiting x Female	-0.319			
	(0.558)			
Dating x Female	-0.388			
	(0.568)			
Relationship Duration (years)	0.004			
	(0.078)			
Relationship duration x Female	0.005			
Living Arrangement (Deventer house)	(0.098)			
Own Place	_0.082			
own i nucc	(0.408)			
Other	0.268			
	(0.656)			
	. /			

Appendix Table 5.5 Gender Interaction models - Logistic Regression of
Likelihood of Being Overweight/Obese by Prior BMI and Partner Race
among non-Hispanic White men and women in dating, cohabiting, and
married relationships with the same partner from 2001 to 2008

Own Place x Female	0.057
	(0.469)
Other x Female	-0.806
	(0.732)
Biological Children in HH	0.385
	(0.409)
Biological Children x Female	-0.983!
	(0.508)
Education (Less than high school)	
High school	0.776
	(0.534)
Some College	0.776
	(0.570)
Bachelors' Degree or Higher	-0.191
	(0.706)
High School x Female	-0.637
	(0.714)
Some College x Female	-1.062
	(0.757)
Bachelors'+ x Female	-0.746
	(0.856)
Age	-0.239*
	(0.106)
Age x Female	0.239!
	(0.128)
Wave 3 BMI (Continuous)	0.736***
	(0.082)
Wave 3 BMI x Female	-0.198*
	(0.091)
Constant	-0.557
	(4.182)
Observations	1,761

Standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1 Source: Add Health, waves 1, 3 & 4; predictor variables measured at Wave 3 unless otherwise noted

Table 4.1 Descriptive statistics for the cross-sectional analysis, non-Hispanic
White men and women in married, dating, and cohabiting relationships in
2001 or 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race			***
White	89.5	87.9	
Hispanic	5.6	5.3	
Black	1.4	4.1	
Asian	3.6	2.8	
Skin Tone ⁱ	4.95	4.95	
Multiracial (Wave 1)	2.7	2.3	!
Relationship Type			***
Marriage	40.9	47.7	
Cohabitation	27.7	27.2	
Dating/Other	31.4	25.1	
Relationship Duration (years)	3.25	3.83	***
Living Arrangement			**
Parents' Home	19.3	17.1	
Own Place	73.2	76.4	
Other	7.5	6.6	
Biological Children in the Household	29.8	45.0	***
Education			***
Less than high school	12.0	9.0	
High School	24.1	20.8	
Some College	41.3	41.4	
Bachelors' Degree or More	22.7	28.8	
Age	25.57	25.09	***
Depression (0-27 point scale)	3.92	4.91	***
Depression (Log transformed)	1.34	1.52	***
N	3,987	5,280	

ⁱSkin tone is measured on a scale with values 1-5; 1 is darkest, 5 is lightest; interviewer-rated at Wave 3

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; person-wave observations at wave 3 and 4, pooled

	2001 unu 2	L .		
	Men	U	Wom	en
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2
Nonwhite partner	0.155**		0.093*	
	(0.049)		(0.040)	
Partner Race Categories ^a				
Hispanic Partner		0.133*		0.086
		(0.065)		(0.055)
Black Partner		0.224*		0.163*
		(0.107)		(0.072)
Asian Partner		0 164*		0.010
		(0.082)		(0.074)
Skin Tone	0.113	0.112	-0.028	-0.022
Skii Tolie	(0.075)	(0.075)	(0.028)	(0.030)
Multimoial	(0.073)	(0.073)	(0.038)	(0.039)
Muturaciai	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.080)
	(0.084)	(0.084)	(0.085)	(0.086)
Relationship Type (Married)				
Cohabiting	0.048	0.047	0.032	0.030
	(0.042)	(0.042)	(0.034)	(0.034)
Dating	0.072	0.071	0.026	0.023
	(0.047)	(0.047)	(0.042)	(0.042)
Relationship Duration	-0.001	-0.001	-0.008	-0.008
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Living Arrangement (Parents'				
home)				
Own Place	-0.074!	-0.074!	-0.053	-0.053
	(0.044)	(0.044)	(0.041)	(0.041)
Other	-0.022	-0.021	0.057	0.058
	(0.067)	(0.067)	(0.060)	(0.060)
Biological Children in Household	-0.026	-0.025	0.052	0.049
	(0.041)	(0.041)	(0.033)	(0.033)
	(0.0.1)	(0.0.1)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Education (Less than high school)				
High School	-0.173**	-0.174**	-0.168**	-0.168**
-	(0.061)	(0.061)	(0.055)	(0.055)
Some College	-0 226***	-0 226***	-0 317***	-0 315***
Some conege	(0.058)	(0.059)	(0.052)	(0.052)
Bachelors' Degree +	-0 327***	_0.328***	-0.482***	-0.480***
Daeneiors Degree	(0.065)	(0.065)	(0.058)	(0.058)
Ago	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.038)	(0.038)
Age	(0.051)	(0.051)	$(0.030^{-1.1})$	$(0.030^{-1.1})$
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Constant	0.214	0.218	1.0/4***	1.052***
	(0.405)	(0.403)	(0.223)	(0.225)
	• • • -			
Observations	3,987	3,987	5,280	5,280
R-squared	0.033	0.033	0.057	0.058
AIC	8790.162	8793.449	11665.39	11665.5
BIC	8878.234	8894.102	11757.39	11770.65

Table 4.2 Cross-sectional associations between partner race and depression among non-Hispanic White men and women in current marriage, dating, and cohabiting relationships, 2001 and 2008

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4

^aWald tests were conducted to test between 3 non-white partner race categories; no significant differences were found

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

^bNote that gender interactions were tested on all covariates. Because gender interactions were not statistically significant on the predictor of interest (partner race), gender interactions are not shown Statistical tests adjust for clustering within individuals in the case of observation in a relationship at both waves 3 and 4 Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

		Men	, <u>,</u>	1 21	Women	
	Married/		Relationship	Married/		Relationship
	Cohabiting	Dating	Interaction	Cohabiting	Dating	Interaction
Nonwhite partner	0.159**	0.139!				
1	(0.060)	(0.076)				
Partner Race Categories						
Hispanic Partner				0.085	0.070^{a}	
				(0.059)	(0.116)	
Black Partner				0.066	0.349***	*
				(0.095)	(0.098)	
Asian Partner				0.053	-0.142 ^b	
				(0.088)	(0.132)	
Skin tone	0.140	0.092		0.000	-0.058	
	(0.096)	(0.107)		(0.053)	(0.051)	
Multiracial	0.094	-0.055		0.183!	0.031	
	(0.090)	(0.131)		(0.094)	(0.140)	
Relationship Type		. ,				
(Married)						
Cohabiting	0.039			0.024		
	(0.043)			(0.035)		
Relationship Duration	0.004	-0.018		0.001	-0.040*	
	(0.007)	(0.014)		(0.005)	(0.018)	
Living Arrangement						
(Parents' home)						
Own Place	-0.145*	-0.014		-0.125*	-0.005	
	(0.063)	(0.065)		(0.058)	(0.059)	
Other	0.006	-0.121		0.083	-0.042	
	(0.092)	(0.095)		(0.082)	(0.091)	
Biological Children in						
Household	-0.028	0.024		0.019	0.210*	
	(0.043)	(0.156)		(0.035)	(0.085)	
Education (Less than						
high school)	0.100**	0.044		0.150**	0 1 5 5	
High School	-0.190**	-0.044		-0.158**	-0.155	
	(0.067)	(0.133)		(0.058)	(0.122)	
Some College	-0.240^{***}	-0.109		-0.302***	-0.199!	
Dechelens' Decree	(0.064)	(0.125)		(0.057)	(0.107)	
Bachelors' Degree +	-0.342***	-0.214		-0.462***	-0.369**	
4 70	(0.0/3)	(0.133)		(0.063)	(0.122)	
Age	(0.029^{+++})	(0.034^{****})		(0.030^{+++})	0.040^{***}	
Constant	(0.000)	(0.008)		(0.003)	(0.009) 1.070**	
Constant	0.194	(0.222)		(0.288)	(0.255)	
Observations	2 801	1 186		4 026	1 254	
R-squared	0.038	0.036		-,020	0.094	
it squarou	0.050	0.050		0.055	0.077	

 Table 4.3 Cross-Sectional Associations of Partner Race and Depression among non-Hispanic White men and women in current relationships in 2001 and 2008, by Relationship Type and Gender

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4

^aDifferent from Black partner, p<.05

^bDifferent from Black partner, p<.01

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

Statistical tests adjust for clustering within individuals in the case of observation in a relationship at both waves 3 and 4

All results from cross-sectional models for men and women shown in Appendix Table 3.3; Full results from the relationship type interaction models shown in Appendix Table 3.4

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race			***
White	89.1	87.2	
Hispanic	5.6	5.8	
Black	1.4	4.1	
Asian	3.8	2.9	
Multiracial (Wave 1)	2.5	2.6	
Relationship Type			***
Marriage	32.5	36.9	
Cohabitation	30.1	31.7	
Dating/Other	37.4	31.3	
Relationship Duration (years)	2.07	2.32	***
Living Arrangement			*
Parents' Home	22.1	19.6	
Own Place	70.0	72.7	
Other	7.8	7.7	
Biological Children in the Household	20.7	35.6	***
Education			***
Less than high school	10.4	8.2	
High School	23.1	18.9	
Some College	42.4	41.4	
Bachelors' Degree or More	24.0	31.5	
Age	25.20	24.63	***
Depression at prior observation (0-27			
point scale)	4.14	5.32	***
Depression at prior observation (Log			
transformed)	1.40	1.59	***
Ν	3,126	3,800	

Table 4.4 Descriptive statistics for the selection analysis, non-Hispanic Whitemen and women in new married, dating, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 or2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; person-wave observations at wave 3 and 4, pooled

	conabiling relationships in 2001 and 2008								
		Men				Wo	men ⁱ		
	All	Married/	Dating						
	Relationships	Cohabiting	Only	Al	l Relationsh	nips	Ι	Dating Only	y
				Hispanic	Black	Asian	Hispanic	Black	Asian
	Non	white Partner		Partner	Partner	Partner	Partner	Partner	Partner
Prior depression	0.246*	0.290*	0.101	0.148	0.205	0.077	0.060	0.554*	0.212
	(0.110)	(0.138)	(0.184)	(0.132)	(0.153)	(0.147)	(0.213)	(0.250)	(0.276)
Multiracial	0.085	-0.126	0.613	0.311	0.930!	0.614	0.298	0.904	1.063
	(0.483)	(0.516)	(0.635)	(0.452)	(0.481)	(0.559)	(1.061)	(0.830)	(1.088)
Relationship									
Type (married)									
Cohabiting	0.256	0.302		0.155	1.284***	0.840**			
	(0.201)	(0.211)		(0.252)	(0.310)	(0.303)			
Dating	-0.275			0.205	1.738***	0.668!			
	(0.243)			(0.306)	(0.392)	(0.400)			
Relationship									
Duration	-0.002	0.039	-0.132	0.059	0.034	0.168*	0.112	0.223!	0.225
	(0.052)	(0.065)	(0.084)	(0.050)	(0.076)	(0.074)	(0.104)	(0.116)	(0.156)
Living									
Arrangement									
(Parents' home)									
Own Place	-0.588**	-0.372	-0.754**	-0.243	-0.252	0.196	0.187	0.776!	0.801
	(0.214)	(0.346)	(0.292)	(0.255)	(0.314)	(0.382)	(0.346)	(0.413)	(0.492)
Other	-0.145	0.230	-0.586	0.213	0.037	0.550	0.208	0.794	0.020
	(0.312)	(0.458)	(0.502)	(0.368)	(0.425)	(0.417)	(0.527)	(0.534)	(0.777)
Biological									
Children in									
Household	0.100	0.096	-0.176	0.162	0.703**	-0.033	0.271	0.635	-0.455
	(0.211)	(0.226)	(0.819)	(0.262)	(0.257)	(0.282)	(0.524)	(0.457)	(0.733)
Education Level									
(Less than high									
school)									
High School	-0.229	-0.377	-0.051	-0.560	-0.319	-0.658	-1.912*	0.181	-0.043
	(0.280)	(0.318)	(0.544)	(0.397)	(0.345)	(0.435)	(0.813)	(0.543)	(1.211)

Table 4.5 Logistic regression predicting the likelihood of having a Nonwhite partner for White men and Multinomial logistic regression predicting having a Black, Hispanic, and Asian partner among White women in new marriage, dating, and cohabiting relationships in 2001 and 2008

Some College	-0.210	-0.157	-0.374	-0.564	-0.997**	-0.527	-1.410*	-1.093*	0.506
	(0.259)	(0.303)	(0.485)	(0.368)	(0.353)	(0.404)	(0.667)	(0.522)	(1.054)
Bachelors' +	-0.400	-0.291	-0.674	-0.904*	-1.910***	-0.831!	-1.615*	-3.198***	-0.524
	(0.307)	(0.352)	(0.545)	(0.419)	(0.484)	(0.485)	(0.650)	(0.839)	(1.205)
Age	0.027	0.010	0.049	0.039	0.067*	-0.056	0.045	0.037	-0.003
	(0.024)	(0.030)	(0.037)	(0.027)	(0.032)	(0.037)	(0.056)	(0.057)	(0.063)
Constant	-2.529***	-2.465**	-2.773**	-3.470***	-5.516***	-2.738**	-2.773!	-4.501***	-4.525**
	(0.662)	(0.831)	(0.958)	(0.764)	(0.830)	(0.934)	(1.553)	(1.166)	(1.728)
Log likelihood	-2068268.8	-1373475	-682532	-3285047	-3285047	-3285047	-1052080	-1052080	-1052080
Observations	3,126	2,016	1,110	3,800	3,800	3,800	1,145	1,145	1,145

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

Note: Gender interactions were tested for all covariates; there were no statistically significant interaction effects between gender and prior depression, so these results are not shown.

Note: Alternate model specifications also tested for an interaction effect between relationship type and prior depression. There were no statistically significant interaction effects. These results not shown.

Statistical tests adjust for clustering within individuals in the case of observation in a relationship at both waves 3 and 4 ⁱResults for White women in married and cohabiting relationships not shown; see Appendix Table 3.5

			Men v.
	Men	Women	Women
Partner Race			
White	93.8	93.4	
Hispanic	3.8	3.2	
Black	0.4	2.4	
Asian	2.0	1.0	
Skin Tone ⁱ	4.95	4.96	
Multiracial (Wave 1)	3.1	1.9	
Relationship Type			*
Marriage	34.8	42.4	
Cohabitation	31.1	27.4	
Dating/Other	34.1	30.2	
Relationship Duration (years)	3.01	3.44	***
Living Arrangement			!
Parents' Home	24.1	21.7	
Own Place	68.0	70.1	
Other	8.0	8.2	
Biological Children in the Household	21.0	34.2	***
Education			
Less than high school	14.9	11.6	
High School	31.4	29.3	
Some College	37.4	39.2	
Bachelors' Degree or More	16.3	19.9	
Age	22.3	22.0	***
Wave 3 Depression (0-27 point scale)	3.50	4.24	***
Wave 3 Depression (Log transformed)	1.25	1.39	***
Wave 4 Depression (0-27 point scale)	4.04	4.94	***
Wave 4 Depression (Log transformed)	1.38	1.56	***
N	685	1,130	

Table 4.6 Descriptive statistics for the depression change analysis, non-Hispanic White men and women in continuing married, dating, and cohabiting relationships from 2001 or 2008; weighted percentages unless otherwise noted

Skin tone is measured on a scale with values 1-5; 1 is darkest, 5 is lightest; interviewerrated at Wave 3

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; characteristics measured at wave 3 unless otherwise noted

11	5 5					
	ME	N ^b	WO	WOMEN		
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2		
Nonwhite partner	0.127	0.008				
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	(0, 110)	(0.116)				
Partner Race Categories ^a	(0.110)	(0.110)				
Hispanic Partner			-0.023	-0.023		
			(0.121)	(0.138)		
Black Partner			0 331*	0 3341		
Duck Further			(0.163)	(0.195)		
Asian Partner			0.035	0.092		
			(0.093)	(0.190)		
Skin Tone	0.026	0.034	(0.093)	(0.190)		
Skill Tolle	(0.105)	(0.107)	(0.210^{11})	(0.204)		
Malting and	(0.103)	(0.107)	(0.070)	(0.088)		
Multifacial	0.140	0.140	0.204	0.199		
	(0.114)	(0.110)	(0.124)	(0.126)		
Relationship Type (Wave 3)	0.022		0.004			
Cohabiting	-0.033		-0.084			
	(0.085)		(0.058)			
Dating	0.038	0.039	-0.159!	-0.104		
	(0.102)	(0.093)	(0.083)	(0.073)		
Relationship Duration	0.021	0.023	0.000	0.004		
	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.009)	(0.009)		
Living Arrangement (Parents' home)						
Own Place	-0.081	-0.074	-0.079	-0.067		
	(0.081)	(0.081)	(0.080)	(0.078)		
Other	0.010	0.010	0.003	0.001		
	(0.123)	(0.123)	(0.082)	(0.082)		
Biological Children in Household	0.087	0.095	-0.030	-0.024		
c	(0.083)	(0.085)	(0.060)	(0.060)		
Education Level (Less than high school)	× ,		× ,			
High School	-0.278*	-0.278*	-0.179!	-0.170!		
8	(0.108)	(0.110)	(0.098)	(0.098)		
Some College	-0 404***	-0 396***	-0 211*	-0 201*		
	(0.109)	(0.111)	(0.091)	(0.092)		
Bachelors' +	-0 444***	-0 451**	-0 297**	-0 291**		
Ducherers	(0.132)	(0.138)	(0.101)	(0.101)		
Age	0.001	0.001	0.0271	0.0281		
nge	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.027)	(0.020)		
Prior Depression	0.376***	(0.022)	0.35/***	0.35/***		
The Depression	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.020)	(0.020)		
Constant	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.029)	(0.029)		
Constant	(0.710)	(0.974)	-0.230	-0.317		
Madel 2 Internetion Terme	(0.719)	(0.702)	(0.303)	(0.300)		
Model 2 Interaction Terms		0.240				
Dating x Nonwhite Partner		0.340				
		(0.211)				
Dating x Hispanic Partner				-0.001		
				(0.226)		
Dating x Black Partner				-0.104		
				(0.299)		
Dating x Asian Partner				-0.113		

Table 4.7 OLS Regression of Depression by prior depression and partner race among White men and women in married and cohabiting relationships in 2008 with the same partner for the prior approximately 7 yearsⁱ

				(0.216)
Observations	685	685	1,130	1,130
R-squared	0.212	0.215	0.210	0.208
AIC	1338.453	1336.139	2177.832	2184.574
BIC	1406.394	1404.08	2263.342	2280.144

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

All covariates measured at Wave 3; Sample restricted to those who were observed with partners of the same race and age at Waves 3 and 4, who were in a dating, married, or cohabiting relationship at Wave 3 and a married or cohabiting relationship at Wave 4

^aWald tests were conducted to test between 3 non-white partner race categories; no significant differences were found

^bNote that gender interactions were tested on all covariates. Because gender interactions were not statistically significant on the predictor of interest (partner race), gender interactions are not shown Statistical tests adjust for Add Health's multilevel sampling design

Source: Add Health Waves 1, 3, and 4

Opposite sex current dating, married, and cohabiting relationships							
PARTNER RACE							
	Hispanic	Black	White	Asian	Total		
MEN							
Hispanic	769	39	306	54	1,168		
Black	93	952	152	38	1,235		
White	226	50	3,568	143	3,987		
Asian	48	*	82	304	436		
Total	1,136	1,043	4,108	539	6,826		
WOMEN							
Hispanic	942	110	282	50	1,384		
Black	70	1,639	63	24	1,796		
White	316	206	4,595	163	5,280		
Asian	51	30	127	347	555		
Total	1,379	1,985	5,067	584	9,015		
Source: Add Health waves 3 & 4							
*Fewer that	n 10 cases						

Appendix Table 4.	1 Unweighted freque	ncies of partnership racial
combinations in	ooled Wave 3 and W	ave 4 sample, by gender

Unweighted frequencies				
	Wa	ve 4 relationship t	уре	
	Dating/			
Wave 3 relationship type	Married	Cohabiting	Other	Total
Married	730	16	*	753
Cohabiting	387	118	21	526
Dating/Other	460	104	61	625
Total	1,577	238	89	1,904
Sources: Add Health waves 3 &	4			
*Fewer than ten cases				

Appendix Table 4.2 Relationship type transitions from wave 3 to 4 among non-Hispanic White men and women in relationships with stable characteristics across waves

Men Women								
	Mod	el 1	Mod	el 2	Model 1 Model		el 2	
	Married/		Married/		Married/		Married/	
	Cohabiting	Dating	Cohabiting	Dating	Cohabiting	Dating	Cohabiting	Dating
Nonwhite partner	0.159** (0.060)	0.139!			0.071 (0.047)	0.125!		
Partner Race	(00000)	(*****)			(00000)	(00070)		
Categories								
Hispanic Partner			0.122	0.147			0.085	0.070^{a}
			(0.075)	(0.134)			(0.059)	(0.116)
Black Partner			0.235	0.194!			0.066	0.349***
			(0.148)	(0.117)			(0.095)	(0.098)
Asian Partner			0.197!	0.109			0.053	-0.142 ^b
			(0.109)	(0.096)			(0.088)	(0.132)
Skin tone	0.140	0.092	0.137	0.094	0.001	-0.095!	0.000	-0.058
	(0.096)	(0.107)	(0.096)	(0.108)	(0.052)	(0.049)	(0.053)	(0.051)
Multiracial	0.094	-0.055	0.095	-0.054	0.183!	0.054	0.183!	0.031
	(0.090)	(0.131)	(0.090)	(0.131)	(0.094)	(0.146)	(0.094)	(0.140)
Relationship Type (Married)		· · · ·	~ /			. ,		. ,
Cohabiting	0.039		0.038		0.023		0.024	
-	(0.043)		(0.043)		(0.035)		(0.035)	
Relationship Duration	0.004	-0.018	0.004	-0.018	0.001	-0.039*	0.001	-0.040*
	(0.007)	(0.014)	(0.007)	(0.014)	(0.005)	(0.018)	(0.005)	(0.018)
Living Arrangement (Parents' home)		· · · ·	~ /			· · · ·		· · /
Own Place	-0.145*	-0.014	-0.147*	-0.013	-0.125*	-0.001	-0.125*	-0.005
	(0.063)	(0.065)	(0.063)	(0.065)	(0.058)	(0.059)	(0.058)	(0.059)
Other	0.006	-0.121	0.006	-0.121	0.081	-0.036	0.083	-0.042
	(0.092)	(0.095)	(0.092)	(0.095)	(0.082)	(0.092)	(0.082)	(0.091)
Biological Children in	× ,	× ,	x ,	` ´	. ,	· /	× /	
Household	-0.028	0.024	-0.028	0.023	0.019	0.223**	0.019	0.210*
	(0.043)	(0.156)	(0.043)	(0.157)	(0.035)	(0.086)	(0.035)	(0.085)
Education (Less than high school)								
High School	-0.190**	-0.044	-0.192**	-0.046	-0.157**	-0.143	-0.158**	-0.155
	(0.067)	(0.133)	(0.067)	(0.133)	(0.058)	(0.122)	(0.058)	(0.122)
Some College	-0.240***	-0.109	-0.240***	-0.112	-0.302***	-0.215*	-0.302***	-0.199!
	(0.064)	(0.125)	(0.064)	(0.126)	(0.057)	(0.109)	(0.057)	(0.107)
Bachelors' Degree +	-0.342***	-0.214	-0.343***	-0.216	-0.462***	-0.387**	-0.462***	-0.369**
	(0.073)	(0.133)	(0.073)	(0.133)	(0.063)	(0.124)	(0.063)	(0.122)
Age	0.029***	0.034***	0.029***	0.034***	0.030***	0.040***	0.030***	0.040***
	(0.006)	(0.008)	(0.006)	(0.008)	(0.005)	(0.009)	(0.005)	(0.009)
Constant	0.194	0.222	0.212	0.215	1.124***	1.272***	1.126***	1.078**
	(0.520)	(0.562)	(0.520)	(0.566)	(0.288)	(0.355)	(0.288)	(0.355)
Observations	2,801	1,186	2,801	1,186	4,026	1,254	4,026	1,254
R-squared	0.038	0.036	0.038	0.036	0.053	0.086	0.053	0.094
AIC	6200.371	2594.453	6203.27	2598.263	8768.364	2863.783	8772.211	2857.077
BIC	6277.561	2655.393	6292.336	2669.359	8850.271	2925.392	8866.719	2928.955
Source: Add Health way	ves 1, 3, and 4							

Appendix Table 4.3 Cross-Sectional Associations of Partner Race and Depression among non-Hispanic White men and women in current relationships, by Relationship Type and Gender

^aDifferent from Black partner, p<.05 ^bDifferent from Black partner, p<.01 Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

Statistical tests adjust for clustering within individuals in the case of observation in a relationship at both waves 3 and 4 Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

	Models			
	M	en	We	omen
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2
Nonwhite Partner	0.167**		0.077!	
	(0.060)		(0.047)	
Partner Race Categories				
Hispanic Partner		0.133!		0.089
		(0.076)		(0.058)
Black Partner		0.247!		0.072
		(0.149)		(0.095)
Asian Partner		0.199!		0.069
		(0.110)		(0.087)
Dating	0.047	0.047	-0.003	-0.006
	(0.041)	(0.041)	(0.040)	(0.040)
Hispanic Partner x Dating		0.002		-0.008
		(0.149)		(0.122)
Black Partner x Dating		-0.059		0.285*
e		(0.190)		(0.127)
Asian Partner x Dating		-0.099		-0.205
5		(0.145)		(0.159)
Nonwhite Partner x Dating	-0.038		0.067	
e	(0.096)		(0.082)	
Skin Tone	0.113	0.112	-0.026	-0.013
	(0.075)	(0.075)	(0.038)	(0.039)
Multiracial	0.063	0.064	0.162!	0.160!
	(0.084)	(0.084)	(0.085)	(0.085)
Relationship Duration	-0.002	-0.002	-0.010!	-0.009!
F	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Living Arrangement (Parents'	(00000)	(00000)	(*****)	(*****)
home)				
Own Place	-0.077!	-0.077!	-0.057	-0.059
	(0.044)	(0.044)	(0.041)	(0.041)
Other	-0.022	-0.022	0.057	0.054
	(0.067)	(0.067)	(0.060)	(0.060)
Biological Children in Household	-0.037	-0.036	0.046	0.045
2	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.032)	(0.032)
Education (Less than high school)	· /	× /	. ,	
High School	-0.175**	-0.177**	-0.172**	-0.174**
	(0.061)	(0.061)	(0.055)	(0.055)
Some College	-0.232***	-0.233***	-0.320***	-0.317***
	(0.058)	(0.058)	(0.052)	(0.052)
Bachelors' Degree +	-0.335***	-0.336***	-0.488***	-0.484***
C C	(0.065)	(0.064)	(0.058)	(0.058)
Age	0.030***	0.030***	0.036***	0.035***
-	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Constant	0.264	0.271	1.105***	1.045***
	(0.399)	(0.398)	(0.218)	(0.222)
	(((()
Observations	3,987	3,987	5,280	5,280
R-squared	0.032	0.033	0.057	0.059
R-squared	0.032	0.033	0.057	0.059

Appendix Table 4.4 Cross-sectional Association of Partner Race and Depression among White men and women in current relationships: Relationship Type Interaction

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1 Statistical tests adjust for clustering within individuals in the case of observation in a relationship at both waves 3 and 4 Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

	Ν	farried/Cohabitir	ng
	Hispanic	Black	Asian
Prior depression	0.159	0.025	-0.014
	(0.161)	(0.205)	(0.178)
Multiracial	0.250	1.111*	0.601
	(0.495)	(0.511)	(0.642)
Relationship Type			
(married)			
Cohabiting	0.057	1.224***	0.775*
	(0.257)	(0.324)	(0.312)
Relationship Duration	0.061	-0.042	0.168!
	(0.060)	(0.087)	(0.086)
Living Arrangement			
(Parents' home)			
Own Place	-0.679*	-1.280***	-0.307
	(0.313)	(0.347)	(0.457)
Other	-0.044	-0.968	0.565
	(0.495)	(0.687)	(0.532)
Biological Children in			
Household	0.132	0.837**	0.053
	(0.295)	(0.322)	(0.313)
Education Level (Less			
than high school)			
High School	-0.235	-0.720!	-0.671
	(0.404)	(0.431)	(0.474)
Some College	-0.212	-0.931*	-0.620
	(0.385)	(0.441)	(0.497)
Bachelors' +	-0.652	-1.357*	-0.686
	(0.468)	(0.573)	(0.569)
Age	0.018	0.085!	-0.077!
	(0.036)	(0.045)	(0.045)
Constant	-2.819**	-4.646***	-1.666!
	(0.924)	(1.151)	(0.950)
Log Likelihood	-2165189.2	-2165189.2	-2165189.2
Observations	2,655	2,655	2,655

Appendix Table 4.5. Multinomial logistic regression predicting partner race for White women in new married and cohabiting relationships

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05, ! p<0.1

Statistical tests adjust for clustering within individuals in the case of observation in a relationship at both waves 3 and 4

Source: Add Health waves 1, 3, and 4; wave 3 and 4 person-wave observations pooled

References

- "About Adult BMI." 2015. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/index.html.
- Achat, Helen, Ichiro Kawachi, Avron Spiro, Deborah A. DeMolles, and David Sparrow.
 2000. "Optimism and Depression as Predictors of Physical and Mental Health
 Functioning: The Normative Aging Study." *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* 22 (2):
 127. doi:10.1007/BF02895776.
- Achen, Christopher H. 2000. "Why Lagged Dependent Variables Can Suppress the Explanatory Power of Other Independent Variables." https://polmeth.wustl.edu/files/polmeth/achen00.pdf.
- Ahima, Rexford S., and Mitchell A. Lazar. 2013. "The Health Risk of Obesity—Better Metrics Imperative." *Science* 341 (6148): 856–58. doi:10.1126/science.1241244.
- Ailshire, Jennifer A., and James S. House. 2011. "The Unequal Burden of Weight Gain: An Intersectional Approach to Understanding Social Disparities in BMI Trajectories from 1986 to 2001/2002." Social Forces 90 (2): 397–423.
- Alang, Sirry M. 2016. "Black Folk Don't Get No Severe Depression': Meanings and Expressions of Depression in a Predominantly Black Urban Neighborhood in Midwestern United States." *Social Science & Medicine* 157 (May): 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.03.032.
- Ali, Mir M., and Olugbenga Ajilore. 2011. "Can Marriage Reduce Risky Health Behavior for African-Americans?" *Journal of Family and Economic Issues* 32 (2): 191–203. doi:10.1007/s10834-010-9242-z.

- Ali, Mir M., John A. Rizzo, Aliaksandr Amialchuk, and Frank Heiland. 2014. "Racial Differences in the Influence of Female Adolescents' Body Size on Dating and Sex." *Economics & Human Biology* 12 (January): 140–52. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2013.11.001.
- Ali, Mir M., John A. Rizzo, and Frank W. Heiland. 2013. "Big and Beautiful? Evidence of Racial Differences in the Perceived Attractiveness of Obese Females." *Journal of Adolescence* 36 (3): 539–49. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.03.010.
- Allison, Paul D. 1990. "Change Scores as Dependent Variables in Regression Analysis." Sociological Methodology 20: 93–114.
- Aneshensel, Carol S., Jo C. Phelan, and Alex Bierman. 2013. "The Sociology of Mental Health: Surveying the Field." In *Handbook of the Sociology of Mental Health*, edited by Carol S. Aneshensel, Jo C. Phelan, and Alex Bierman, 1–19. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer Netherlands. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4276-5_1.
- Arnett, Jeffrey Jensen. 2000. "Emerging Adulthood: A Theory of Development from the Late Teens through the Twenties." *American Psychologist* 55 (5): 469–80. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469.
- 2007. "Emerging Adulthood: What Is It, and What Is It Good For?" *Child Development Perspectives* 1 (2): 68–73. doi:10.1111/j.1750-8606.2007.00016.x.
- Assari, Shervin, Maryam Moghani Lankarani, and Sarah Burgard. 2016. "Black–white Difference in Long-Term Predictive Power of Self-Rated Health on All-Cause Mortality in United States." *Annals of Epidemiology* 26 (2): 106–14. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.11.006.

- Au, Nicole, and David W. Johnston. 2014. "Self-Assessed Health: What Does It Mean and What Does It Hide?" Social Science & Medicine 121 (November): 21–28. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.10.007.
- Averett, Susan, and S. Korenman. 1999. "Black-White Differences in Social and Economic Consequences of Obesity.", *Published Online: 21 January 1999;* | *doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0800805* 23 (2). doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0800805.
- Averett, Susan L., Asia Sikora, and Laura M. Argys. 2008. "For Better or Worse: Relationship Status and Body Mass Index." *Economics & Human Biology*, Symposium on the Economics of Obesity, 6 (3): 330–49. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2008.07.003.
- Barrett, Anne E. 2000. "Marital Trajectories and Mental Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 41 (4): 451–64. doi:10.2307/2676297.
- Batson, Christie D., Zhenchao Qian, and Daniel T. Lichter. 2006. "Interracial and Intraracial Patterns of Mate Selection Among America's Diverse Black Populations." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 68 (3): 658–72. doi:10.1111/j.1741-

3737.2006.00281.x.

Beck, Audrey N., Brian K. Finch, Shih-Fan Lin, Robert A. Hummer, and Ryan K. Masters.
2014. "Racial Disparities in Self-Rated Health: Trends, Explanatory Factors, and the Changing Role of Socio-Demographics." *Social Science & Medicine* 104 (March): 163–77. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.11.021.

Becker, Gary S. 1991. A Treatise on the Family. Harvard University Press.

- Belot, Michèle, and Jan Fidrmuc. 2010. "Anthropometry of Love: Height and Gender Asymmetries in Interethnic Marriages." *Economics & Human Biology* 8 (3): 361–72. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2010.09.004.
- Bennett, Kate M. 2006. "Does Marital Status and Marital Status Change Predict Physical Health in Older Adults?" *Psychological Medicine* 36 (9): 1313–20. doi:10.1017/S003329170600818X.
- Benyamini, Yael, Tzvia Blumstein, Ayala Lusky, and Baruch Modan. 2003. "Gender Differences in the Self-Rated Health-Mortality Association: Is It Poor Self-Rated Health That Predicts Mortality or Excellent Self-Rated Health That Predicts Survival?" *The Gerontologist* 43 (3): 396-405-375.
- Berkey, Catherine S., and Graham A. Colditz. 2007. "Adiposity in Adolescents: Change in Actual BMI Works Better Than Change in BMI Z Score for Longitudinal Studies." *Annals of Epidemiology* 17 (1): 44–50. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2006.07.014.
- Berrington de Gonzalez, Amy, Patricia Hartge, James R. Cerhan, Alan J. Flint, Lindsay Hannan, Robert J. MacInnis, Steven C. Moore, et al. 2010. "Body-Mass Index and Mortality among 1.46 Million White Adults." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 363 (23): 2211–19. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1000367.
- Blackwell, Debra L., and Daniel T. Lichter. 2000. "Mate Selection Among Married and Cohabiting Couples." *Journal of Family Issues* 21 (3): 275–302. doi:10.1177/019251300021003001.
- Blackwell, Debra L., and Daniel T. Lichter. 2004. "Homogamy Among Dating, Cohabiting, and Married Couples." *The Sociological Quarterly* 45 (4): 719–37. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.2004.tb02311.x.

- Boardman, Jason D., and Kari B. Alexander. 2011. "Stress Trajectories, Health Behaviors, and the Mental Health of Black and White Young Adults." *Social Science & Medicine* 72 (10): 1659–66. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.03.024.
- Booth, Alan, and Paul Amato. 1991. "Divorce and Psychological Stress." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 32 (4): 396–407. doi:10.2307/2137106.
- Bove, Caron F., and Jeffery Sobal. 2011. "Body Weight Relationships in Early Marriage. Weight Relevance, Weight Comparisons, and Weight Talk." *Appetite*, Feeding infants and young children: guidelines, research and practice, 57 (3): 729–42. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2011.08.007.
- Bratter, Jenifer L., and Karl Eschbach. 2006. "What about the Couple?' Interracial Marriage and Psychological Distress." Social Science Research 35 (4): 1025–47. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2005.09.001.
- Bratter, Jenifer L., and Bridget K. Gorman. 2011. "Does Multiracial Matter? A Study of Racial Disparities in Self-Rated Health." *Demography* 48 (1): 127–52. doi:10.1007/s13524-010-0005-0.
- Bratter, Jenifer L., and Rosalind B. King. 2008. "But Will It Last?': Marital Instability Among Interracial and Same-Race Couples." *Family Relations* 57 (2): 160–71. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2008.00491.x.
- Brown, Dustin C., Robert A. Hummer, and Mark D. Hayward. 2014. "The Importance of Spousal Education for the Self-Rated Health of Married Adults in the United States." *Population Research and Policy Review* 33 (1): 127–51. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11113-013-9305-6.

5....up.//dx.doi.org/10.100//\$11115-015-9505-0

- Brown, Edna, Kira S. Birditt, Scott C. Huff, and Lindsay L. Edwards. 2012. "Marital Dissolution and Psychological Well-Being: Race and Gender Differences in the Moderating Role of Marital Relationship Quality." *Research in Human Development* 9 (2): 145–64. doi:10.1080/15427609.2012.681202.
- Brown, Susan L. 2000. "The Effect of Union Type on Psychological Well-Being:
 Depression among Cohabitors versus Marrieds." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 41 (3): 241–55. doi:10.2307/2676319.
- Brown, Tony N. 2003. "Critical Race Theory Speaks to the Sociology of Mental Health: Mental Health Problems Produced by Racial Stratification*." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 44 (3): 292–301.
- Brown, Tony N., Katharine M. Donato, Mary Therese Laske, and Ebony M. Duncan.
 2013. "Race, Nativity, Ethnicity, and Cultural Influences in the Sociology of Mental Health." In *Handbook of the Sociology of Mental Health*, edited by Carol S. Aneshensel, Jo C. Phelan, and Alex Bierman, 255–76. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer Netherlands. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4276-5_13.
- Brown, Tyson H., Angela M. O'Rand, and Daniel E. Adkins. 2012. "Race-Ethnicity and Health Trajectories Tests of Three Hypotheses across Multiple Groups and Health Outcomes." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 53 (3): 359–77. doi:10.1177/0022146512455333.
- Burke, Valerie, Lawrie J. Beilin, Diana Dunbar, and Melodie Kevan. 2004. "Changes in Health-Related Behaviours and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Young Adults: Associations with Living with a Partner." *Preventive Medicine* 39 (4): 722–30. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.02.038.

- Carmalt, Julie H., John Cawley, Kara Joyner, and Jeffery Sobal. 2008. "Body Weight and Matching With a Physically Attractive Romantic Partner." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 70 (5): 1287–96. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00566.x.
- Carolina Population Center. 2016. "Wave V Add Health." Page. *Add Health*. Accessed May 25. http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/design/wave-v-1.
- Carr, Deborah, and Kristen W. Springer. 2010. "Advances in Families and Health Research in the 21st Century." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72 (3): 743–61. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00728.x.
- Castelnuovo, Augusto Di, Gianni Quacquaruccio, Maria Benedetta Donati, Giovanni de Gaetano, and Licia Iacoviello. 2009. "Spousal Concordance for Major Coronary Risk Factors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *American Journal of Epidemiology* 169 (1): 1–8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn234.
- Cawley, John, Kara Joyner, and Jeffery Sobal. 2006. "Size Matters The Influence of Adolescents' Weight and Height on Dating and Sex." *Rationality and Society* 18 (1): 67–94. doi:10.1177/1043463106060153.
- Chen, Eunice Y., and Molly Brown. 2005. "Obesity Stigma in Sexual Relationships." *Obesity Research* 13 (8): 1393–97. doi:10.1038/oby.2005.168.
- Chen, Ping, and Kim Chantala. 2014. "Guidelines for Analyzing Add Health Data." Carolina Population Center.

http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/documentation/guides/wt-guidelines.pdf.

Childs, Erica Chito. 2005. "Looking Behind the Stereotypes of the 'Angry Black Woman' An Exploration of Black Women's Responses to Interracial Relationships." *Gender* & Society 19 (4): 544–61. doi:10.1177/0891243205276755.

- Cole, Stephen R., Ichiro Kawachi, Susan J. Maller, and Lisa F. Berkman. 2000. "Test of Item-Response Bias in the CES-D Scale: Experience from the New Haven EPESE Study." *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 53 (3): 285–89. doi:10.1016/S0895-4356(99)00151-1.
- Cole, T. J., M. S. Faith, A. Pietrobelli, and M. Heo. 2005. "What Is the Best Measure of Adiposity Change in Growing Children: BMI, BMI %, BMI Z-Score or BMI Centile?" *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 59 (3): 419–25. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602090.
- Collins, W.A. 2006. "Emerging Adults in America: Coming of Age in the 21st Century." American Psychological Association, 219–234.
- Conley, Dalton, and Angela Glauber. 2006. "Gender, Body Mass, and Socioeconomic Status: New Evidence from the PSID." In *The Economics of Obesity*, 17:253–75.
 Advances in Health Economics and Health Services Research 17. Emerald Group Publishing Limited. http://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/abs/10.1016/S0731-2199(06)17010-7.
- Crowder, Kyle D., and Stewart E. Tolnay. 2000. "A New Marriage Squeeze for Black Women: The Role of Racial Intermarriage by Black Men." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 62 (3): 792–807.
- Cullati, Stéphane, Emmanuel Rousseaux, Alexis Gabadinho, Delphine S. Courvoisier, and Claudine Burton-Jeangros. 2014. "Factors of Change and Cumulative Factors in Self-Rated Health Trajectories: A Systematic Review." *Advances in Life Course Research* 19 (March): 14–27. doi:10.1016/j.alcr.2013.11.002.

- Cunningham, Solveig Argeseanu, Elizabeth Vaquera, and Jeanne L. Long. 2012. "Race, Ethnicity, and the Relevance of Obesity for Social Integration." *Ethnicity & Disease* 22 (3): 317–23.
- Dallman, Mary F. 2010. "Stress-Induced Obesity and the Emotional Nervous System." *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 21 (3): 159–65. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2009.10.004.
- Dallman, Mary F., Norman Pecoraro, Susan F. Akana, Susanne E. la Fleur, Francisca
 Gomez, Hani Houshyar, M. E. Bell, Seema Bhatnagar, Kevin D. Laugero, and Sotara
 Manalo. 2003. "Chronic Stress and Obesity: A New View of 'comfort Food."" *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100 (20): 11696–701.
 doi:10.1073/pnas.1934666100.
- Davis, Kingsley. 1941. "Intermarriage in Caste Societies1." American Anthropologist 43(3): 376–95. doi:10.1525/aa.1941.43.3.02a00030.
- DeKlyen, Michelle, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, Sara McLanahan, and Jean Knab. 2006. "The Mental Health of Married, Cohabiting, and Non–Coresident Parents With Infants." *American Journal of Public Health* 96 (10): 1836–41. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2004.049296.
- Denton, Margaret, Steven Prus, and Vivienne Walters. 2004. "Gender Differences in Health: A Canadian Study of the Psychosocial, Structural and Behavioural Determinants of Health." *Social Science & Medicine* 58 (12): 2585–2600. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.09.008.

- Donoho, Carrie J., Eileen M. Crimmins, and Teresa E. Seeman. 2013. "Marital Quality, Gender, and Markers of Inflammation in the MIDUS Cohort." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75 (1): 127–41. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2012.01023.x.
- Doyle, David Matthew, and Lisa Molix. 2014. "Love on the Margins The Effects of Social Stigma and Relationship Length on Romantic Relationship Quality." Social Psychological and Personality Science 5 (1): 102–10. doi:10.1177/1948550613486677.
- Duncan, Greg J., Bessie Wilkerson, and Paula England. 2006. "Cleaning up Their Act: The Effects of Marriage and Cohabitation on Licit and Illicit Drug Use." *Demography* 43 (4): 691–710. doi:10.1353/dem.2006.0032.
- Dupre, Matthew E., and Sarah O. Meadows. 2007. "Disaggregating the Effects of Marital Trajectories on Health." *Journal of Family Issues* 28 (5): 623–52. doi:10.1177/0192513X06296296.
- Earl, Tara, David Williams, and Stacey Anglade. 2011. "An Update on the Mental Health of Black Americans: Puzzling Dilemmas and Needed Research." *Journal of Black Psychology* 37 (4): 485–98. doi:10.1177/0095798410396077.
- Edmonds, Christina, and Melanie Killen. 2009. "Do Adolescents' Perceptions of Parental Racial Attitudes Relate to Their Intergroup Contact and Cross-Race Relationships?" *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations* 12 (1): 5–21.

doi:10.1177/1368430208098773.

Elliott, Marta. 2013. "Gender Differences in the Determinants of Distress, Alcohol Misuse, and Related Psychiatric Disorders." *Society and Mental Health* 3 (2): 96–113. doi:10.1177/2156869312474828.

- England, Paula, and Elizabeth Aura McClintock. 2009. "The Gendered Double Standard of Aging in US Marriage Markets." *Population and Development Review* 35 (4): 797–816. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2009.00309.x.
- Fagan, Jay. 2009. "Relationship Quality and Changes in Depressive Symptoms among Urban, Married African Americans, Hispanics, and Whites." *Family Relations* 58 (3): 259–74.
- Fayers, Peter M, and Mirjam AG Sprangers. 2002. "Understanding Self-Rated Health." *The Lancet* 359 (9302): 187–88. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07466-4.
- Feliciano, Cynthia, Belinda Robnett, and Golnaz Komaie. 2009. "Gendered Racial Exclusion among White Internet Daters." Social Science Research 38 (1): 39–54. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2008.09.004.
- Field, Carolyn J., Sitawa R. Kimuna, and Murray A. Straus. 2013. "Attitudes Toward Interracial Relationships Among College Students Race, Class, Gender, and Perceptions of Parental Views." *Journal of Black Studies* 44 (7): 741–76. doi:10.1177/0021934713507580.
- Fikkan, Janna L., and Esther D. Rothblum. 2012. "Is Fat a Feminist Issue? Exploring the Gendered Nature of Weight Bias." Sex Roles 66 (9–10): 575–92. doi:10.1007/s11199-011-0022-5.
- Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, and Curtin LR. 2010. "PRevalence and Trends in Obesity among Us Adults, 1999-2008." JAMA 303 (3): 235–41. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.2014.

- Frey, William H. 2015. Diversity Explosion: How New Racial Demographics Are Remaking America. Advance Reading Copy edition. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.
- Fu, Haishan, and Noreen Goldman. 1996. "Incorporating Health into Models of Marriage Choice: Demographic and Sociological Perspectives." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 58 (3): 740–58. doi:10.2307/353733.
- Fu, Vincent Kang. 2001. "Racial Intermarriage Pairings." Demography 38 (2): 147–59. doi:10.1353/dem.2001.0011.
- Fu, Vincent Kang, and Nicholas H. Wolfinger. 2011. "Broken Boundaries or Broken Marriages? Racial Intermarriage and Divorce in the United States." *Social Science Quarterly* 92 (4): 1096–1117. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6237.2011.00809.x.
- Fujino, D. C. 1997. "The Rates, Patterns and Reasons for Forming Heterosexual Interracial Dating Relationships among Asian Americans." *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships* 14 (6): 809–28. doi:10.1177/0265407597146006.
- Fusco, Rachel A. 2010. "Intimate Partner Violence in Interracial Couples: A Comparison to White and Ethnic Minority Monoracial Couples." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 25 (10): 1785–1800. doi:10.1177/0886260509354510.
- Ge, X. J., G. H. Elder, M. Regnerus, and C. Cox. 2001. "Pubertal Transitions, Perceptions of Being Overweight, and Adolescents' Psychological Maladjustment: Gender and Ethnic Differences." *Social Psychology Quarterly* 64 (4): 363–75. doi:10.2307/3090160.
- George, Douglas, and George Yancey. 2004. "Taking Stock of America's Attitudes on Cultural Diversity: An Analysis of Public Deliberation on Multiculturalism,

Assimilation and Intermarriage." *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 35 (1): 1–19.

- Glass, Christy M., Steven A. Haas, and Eric N. Reither. 2010. "The Skinny on Success: Body Mass, Gender and Occupational Standing Across the Life Course." Social Forces 88 (4): 1777–1806.
- Glasser, Carol L., Belinda Robnett, and Cynthia Feliciano. 2009. "Internet Daters' Body Type Preferences: Race-Ethnic and Gender Differences." Sex Roles 61 (1/2): 14–33. doi:10.1007/s11199-009-9604-x.
- Goldman, Noreen. 2001. "Social Inequalities in Health." *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences 954 (1): 118–39. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb02750.x.
- Gordon-Larsen, Penny, Linda S. Adair, Melissa C. Nelson, and Barry M. Popkin. 2004.
 "Five-Year Obesity Incidence in the Transition Period between Adolescence and Adulthood: The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 80 (3): 569–75.
- Gordon-Larsen, Penny, Natalie S. The, and Linda S. Adair. 2010. "Longitudinal Trends in Obesity in the United States From Adolescence to the Third Decade of Life." *Obesity* 18 (9): 1801–4. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.451.
- Gortmaker, Steven L., Aviva Must, James M. Perrin, Arthur M. Sobol, and William H. Dietz. 1993. "Social and Economic Consequences of Overweight in Adolescence and Young Adulthood." *New England Journal of Medicine* 329 (14): 1008–12.
- Greca, Annette M. La, and Hannah Moore Harrison. 2005. "Adolescent Peer Relations, Friendships, and Romantic Relationships: Do They Predict Social Anxiety and

Depression?" *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology* 34 (1): 49–61. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp3401_5.

- Grover, Shawn, and John F. Helliwell. 2014. "How's Life at Home? New Evidence on Marriage and the Set Point for Happiness." Working Paper 20794. National Bureau of Economic Research. http://www.nber.org/papers/w20794.
- Grusky, David B., and Katherine R. Weisshaar. 2014. "The Questions We Ask About Inequalities." In Social Stratification: Class, Race, and Gender in Sociological Perspective, 4th ed. Westview Press.
- Gullickson, Aaron. 2006. "Education and Black-White Interracial Marriage." *Demography* 43 (4): 673–89. doi:10.1353/dem.2006.0033.
- Gunasekara, Fiona Imlach, Kristie Carter, and Tony Blakely. 2011. "Change in Income and Change in Self-Rated Health: Systematic Review of Studies Using Repeated Measures to Control for Confounding Bias." *Social Science & Medicine* 72 (2): 193– 201. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.10.029.
- Gunasekara, Fiona Imlach, Kristie Carter, and Tony Blakely. 2012. "Comparing Self-Rated Health and Self-Assessed Change in Health in a Longitudinal Survey: Which Is More Valid?" Social Science & Medicine 74 (7): 1117–24. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.038.
- Ham, John C., Xianghong Li, and Lara Shore-Sheppard. 2007. "Correcting for Seam Bias When Estimating Discrete Variable Models, with an Application to Analyzing the Employment Dynamics of Disadvantaged Women in the SIPP." NBER Working paper.

Harris, Kathleen Mullan. 2013. "The Add Health Study: Design and Accomplishments." Carolina Population Center.

http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/documentation/guides/DesignPaperWIIV. pdf.

- Harris, Kathleen Mullan, Hedwig Lee, and Felicia Yang DeLeone. 2010. "Marriage and Health in the Transition to Adulthood: Evidence for African Americans in the Add Health Study." *Journal of Family Issues*, April. doi:10.1177/0192513X10365823.
- Harris, David R., and Hiromi Ono. 2005. "How Many Interracial Marriages Would There Be If All Groups Were of Equal Size in All Places? A New Look at National Estimates of Interracial Marriage." Social Science Research 34 (1): 236–51. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2004.01.002.
- Herman, Melissa R., and Mary E. Campbell. 2012. "I Wouldn't, but You Can: Attitudes toward Interracial Relationships." *Social Science Research* 41 (2): 343–58. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2011.11.007.
- Hill, Terrence D., Megan Reid, and Corinne Reczek. 2013. "Marriage and the Mental Health of Low-Income Urban Women With Children." *Journal of Family Issues* 34 (9): 1238–61. doi:10.1177/0192513X12441347.
- Horwitz, Allan V., Helene Raskin White, and Sandra Howell-White. 1996. "Becoming Married and Mental Health: A Longitudinal Study of a Cohort of Young Adults." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 58 (4): 895–907. doi:10.2307/353978.
- House, J. S., D. Umberson, and K. R. Landis. 1988. "Structures and Processes of Social Support." *Annual Review of Sociology* 14: 293–318.

- House, James S. 1981. "Social Structure and Personality." In *Social Psychology: Sociological Perspectives*, 525–61. New York: Basic Books.
- Hughes, Mary Elizabeth, and Linda J. Waite. 2009. "Marital Biography and Health at Mid-Life." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 50 (3): 344–58. doi:10.1177/002214650905000307.
- Hughes, Michael, and David H. Demo. 1989. "Self-Perceptions of Black Americans: Self-Esteem and Personal Efficacy." American Journal of Sociology 95 (1): 132–59. doi:10.1086/229216.
- Hunte, Haslyn E. R. 2011. "Association Between Perceived Interpersonal Everyday Discrimination and Waist Circumference Over a 9-Year Period in the Midlife Development in the United States Cohort Study." *American Journal of Epidemiology* 173 (11): 1232–39. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq463.
- Idler, Ellen L., and Yael Benyamini. 1997. "Self-Rated Health and Mortality: A Review of Twenty-Seven Community Studies." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 38 (1): 21–37.
- Jackson, Linda A., and Olivia D. McGill. 1996. "Body Type Preferences and Body Characteristics Associated with Attractive and Unattractive Bodies by African Americans and Anglo Americans." Sex Roles 35 (5–6): 295–307. doi:10.1007/BF01664771.
- Jeffery, Robert W., and Allison M. Rick. 2002. "Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Associations between Body Mass Index and Marriage-Related Factors." *Obesity Research* 10 (8): 809–15. doi:10.1038/oby.2002.109.
- John, Dolly A., A. B. de Castro, Diane P. Martin, Bonnie Duran, and David T. Takeuchi.
 2012. "Does an Immigrant Health Paradox Exist among Asian Americans? Associations of Nativity and Occupational Class with Self-Rated Health and Mental Disorders." *Social Science & Medicine*, Part Special Issue: Place, migration & health, 75 (12): 2085–98. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.01.035.
- Johnson, Bryan R., and Cardell K. Jacobson. 2005. "Contact in Context: An Examination of Social Settings on Whites' Attitudes Toward Interracial Marriage." Social Psychology Quarterly 68 (4): 387–99. doi:10.1177/019027250506800406.
- Johnson, Nan E. 2000. "The Racial Crossover in Comorbidity, Disability, and Mortality." Demography 37 (3): 267–83. doi:10.2307/2648041.
- Joung, Inez M. A., H. Dike van de Mheen, Karien Stronks, Frans W. A. van Poppel, and Johan P. Mackenbach. 1998. "A Longitudinal Study of Health Selection in Marital Transitions." *Social Science & Medicine* 46 (3): 425–35. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(97)00186-X.
- Joyner, Kara, and Grace Kao. 2000. "School Racial Composition and Adolescent Racial Homophily." Social Science Quarterly 81 (3): 810–25.
- Joyner, Kara, and Grace Kao. 2005. "Interracial Relationships and the Transition to Adulthood." *American Sociological Review* 70 (4): 563–81. doi:10.1177/000312240507000402.
- Joyner, Kara, and J. Richard Udry. 2000. "You Don't Bring Me Anything but Down: Adolescent Romance and Depression." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 41 (4): 369. doi:10.2307/2676292.

- Jylhä, Marja. 2009. "What Is Self-Rated Health and Why Does It Predict Mortality? Towards a Unified Conceptual Model." *Social Science & Medicine* 69 (3): 307–16. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.05.013.
- Kalmijn, Matthijs. 1998. "Internarriage and Homogamy: Causes, Patterns, Trends." Annual Review of Sociology 24: 395–421.
- . 2010. "Educational Inequality, Homogamy, and Status Exchange in Black/White Intermarriage: A Comment on Rosenfeld." *American Journal of Sociology* 115 (4): 1252–63.
- Karraker, Amelia, and Kenzie Latham. 2015. "In Sickness and in Health? Physical Illness as a Risk Factor for Marital Dissolution in Later Life." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 56 (1): 59–73. doi:10.1177/0022146514568351.
- Keele, Luke, and Nathan J. Kelly. 2006. "Dynamic Models for Dynamic Theories: The Ins and Outs of Lagged Dependent Variables." *Political Analysis* 14 (2): 186–205. doi:10.1093/pan/mpj006.
- Keene, Oliver N. 1995. "The Log Transformation Is Special." *Statistics in Medicine* 14 (8): 811–19. doi:10.1002/sim.4780140810.
- Kessler, Ronald C., and Paul D. Cleary. 1980. "Social Class and Psychological Distress." *American Sociological Review* 45 (3): 463. doi:10.2307/2095178.
- Kessler, Ronald C., and Jane D. McLeod. 1984. "Sex Differences in Vulnerability to Undesirable Life Events." *American Sociological Review* 49 (5): 620. doi:10.2307/2095420.

- Kiecolt, K. Jill, Michael Hughes, and Verna M. Keith. 2008. "Race, Social Relationships, and Mental Health." *Personal Relationships* 15 (2): 229–45. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2008.00195.x.
- Kim, Hyoun K., and Patrick C. McKenry. 2002. "The Relationship Between Marriage and Psychological Well-Being: A Longitudinal Analysis." *Journal of Family Issues* 23 (8): 885–911. doi:10.1177/019251302237296.
- Klein, Thomas. 2011. "Relationship Status, Marriage Market, and Body Weight." Kolner Zeitschrift Fur Soziologie Und Sozialpsychologie 63 (3): 459–79. doi:10.1007/s11577-011-0143-4.
- Knuiman, Matthew W., Mark L. Divitini, Helen C. Bartholomew, and Timothy A.
 Welborn. 1996. "Spouse Correlations in Cardiovascular Risk Factors and the Effect of Marriage Duration." *American Journal of Epidemiology* 143 (1): 48–53.
- Koball, Heather L., Emily Moiduddin, Jamila Henderson, Brian Goesling, and Melanie
 Besculides. 2010. "What Do We Know About the Link Between Marriage and
 Health?" *Journal of Family Issues* 31 (8): 1019–40. doi:10.1177/0192513X10365834.
- Kreager, Derek A., Shannon E. Cavanagh, John Yen, and Mo Yu. 2014. "Where Have All the Good Men Gone?' Gendered Interactions in Online Dating." *Journal of Marriage* and Family 76 (2): 387–410. doi:10.1111/jomf.12072.
- Kroeger, Rhiannon A., and Kristi Williams. 2011. "CONSEQUENCES OF BLACK EXCEPTIONALISM? Interracial Unions with Blacks, Depressive Symptoms, and Relationship Satisfaction." *The Sociological Quarterly* 52 (3): 400–420. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.2011.01212.x.

- Kroeger-D'Souza, Rhiannon A. 2010. "A Multilevel Analysis of Interracial Relationship Characteristics Among Young Adults." *Race and Social Problems* 2 (2): 92–100. doi:10.1007/s12552-010-9030-2.
- Lamb, Kathleen A., Gary R. Lee, and Alfred DeMaris. 2003. "Union Formation and Depression: Selection and Relationship Effects." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 65 (4): 953–62. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2003.00953.x.
- Lamont, Ellen. 2013. "Negotiating Courtship Reconciling Egalitarian Ideals with Traditional Gender Norms." *Gender & Society*, September, 891243213503899. doi:10.1177/0891243213503899.
- Lara, Marielena, Cristina Gamboa, M. Iya Kahramanian, Leo S. Morales, and David E. Hayes Bautista. 2005. "ACCULTURATION AND LATINO HEALTH IN THE UNITED STATES: A Review of the Literature and Its Sociopolitical Context." *Annual Review of Public Health* 26 (1): 367–97. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.26.021304.144615.
- Layes, Audrey, Yukiko Asada, and George Kephart. 2012. "Whiners and Deniers What Does Self-Rated Health Measure?" Social Science & Medicine 75 (1): 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.10.030.
- Lee, Sharon M., and Barry Edmonston. 2005. "New Marriages, New Families: U.S. Racial and Hispanic Intermarriage." *Population Bulletin* 60 (2): 3–36.
- Lewis, Richard, and Joanne Ford-Robertson. 2010. "Understanding the Occurrence of Interracial Marriage in the United States Through Differential Assimilation." *Journal of Black Studies* 41 (2): 405–20. doi:10.1177/0021934709355120.

- Lewis, Sophie, Samantha L. Thomas, R. Warwick Blood, David J. Castle, Jim Hyde, and Paul A. Komesaroff. 2011. 'How Do Obese Individuals Perceive and Respond to the Different Types of Obesity Stigma That They Encounter in Their Daily Lives? A Qualitative Study.'' Social Science & Medicine 73 (9): 1349–56. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.08.021.
- Lillard, Lee A., and Constantijn W. A. Panis. 1996. "Marital Status and Mortality: The Role of Health." *Demography (Pre-2011)* 33 (3): 313–27.
- Lillard, Lee A., and Linda J. Waite. 1995. "'Til Death Do Us Part: Marital Disruption and Mortality." *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (5): 1131–56.
- Lincoln, Karen D., and David H. Chae. 2010. "Stress, Marital Satisfaction, and Psychological Distress Among African Americans." *Journal of Family Issues*, March. doi:10.1177/0192513X10365826.
- Link, Bg, and J. Phelan. 1995. "Social Conditions as Fundamental Causes of Disease." Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 80–94.
- Liu, Hui, and Debra J. Umberson. 2008. "The Times They Are a Changin': Marital Status and Health Differentials from 1972 to 2003." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 49 (3): 239–53. doi:10.1177/002214650804900301.
- Liu, Hui, and Linda Waite. 2014. "Bad Marriage, Broken Heart? Age and Gender Differences in the Link between Marital Quality and Cardiovascular Risks among Older Adults." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 55 (4): 403–23. doi:10.1177/0022146514556893.
- Lund, Rikke, Pernille Due, Jens Modvig, Bjørn Evald Holstein, Mogens Trab Damsgaard, and Per Kragh Andersen. 2002. "Cohabitation and Marital Status as Predictors of

Mortality—an Eight Year Follow-up Study." *Social Science & Medicine* 55 (4): 673–79. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00219-2.

- Martin, Brittny A., Ming Cui, Koji Ueno, and Frank D. Fincham. 2013. "Intimate Partner Violence in Interracial and Monoracial Couples." *Family Relations* 62 (1): 202–11. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2012.00747.x.
- Mason, Katherine. 2012. "The Unequal Weight of Discrimination: Gender, Body Size, and Income Inequality." *Social Problems* 59 (3): 411–35. doi:10.1525/sp.2012.59.3.411.
- Mastekaasa, Arne. 1992. "Marriage and Psychological Well-Being: Some Evidence on Selection into Marriage." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 54 (4): 901–11. doi:10.2307/353171.
- Mastekaasa, Arne. 1994. "Psychological Well-Being and Marital Dissolution: Selection Effects?" Journal of Family Issues 15 (2): 208–28.

doi:10.1177/0192513X94015002004.

- Mata, Jutta, Ronald Frank, and Ralph Hertwig. 2015. "Higher Body Mass Index, Less Exercise, but Healthier Eating in Married Adults: Nine Representative Surveys across Europe." Social Science & Medicine 138 (August): 119–27. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.06.001.
- McLeod, Jane D. 2013. "Social Stratification and Inequality." In *Handbook of the* Sociology of Mental Health, edited by Carol S. Aneshensel, Jo C. Phelan, and Alex Bierman, 229–53. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer Netherlands. http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-94-007-4276-5 12.

- Meadows, Sarah O. 2009. "Family Structure and Fathers' Well-Being: Trajectories of Mental Health and Self-Rated Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 50 (2): 115–31.
- Meadows, Sarah O., Sara S. McLanahan, and Jeanne Brooks-Gunn. 2008. "Stability and Change in Family Structure and Maternal Health Trajectories." *American Sociological Review* 73 (2): 314–34.
- Meyler, Deanna, Jim P. Stimpson, and M. Kristen Peek. 2007. "Health Concordance within Couples: A Systematic Review." *Social Science & Medicine* 64 (11): 2297– 2310. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.02.007.
- Milkie, Melissa A. 2010. The Stress Process Model: Some Family-Level Considerations.Edited by W. R. Avison, C. S. Anashensel, S. Schieman, and B. Wheaton. New York: Springer.
- Miller, Byron. 2014. "What Are the Odds: An Examination of Adolescent Interracial Romance and Risk for Depression." *Youth & Society*, April, 0044118X14531150. doi:10.1177/0044118X14531150.
- Miller, Byron, and Ben Lennox Kail. 2016. "Exploring the Effects of Spousal Race on the Self-Rated Health of Intermarried Adults." *Sociological Perspectives* 59 (3): 604–18. doi:10.1177/0731121416641702.
- Miller, Douglas J. 2001. "Weight Satisfaction Among Black and White Couples: The Role of Perceptions." *Eating Disorders* 9 (1): 41–47. doi:10.1080/106402601300187722.
- Miller, Richard B., Cody S. Hollist, Joseph Olsen, and David Law. 2013. "Marital Quality and Health Over 20 Years: A Growth Curve Analysis." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75 (3): 667–80. doi:10.1111/jomf.12025.

- Miller, Suzanne C., Michael A. Olson, and Russell H. Fazio. 2004. "Perceived Reactions to Interracial Romantic Relationships: When Race Is Used as a Cue to Status." *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations* 7 (4): 354–69. doi:10.1177/1368430204046143.
- Mills, Jon K., and Jennifer Daly. 1995. "A Note on Family Acceptance Involving Interracial Friendships and Romantic Relationships." *Journal of Psychology* 129 (3): 349.
- Mirowsky, John, and Catherine E. Ross. 1995. "Sex Differences in Distress: Real or Artifact?" American Sociological Review 60 (3): 449–68. doi:10.2307/2096424.
 2002. "Measurement for a Human Science." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 43 (2): 152–70. doi:10.2307/3090194.
- Miyawaki, Michael H. 2015. "Expanding Boundaries of Whiteness? A Look at the Marital Patterns of Part-White Multiracial Groups." *Sociological Forum* 30 (4): 995–1016. doi:10.1111/socf.12205.
- Morgan, Stephen L., and Christopher Winship. 2014. Counterfactuals and Causal Inference. Cambridge University Press.
- Mouzon, Dawne M. 2013. "Can Family Relationships Explain the Race Paradox in Mental Health?" *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75 (2): 470–85. doi:10.1111/jomf.12006.
- Mukhopadhyay, Sankar. 2008. "Do Women Value Marriage More? The Effect of Obesity on Cohabitation and Marriage in the USA." *Review of Economics of the Household* 6 (2): 111–26. doi:10.1007/s11150-007-9025-y.
- Müller, M. J. 2013. "From BMI to Functional Body Composition." *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 67 (11): 1119–21. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.174.

- Musick, Kelly, and Larry Bumpass. 2012. "Reexamining the Case for Marriage: Union Formation and Changes in Well-Being." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 74 (1): 1– 18. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2011.00873.x.
- National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health. 2016. "Wave III In-Home Interview Data Codebook, Section 19 Descriptions." Accessed January 29. http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/documentation/restricteduse.
- Newport, Frank. 2013. "In U.S., 87% Approve of Black-White Marriage, vs. 4% in 1958." *Gallup.com*. http://www.gallup.com/poll/163697/approve-marriage-blackswhites.aspx.
- Nomaguchi, Kei M., and Suzanne M. Bianchi. 2004. "Exercise Time: Gender Differences in the Effects of Marriage, Parenthood, and Employment." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 66 (2): 413–30. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2004.00029.x.
- Ogden, Cynthia L., and Margaret D. Carroll. 2010. "Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Extreme Obesity Among Adults: United States, Trends 1960-1962 Through 2007-2008." *National Center for Health Statistics* 6: 1–6.
- Ogden, Jane, and Clare Taylor. 2000. "Body Dissatisfaction Within Couples Adding the Social Context to Perceptions of Self." *Journal of Health Psychology* 5 (1): 25–32. doi:10.1177/135910530000500107.
- Okosun, Ike S, Simon Choi, Tara Matamoros, and G. E. Alan Dever. 2001. "Obesity Is Associated with Reduced Self-Rated General Health Status: Evidence from a Representative Sample of White, Black, and Hispanic Americans." *Preventive Medicine* 32 (5): 429–36. doi:10.1006/pmed.2001.0840.

- Oreffice, Sonia, and Climent Quintana-Domeque. 2010. "Anthropometry and Socioeconomics among Couples: Evidence in the United States." *Economics & Human Biology* 8 (3): 373–84. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2010.05.001.
- Oropesa, R. S., and Nancy S. Landale. 2004. "The Future of Marriage and Hispanics." Journal of Marriage & Family 66 (4): 901–20. doi:10.1111/j.0022-2445.2004.00061.x.
- Pan, L., D. A. Galuska, B. Sherry, A. S. Hunter, G. E. Rutledge, W. H. Dietz, and L. S. Balluz. 2009. "Differences in Prevalence of Obesity among Black, White, and Hispanic Adults - United States, 2006-2008." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 58 (27): 740–44.
- Pearlin, Leonard I. 1989. "The Sociological Study of Stress." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 30 (3): 241–56. doi:10.2307/2136956.
- ———. 1999. "The Stress Process Revisited." In Handbook of the Sociology of Mental Health, edited by Carol S. Aneshensel and Jo C. Phelan, 395–415. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer US. doi:10.1007/0-387-36223-1_19.
- Phelan, Jo C., and Bruce G. Link. 2015. "Is Racism a Fundamental Cause of Inequalities in Health?" Annual Review of Sociology 41 (1): 311–30. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-073014-112305.
- Phelan, Jo C., Bruce G. Link, and Parisa Tehranifar. 2010. "Social Conditions as Fundamental Causes of Health Inequalities Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 51 (1 suppl): S28–40. doi:10.1177/0022146510383498.

- Pleis, John R., Brian W. Ward, and Jacqueline W. Lucas. 2010. "Summary Health Statistics for U.S. Adults: National Health Interview Survey, 2009." Vital and Health Statistics 10 (249). http://www.cdc.gov.proxyum.researchport.umd.edu/nchs/data/series/sr 10/sr10 249.pdf.
- Pole, Michele, Janis H. Crowther, and John Schell. 2004. "Body Dissatisfaction in Married Women: The Role of Spousal Influence and Marital Communication Patterns." *Body Image* 1 (3): 267–78. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2004.06.001.
- Prichard, Ivanka, Janet Polivy, Véronique Provencher, C. Peter Herman, Marika
 Tiggemann, and Kathleen Cloutier. 2015. "Brides and Young Couples Partners'
 Weight, Weight Change, and Perceptions of Attractiveness." *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships* 32 (2): 263–78. doi:10.1177/0265407514529068.
- Prichard, Ivanka, and Marika Tiggemann. 2014. "Wedding-Related Weight Change: The Ups and Downs of Love." *Body Image* 11 (2): 179–82. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.12.005.
- Pudrovska, Tetyana, Eric N. Reither, Ellis S. Logan, and Kyler J. Sherman-Wilkins. 2014.
 "Gender and Reinforcing Associations between Socioeconomic Disadvantage and Body Mass over the Life Course." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 55 (3): 283–301. doi:10.1177/0022146514544525.
- Puhl, Rebecca M., and Chelsea A. Heuer. 2009. "The Stigma of Obesity: A Review and Update." *Obesity* 17 (5): 941–64. doi:10.1038/oby.2008.636.
- Qian, Zhenchao. 1997. "Breaking the Racial Barriers: Variations in Interracial Marriage between 1980 and 1990." *Demography* 34 (2): 263–76. doi:10.2307/2061704.

- Qian, Zhenchao, and Daniel T. Lichter. 2001. "Measuring Marital Assimilation: Intermarriage among Natives and Immigrants." Social Science Research 30 (2): 289– 312. doi:10.1006/ssre.2000.0699.
- 2007. "Social Boundaries and Marital Assimilation: Interpreting Trends in Racial and Ethnic Intermarriage." *American Sociological Review* 72 (1): 68–94. doi:10.1177/000312240707200104.
- 2011. "Changing Patterns of Interracial Marriage in a Multiracial Society."
 Journal of Marriage and Family 73 (5): 1065–84. doi:10.1111/j.1741 3737.2011.00866.x.
- Radloff, Lenore Sawyer. 1991. "The Use of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale in Adolescents and Young Adults." *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 20 (2): 149–66. doi:10.1007/BF01537606.
- Raley, R. Kelly, and Larry Bumpass. 2003. "The Topography of the Divorce Plateau:
 Levels and Trends in Union Stability in the United States after 1980." *Demographic Research* 8 (8): 245–60.
- Randle, Natasha W. 2012. "Can Generalized Self-Efficacy Overcome the Effects of Workplace Weight Discrimination?" *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 42 (3): 751–75. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2011.00814.x.
- Rauschenbach, Barbara, Jeffery Sobal, and Edward A. Frongillo. 1995. "The Influence of Change in Marital Status on Weight Change Over One Year." *Obesity Research* 3 (4): 319–27. doi:10.1002/j.1550-8528.1995.tb00157.x.

- Regan, Pamela C. 1996. "Sexual Outcasts: The Perceived Impact of Body Weight and Gender on Sexuality1." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 26 (20): 1803–15. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1996.tb00099.x.
- Ren, Xinhua Steve. 1997. "Marital Status and Quality of Relationships: The Impact on Health Perception." Social Science & Medicine 44 (2): 241–49. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(96)00158-X.
- Rendall, M. S., M. M. Weden, M. Fernandes, and I. Vaynman. 2012. "Hispanic and Black US Children's Paths to High Adolescent Obesity Prevalence." *Pediatric Obesity* 7 (6): 423–35. doi:10.1111/j.2047-6310.2012.00080.x.
- Rendall, Michael, and Angela Greulich. 2016. "Multiple Imputation for Demographic Hazard Models with Left-Censored Predictor Variables: Application to Employment Duration and Fertility in the EU-SILC." *Demographic Research* 35 (38): 1135–48. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2016.35.38.
- Rendall, Michael S., Margaret M. Weden, Melissa M. Favreault, and Hilary Waldron. 2011. "The Protective Effect of Marriage for Survival: A Review and Update." *Demography* 48 (2): 481–506. doi:10.1007/s13524-011-0032-5.
- Robards, James, Maria Evandrou, Jane Falkingham, and Athina Vlachantoni. 2012. "Marital Status, Health and Mortality." *Maturitas* 73 (4): 295–99. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.08.007.
- Rosenberg, Morris. 1979. Conceiving the Self. Basic Books.
- Rosenfeld, Michael J. 2008. "Racial, Educational and Religious Endogamy in the United States: A Comparative Historical Perspective." *Social Forces* 87 (1): 1–31.

- Rosenfield, Sarah. 2012. "Triple Jeopardy? Mental Health at the Intersection of Gender, Race, and Class." *Social Science & Medicine*, Gender and health: Relational, intersectional, and biosocial approaches, 74 (11): 1791–1801. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.010.
- Rosenfield, Sarah, Mary Clare Lennon, and Helene Raskin White. 2005. "The Self and Mental Health: Self-Salience and the Emergence of Internalizing and Externalizing Problems." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 46 (4): 323–40. doi:10.1177/002214650504600402.
- Ross, Catherine E. 1995. "Reconceptualizing Marital Status as a Continuum of Social Attachment." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 57 (1): 129–40. doi:10.2307/353822.
- Ross, Catherine E., and John Mirowsky. 2003. Social Causes of Psychological Distress (Social Institutions and Social Change). New York: De Gruyter.
- ——. 2013. "Theory and Modeling in the Study of Intimate Relationships and Health." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 54 (1): 67–71.

doi:10.1177/0022146512474431.

- Ross, Catherine E., John Mirowsky, and Karen Goldsteen. 1990. "The Impact of the Family on Health: The Decade in Review." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 52 (4): 1059–78. doi:10.2307/353319.
- Saguy, Abigail C. 2014. *What's Wrong with Fat?* Reprint edition. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sassler, Sharon, and Amanda J. Miller. 2010. "Waiting to Be Asked: Gender, Power, and Relationship Progression Among Cohabiting Couples." *Journal of Family Issues*, December, 0192513X10391045. doi:10.1177/0192513X10391045.

- Schaefer, H. Luke. 2013. "Critical Issues for Data Analysis Using the SIPP." National Poverty Center.
- Schafer, Joseph L., and John W. Graham. 2002. "Missing Data: Our View of the State of the Art." *Psychological Methods* 7 (2): 147–77. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.7.2.147.
- Schafer, Markus H., and Kenneth F. Ferraro. 2011. "The Stigma of Obesity Does Perceived Weight Discrimination Affect Identity and Physical Health?" Social Psychology Quarterly 74 (1): 76–97. doi:10.1177/0190272511398197.
- Scharoun-Lee, Melissa, Linda S. Adair, Jay S. Kaufman, and Penny Gordon-Larsen. 2009.
 "Obesity, Race/Ethnicity and the Multiple Dimensions of Socioeconomic Status during the Transition to Adulthood: A Factor Analysis Approach." *Social Science & Medicine*, Part Special Issue: Selected research from the XII International Symposium in Medical Geography 2007, 68 (4): 708–16. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.12.009.
- Scheff, Thomas J. 1970. Being Mentally Ill: A Sociological Theory. Transaction Publishers.
- Schenker, Nathaniel, Trivellore E. Raghunathan, and Irina Bondarenko. 2010. "Improving on Analyses of Self-Reported Data in a Large-Scale Health Survey by Using Information from an Examination-Based Survey." *Statistics in Medicine* 29 (5): 533–45. doi:10.1002/sim.3809.
- Schnittker, Jason, and Jane D. McLeod. 2005. "The Social Psychology of Health Disparities." *Annual Review of Sociology* 31 (January): 75–103.
- Schoenborn, Charlotte A. 2004. "Marital Status and Health: United States, 1999-2002." Advance Data From Vital and Health Statistics 351: 1–36.

- Schoepflin, Todd. 2009. "Perspectives of Internacial Dating at a Predominantly White University." Sociological Spectrum 29 (3): 346–70. doi:10.1080/02732170902761982.
- Schwartz, Christine R. 2013. "Trends and Variation in Assortative Mating: Causes and Consequences." *Annual Review of Sociology* 39 (1): 451–70. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145544.
- Shafer, Emily Fitzgibbons. 2010. "The Effect of Marriage on Weight Gain and Propensity to Become Obese in the African American Community." *Journal of Family Issues* 31 (9): 1166–82. doi:10.1177/0192513X10366006.
- Sheets, Virgil, and Kavita Ajmere. 2005. "Are Romantic Partners a Source of College Students' Weight Concern?" *Eating Behaviors* 6 (1): 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.eatbeh.2004.08.008.
- Simon, R. W., and K. Marcussen. 1999. "Marital Transitions, Marital Beliefs, and Mental Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 40 (2): 111–25. doi:10.2307/2676367.
- Simon, Robin W. 2002. "Revisiting the Relationships among Gender, Marital Status, and Mental Health." American Journal of Sociology 107 (4): 1065–96. doi:10.1086/339225.
- Sitton, Sarah, and Sharon Blanchard. 1995. "Men's Preferences in Romantic Partners: Obesity vs Addiction." *Psychological Reports* 77 (3f): 1185–86. doi:10.2466/pr0.1995.77.3f.1185.
- Smith, Christine A., Karissa Schmoll, Julie Konik, and Shawna Oberlander. 2007. "Carrying Weight for the World: Influence of Weight Descriptors on Judgments of

Large-Sized Women." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 37 (5): 989–1006. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2007.00196.x.

- Sobal, Jeffery, Karla L. Hanson, and Edward A. Frongillo. 2009. "Gender, Ethnicity, Marital Status, and Body Weight in the United States." *Obesity* 17 (12): 2223–31. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.64.
- Sobal, Jeffery, Barbara Rauschenbach, and Edward A Frongillo. 2003. "Marital Status Changes and Body Weight Changes: A US Longitudinal Analysis." *Social Science & Medicine* 56 (7): 1543–55. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00155-7.
- Sobal, Jeffrey, Barbara S. Rauschenbach, and Edward A. Frongillo Jr. 1992. "Marital Status, Fatness and Obesity." *Social Science & Medicine* 35 (7): 915–23. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(92)90106-Z.
- Soller, Brian. 2014. "Caught in a Bad Romance Adolescent Romantic Relationships and Mental Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 55 (1): 56–72. doi:10.1177/0022146513520432.
- Solsberry, Priscilla Wilso. 1994. "Interracial Couples in the United States of America: Implications for Mental Health Counseling." *Journal of Mental Health Counseling* 16 (3): 304.
- Springer, Kristen W., Jennifer Sheridan, Daphne Kuo, and Molly Carnes. 2007. "Long-Term Physical and Mental Health Consequences of Childhood Physical Abuse:
 Results from a Large Population-Based Sample of Men and Women." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 31 (5): 517–30. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.01.003.
- Staehelin, Katharina, Christian Schindler, Adrian Spoerri, and Elisabeth Zemp Stutz. 2012. "Marital Status, Living Arrangement and Mortality: Does the Association Vary by

Gender?" Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 66 (7): e22. doi:10.1136/jech.2010.128397.

- StataCorp. 2013. "Stata Multiple-Imputation Reference Manual, Release 13." StataCorp LP. https://www.stata.com/manuals13/mi.pdf.
- Stommel, Manfred, and Charlotte A. Schoenborn. 2009. "Accuracy and Usefulness of BMI Measures Based on Self-Reported Weight and Height: Findings from the NHANES & NHIS 2001-2006." BMC Public Health 9: 421. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-421.
- Stryker, Sheldon. 2003. Symbolic Interactionism: A Social Structural Version. Caldwell, N.J: The Blackburn Press.
- Stryker, Sheldon, and Peter J. Burke. 2000. "The Past, Present, and Future of an Identity Theory." *Social Psychology Quarterly* 63 (4): 284–97. doi:10.2307/2695840.
- Stryker, Sheldon, and Kevin D. Vryan. 2006. "The Symbolic Interactionist Frame." In Handbook of Social Psychology, edited by John Delamater, 3–28. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer US. doi:10.1007/0-387-36921-X_1.
- "Survey of Income and Program Participation Users' Guide, Third Edition." 2001. U.S. Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/programssurveys/sipp/methodology/SIPP_USERS_Guide_Third_Edition_2001.pdf.
- Teachman, Jay. 2010. "Family Life Course Statuses and Transitions: Relationships with Health Limitations." Sociological Perspectives 53 (2): 201–19. doi:10.1525/sop.2010.53.2.201.
- ———. 2016. "Body Weight, Marital Status, and Changes in Marital Status." *Journal of Family Issues* 37 (1): 74–96. doi:10.1177/0192513X13508404.

- The, Natalie S., and Penny Gordon-Larsen. 2009. "Entry Into Romantic Partnership Is Associated With Obesity." *Obesity* 17 (7): 1441–47. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.97.
- Thoits, Pa. 1987. "Gender and Marital-Status Differences in Control and Distress -Common Stress Versus Unique Stress Explanations." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 28 (1): 7–22. doi:10.2307/2137137.
- ——. 1995. "Stress, Coping, and Social Support Processes Where Are We What Next." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 53–79.
- Thoits, Peggy A. 2010. "Stress and Health Major Findings and Policy Implications." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 51 (1 suppl): S41–53.

doi:10.1177/0022146510383499.

- . 2011. "Mechanisms Linking Social Ties and Support to Physical and Mental Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 52 (2): 145–61.
 doi:10.1177/0022146510395592.
- Thompson, Sharon H., Roger G. Sargent, and Karen A. Kemper. 1996. "Black and White Adolescent Males' Perceptions of Ideal Body Size." Sex Roles 34 (5–6): 391–406. doi:10.1007/BF01547808.
- Torche, Florencia, and Peter Rich. 2016. "Declining Racial Stratification in Marriage Choices? Trends in Black/White Status Exchange in the United States, 1980 to 2010." *Sociology of Race and Ethnicity* 3 (1): 31–49. doi:10.1177/2332649216648464.
- Troy, Adam B., Jamie Lewis-Smith, and Jean-Philippe Laurenceau. 2006. "Interracial and Intraracial Romantic Relationships: The Search for Differences in Satisfaction, Conflict, and Attachment Style." *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships* 23 (1): 65–80. doi:10.1177/0265407506060178.

- Turner, R. Jay, and William R. Avison. 2003. "Status Variations in Stress Exposure: Implications for the Interpretation of Research on Race, Socioeconomic Status, and Gender." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 44 (4): 488–505. doi:10.2307/1519795.
- Turner, R. Jay, and Donald A. Lloyd. 1999. "The Stress Process and the Social Distribution of Depression." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 40 (4): 374–404. doi:10.2307/2676332.
- Uecker, Jeremy E. 2012. "Marriage and Mental Health among Young Adults." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 53 (1): 67–83. doi:10.1177/0022146511419206.
- Umberson, D., K. Williams, D. A. Powers, H. Liu, and B. Needham. 2006. "You Make Me Sick: Marital Quality and Health over the Life Course." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 47 (1): 1–16.
- Umberson, Debra. 1987. "Family Status and Health Behaviors: Social Control as a Dimension of Social Integration." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 28 (3): 306–19. doi:10.2307/2136848.
- ———. 1992. "Gender, Marital Status and the Social Control of Health Behavior." Social Science & Medicine 34 (8): 907–17. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(92)90259-S.
- Umberson, Debra, Meichu D. Chen, James S. House, Kristine Hopkins, and Ellen Slaten. 1996. "The Effect of Social Relationships on Psychological Well-Being: Are Men and Women Really So Different?" *American Sociological Review* 61 (5): 837–57. doi:10.2307/2096456.

- Umberson, Debra, Robert Crosnoe, and Corinne Reczek. 2010. "Social Relationships and Health Behavior Across the Life Course." In *Annual Review of Sociology, Vol 36*, edited by K. S. Cook and D. S. Massey, 36:139–57.
- Umberson, Debra, Hui Liu, and Daniel Powers. 2009. "Marital Status, Marital Transitions, and Body Weight." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 50 (3): 327–43. doi:10.1177/002214650905000306.
- Umberson, Debra, and Jennifer Karas Montez. 2010. "Social Relationships and Health A Flashpoint for Health Policy." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 51 (1 suppl): S54–66. doi:10.1177/0022146510383501.
- Umberson, Debra, Kristi Williams, Patricia A. Thomas, Hui Liu, and Mieke Beth Thomeer. 2014. "Race, Gender, and Chains of Disadvantage Childhood Adversity, Social Relationships, and Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 55 (1): 20– 38. doi:10.1177/0022146514521426.
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2001. "SIPP Users' Guide, Third Edition." https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/sipp/guidance/users-guide.html.
- ------. 2016. "About This Survey." https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/sipp/about.html.
- Vaisey, Stephen, and Andrew Miles. 2014. "What You Can—and Can't—Do With Three-Wave Panel Data." Sociological Methods & Research, September, 49124114547769. doi:10.1177/0049124114547769.
- Vaquera, Elizabeth, and Grace Kao. 2006. "The Implications of Choosing 'No Race' On the Salience of Hispanic Identity: How Racial and Ethnic Backgrounds Intersect

among Hispanic Adolescents." *The Sociological Quarterly* 47 (3): 375–96. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.2006.00050.x.

Vega, William A., and Rubén G. Rumbaut. 1991. "Ethnic Minorities and Mental Health." Annual Review of Sociology 17 (1): 351–83.

doi:10.1146/annurev.so.17.080191.002031.

- Waite, Linda, and Maggie Gallagher. 2000. The Case for Marriage: Why Married People Are Happier, Healthier and Better Off Financially. Crown/Archetype.
- Waite, Linda J. 2000. "Trends in Men's and Women's Well-Being in Marriage." In *The Ties That Bind: Perspectives on Marriage and Cohabitation. Edited by Linda J. Waite, Christine Bachrach, Michelle Hindin, Elizabeth Thomson, and Arland Thornton.*, 368–92. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Waite, Linda J., and Evelyn L. Lehrer. 2003. "The Benefits from Marriage and Religion in the United States: A Comparative Analysis." *Population and Development Review* 29 (2): 255–75. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2003.00255.x.
- Waldron, Ingrid, Mary Elizabeth Hughes, and Tracy L. Brooks. 1996. "Marriage Protection and Marriage selection—Prospective Evidence for Reciprocal Effects of Marital Status and Health." *Social Science & Medicine* 43 (1): 113–23. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(95)00347-9.
- Wang, Hongyu, and Grace Kao. 2007. "Does Higher Socioeconomic Status Increase Contact Between Minorities and Whites? An Examination of Interracial Romantic Relationships Among Adolescents"." *Social Science Quarterly* 88 (1): 146–64. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6237.2007.00451.x.

- Wang, Hongyu, Grace Kao, and Kara Joyner. 2006. "Stability of Interracial and Intraracial Romantic Relationships among Adolescents." *Social Science Research*, Katrina in New Orleans/Special Issue on Contemporary Research on the Family, 35 (2): 435–53. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2004.10.001.
- Wang, Wendy, and Kim Parker. 2014. "Record Share of Americans Have Never Married." *Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project*. September 24. http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2014/09/24/record-share-of-americans-have-nevermarried/.
- Weissman, Myrna M., Diane Sholomskas, Margaret Pottenger, Brigitte A. Prusoff, and Ben Z. Locke. 1977. "Assessing Depressive Symptoms in Five Psychiatric Populations: A Validation Study." *American Journal of Epidemiology* 106 (3): 203– 14.
- Weng, Haoling H., Lori A. Bastian, Donald H. Taylor, Barry K. Moser, and Truls Ostbye.
 2004. "Number of Children Associated with Obesity in Middle-Aged Women and
 Men: Results from the Health and Retirement Study." *Journal of Women's Health* 13 (1): 85–91. doi:10.1089/154099904322836492.
- Wheaton, Blair. 2001. "The Role of Sociology in the Study of Mental Health ... and the Role of Mental Health in the Study of Sociology." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 42 (3): 221–34. doi:10.2307/3090212.
- Whitlock, Gary, Sarah Lewington, Paul Sherliker, and Richard Peto. 2009. "Body-Mass Index and Mortality – Authors' Reply." *The Lancet* 374 (9684): 114. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61280-0.

- Wilkinson, Richard G. 1999. "Health, Hierarchy, and Social Anxiety." *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 896 (1): 48–63. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08104.x.
- Wilkinson, Richard G., and Kate E. Pickett. 2009. "Income Inequality and Social Dysfunction." Annual Review of Sociology 35 (1): 493–511. doi:10.1146/annurevsoc-070308-115926.
- Williams, D. R., and C. Collins. 2001. "Racial Residential Segregation: A Fundamental Cause of Racial Disparities in Health." *Public Health Reports* 116 (5): 404–16.
- Williams, David R. 2012. "Miles to Go before We Sleep Racial Inequities in Health." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 53 (3): 279–95.

doi:10.1177/0022146512455804.

- Williams, David R., and Chiquita Collins. 1995. "US Socioeconomic and Racial
 Differences in Health: Patterns and Explanations." *Annual Review of Sociology* 21 (January): 349–86.
- Williams, David R., and Pamela Braboy Jackson. 2005. "Social Sources Of Racial Disparities In Health." *Health Affairs* 24 (2): 325–34. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.325.
- Williams, David R., Yan Yu, James S. Jackson, and Norman B. Anderson. 1997. "Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health Socio-Economic Status, Stress and Discrimination." *Journal of Health Psychology* 2 (3): 335–51. doi:10.1177/135910539700200305.
- Williams, Kristi. 2003. "Has the Future of Marriage Arrived? A Contemporary Examination of Gender, Marriage, and Psychological Well-Being*." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 44 (4): 470–87.

- Williams, Kristi, and Debra Umberson. 2004. "Marital Status, Marital Transitions, and Health: A Gendered Life Course Perspective." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 45 (1): 81–98. doi:10.1177/002214650404500106.
- Wilson, Sven E. 2002. "The Health Capital of Families: An Investigation of the Inter-Spousal Correlation in Health Status." *Social Science & Medicine* 55 (7): 1157–72. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00253-2.
- Wolff, Lisa S., S. V. Subramanian, Dolores Acevedo-Garcia, Deanne Weber, and Ichiro Kawachi. 2010. "Compared to Whom? Subjective Social Status, Self-Rated Health, and Referent Group Sensitivity in a Diverse US Sample." *Social Science & Medicine* 70 (12): 2019–28. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.02.033.
- Wood, Robert G., Brian Goesling, and Sarah Avellar. 2007. "The Effects of Marriage on Health: A Synthesis of Recent Research Evidence." Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.
- Yancey, George. 2002. "Who Interracially Dates: An Examination of the Characteristics of Those Who Have Interracially Dated." *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 33 (2): 179–90.
- Yancey, George. 2007. "Experiencing Racism: Differences in the Experiences of Whites Married to Blacks and Non-Black Racial Minorities." *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 38 (2): 197–213.
- Zhang, Qi, and Youfa Wang. 2004. "Socioeconomic Inequality of Obesity in the United States: Do Gender, Age, and Ethnicity Matter?" Social Science & Medicine 58 (6): 1171–80. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00288-0.

- Zhang, Yuanting, and Jennifer Van Hook. 2009. "Marital Dissolution Among Interracial Couples." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71 (1): 95–107. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00582.x.
- Zheng, Hui, and Patricia A. Thomas. 2013. "Marital Status, Self-Rated Health, and Mortality Overestimation of Health or Diminishing Protection of Marriage?" *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 54 (1): 128–43. doi:10.1177/0022146512470564.